



Technology options for feeding 10 billion people

Interactions between climate change & agriculture and between biodiversity & agriculture

Study

IP/A/STOA/FWC/2008-096/Lot3/C1/SC5 - SC9 September 2013

PE 513.514

The STOA project 'Technology options for feeding 10 billion people - Interactions between climate change & agriculture and biodiversity & agriculture' was carried out by the Institute for European Environmental Policy (IEEP) in collaboration with BIO Intelligence Service, Ecologic Institute and the Institute for Environmental Studies VU University.

AUTHORS

Underwood, E.; Poláková, J.; Kretschmer, B.; McConville, A.J.; Tucker, G.M. - IEEP Dooley, E.; Frelih-Larsen, A; Naumann, S. - Ecologic Institute Berman, S.; Sarteel, M.; Tostivint, C. - BIO Intelligence Service van der Grijp, N.M. - Institute for Environmental Studies (IVM), VU University Maxted, N. - School of Biosciences, University of Birmingham

STOA RESEARCH ADMINISTRATOR

Lieve Van Woensel Science and Technology Options Assessment (STOA) Directorate for Impact Assessment and European Added Value DG Internal Policies, European Parliament Rue Wiertz 60 - RMD 00J012 B-1047 Brussels E-mail: <u>lieve.vanwoensel@ep.europa.eu</u>

LINGUISTIC VERSION

Original: EN

ABOUT THE PUBLISHER

To contact STOA please write to <u>STOA@ep.europa.eu</u> This document is available on the Internet at: <u>http://www.europarl.europa.eu/stoa/</u>

Manuscript completed in July 2013. Brussels, © European Union, 2013.

DISCLAIMER

The opinions expressed in this document are the sole responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official position of the European Parliament.

Reproduction and translation for non-commercial purposes are authorised, provided the source is acknowledged and the publisher is given prior notice and sent a copy.

ISBN BA-03-13-491-EN-C DOI 10.2861/33183 CAT 978-92-823-4735-5

Abstract

There will be rising global demand for food and energy from the land over the coming decades resulting from population growth and economic development. This will coincide with the need to adapt agriculture to increasing climate-related threats (which will probably outweigh opportunities in Europe), whilst decreasing the impact of agricultural emissions on climate change. At the same time, biodiversity losses due to intensive agricultural practices and abandonment of biodiversity-rich farming are expected to continue. The longterm sustainability of farming is being undermined by trends such as soil degradation, declines in pollinators, the loss of natural biological control of pests and diseases, and the loss of plant and animal genetic diversity. Substantial changes in agricultural systems are required in Europe to ensure rapid reductions in agricultural emissions of greenhouse gases, as well as effective adaptation to climate change and strengthened biodiversity conservation. This report describes a range of practices and developments in agriculture that could sustainably increase agricultural productivity whilst contributing to climate change mitigation and adaptation, and providing biodiversity benefits. Policy could play a larger role in supporting innovation and development in the full range of agricultural systems in Europe and in the use of certain wastes and residues for energy purposes. The report provides a set of recommended options for incentivising beneficial actions, constraining unsustainable practices, and promoting innovative options whilst ensuring environmental safeguards for new technologies that might have unwanted negative impacts on biodiversity.

Recommended citation:

Underwood, E.¹; Poláková, J.¹; Berman, S.³; Dooley, E.²; Frelih-Larsen, A.²; Kretschmer, B.¹; Maxted, N.⁵; McConville, A.J.¹; Naumann, S.²; Sarteel, M.³; Tostivint, C.³; Tucker, G.M.¹; van der Grijp, N.M.⁴ (2013) Technology options for feeding 10 billion people. Climate change and agriculture; biodiversity and agriculture. Report prepared for the STOA Panel of the European Parliament. Contract IP/A/STOA/FWC/2008-096/LOT3/C1/SC5. Institute for European Environmental Policy, BIO Intelligence Service, Ecologic Institute, IVM, Brussels/London

1 Institute for European Environmental Policy (IEEP), 2 Ecologic Institute, 3 BIO Intelligence Service, 4 Institute for Environmental Studies (IVM), VU University, 5 School of Biosciences, University of Birmingham

Acknowledgements:

Harry Aiking and Thijs Etty at IVM for their reviews Shailendra Mudgal at BIO for his review and contributions David Baldock, Kaley Hart, Allan Buckwell, Ben Allen, Henrietta Menadue and Sara Green at IEEP for their reviews and contributions Geoffrey Radley (independent consultant) and Les Firbank (University of Leeds) for their reviews and contributions

The **Institute for European Environmental Policy (IEEP)** is an independent not-for-profit institute. IEEP undertakes work for external sponsors in a range of policy areas. We also have our own research programmes and produce the Manual of European Environmental Policy (<u>http://www.europeanenvironmentalpolicy.eu</u>).

For further information about IEEP, see our website at <u>http://www.ieep.eu</u> or contact any staff member.

London Office 15 Queen Anne's Gate London, SW1H 9BU Tel: +44 (0) 20 7799 2244

Brussels Office Quai au Foin, 55 Hooikaai 55 B- 1000 Brussels Tel: +32 (0) 2738 7482

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACRONYMS		
GLOS	SSARY	5
INTR	ODUCTION	18
A.	Objectives of the study	
В.	Setting the context: future demands on agricultural land – trends and drivers	19
PART	1 CLIMATE CHANGE AND AGRICULTURE	22
1 IN	MPACTS OF CLIMATE CHANGE ON EU AGRICULTURE	23
1.1	Changes in crop growth and agricultural productivity	23
1.2	Changes in water availability	24
1.3	Changes in flooding	26
1.4	Changes in soil characteristics	27
1.5	Pest/pathogen risk	27
1.6	Fire risk	
1.7	Energy supply	29
2 IN	MPACTS OF EU AGRICULTURE ON CLIMATE	30
2.1	Greenhouses gases and their sources and trends	31
2.2	Sequestration in soils and vegetation	33
2.3	Mitigation potential of EU agriculture	35
2.4	Other aspects of the European food chain	35
3 M	IANAGEMENT ACTIONS FOR MITIGATION AND ADAPTATION IN EU	
AGRI	ICULTURE AND THEIR RELATIONSHIP TO INCREASED FOOD PRODUC	TION
•••		
3.1	Introduction	
3.2	Key management actions for climate change mitigation and adaptation and th	neir
rela	tionships to increased food production	
3.3	Productivity issues	
3.4	Costs	51
3.5	Enabling mechanisms and policy measures	52
4 C	LIMATE CHANGE AND AGRICULTURE: RECOMMENDED OPTIONS	56
PART	2: BIODIVERSITY AND AGRICULTURE	60
5 T	HE IMPACT OF AGRICULTURAL PRACTICES ON BIODIVERSITY AND C) F
BIOD	DIVERSITY ON AGRICULTURE IN THE EU	61
5.1	Biodiversity in EU agricultural ecosystems	61
5.2	Abandonment of agricultural management on semi-natural habitats in the EU	65 ،
5.3	The impacts of farming practices on biodiversity in Europe	65
5.4	Impacts of agricultural practices on biodiversity outside agriculture in the EU	71
5.5	The impacts of agricultural production on biodiversity outside the EU	72
5.6	Why biodiversity losses in agricultural systems matter	72

5.7 5.8	Maintaining and increasing biodiversity in agricultural systems to 2050	77
6 (CULTIVATION OF GM CROPS IN THE FU! WHAT IMPACTS ON	
BIOI	DIVERSITY?	85
6.1	Genetically Modified Organisms	85
6.2	GM crops grown in the EU or that could be grown in the EU in the coming dec	ades.
		86
6.3	How GM breeding differs from conventionally bred plants and animals	87
6.4	Possible impacts of GM crops on biodiversity and current evidence for effects	88
6.5	What is the evidence for effects of GM crops on biodiversity in Europe?	98
7 I	MPACTS OF BIOFUEL FEEDSTOCKS ON BIODIVERSITY	100
7.1	Biofuel technologies	100
7.2	Current production and projections of future biofuel consumption	101
7.3	Biodiversity impacts of current and projected biofuel consumption	106
7.4	Competition for agricultural land and influence on food prices	100
7.5	What are the consequences of biofuel feedstocks for biodiversity?	109
7.0	what are the consequences of biofuel recusiocks for biodiversity?	
8 CAGR	CONSERVATION OF PLANT GENETIC RESOURCES FOR FOOD AND AICULTURE IN THE EU	112
8.1	Plant genetic resources for food and agriculture	112
8.2	International and European policy targets for plant genetic resources	113
8.3	European initiatives for the conservation and use of plant genetic resources	115
8.4	Challenges and opportunities from the European perspective	118
8.5	Options for the EU for the conservation and use of plant genetic resources	121
9 1	THE IMPACTS OF BEE DECLINE ON BIODIVERSITY AND POLLINATION I	N
THE	EU	123
9.1	The importance of pollinators	123
9.2	Pollinator decline in Europe	123
9.3	European beekeeping	124
9.4	The factors affecting bee/pollinator populations in the EU	124
9.5	The impact of bee/ pollinator declines on crop production in the EU	129
9.6 0 7	What is needed to reverse pollinator decline in Europe?	130
9.7		133
10 ANE	THE INTERACTIONS BETWEEN AGRICULTURE AND CLIMATE CHANG AGRICULTURE AND BIODIVERSITY: RECOMMENDED OPTIONS	≟, 135
REF	ERENCES	140

ACRONYMS

AES	agri-environment scheme
ANC	Area of Natural Constraint (previously Less Favoured Area or Natural Handicap)
CAP	Common Agricultural Policy
CBD	UN Convention on Biological Diversity
CLC	CORINE Land Cover
CMEF	Common Monitoring and Evaluation Framework
DMP	Drought Management Plan
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid (genetic material)
EAFRD	European Agricultural Fund for Rural Development
EFA	Ecological Focus Area (part of CAP reform greening proposal)
EFSA	European Food Safety Authority
EIA	Environmental Impact Assessment
EIP	European Innovation Partnership
ETC/BD	European Topic Centre on Biodiversity
ETS	Emissions Trading System
FADN	Farm Accountancy Data Network
FAS	Farm Advisory Service
FP5, FP6, FP7	EU Framework Programme for Research (FP5 1998-2002; FP6 2002-2006; FP7 2007-2013)
GAEC	Good Agricultural and Environmental Condition
GHG	Greenhouse gas (see glossary)
GMO	Genetically Modified Organism (see glossary)
GMHT	Genetically modified herbicide tolerant crop (see glossary)
GM Bt	Genetically modified insect resistant crop containing Bt gene (see glossary)
HNV	High Nature Value (farming areas and systems)

iLUC	indirect land use change
IPCC	International Panel on Climate Change
IPM	integrated Pest Management (see glossary)
IWM	Integrated Weed Management (see glossary)
LULUCF	Land use, land use change, and forestry (in relation to greenhouse gas emissions accounting)
NREAP	National Renewable Energy Action Plan
PES	Payment for Ecosystem Services
PGRFA	plant genetic resources for food and agriculture
RNA	ribonucleic acid (genetic material)
SOC	Soil organic carbon (see glossary)
SOM	Soil organic matter (see glossary)
UAA	Utilized Agricultural Area

GLOSSARY

access and benefit sharing	access to genetic resources controlled by another country and equitable sharing of commercial and non-commercial benefits deriving from this access between the provider and the user
accessions (plant genetic resources)	accessions are distinct, uniquely identified samples of seeds, plants, or other germplasm materials that are maintained as an integral part of a germplasm collection
adaptation (to climate change)	adjustment in natural or human systems [ie agricultural management and related socio-economic and policy framework] in response to actual or expected climatic stimuli or their effects, which moderates harm or exploits beneficial opportunities (IPCC, 2007a)
adventitious presence	the presence of a GM gene and/or GM product in a non-GM crop or seeds or crop product at a low level that is not regarded as damaging (eg below minimum thresholds for conventional or organic produce sales)
agroforestry	Agroforestry is an integrated land management system that combines trees and shrubs with crops and/or livestock on the same land
anaerobic digestion	Anaerobic digestion is the process by which microorganisms break down biodegradable material in the absence of oxygen (eg in fermentation and silage production); it is used to produce biogas (ie methane plus other gases) as a fuel, using manure, slurry, food waste, and other green residues.
assessment endpoint	a natural resource or natural resource service that needs protection from risks; the valued attribute of a natural resource that is worth protection (EFSA, 2010) – see also measurement endpoint
Bacillus thuringiensis	a bacterium that occurs naturally in soils and plant tissues and that produces a range of crystalline (Cry) and vegetative (VIP) proteins that are toxic to certain insects
bee colony	group of bees that is organised in such a way as to support the needs of individuals making it up and the collective life. During the high activity season a honey bee colony has 40,000-60,000 bees; in winter the number of bees decreases to 5,000-15,000. The colony is composed of a queen, her female workers, some males, and by the brood, including eggs, larvae and pupae.
bee colony collapse (Colony Collapse Disorder)	a rapid loss of bees that leads to the total destruction of the colony. It affects honey production, unless it appears after the end of the honey production season.
bee colony depopulation	a gradual decrease in the number of bees present in the hive, until the hive disappears; and an associated decline in honey production
bee colony weakening	a decline of colony strength (ie the number of bees in a colony) and development, and behaviour abnormality, leading to a decrease in honey

	production
biochar	Biochar is a stable solid rich in carbon, the product of pyrolysis (ie carbonisation) of biomass; biochar can be used as a soil amendment in order to increase soil fertility in certain conditions, and it might sequester carbon, and improve water retention.
biodiversity	the variability among living organisms from all sources including, <i>inter alia</i> , terrestrial, marine and other aquatic ecosystems and the ecological complexes of which they are part; this includes diversity within species, between species and of ecosystems (Convention on Biological Diversity 1998, Article 2)
biodiversity (functional)	the quantification of the similarities in phenotypes and ecologies of species (such as their environmental tolerances and how they impact ecosystem function) (Cadotte et al, 2011)
biodiversity proofing (of policy)	a structured process of ensuring the effective application of tools to avoid or at least minimize harmful impacts of EU spending and to maximise the biodiversity benefits (IEEP et al, 2012a)
biological control	EITHER 1) the natural control of pest populations through predators, parasitoids, parasites, and disease through the maintenance of a diverse biological control community in and around crop fields; OR 2) the deliberate introduction of a species that controls a pest population, through the release of eggs, larvae, adults, spores, virus, etc.
bitrophic exposure	exposure of an organism to the stressor (eg GM product or pesticide) by feeding on the plant, pollen or exudates (root exudates, guttation fluid etc), or plant residues, containing the stressor
break crop	a secondary crop grown to interrupt the repeated sowing of cereals as part of crop rotation; oilseed rape is the most important break crop in Northern Europe, maize or field beans in Southern Europe.
breeder lines, breeding lines, elite lines	genetic lines bred in a crossing programme before they are named and officially released for commercial cultivation; elite lines are breeding lines that possess most of the characteristics being sought for a particular environment or plant.
Bt	the GM insect resistance trait conferred by a transgene from the bacterium <i>Bacillus thuringiensis</i>
buffer strip	A buffer strip is a strip of land alongside a water course or water body that can be designed to deliver particular environmental benefits, for example to protect water against pollution and run-off. Width and management requirements are defined at Member State level (Nitrates Directive, GAEC standard in Council Regulation (EC) 73/2009)
carbon sequestration	the rate of capture and long-term storage of atmospheric carbon dioxide (CO2), which can refer to the natural geochemical cycling of carbon between the atmosphere and reservoirs, eg in trees or soil organic matter, over

	decades (it can also refer to human-mediated carbon canture and storage or
	geo-engineering but these processes are not used in this report)
	geo engineering out these processes are not used in this report,
carbon storage	long-term storage of carbon in reservoirs where it cannot affect climate
	change, je recalcitrant (long-term) soil organic matter, old forest stands,
	underground geological reservoirs, or long-lasting materials such as timber
	or concrete
	of concrete
case-by-case	a risk assessment approach in which the required information may vary
	depending on the type of GMOs concerned, their intended use and potential
	receiving environment taking into account <i>inter alia</i> GMOs already in the
	environment (Directive 2001/18/FC)
	chvitolinichi (Directive 2001/10/10/
catch crop	a catch crop is a fast-growing annual species, typically a cereal, adapted to
1	scavenge nitrogen efficiently from the soil, thereby taking up surplus
	nitrogen remaining from fertilization of the previous crop, preventing it
	from being lost through leaching or gaseous denitrification or volatilization.
	The catch crop is cut before maturity and left to decompose or incorporated
	into the soil, releasing the captured nitrogen for the next crop
chronic exposure	repeated and continuous contact with a substance that occurs over the
	organism's life cycle or over a long time
cisgenesis	gene transfer using recombinant DNA technology between organisms
	belonging to the same species gene pool - these organisms could usually also
	be conventionally cross-bred (although this might be very difficult)
	Cisgenesis is the genetic modification of a recipient organism with a gene
	from a crossable – sexually compatible – organism (same species or closely
	related species). This gene includes its introns and is flanked by its native
	promoter and terminator in the normal sense orientation. Cisgenic plants
	can harbour one or more cisgenes, but they do not contain any parts of
	transgenes or inserted foreign sequences. To produce cisgenic plants any
	suitable technique used for production of transgenic organisms may be
	used. Genes must be isolated, cloned or synthesized and transferred back
	into a recipient where stably integrated and expressed. Sometimes the term
	cisgenesis is also used to describe an Agrobacterium-mediated transfer of a
	gene from a crossable – sexually compatible – plant where T-DNA borders
	may remain in the resulting organism after transformation. This is referred
	to as cisgenesis with T-DNA borders (New Techniques Working Group
	2012 Final Report to the European Commission)
	2012 Final Report to the European Commission
co-existence	the ability of farmers to choose between conventional, organic or GM-based
	crop production, in compliance with the relevant legislation on labelling
	and/or purity standards
connectivity	the extent to which ecosystems and natural areas are linked together in
	tragmented landscapes
conservation of	the maintenance of the diversity of living organisms, their habitats and the

biodiversity	interrelationships between organisms and their environment
conservation tillage / reduced tillage	Conservation tillage is any tillage and planting system that minimises the disruption of soil structure, composition and biodiversity by establishing crops in the previous crop's residues; it may include the use of minimum tillage, shallow ploughing at reduced depth (10cm), and/or non-inversion tillage practices (Holland, 2004).
contamination	the presence of a GM gene and/or GM product in a crop or seeds where it is not wanted and considered damaging, eg in non-GM imports, local varieties, organic crops
conventional tillage	a tillage system in which a deep primary cultivation (30cm depth), such as mouldboard ploughing, is followed by a secondary cultivation to create a seedbed (Holland, 2004)
cover crop / green manure	A cover crop is generally grown between harvesting and sowing the next crop, and is ploughed under before reaching full maturity. Cover crops are planted primarily to protect from soil erosion and retain soil water, with additional benefits for soil fertility and control of weeds, pests, and diseases. Leguminous crops such as lucerne and clover are commonly used because of their nitrogen-fixing ability, and these crops are also known as green manure.
crop diversification	Crop diversification is the introduction of a greater variety of crops at the farm level. It does NOT necessarily imply the adoption of crop rotation. The CAP Greening component involves the adoption of at least 3 crops at farm level on farms with arable area larger than 10 ha, eg a farmer could farm 25 ha of wheat, 20 ha of maize, and 5 ha of barley to comply.
crop rotation	Crop rotation is the practice of growing a series of dissimilar types of crops in the same area in sequential seasons (as opposed to monoculture). Rotations may include from two to six or more crop types, and ideally should include a balance of crops from different crop groups (cereals, legumes, root crops and broad-leaved arable crops). No one crop group (eg cereals) should occupy more than half of the rotation.
crop wild relative	wild species related to crops, including crop progenitors.
Cry toxin	a range of crystalline proteins produced by GM genes from <i>Bacillus thuringiensis</i> that are toxic to certain insects, eg Cry1Ab, Cry3Bb, Cry1F (NB the genes themselves are referred to by the name of the toxin in lower case and italics, eg <i>cry1Ab</i>)
cryopreservation	storing of plant genetic material in ultra-cold liquid nitrogen.
cultivars	cultivated plant varieties that have been formally approved and registered (see also obsolete cultivars)
ecosystem	an ecosystem is a dynamic complex of plant, animal and micro-organism communities and their non-living environment interacting as a functional

	unit
ecosystem services	the direct and indirect contributions of ecosystems to human wellbeing; categorised in four main types: provisioning services (eg food, water, fuel); regulating services (eg flood and disease control); supporting/habitat services (eg nutrient cycling, pollination, soil formation); and cultural services (eg recreation, cultural, spiritual and aesthetic values) (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment)
ecotype	a population or group of populations genetically adapted to a particular set of environmental conditions where they naturally occur. See also genotype.
eutrophication	excessive richness of nutrients in a lake or other body of water, frequently due to run-off from the land, which causes a dense growth of plant life
<i>ex situ</i> conservation	the conservation of components of biological diversity outside their natural habitats.
fallow	Land not used for growing crops during one or two growing seasons, for example as part of a crop rotation. See also set-aside.
feral population	a population of crop plants that is self-propagating outside the crop field itself (ie in field margins, roadsides, waste land etc.). Feral populations may be transient, ie their long-term survival depends on continued seed dispersal from other sources (ie crops or seed transport); or they may be persistent, ie able to reproduce successfully to maintain the population or the meta- population (maybe including seed dormancy).
fitness	the successful survival and reproduction of a particular genotype compared to other genotypes in the population (relative fitness), ie the probable contribution of a genotype to the gene pool of the next generation
fragmentation	the division of an ecosystem or habitat into distinct smaller parts, without adequate connectivity between the parts. The parts are insufficiently large to retain the full complement of species without connection to other parts. Fragmentation can result from infrastructure development, such as roads and railways, or natural occurrences like forest fires.
gene flow	the movement of a gene in and between breeding populations of the crop, feral populations, weedy and wild relatives
genetic erosion	The loss over time of genetic diversity caused by either natural or man-made processes.
genetic reserve	A site where the management and monitoring of genetic diversity of natural wild populations within defined areas designated for active, long-term conservation.
genetic resources (plant, animal etc)	Genetic resources are genetic material of actual or potential value; genetic material is any material of plant, animal, microbial or other origin

	containing functional units of heredity (Convention on Biological Diversity Article 2). Plant genetic resources for food and agriculture are a subset of genetic resources, and are defined as any genetic material of plant origin of actual or potential value for food and agriculture (International Treaty on Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture Article 3). Genetic resources are a subset of biological resources, which are defined as genetic resources, organisms or parts thereof, populations, or any other biotic component of ecosystems with actual or potential use or value for humanity (Conventional on Biological Diversity Article 2).
genetically modified organism (GMO), living modified organism (LMO)	Genetically modified organism (GMO) means an organism, with the exception of human beings, in which the genetic material has been altered in a way that does not occur naturally by mating and/or natural recombination, by recombinant nucleic acid transformation, or by other techniques involving the direct introduction into an organism of heritable material prepared outside the organism including micro-injection, macro-injection and micro-encapsulation; or by cell fusion (including protoplast fusion) or hybridisation techniques where live cells with new combinations of heritable genetic material are formed through the fusion of two or more cells by means of methods that do not occur naturally (EU Directive 2001/18/EC).
	Living modified organism (LMO) means any living organism that possesses a novel combination of genetic material obtained through the use of modern biotechnology; 'living organism' means any biological entity capable of transferring or replicating genetic material, including sterile organisms, viruses and viroids; 'modern biotechnology' means the application of in vitro nucleic acid techniques, or fusion of cells beyond the taxonomic family, that overcome natural physiological reproductive or recombination barriers and are not techniques used in traditional breeding and selection (Cartagena Protocol on Biosafety to the Convention on Biological Diversity 2000).
genome	an organism's complete set of genes and genetic material (which includes both the DNA in the nucleus and plasmids in the cytoplasm of the cell)
genotype	The genotype is the genetic makeup of a cell, an organism, or an individual (ie the specific allele makeup of the individual) usually with reference to a specific characteristic under consideration. See also ecotype, phenotype and trait.
germplasm	reproductive or vegetative propagating materials of plants
GM event, GM gene construct	the genetic sequence that expresses the GM trait (usually including marker gene, promotor, gene of interest, and terminator), inserted into the GMO using recombinant nucleic acid technology (see definition of GMO/LMO)
GM product	the product (usually a protein, eg an enzyme) that is created (expressed) from the GM gene
green infrastructure	Green infrastructure is the network of natural and semi-natural areas, features and green spaces in rural and urban, terrestrial, freshwater, coastal and marine areas, which together enhance ecosystem health and resilience,

	contribute to biodiversity conservation and benefit human populations through the maintenance and enhancement of ecosystem services (Naumann et al, 2011). Green infrastructure can be strengthened through strategic and co-ordinated initiatives that focus on maintaining, restoring, improving and connecting existing areas and features as well as creating new areas and features.
green manure	See cover crop
greenhouse gas (GHG)	any of the gases whose absorption of solar radiation is responsible for the greenhouse effect, including carbon dioxide (CO2), methane (NH4), nitrous oxide (NO2), ozone (O3), and the fluorocarbons – usually expressed as CO2 equivalents
guttation fluid	Guttation is the exudation of drops of xylem sap on the tips or edges of leaves of some vascular plants, such as grasses. Guttation fluid may contain a variety of organic and inorganic compounds, mainly sugars, and mineral nutrients, and potassium. It can be an important food source for parasitoid wasps.
habitat banking (conservation banking, biodiversity banking)	A market where credits from actions with beneficial biodiversity outcomes can be purchased to offset the debit from environmental damage (EFTEC and IEEP, 2010). Credits can be produced in advance of, and without ex-ante links to, the debits they compensate for, and stored over time. The term 'habitat banking' can be used to refer to both species and habitats, ie analogous to 'conservation banking' and 'biodiversity banking'.
harm, damage (environmental)	a measurable adverse change in a natural resource or measurable impairment of a natural resource service which may occur directly or indirectly (Directive 2004/35/CE). Harm is generally given more weight when it is irreversible.
hazard	hazard is a potential risk, defined as the potential of an organism or any other stressor to cause harm to or adverse effects on human health and/or the environment (EFSA, 2010)
horizontal transfer	the transfer of genetic material from a plant or animal genome directly into the genome of viruses, bacteria or fungi, and its expression
hybridization	the process of combining different plant varieties to create a hybrid, through the exchange of pollen (out-crossing); the hybrid then contains genetic material from both parent varieties
<i>in situ</i> conservation	the conservation of ecosystems and natural habitats and the maintenance and recovery of viable populations of species in their natural surroundings and, in the case of domesticates or cultivated species, in the surroundings where they have developed their distinctive properties.
Integrated Pest Management (IPM)	IPM is the integrated management of pest populations at acceptable levels for a healthy crop using a carefully considered balance of biological, technical and chemical methods that cause the least possible disruption to

	the biological control provided by the agro-ecosystem, and prevent the evolution of resistant pests.
integrated production / integrated farming	Integrated Production/Farming is a farming system that aims to balance biological, technical and chemical methods of management in order to improve the protection of the environment, farm revenues and animal welfare.
Integrated Soil Fertility Management Plan	plan to optimise a farm's reliance on manufactured fertiliser, making it more resilient under economic or environmental pressures
Integrated Weed Management (IWM)	IWM is a form of IPM for keeping weed populations at an acceptable level for a healthy crop, whilst preventing the evolution of resistant weeds and weed build-up, through the combined use of a diversity of preventative, cultural, mechanical, biological, and chemical control practices. Tactics include crop rotations, early or late planting dates, cover crops, mulching, competitive crop cultivars, the judicious use of tillage, and targeted herbicide applications where necessary.
Intensification of agriculture	agricultural practices that increase productivity and crop yield, that have conventionally included increased fertilizer and/or pesticide use, and/or simplified crop rotations or monoculture, and/or increased tillage, drainage, irrigation (HOWEVER see also definition of sustainable intensification)
intercropping	the practice of growing two or more crops in proximity; the goal is usually to produce a greater overall yield on a given piece of land by making use of synergies and by better use of resources such as soil water, nutrients, light and/or space (whilst avoiding the negative effects of crop competition) – see also agroforestry
intragenesis	Intragenesis is a genetic modification of a recipient organism that leads to a combination of different gene fragments from donor organism(s) of the same or a sexually compatible species as the recipient. These may be arranged in a sense or antisense orientation compared to their orientation in the donor organism. Intragenesis involves the insertion of a reorganised, full or partial coding region of a gene frequently combined with another promoter and/or terminator from a gene of the same species or a crossable species. (New Techniques Working Group 2012 Final Report to the European Commission)
introgression (crop- wild gene flow)	the permanent incorporation of the transgene into a reproductively integrated population of another wild or weedy species
landraces	unique varieties of crops that have adapted to local conditions through a process of farmer selection.
LC50	median lethal concentration at which 50% of the exposed population dies within 24h

LD50	median lethal dose at which 50% of the exposed population dies within 24h
lethal	an effect that causes death
measurement endpoint	a quantifiable indicator of change in the assessment endpoint, that constitutes a measure of hazard and exposure, eg fitness, growth, behaviour, development, fecundity (EFSA, 2010)
mitigation (of climate change)	climate change mitigation encompasses the actions being taken to limit the magnitude and/or rate of long-term human-induced climate change
no-till / zero-till	see zero till
non-target	a non-target species is a species that is not deliberately killed or affected as part of the GM design or pesticide, but which may nevertheless be affected
novel trait	a novel trait is a form of a character that is not typical of that organism or species, eg herbicide-tolerance would only occur very rarely naturally in plants
obsolete cultivars	plant varieties that are considered of no importance at present or no longer popular or used by the farming community (see also cultivars)
on-farm conservation	The sustainable management of the genetic diversity of locally developed traditional animal breeds or crop varieties by farmers (usually within traditional agricultural, horticultural or agri-silvicultural cultivation systems).
organic agriculture	Organic agriculture is a production system that sustains the health of soils, ecosystems and people, by relying on ecological processes, biodiversity and cycles adapted to local conditions, rather than the use of inputs with adverse effects; it combines tradition, innovation and science to benefit the shared environment and promote fair relationships and a good quality of life for all involved (IFOAM). Organic systems are defined by a shared set of objectives and principles, defined by the International Federation of Organic Agriculture Movements (IFOAM), EU legislation, and a range of national or private schemes (eg Demeter, Soil Association, KRAV, Nature & Progres).
organic soils	soils that contain at least 12% organic carbon (around 20% organic matter) in at least 40cm depth within the upper 100 cm of soil (ie accumulations of partly or completely decomposed plant residues formed under anaerobic conditions), OR organic rich soils under 10cm thick overlying ice or rock (FAO)
paludiculture	sustainable agricultural production on peatland that has undergone rewetting
parasitoid	an insect which reproduces by laying its eggs inside (endoparasitoid) or on (ectoparasitoid) another insect known as the host, either in the eggs or on or in the larvae. The parasitoid larvae develop feeding in or on the insect, and

	hatch through the skin. Adult parasitoids either do not feed or feed on nectar and/or guttation fluids.
phenotype	the composite of an organism's observable characteristics or traits, such as its morphology, development, biochemical or physiological properties, phenology, behaviour, and products of behaviour (such as a bird's nest); phenotypes result from the expression of an organism's genes as well as the influence of environmental factors and the interactions between the two (see also genotype and ecotype)
plant genetic resources for food and agriculture	see genetic resources
precision agriculture	Precision agriculture refers to a series of technologies that allow the application of water, nutrients, and pesticides only to the places and at the times they are required within fields, thereby optimizing the use of inputs; it includes a wide range of practices within a coherent management structure, which rely on GPS-tracking linked to internet-based information flows to farmers and automation of processes using tractor guidance systems and/or robotics (Pölling et al, 2010).
primitive forms (of crops)	crop varieties that have not been subjected to intensive breeding or growers' selection; they have features or traits that are similar to wild relatives.
problem formulation	the "what could go wrong" step of risk analysis. This involves: identifying the scope of the assessment; identifying the boundaries (temporal, spatial, organisational), identifying the stressor (pesticide, metabolites, GM gene, GM product, GM plant, crop & cultivation practices); identifying potential adverse effects; identifying stakeholders; and identifying the risk analysis strategy, including risk hypotheses. EFSA uses a narrower definition as the process of identification of characteristics of the GM plant capable of causing potential adverse effects (hazards) and of the nature of these effects (hazard characterisation); the identification of pathways of exposure through which the GM plant may adversely affect the environment (exposure identification); and defining assessment endpoints and setting up specific hypotheses (EFSA, 2010).
promoter	the genetic sequence in front of the GM gene that acts as a "switch" telling the plant when and how to read the gene
resilience	Resilience is the capacity of a system to absorb disturbance and reorganise whilst undergoing change so as to still retain essentially the same function, structure, identity and feedbacks (Walker et al, 2004). This recognises that ecosystems can exist in multiple stable states – thus, some species interchange may occur as a result of perturbation without significant impacts on ecosystem resilience, providing that the new species fulfil the same ecological functions as the lost species (Mazza et al, 2012). Resilience usually needs to be specified in terms of the identity (boundaries) of the ecosystem and its valued properties and functions.

resistance (to stressor eg pests, diseases, herbicides, insecticides, GM product)	resistance is the inherited ability of a plant or animal genotype to survive and reproduce following exposure to a dose of a pesticide (or GM product) normally lethal to the wild or normal genotype of the species. Resistance is the result of evolution by mutation and/or cross-breeding with naturally resistant individuals plus intense selection pressure.
restoration	the process of assisting the recovery of an ecosystem that has been degraded, damaged, or destroyed
rhizosphere	The rhizosphere is the narrow region of soil around plant roots that is directly influenced by root secretions and biomass. It is much richer in soil micro-organisms than the bulk soil. Much of the nutrient cycling and disease suppression needed by plants is carried out by these micro-organisms and thus occurs immediately adjacent to roots. Plant secretions determine the composition and function of the rhizosphere community; some plants secrete allelochemicals from their roots which inhibit the growth of other organisms (allelopathy).
risk	the combination of the magnitude of the consequences of a hazard, if it occurs, and the likelihood that the consequences occur (Directive 2001/18/EC). Risk is a probability of a harm occurring, which is quantified as far as is possible, but is always associated with a degree of uncertainty that should be specified with the risk statement.
risk analysis	a process consisting of three interconnected components: risk assessment, risk management, and risk communication (Codex Alimentarius, 2005); a process including a series of analytical and deliberative stages (National Research Council, 1996)
risk assessment	environmental risk assessment (ERA) means the evaluation of risks to human health and the environment, whether direct or indirect, immediate or delayed, which the deliberate release or placing on the market of GMOs may pose (Directive 2001/18/EC)
risk communication	the interactive exchange of information and opinions throughout the risk analysis process concerning risk, risk-related factors and risk perceptions, including the explanation of risk assessment findings and the basis of risk management decisions (Codex Alimentarius, 2005)
risk management	selection of a course of action in response to an identified risk that is based on many factors (eg social, legal, political, and/or economic) as well as the risk assessment results (US EPA 1998)
salinisation (of soil)	the accumulation of soluble salts of sodium, magnesium and calcium in soil to the extent that soil fertility is severely reduced
seed dormancy (primary and secondary)	Primary dormancy is an innate characteristic of a seed that stops it germinating during a specified period of time, even if the environmental conditions are favourable for germination. Most cultivated seeds have been

	bred to lose primary dormancy (except to prevent premature germination before harvesting), so that they germinate without delay after sowing. However, seeds can acquire secondary dormancy as a result of environmental triggers, eg if oilseed rape (<i>Brassica napus</i>) seeds in the soil are exposed to drought stress in the absence of light.
set-aside	land temporarily taken out of agricultural production; see also fallow
	Set-aside also refers to a scheme to lay fallow a proportion of the EU arable crop introduced under the Common Agricultural Policy in 1988 to help reduce over-production. Set-aside was abolished in 2008.
shelterbelt / windbreak	one or more rows of trees and/or shrubs planted in such a way as to provide shelter from the wind and/or sun and/or snow for crops, livestock and/or grassland; this report refers only to 'field shelterbelts' ie rows of trees or shrubs on agricultural fields, not shelterbelts around farmyards or livestock facilities, on marginal lands to change land use, or in block plantings to provide woodlots
short-rotation coppice (SRC)	high-yield varieties of tree (generally poplar and willow) grown as an energy crop; planted at a high density, cut at the base (coppiced) after one to two years, and re-harvested on a two to five year cycle for up to thirty years
silage	Silage is fermented, high-moisture stored fodder which can be fed to cattle and sheep or used as a biofuel feedstock for anaerobic digesters. It is fermented and stored in a process called ensilage, ensiling or silaging, and is usually made from grass, maize, sorghum or other cereals, using the entire green plant (not just the grain).
soil organic carbon (SOC)	the total carbon stored in soil organic matter expressed as % C per 100 g of soil – in general soil organic matter contains approximately 58% C, therefore a factor of 1.72 can be used to convert SOC to SOM (NB calcareous soils contain much more inorganic C than SOM)
soil organic matter (SOM)	Soil organic matter is the non-living product of the decomposition of plant and animal substances and residues. It consists of 1) partly decomposed residues (active SOM), 2) microbial biomass and decomposition products, 3) humus (a well-decomposed stable mix of complex carbon molecules), and 4) inert organic matter. SOM does not include living soil organisms (other than microbes), undecayed residues or surface litter, or inorganic (mineral) soil components.
soil sealing	the loss of soil resources due to the permanent covering of land for housing, roads or other infrastructure
sub-lethal	an negative effect on individuals that survive exposure to a toxin, ie a decrease in fitness through changes in physiology and/or behaviour, for example by decreasing fecundity or lifespan or flying behaviour (Desneux et al, 2007)
sustainable	'sustainable intensification' is defined as producing more from the same area of land while reducing negative environmental impacts and increasing

intensification	contributions to natural capital and the flow of environmental services (Baulcombe et al, 2009); this refers to increasing production on existing farmland rather than bringing new areas into cultivation, but at the same time doing this in a way that reduces the negative environmental impacts, and production can refer to food, biomass, fibre, and the range of other ecosystem services provided by agricultural land
synergistic impact	effect of the interaction of several components/factors/organisms that causes higher impacts than the sum of their individual impacts
target	a target species is a species that is deliberately killed as part of the GM or pesticide design, eg insects killed by the toxin in GM insect-resistant crops, weeds killed in GM herbicide-tolerant crops
tolerance (to stressor eg herbicides, insecticides, GM product)	tolerance is the inherent ability of a species to survive and reproduce after exposure to a pesticide or other stressor, for example because it has a naturally low susceptibility
trait (GM trait)	a trait is the particular form of a character of an organism, eg red flower colour or herbicide resistance; most GM traits are expressed by a single gene (whereas most traits eg yield are the result of a complex interaction of many genes); see also genotype
transgene	the genetic sequence that expresses the transgenic trait, taken from an unrelated species and inserted into the GMO (as opposed to cisgene)
transgenesis	the movement of genes between organisms which cannot breed (and which belong to different species); see definition of cisgenesis
tritrophic exposure	exposure of an organism to the stressor (pesticide, metabolite or GM product) via another organism on which it feeds or parasitizes, and which has fed on the plant and/or stressor; exposure of an organism to the stressor (pesticide, metabolite or GM product) via the faeces of another organism that has fed on the plant and/or stressor (see also bitrophic exposure)
volunteer population	a population of crop plants that has propagated in the crop field itself (ie within the subsequent crop or crops) from previous plantings of that crop
weedy races (of crops)	crop varieties that are no longer cultivated and have become naturalized in the wild
zero tillage (no-till)	Zero till (no-till) is a way of growing crops without disturbing the soil. This practice involves leaving the residue from last year's crop undisturbed and planting directly by drilling seeds through the residue.

INTRODUCTION

A. Objectives of the study

The overall purpose of this study is to explore the options for sustainable agricultural production in the EU, in the context of rising demands for biomass for energy and other industrial purposes, climate change and increasing impacts on biodiversity and ecosystem services¹. It forms the first of a series of five studies which examine various technological options for increasing the productivity, efficiency, sustainability and resilience of agriculture as a means of addressing food security in light of the anticipated growth of the global population to 10 billion people by 2050².

Agriculture operates within a global market and the responses appropriate to address food security globally will inevitably vary in different parts of the world depending on factors such as land availability, its fertility, the price and profitability of different crops, levels of technological development and technology transfer, future climatic and other environmental conditions as well as policies influencing land use. However, one of the central challenges is to achieve increases in crop production and agricultural productivity in a way that also restores biodiversity and other required environmental services, and achieves a sustainable use of natural resources at the same time as reducing greenhouse gas emissions and ensuring the sector adapts to climatic changes. The term 'sustainable intensification' has been coined to describe this twin challenge of increasing the productivity of agricultural land to produce more food and more environmental services in the face of a changing climate (Baulcombe et al, 2009; Foresight, 2011)³. This is not a new challenge of course. The need to make agriculture more sustainable has been the focus of attention for at least the last four decades (eg Carson, 1962; IUCN et al, 1980; O'Connor and Shrubb, 1986). However, current concerns about food security have reinvigorated this debate and underpinned the importance of sustaining the earth's productive capacity in the long term.

The focus of this study, therefore, is the interrelationship between agricultural land management, climate change and biodiversity and the potential for a range of innovative options for increasing agricultural production in the EU (largely through increasing agricultural productivity) in a way that:

- reduces the climate impacts of agriculture through mitigation actions;
- reduces the detrimental impacts of climate change on agriculture through adaptation actions; and
- reduces the detrimental impacts of agriculture on biodiversity and other environmental ecosystem services.

This **introduction** sets the context for the study by providing a brief overview of the anticipated trends in the demands from agricultural land in the EU over the coming decades and the factors influencing these.

Part 1 focuses on the interactions between agriculture and climate change, outlining the impacts of agriculture on the climate as well as the implications of climate change for agriculture. It then looks at the different types of farm management that could be put in place to:

- a) adapt to the impacts of climate change;
- b) mitigate the impacts of agriculture on the climate; and

¹ See glossary for definition of key terms

² this is an assumed population scenario for the project rather than a prediction: it corresponds to the current UN high fertility variant population projection for 2050 - the medium fertility variant predicts a population of 9.3 billion in 2050 and 10.1 billion in 2100 (UNDESA, 2011).

³ See glossary for definition of key terms

c) optimise potential synergies and trade-offs between these actions, other environmental objectives and farm productivity.

Part 2 examines the relationship between agriculture and biodiversity and the provision of environmental ecosystem services, taking account of the impacts of land use changes, different management techniques and technologies. It identifies key practices that can help to maintain and increase biodiversity on farmland (and provide other benefits such as those related to climate change mitigation and adaptation), and what measures are needed to ensure their wider adoption. It also provides a detailed analysis of the current and possible future impacts on biodiversity of:

- a. the cultivation of genetically modified crops in the EU;
- b. crops for biofuel production;

The study also provides a detailed analysis of the pressures affecting:

- c. the conservation of plant genetic material as a means of preventing decline in the genetic diversity of food crops; and
- d. pollinator decline, including the collapse of European honeybee colonies;

and identifies options for addressing the factors driving these negative trends.

Sustainability issues relating to the transport, processing and marketing of food are outside the scope of the study but their importance will be referred to in appropriate contexts.

B. Setting the context: future demands on agricultural land – trends and drivers

The rationale for this study is to gain a greater understanding of the potential for agriculture in the EU to increase the production of commodities in view of a growing global population in a way that does not cause damage to the environment and takes into account anticipated changes in climate. In so doing it is important to recognise that any changes in agricultural production or land use in the EU may have global implications, affecting the volume and type of commodities that are imported as well as exported, with related environmental impacts. In considering the EU's role, a broader global perspective is therefore important.

Two of the key drivers affecting overall demand for food are population size (and dynamics) and economic growth. Globally, the population growth of the 1950s-1970s has now slowed but the United Nation's medium projections show global population is likely to grow by 27 per cent by 2030, reaching 9 billion by mid-century and levelling off at around 10 billion towards 2100, with the greatest growth rate in Africa (UN-DESA, 2011). In Europe, population levels are expected to peak by the mid-2030s and then start to decline (FAO, 2006; Rosegrant et al, 2006; UNDESA, 2011). Indeed populations have already started to decline in about a quarter of EU Member States. In addition, the changing age profile of the population, patterns of migration from rural to urban areas (and vice versa) as well as immigration and emigration trends also influence demand for food and other services from land.

As societies have become more affluent, they have tended to consume more processed foods of all types, more livestock products (dairy produce and meat) and to be more wasteful with food. Increased demand for livestock products also increases the demand for land for crops for animal feed, both carbohydrates and protein. Much of Europe has experienced considerable economic growth until recently and this has had a major impact on consumption patterns, with knock on impacts on the environment as well as health. Changes in consumption patterns also are being witnessed increasingly in transition economies such as China, some other parts of Asia and Brazil. For example, world meat consumption has increased by six per cent over the past five years as a result of demand

from emerging countries, such as India and China. In the EU by contrast per capita consumption has stayed rather stable (OECD and FAO, 2010).

However, alongside the expanding demand for food, there is evidence to suggest that a larger, higher income, better fed and better informed population may start to care more about the environment and the services that nature provides (for example TEEB, 2011).

There is consensus that demand for agricultural products at a global level will rise significantly by 2050. The FAO has estimated that demand for food will rise by approximately 70 per cent over the next 40 years to feed a rising world population with changing dietary trends (FAO, 2011a). However, it is expected that the majority of this increased demand will arise and be met outside the EU, largely in Africa. This will be achieved by a combination of bringing non-agricultural land into production and by increasing yields (FAO, 2011a; OECD and FAO, 2012). Some increase in production is likely in the EU, particularly in relation to cereals but largely in the EU-12 Member States. Yields in the main productive areas of the EU-15 are already high and the environmental impacts of production are considerable, and in some situations unsustainable (EEA, 2012a; Gay et al, 2009; Sutton et al, 2011). At present there is also increased demand for biomass for energy purposes grown on agricultural land in the EU, although this is primarily driven by policy. This could grow in future in response to renewable energy policy and could include more novel crops such as short rotation coppice.

However, the fact remains that in the EU, there is already a significant environmental "deficit", with serious concerns about the state of biodiversity as well as water and soil resources. Evidence suggests that, although there continues to be some potential to increase crop yields in the EU, the extent of the increases that are likely to be sustainable - ie feasible without further depleting natural resources, particularly water - is far more limited (Hart et al, 2013). The level of yield increases that can be achieved sustainably will to some extent depend on new technological developments and their wider use, which in turn will depend on investments in agricultural research, development and extension (Alene and Coulibaly, 2009; Beintema et al, 2012; IAASTD, 2009)

While changes in consumption patterns (particularly decreases in meat consumption), and a greater effort over time to reduce food wastage are necessary conditions, substantial changes in agricultural systems will be required in Europe in order to reduce the existing environmental deficit as well as deal with new pressures, such as those associated with climate change (EEA, 2010a; Freibauer et al, 2011).

Indeed **climatic changes** present many challenges for increasing production in the future. Increased frequency of extreme weather events, incidences of pests and diseases as well as climate variability and higher overall temperatures all have the potential to outweigh the positive impacts on some yields of increased CO₂ density and warming. For example, there is some evidence to suggest that a 1°C increase in global mean temperature could reduce global grain yields by 10-17 per cent, although such impacts would vary in different parts of the world and for different crops (Lal, 2012; Maracchi et al, 2005). Increasingly, however, experts are warning that the target to limit global warming to 2°C above pre-industrial levels will not be met (Anderson and Bows, 2011; Pricewaterhouse Coopers, 2012) and some are warning that the world is on track to a 3.5°C rise⁴. It is therefore highly likely that under such a scenario, impacts on ecosystems, crop production and other ecosystem services in Europe may be more marked than currently anticipated in the literature (Donatelli et al, 2012; Olesen et al, 2011; Olesen et al, 2012; Semenov and Shewry, 2011).

These serious challenges facing global food systems mean that there is an urgent need to take action on the problems of climate change, environmental degradation and resource depletion at the same time as addressing food security. Changes in technologies and land management practices that lead

⁴ Statement by International Energy Agency Executive Director on COP 18 <u>http://www.iea.org/newsroomandevents/news/2012/december/name,34193,en.html</u>

to the more sustainable production of food will be a central element of strategies for reducing pressure on land resources in Europe and in those countries from which the EU imports products. This report explores some of those opportunities.

PART 1 CLIMATE CHANGE AND AGRICULTURE

Agricultural activities depend directly on climatic conditions and will be influenced by climate change. Agricultural activities also use natural resources and have an impact on climate change. This part of the study looks into the possible effects of climate change on conditions for European agriculture, as well as assessing the opportunities for reducing the emissions of greenhouse gases from agriculture and land management.

Chapter 1 assesses the possible effects of climate change on conditions for agriculture within EU.

Chapter 2 examines opportunities in the sector for mitigating the effects of the warming climate.

Chapter 3 provides an overview of agricultural management actions that may have potential benefits for mitigation and for adaptation.

Chapter 4 provides recommended options for action in the EU.

1 IMPACTS OF CLIMATE CHANGE ON EU AGRICULTURE

1.1 Changes in crop growth and agricultural productivity

Most of the evidence on the likely effects of climate change on agriculture relate to crop production (yields and location), whilst the impacts on livestock has received less attention (Hjerp et al, 2012). It is important to note that there are considerable uncertainties inherent in longer term projections in terms of the likely scale and timescale of the predicted impacts, which are also likely to interact with each other in complex ways.

Climate change already affects crop productivity in Europe with changes in the growing season of crops, the timing of the crop cycle, water availability and irrigation requirements and the increasing frequency and unpredictability of extreme events such as floods, droughts, hail, and storms (EEA, 2012b). The increase in temperature has resulted in an increase in the growing season by more than ten days since 1992⁵. The observed shifts include earlier flowering dates and later harvest dates which alone generally result in higher yields. However, some crops, including cereals, cannot always benefit from this change, due to lower water availability to plants in the growth phase or a shorter grain filling phase⁶. These are some of the factors constraining any growth in wheat yields in parts of Europe, despite advances in crop breeding (EEA, 2012b). Other restraining factors, such as farmers' attitudes and restrictions on fertiliser and pesticide use, may at first appear unrelated to climate change, but may still be linked. Increased uncertainty over crop survival to harvest may be one factor making farmers reluctant to invest very much in increasing yields, especially when prices are low (Hart et al, 2013).

Further lengthening of the growing season is predicted to lead to the northward shift of areas suitable for certain crops, particularly those currently widespread in southern Europe, such as maize, sunflower and soybean (EEA, 2012b), but this may not translate into an overall increase in productivity.

The lengthening of the growing cycle, reduced days of frost and more favourable overall climatic conditions in northern Europe, are expected to lead to some increases in productivity in these latitudes but the adverse effects relating to extreme weather events (eg storms, hail, pests) may be of similar magnitude (EEA, 2010b; EEA, 2012b).

Any increase that does occur in northern Europe may however be offset by reduced yields in southern Europe. By 2030 southern European regions could experience a 5-10 per cent decrease in yields compared to current levels, mainly because of changes in the growing cycle and insufficient water availability for crop growth (Bowyer and Kretschmer, 2011) as discussed below). Quantitative estimates of the distribution and magnitude of such effects vary between different yield models but concur on the overall trends (Donatelli et al, 2012; Hart et al, 2013). Occurrences of drought and high temperatures during the first decade of the 21st century have already greatly reduced crop yields in central and southern Europe (Trnka et al, 2011b). It is foreseen that heat waves and droughts increasingly will affect EU agriculture and aggravate already existing climatic pressures. The impacts of unfavourable weather events at unpredictable and different points in crop growing cycles could lead to increased variability in yields (EEA, 2012b; Maracchi et al, 2005; Trnka et al, 2011a).

⁵ The datasets used by EEA relate to Europe defined with a wider geographic focus than the EU-27.

⁶ For example winter wheat has experienced a shorter grain filling phase caused by the fact that its flowering shifted prior to its maturity, with negative effect on yields.

1.2 Changes in water availability

The impacts of climate change on water availability and crop yields are also complex. On the one hand, the efficiency with which crops use water during the growth phase increases with higher concentrations of CO₂ in the atmosphere, thus rising CO₂ levels may positively affect crop productivity. On the other hand, higher temperatures increase evapotranspiration rates, resulting in the likelihood of crops having greater water requirements in the future, as evident in southern Europe (EEA, 2012b; EEA, 2012c). Crop choice and crop management are additional factors which, together with efficiency of water use, determine whether the change in yield is positive or negative. The complex interaction of all these factors also has a major effect on water demand for sustaining the levels of agricultural output. There are indications that current water supply for agriculture may be hard to sustain in some Mediterranean countries, with a predicted increase in water scarcity problems particularly where increasing irrigation is required (EEA, 2012a; EEA, 2012c; Iglesias et al, 2007a); see Box 1-1 and Figure 1-1.



Relative change in water availability for irrigation as projected under the A1B emission scenario by the HIRHAM (DMI) regional climate model for 2071–2100 relative to 1961–1990. Source: Iglesias et al, 2012 cited in (EEA, 2012c)

Box 1-1 Water use for irrigation

In France, Greece, Italy, Portugal and Spain, 80 per cent of total water use is already for agriculture in comparison to 24 per cent across Europe as a whole. By comparison, in central and northern Europe agriculture is typically rain-fed and accounts for less than one per cent of total national water abstractions. Accelerated water use for irrigation has been a catalyst for greater food production in southern Europe since the 1970s. But it has come at a significant environmental cost, for example to biodiversity as discussed in Chapter 5, and to water availability in the medium and long-term. Excessive groundwater exploitation threatens some of the most important wetlands of southern Europe. Conversely, further decreases in the natural capacity of wet areas and wet features to maintain regular flows in river basins may adversely affect water availability. In central and south-eastern Europe, predominantly in Hungary, Romania and Bulgaria, irrigation infrastructure had largely deteriorated by 1990 or was abandoned in the subsequent process of re-structuring. Water abstraction rates have subsequently dropped, for example in Bulgaria and Romania by 80 to 90 per cent compared to 1990 levels. The lack of efficient irrigation and natural water retention methods affects production levels in arid zones, although inappropriate crop choice and soil management may be an additional factor.

Sources: (Wriedt et al, 2008) (EEA, 2012b), (EEA, 2012c); (Russi et al, 2013); (Poláková et al, 2013)

Other pressures in water stressed regions, such as southern and south-eastern Europe, include the increasing frequency of droughts and growing demand for water from industry and urban areas, often competing with agriculture (EEA, 2012c). Figure 1-2 shows the water exploitation index for each EU Member State⁷, which compares abstraction levels to the water available and is the main measure for assessing the degree to which continued water abstraction is sustainable. It gives an indication of the water stress already experienced in Member States in recent years.

In addition to water supply issues, climatic conditions, particularly storm events and wet periods, play an important role in the level of diffuse water pollution by nitrates and phosphates from farming. Nitrate is most prone to leaching from soil when rainfall is higher and, similarly, phosphates enter surface water following periods of rain (Hoffmann et al, 2009). Given the observed trend in some parts of Europe towards a sequence of drought years interrupted by wet years, there is a common concern that the effects of leaching on water quality in wet years may affect the availability of clean water for crop irrigation in the dry years.

Climate change already affects the quality of freshwater and aquatic environments in Europe. By shifting the algal blooms in lakes and rivers to earlier dates in the year the impacts of eutrophication are enhanced. Increases in nutrient and dissolved organic carbon concentrations in surface waters due to warming also combine with the nutrient increases caused by fertiliser run-off (EEA, 2012a; OECD, 2012). This trend also has other environmental costs, for example to aquatic habitats and is expected to continue.

⁷ The Water Exploitation Index is the mean annual total demand for freshwater divided by the long-term average freshwater resources, calculated at Member State area level and/or at river basin level



1.3 Changes in flooding

The frequency of flooding events is expected to increase as the climate becomes warmer. The risk of flooding is thought to be greater in the Boreal, Atlantic central, Continental north and Alpine areas compared to other EU agro-climatic zones (EEA, 2012b). Floods are likely to particularly affect lowland agricultural areas in northern Europe where run-off rates in catchments have increased (eg as a result of soil sealing), upstream watercourses have been widened and deepened and active floodplains have been reduced (eg as a result of development) (EEA, 2012a).

Wetland loss, which accelerated in the EU in the last century, adversely affects flows in river basins alongside the loss of floodplains and water meadows, thus weakening resilience to flooding. It is expected that the risk of flooding and its subsequent impact on agricultural production will increase in situations with inappropriate land management (EEA, 2012b).

The impacts of flooding on crops can include lower yields (caused by waterlogging and disruptions during vulnerable stages of development), increased levels of salinity in soils and water in some situations and increased pest and disease problems (Iglesias et al, 2007b). Water retention measures in catchments, such as maintaining grasslands, applying zero-tillage, creating linear features, ensuring soil cover during appropriate seasons and introducing patches of trees (Fiener et al, 2011; Hümann et al, 2011; Reinhardt et al, 2011) increasingly may be required to mitigate the risk of flooding in relevant river basins. Although such actions are likely to be a part of adaptation strategies for agriculture, and

may be necessary to maintain medium to long term productivity, they may require changes in land management that could result in localised declines in output.

1.4 Changes in soil characteristics

Soil performs a variety of important functions, such as regulating nutrient and water flow, storage, and filtering. It has a key role in nitrate leaching, and it can store large amounts of organic carbon. Climate change is likely to have complex impacts on soil since changes in both precipitation levels and temperatures can affect the structure of soil and its capacity to leach and exchange nutrients and retain organic matter and water. The changing functionality of soils can be measured by changes in soil organic carbon, soil erosion and soil moisture.

In the long-term, climate change is expected to have an impact on soil organic carbon (SOC) levels⁸. Soils can act as both a sink and a source of carbon and SOC content is directly related to the levels of soil organic matter. Long-term decreases and increases in SOC levels are projected for soils in different climatic zones. There is a considerable likelihood that future SOC levels will be adversely affected by increases in soil erosion and faster decomposition induced by warming and will reflect developments in both land use and management (EEA, 2012b), in turn driven partly by climate change.

In a shorter timeframe, land management practices and land use change are expected to have a greater impact on SOC than climatic changes, which may have little or no effect. However, the interaction between climate and SOC levels is complex and is driven by several climatic and biotic factors on which more research and data is needed.

1.5 Pest/pathogen risk

Pests and pathogens adversely affect agricultural yields and crop quality. Globally, the total potential loss due to pests may vary from about 50 per cent in wheat to more than 80 per cent in cotton production. Weeds have been estimated to be the cause of most losses (over 30 per cent) while animal pests and pathogens are responsible for less than 20 per cent (Oerke, 2006).

Pathogen risks are expected to change in the EU due to climate change, impacting both agriculture and forestry. The main effect on agriculture is expected to be a higher year-to-year variability in yield.

Longer growing seasons, resulting from warmer temperatures, are likely to promote better conditions for the growth and development of organisms such as insect pests and diseases alongside crop growth (EEA, 2012b). However, significant uncertainties remain about the magnitude and direction of change of these risks. Research will be needed to improve the way in which the complex range of effects (listed in Box 1-2) can be accounted for. Together with other challenges, such as insufficient water or nutrient availability, greater pest/pathogen risk or greater competition from weeds may negate the fertilising impact of increased CO₂ concentrations in the atmosphere and of longer growing seasons (Ciscar et al, 2009; Gregory et al, 2009).

Climate change may increase the risk of crop damage, but the actual impact of pests and pathogens on future yields will depend largely on the degree to which they can be controlled. Both the science and new policy measures underline the need to shift toward integrated pest management. This uses crop rotations, more pest- and disease-resistant crop varieties, field edge management to favour beneficial insects, and other alternative practices to complement the use of chemical pest control (Boller et al, 2004).

⁸ With every 10°C increase in soil temperature the rate of mineralisation of soil organic matter which causes a release of nitrous oxide approximately doubles.

Box 1-2 Effects of climate change on pest/pathogen risk

Factors affecting the susceptibility of crops to pests. These include the presence of the pest and the host in a given geographic zone (ie exposure, depending in particular on the dispersal capacity of the pest), the level of virulence of the pest and the level of resistance of the host (sensitivity), the timing of the interaction between the pest and its host (depending in particular on survival and reproduction conditions of the biotic agent), but are also influenced by crop conditions. For example a forest is more susceptible to pests after a storm, and the use of monocultures increases risks within agroecosystems.

Shifts in the range of presence. The range of pests is expected to shift, mainly northwards in Europe together with crops and tree species. This may change the interaction potential, eg when new crops are susceptible to pests present in the newly cropped area, or if pests move to new areas. Moreover, pathogens may encounter new hosts and /or new potential vectors. Climate change may profit both native and exotic pest agents. As an example, Pine Processionary moth (*Thaumetopoea pityocampa*), a native widespread defoliator, is exhibiting altitudinal shifts due to improved winter survival, and latitudinal shifts; it could also recruit new host species.

Increased proliferation of pests. Many insects can complete a greater number of reproductive cycles under favourable climate conditions, thus increasing the risk of proliferation. Higher winter temperatures also may allow certain pests to survive winter conditions better, resulting in earlier and greater infestations.

Changes in conditions alter the resistance of crops. Changes in temperature and humidity are also affecting the resistance of crops and forests. A review shows differential resistance to disease and pests under changed temperature and drought conditions, as well as decreased impact from pests in certain studies.

Adaptation issues. Many crops have been selected to resist pests and pathogens occurring in their natural environments. However, several examples show that climate change may compromise the effectiveness of the selected traits. In addition, most pathogens have short reproductive life cycles, while crops and more particularly trees have longer life cycles, and longer timespans are necessary to select resistant strains. This factor may enable faster adaptation to changing climatic conditions by pests than by crops and forests.

Sources: (BioIntelligence Service, 2011) (Bindi and Olesen, 2011) (Gregory et al, 2009)

1.6 Fire risk

Reduced rainfall in summer and more extreme drought events are expected to increase the frequency and extent of the conditions that allow for damaging wild fires, especially in Mediterranean countries (EEA, 2012b). Within agricultural systems, fires may affect some croplands, semi-natural grasslands, shrublands/heathlands, moorland, woody pastures (eg dehesas and montados) and agro-forestry. Within semi-natural habitats, fire is to some extent an integral part of certain ecosystem dynamics, prompting re-generation and controlling insect and disease damage etc. In some habitats the controlled use of fire is an important management tool for maintaining open habitats, improving forage quality and grazing conditions, and avoiding intense wild fires, particularly parts of northern Europe (Tucker, 2003).

However, uncontrolled wild fires can have devastating impacts on soil and biodiversity as well as on production. The key factors in wildfire risk are weather and vegetation type, whilst fuel load and topography affect the severity of the fire. Over centuries management practices to reduce the fuel load in vegetation have included grazing, thinning and controlled burning. These have become less

common with the gradual withdrawal of management, including livestock grazing, and abandonment of extensive agriculture and forestry in many parts of Europe affected by fires. Uncontrolled fires, particularly where they affect organic soils, can release large amounts of soil carbon and disrupt carbon sequestration (eg Bain et al, 2011).

1.7 Energy supply

Climate change is expected to reduce demand for heating in northern and north-western Europe. Since 1980, the number of heating degree days⁹ has decreased by an average of 16 per year in these regions (EEA, 2012b), although there may be colder winters and need for more heating in those periods. In southern Europe it is however foreseen that climate change will increase energy demand for cooling strongly, with potentially higher peaks in electricity demand in the summer than at present. These trends are expected to continue and will affect the energy performance of farm buildings (EEA, 2012b). Although artificial cooling of livestock housing was recommended in some literature on climate change adaptation, there is a clear trade-off between the benefit for animal wellbeing and adverse effect on energy supply (Ecologic, 2010; Hjerp et al, 2012).

⁹ A 'heating degree day' is a proxy for the energy demand needed to heat a building based on outside air temperature.

2 IMPACTS OF EU AGRICULTURE ON CLIMATE

Climate is being influenced by greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from agriculture worldwide, with as much as 18 to 30 per cent of global GHG emissions attributed to agriculture¹⁰. The corresponding share for the EU-27 is about 9 per cent but this figure does not account for the footprint associated with the production of agricultural inputs and certain imports (see section 2.4). Agriculture and land use are largely outside the global climate change commitments that are mandatory in other sectors (see Box 2-1). However in 2009 the EU adopted commitments to curb total GHG emissions by at least 20 per cent below 1990 levels by 2020. GHG emissions from European agricultural sector remains important for the success of these commitments. The agricultural share of overall EU emissions is expected to rise by 2050, with faster rates of mitigation in other sectors suggesting that action in the sector will attract greater attention.

This chapter first considers key greenhouse gas emissions from agricultural sources in section 2.1, and then the capacity to sequester organic carbon in agricultural soils and vegetation in section 2.2. Finally section 2.3 provides a summary of quantitative estimates of the mitigation potential of the sector based on published sources. IPCC AR4 methodology is followed unless we provide a note on using other methods.

Box 2-1 EU commitments to curb GHG emissions within the agricultural sector

Agriculture is important for the success of EU commitments to curb GHG emissions by 2050 both because of the effect of land management on carbon sequestration and the emissions from soils and land use change on a large part of Europe's territory. For a variety of reasons, agriculture has been integrated only partially in the EU's current quantitative targets for emission reductions. The sector remains outside the reduction commitments set out for the Emissions Trading System (ETS). Non-CO₂ agricultural emissions (relating mostly to the livestock management and use of fertiliser on soils) count toward the targets adopted in non-ETS sectors¹¹. Efforts to reduce carbon dioxide emissions from land use, land use change and forestry (LULUCF) have so far only been reported to the UNFCCC and excluded from the quantitative EU reduction targets. However, from 2014 onwards, accounting rules for LULUCF will be implemented as part of EU legislation¹² and there is a wide political agreement that the associated emissions remain critical for meeting the EU climate objective of limiting the global temperature increase to no more than 2°C beyond pre-industrial levels. After 2020, land use and soil related emissions may be considered for inclusion within the LULUCF framework in the next EU reduction commitments as well.

Sources: (European Commission, 2011a; European Commission, 2012a)

¹⁰ The higher estimate is generated in a modelling scenario including emissions from land-use change with deforestation, the lower estimate does not factor in these emissions. Note that some of the soy feed imported in to the EU comes from land affected by deforestation in the recent past.

¹¹ The 'Effort Sharing Decision' stipulates the commitment to reduce emissions in the relevant sectors (ie agriculture, waste, buildings, transport) within the EU by 10 per cent by 2020 in comparison to 2005 (Decision No 406/2009/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 April 2009 on the effort of Member States to reduce their greenhouse gas emissions to meet the Community's greenhouse gas emission reduction commitments up to 2020.

¹² Decision No 529/2013/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 21 May 2013 on accounting rules and action plans for greenhouse gas emissions and removals resulting from activities related to land use, land use change and forestry
2.1 Greenhouses gases and their sources and trends

Despite the reductions of the last two decades, the agricultural sector still accounts for 9.8 per cent of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions in the EU-27 (EEA, 2012b)¹³. Depending on environmental and climatic conditions, the relative economic importance of agriculture, and the prevailing farming systems, the agricultural share of emissions within national totals varies considerably between individual Member States. See Annex 2 for more details.

The largest share of the EU's agricultural GHG emissions comes from nitrous oxide (N_2O) and methane (CH₄). While the global warming potential (GWP₁₀₀) of carbon dioxide is 1, the GWP₁₀₀ value for methane is 25 and for nitrous oxide is 298¹⁴.

Agricultural emissions are associated with a range of management activities but also with biological processes that naturally emit GHGs. Uncertainty about the magnitude of emissions is therefore more pronounced in agriculture than in industrial sectors. For the same management activity, net emissions may vary in diverse agronomic, bio-physical, environmental and climatic situations.

Nitrous oxide emissions stem primarily from the use of manure, fertiliser and external inputs to soils, whereas methane emissions result from livestock digestion and manure management¹⁵. These emissions are reported by the EU Member States on an annual basis as part of a common UNFCCC reporting framework under the category 'agriculture'. It is worth noting that emissions of reactive nitrogen (primarily from ammonia from manure) also are among the top causes of terrestrial ecosystem eutrophication, which leads to significant biodiversity loss (Dise, 2011). Nitrous oxide emissions from agriculture are particularly difficult to calculate accurately.

Further emissions that are closely linked to agricultural activities include carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions from agricultural soils and vegetation, which, under international rules are reported separately within the 'land use, land use change and forestry' (LULUCF) category¹⁶.

Cropland soils in particular act as a net source of emissions, for example through oxidation of soil carbon following soil erosion or tillage. According to official reports, croplands in the EU-27 emit about 70 million tonnes of CO_2 equivalent per year including N₂O emissions from the cultivation of organic soils and the mineralisation of soil organic matter as a result of land use conversion and drainage (European Commission, 2009a) (see Box 2-3). On the other hand, soils' capacity to remove the carbon dioxide from the atmosphere by sequestration can reduce emissions, with the balance broadly neutral in the EU in recent years.

CO₂ emissions from agriculture can result also from the use of fossil fuels for agricultural machinery, transport, heating and drying. Under IPCC accounting rules these emissions are reported under the energy sector, along with transport emissions.

¹³ Emissions from land use, land use change and forestry are not taken into account in the calculation. Reference year is 2010.

¹⁴ Global warming potential (GWP₁₀₀) is a measurement unit comparing the amount of heat trapped by a certain mass of the gas in question to the amount of heat trapped by a similar mass of carbon dioxide; calculated over a time interval of 100 years (IPCC AR4, 2007).

¹⁵ Methane emissions also arise from rice management which is a relatively minor sector within the EU.

¹⁶ 'Land use, land use change and forestry' (LULUCF) is a category within the UNFCCC accounting framework for certain GHG emissions. It includes the carbon pools of living biomass (above and below ground), dead organic matter (dead wood and litter) and organic soil carbon for all land categories (forest land, cropland, grassland, wetland, urban land and other land). Emissions from land use change (such as permanent pasture to arable) and deforestation are also reported under this category.

All types of emissions from upstream activities (eg production of fertilisers and pesticides and the production and maintenance of machinery) also could be assigned to the footprint of the agricultural sector if the system boundaries were altered with this intent. In particular, the amount of fossil fuel energy embodied in nitrogen fertiliser, with due effects on climate change, is already high and is expected to double to meet demand by 2050 (Malingreau et al, 2012)¹⁷. These estimations, whilst outside current accounting conventions, are helpful in illuminating the linkages between the relative greenhouse gas burdens along the food chain and identifying the most sizable opportunities for mitigation. For illustration, a study on the footprint of the whole livestock sector food chain showed that it amounts to between 630 and 863 million tonnes CO_{2-eq} , or 12–17 per cent of total EU27 GHG emissions in 2007 (Bellarby et al, 2013)¹⁸. Calculating the emissions associated with the production of all key inputs is complex, however, and these are largely outside the focus of this study.

Non-CO₂ agricultural emissions in the EU-27 declined by over 20 per cent in the period from 1990 to 2010 (see Annex 2)¹⁹. This decreasing trend is the result of several factors, some arising from reduced production and some from improved productivity.

The drop in agricultural production in the new Member States following the change in the political and economic framework after 1990 was a major influence in the downward emission trend. Also important were: changes in agricultural policy away from coupled support; improvements in manure management and farm management practices; and the development and implementation of agricultural and environmental policies (eg the Nitrates Directive and cross compliance).

Reductions in methane emissions resulted primarily from a significant drop in cattle numbers, and also from an increase in animal productivity and improvements in the efficiency of feed use. Nitrous oxide emissions from agricultural soils diminished mainly due to a reduced use of organic and mineral nitrogen fertilisers as well as indirectly due to the existence of obligatory set aside (until its abolition in 2008), and improved protection of permanent pasture (European Commission, 2009b). However, there are other issues that are not taken into account in the official statistics; some are set out in Box 2-2.

Most of the statistics currently available for GHG emissions from agriculture cover periods that ended before the recent increases in production and some emissions might be expected to rise again as production increases, depending on the impact of improvements in productivity and resource use efficiency.

Box 2-2 GHG emissions unaccounted for in the official agricultural statistics from 1990 to 2007

Meat imports. EU beef imports have grown since 1990. Lower livestock numbers in Europe played a role in reducing GHG emissions but emissions in countries exporting to Europe will have grown.

Set-aside. The mandatory set aside introduced in the 1990s meant that a proportion of arable land was not cultivated each year, so reducing input use. This will have contributed to the overall degressive trends of reduced GHG emissions from agricultural soils. Since 2008 the majority of the

¹⁷ Similarly, the energy for producing phosphate fertilisers is expected to increase as the easily usable high grade reserves are gradually becoming depleted (Schröder et al, 2010).

¹⁸ These calculations are based on a life cycle analysis of beef and dairy products, taking into account GHG balance associated with EU exports, imports and waste. Therefore they differ from a sum of relevant emission data in national inventories for the purpose of UNFCCC reporting.

¹⁹ Includes CH_4 and N_2O emissions from agricultural soils, manure management and enteric fermentation. Emissions from soil management decreased by 23.3 per cent, from manure management by 19.9 per cent and from enteric fermentation by 22.0 per cent

former set-aside has reverted to arable production with associated GHG increases.

Biomass production for energy. Biomass production for EU use, which increased steeply after 2007, takes place to a considerable extent outside Europe, competes with other land uses and has other environmental impacts including emissions associated with deforestation, and the ploughing of grass. These effects are outside the official GHG emission reports up to 2007.

Effects along the food chain. As noted above official GHG emission reports do not take into account the full footprint of inputs into agricultural products, such as fertiliser and feed or other aspects of the food chain, for example food waste. A recent life cycle analysis of the EU livestock sector, taking into account EU exports, imports and waste, demonstrated that overall emissions are much higher than those reported, amounting to between 630 and 863 million tonnes CO_{2-eq}, or 12–17 per cent of total EU-27 GHG emissions in 2007.²⁰

Sources: (Bellarby et al, 2013; Diaz-Chavez et al, 2013; European Commission, 2009b)

2.2 Sequestration in soils and vegetation

Land use, land use change and forestry in Europe is a substantial net carbon sink overall (EU 2009a). This is mainly because of the positive contribution made by woodlands, whether managed or not. The land is also responsible for large amounts of stored carbon, much of it in a form that could be released to the atmosphere. EU-27 soil carbon stocks contain an estimated 75,000 Mt of carbon (EEA, 2012b).²¹

Agricultural land use in the EU contributes to both emissions and removals of GHG from the atmosphere. Grasslands have been a net sink in the EU, removing about 13 Mt of carbon per year²² (European Commission, 2009a). Wetlands on peat soils, such as bogs and fens, are also important as carbon sinks, as long as they remain intact and do not become degraded. When drained or burnt for agriculture, they become a source of CO2 emissions for a long time (Box 2-3).

Box 2-3 Impact of cultivation and drainage on peat soils

Around 16 per cent of Europe's peatland, and up to 70 per cent of peatland in some Member States, is currently used for agricultural purposes and drained, including the vast majority of peat in Northern and Western Europe. Nitrous oxide is released from cultivated peat soils due to the mineralisation of organic matter for decades after drainage. In 2007, EU-27 emissions from cropland on peat soils amounted to 37.5 million tonnes CO2-eq, corresponding to 88 per cent of total emissions from cropland.

Source: (European Commission, 2009b; Gobin et al, 2011; Schils et al, 2008)

Carbon sinks are considered within the official GHG reports for land use and land use change together with the relevant emissions (LULUCF). By 2007 annual removals increased by around 83 per

²⁰ These calculations are based on a life cycle analysis of beef and dairy products.

²¹ Around 50 per cent of the overall C stock is located in Ireland, Finland, Sweden and the United Kingdom, because of the large area of peatlands in these countries (Bain et al, 2011; Gobin et al, 2011; Joosten, 2009; Schils et al, 2008; Worrall et al, 2011)

²² Grasslands have relatively high levels of soil carbon content compared to croplands. This is due to the stable soil environment which benefits accumulation of SOM, and the fact that SOM has accumulated during the whole lifetime of the grassland communities (Gobin et al, 2011; Jones, 2010; Soussana et al, 2010). The IPCC emission factor for grasslands represents both the living biomass and below-ground carbon content.

cent for grassland (which turned from source to sink) and emissions from cropland, which remain a net source, decreased by 5.2 per cent in the EU-27 as compared to 1990. The overall trends mask different developments in the various Member States.

Climate change and land management methods are two key (and inter-related) factors potentially affecting soil organic carbon (SOC) loss in agricultural soils (EEA, 2012b; Smith, 2012). SOC may be adversely affected by possible increases in soil erosion, faster decomposition of soil organic matter induced by warming as well as by future land management changes. Further research is needed to clarify the interactions between these diverse factors and the potential enhancement of soil productivity that may result from the 'CO2 fertilisation' effect (Ciais et al, 2010; Lal, 2012). Figure 2-1 shows potential benefits to SOC that could be gained through improved crop management practices, such as new technologies, higher-yield crop types, and increased net primary production (NPP) of soils, over a considerable period.



Appropriate land and farm management can lower the amount of carbon dioxide emitted into the atmosphere from cropland, as well as increase the carbon sequestration potential of arable soils in the EU. Management aimed at maintaining or enhancing SOC stocks in agricultural soils often provides co-benefits to soil fertility, workability through less compaction, water infiltration and holding capacity and reduced erosion risk (Lal, 2004) (see section 3.2).

2.3 Mitigation potential of EU agriculture

Authoritative sources estimate that the *technical* mitigation potential of agriculture²³ globally is high (Box 2-4). For the EU, the technical mitigation potential through all agricultural practices is estimated at approximately 750 Mt CO_{2-eq} per year (IPCC, 2007b); soil carbon management alone has an estimated mitigation potential ranging from around 67 MtCO₂ to 200 MtCO₂ per year²⁴ taking account of a range of options in cropland management, grazing land management and the restoration of cultivated organic soils and degraded land (IPCC, 2007b).

Box 2-4 Technical mitigation potential of agriculture worldwide

The estimated global technical potential is 5.5-6 Gt CO₂-eq per year with some ambiguity over how much of this realistically can be carried out in practice. Appropriate soil management practices alone above could achieve about 89 per cent of this potential, through enhanced sequestration. Globally, net emissions from soils are estimated to represent less than 1 per cent of global anthropogenic CO2 emissions when sequestration is accounted for.

Sources: (Campbell et al, 2011; IPCC, 2007b; UNFCCC, 2008)

The *realistically* achievable potential is calculated by adjusting the technical potential to take account of existing barriers to the adoption of all the relevant mitigation actions, such as insufficient costeffectiveness, possible decreases in production levels, bio-physical constraints etc. The realistically achievable potential could be about twenty per cent less than the technical potential, with much uncertainty in the modelling estimates (IPCC, 2007b). It is predicted that European agriculture has the potential to reduce non- CO_2 emissions (including from livestock systems and use of fertiliser) by between 42 per cent to 49 per cent by 2050 compared to 1990 (European Commission, 2011a). Chapter 0 provides an overview of the actions that could contribute most, noting that some trade-offs between future levels of GHG emissions and future levels of production are likely.

2.4 Other aspects of the European food chain

Several important areas for reducing the overall footprint of the food chain exist. In addition to measures directly targeting agriculture itself, there are other means of reducing emissions from the food chain as a whole, including in the processing and distribution components and in changing dietary patterns. These include:

- Improvements in efficiency and technical developments.
- Waste reduction throughout the food chain.
- Dietary changes, such as reduced meat consumption.

Methane recovery for energy through anaerobic digestion of agricultural waste is included in the list of mitigation actions in section 3.2. Box 2-5 provides an overview of the potential impact of reducing meat use in the EU. A full examination of these areas is outside the scope of the study.

²³ According to IPCC, the term 'technical mitigation potential' denotes the amount by which it is possible to reduce GHG emissions (or improve energy efficiency) by implementing an already existing technology or practice.

²⁴ Lower estimates were identified in studies that factored in possible low cost-effectiveness of some of the measures, certain uncertainties in the estimates of the mitigation potentials, possible negative impacts of some measures on production levels, bio-physical constraints and farmers' reluctance to change management (Vellinga et al, 2011).

Box 2-5 The impact of reducing meat consumption by changes in diet

A recent study on changes in dietary choices concludes that a completely vegetarian diet in the EU could lead to a maximum reduction in emissions of 266 Mt CO2 eq. per annum, of which 209 Mt CO_{2-eq} would occur within the EU. A slightly lower reduction would be expected from a shift to a "healthy diet", involving lower calorie intake and more fruit and vegetables than the current diet, ie a reduction of emissions of 195 Mt CO_{2-eq}, of which 200 Mt CO_{2-eq} in the EU. A shift to a diet with a day without animal proteins would achieve a reduction of 50 Mt CO_{2-eq}, of which 39 Mt CO_{2-eq} would be in the EU. These calculations do assume however that <u>all</u> consumers switch to a given diet (Faber et al, 2012).

Another study concludes that potential reductions in food waste and change in dietary choice to reduce meat consumption in Europe would reduce the overall GHG impact of the EU livestock sector more profoundly than mitigation efforts at farm level (Bellarby et al, 2013). Annex 2-3 provides further information.

Barriers to changes in dietary choice include a range of behavioural factors, such as lack of consumer knowledge on the impacts of food, varied cultural traditions that affect the customary diet, habitual behaviour (Faber et al, 2012). Policies to address these barriers might include meat or animal protein taxes and awareness raising campaigns (eg mass media campaigns , school-based interventions, food product labelling) (Bellarby et al, 2013; Caspari et al, 2009; Faber et al, 2012; Poláková et al, 2013). Data on the effectiveness of these potential policies are scarce, so evaluating them is difficult. Faber et al (2012) estimate that a full policy package could reduce the climate impact of the EU diet by about a quarter.

3 MANAGEMENT ACTIONS FOR MITIGATION AND ADAPTATION IN EU AGRICULTURE AND THEIR RELATIONSHIP TO INCREASED FOOD PRODUCTION

One of the central challenges facing European agriculture is that of sustainable intensification, maintaining and increasing food production in the face of the challenges posed by climate change whilst at the same time helping to mitigate its climate change and other environmental impacts. A set of actions is required both to mitigate the anthropogenic GHG emissions from agriculture and to adapt the agricultural sector to climate change. These strategies are considered in turn in this chapter.

3.1 Introduction

The list of technically available actions for addressing climate change mitigation and adaptation within the agricultural sector is long and expanding (Bellarby et al, 2013; eg Frelih-Larsen et al, 2008; Hjerp et al, 2012; Smith and Olesen, 2010; UNFCCC, 2008). A large number of these actions can be carried out at farm level, but some require collective action for example by associations, or by a mix of stakeholders.

The sections below provide a summary overview of relevant technologies, including soil management techniques along with a basic analysis of the key groups of stakeholders that would need to take action if they are to be effective. A more detailed database of all these actions is provided in Annex 3, based on a literature review including pan-European studies on the topic and the key IPCC and IPCC-derived literature on actions recommended at the global level. Selected national literature and case studies have been taken into account where readily available.

Mitigation measures

Mitigation related actions have been identified on the basis of their technical mitigation potential²⁵ documented in the IPCC literature and the modelled estimates of their economic potential, which is typically lower, generally derived from models and taking account of published Marginal Abatement Cost Curves where these appear most pertinent.

For actions identified through literature reviews, the following benefits have been assessed in a qualitative way:

- Benefits for reducing or avoiding GHG emissions and for sequestering carbon;
- Benefits for adapting agriculture to climate change;
- Co-benefits for soils, water and biodiversity;
- Potential trade-offs with other objectives;
- Impacts on productivity and costs

The actions considered focus on the following:

- Reducing or avoiding N₂O emissions from soils and drainage;
- Reducing CH₄ and N₂O emissions from the storage, processing and application of manure;
- Reducing enteric CH₄ emissions from livestock management;
- Avoiding or reducing CO₂ emissions from land use and soils by sequestering carbon and preventing its release;
- Reducing CO₂ emissions from machinery use and energy use on farms;

²⁵ According to IPCC, the term 'technical mitigation potential' denotes the amount by which it is possible to reduce GHG emissions (or improve energy efficiency) by implementing an already existing technology or practice.

• Reducing indirect CO₂ emissions from the production of fertilisers.

It is important to note that any changes in practices and emissions do not directly show up in national GHG inventories²⁶. This does not diminish their positive impact but may diminish government incentives to use them.

Marginal Abatement Cost Curves are an informative way of assembling data on methods of mitigating GHG emissions by modelling the potential quantities mitigated and their relative costs (see for example FAO, 2012; McKinsey&Company, 2009; Moorby et al, 2007; Moran et al, 2008; Moran and Pratt, 2010; OECD, 2010). Figure 3-1 illustrates the concept, showing that higher emission savings come at increasing additional costs or income forgone compared to the baseline farm or land management practice.



Addressing adaptation

As discussed in Chapter 1, there are a number of threats and opportunities that farmers will face in a changing climate, albeit to different degrees in different regions.

Actions can be devised to minimise these impacts, use the opportunities offered, and respond to changes resulting from certain mitigation approaches (for example through biofuel cropping systems).

At the farm level, three main types of adaptation measure can be distinguished (OECD, 2010):

• Those that reduce the <u>vulnerability</u> of affected agro-ecosystems and agricultural soils;

²⁶ National GHG inventories are based on empirical emission factors defined in IPCC guidelines. Factors are attributed to types of land use ('cropland remaining cropland' and 'cropland converted into grassland/ forest land', 'grassland remaining grassland' and 'grassland converted into cropland / forest land'). As a result the accounted GHG emissions approximately correlate with areas under these land use types.

- Those that reduce the <u>exposure</u> of a farming system to the effects of climate change such as drought, heavy rainfall, and storms by hazard management; and
- Those that increase <u>resilience</u>, both in ecosystems by conserving resources and the resilience of the farming population to enable them to overcome the losses that do occur.

Appropriate adaptive actions have the potential to strengthen the resilience of farms and agroecosystems as well as reducing vulnerability (Bindi & Olesen, 2011; EEA, 2012b; Hjerp et al, 2012; Iglesias et al, 2007b; Smith & Olesen, 2010)²⁷.

3.2 Key management actions for climate change mitigation and adaptation and their relationships to increased food production

This section presents an overview of management actions that can bring co-benefits for climate change mitigation and adaptation. Different types of action are available for:

- The livestock related sectors, including actions in livestock management and grazing land and pasture management;
- Cropland management;
- Land use change and other land based measures;
- Energy efficiency and renewable energy use on farms and in rural areas

Another group of actions that target adaptation to climate change specifically include:

- Sustainable water use and water efficiency;
- Other key actions for adaptation; and
- Cross-cutting actions

A detailed analysis of these actions, including their benefits for mitigation, adaptation, and other environmental objectives, and a discussion of synergies and trade-offs with agricultural productivity is provided in Annex 3, along with information on costs, which vary considerably between farms in many cases. Priority actions in each group are then identified. The overview below is by contrast schematic and cannot capture multiple linkages between these actions. For example actions concerning manure management, processing and application are linked in multiple ways with decisions on grazing land and cropland management. The particular ways in which farmers develop their production systems and incorporate climate related actions into them in their local settings will affect the resulting GHG profile of the particular farm.

²⁷ This is referred to as the 'win-win' or 'no regrets' option (Smith, 2012). No-regret options are management actions that have an important beneficial impact even in the absence of projected climate change, do not lead to potentially adverse effects under climate change, and contribute to improved resilience.

Livestock management

The key actions on this topic are presented in Table 3-1.

		Ef	fect of	f action or	1		Prim	e actor	
No ·	Key actions	Mitigation	Adaptation	Environmenta 1 synergies and trade-offs	Productivity	Farmers	R&D	Industries	Government
1	Optimising manure application	**		+/-	+				
2	Improved manure processing (including introduction of anaerobic digestion for biogas production) <mark>C/F</mark>	**	*	+	0	•			
3	Optimising manure storage and improving outdoor storage facilities	*		+	0				
4	Feeding techniques to improve digestive nutrient capture, changes to livestock diets	*		+	+				
5	Adjust dietary intake by livestock or manipulate the rumen	*		0	+				
6	Improved livestock breeding ²⁸	*	*	+	+				
7	Improvement of animal rearing conditions/ animal health		**	+/-	+				

Table 3-1 Key actions for climate change mitigation and adaptation in livestock management

Sources: see Annex 3

Notes:

Mitigation / Adaptation potential: Very relevant ** Relevant *

Environmental effects: Strong Positive ++ Positive + Strong Negative -- Negative - Neutral 0

Productivity: Positive + Strong Negative -- Negative - Neutral 0

C/F -- May be implemented at farm level or through collective action at local level

²⁸ Livestock breeding and its effect on agricultural productivity is the focus of Study 2.

Grazing land and pasture management

The key actions on this topic are presented in Table 3-2.

Table 3-2 Key	actions for	r climate o	change r	mitigation	and	adaptation	in	grazing	land and	l pasture
management										

]	Effect	of action or	L		Prime	actor	
No.	Key actions	Mitigation	Adaptation	Environmental synergies and trade-offs	Productivity	Farmers	R&D suppliers	Industries	Government
8	Reducing and optimising use of fertiliser	**	*	++/-	0/-				
9	Maintenance of permanent grasslands/pasture	**	*	++	+/-				-
10	Optimising grazing intensity (length and timing of grazing to avoid overgrazing) ²⁹	**	*	++/-	+				
11	Grassland renewal ³⁰	*		+/-	+				
12	Establishing shelterbelts	*	*	+	+				

Sources: see Annex 3

Notes: Mitigation / Adaptation potential: Very relevant ** Relevant *

Environmental effects: Strong Positive ++ Positive + Strong Negative -- Negative - Neutral 0

Productivity: Positive + Strong Negative -- Negative - Neutral 0

C/F -- May be implemented at farm level or through collective action at local level

²⁹ Refraining from grazing during wet periods; applying rotational grazing: animals are regularly moved between pasture areas in such a way as to avoid damage to the turf and optimize forage growth

³⁰ Actively improving the composition of grassland eg by controlled deferred grazing, overseeding and resowing

Cropland management

The key actions on this topic are presented in Table 3-3.

]	Effect o	of action or	1		Prime	actor	
No.	Key actions	Mitigation	Adaptation	Environmental synergies and	Productivity	Farmers	R&D suppliers	Industries	Government
13	More catch crops / winter cover / green manure / less fallow	**	**	++/-	+				
14	Diversified crop rotations	**	**	++/-	+/-				
15	Adding legumes/N-fixing crops to rotation or undersowing	**	*	+	+/-				
16	More intercropping	*	**	++	+/-				
17	Zero tillage	**	*	++/ -	+/-				
18	Conservation / reduced tillage	**	*	+/-	+/-				
19	Restrictions on agricultural activities on slopes ³¹	*	**	+	-				
20	Crop residue management in-field	**	*	++/ -	+				
21	Reducing or optimising use of fertiliser and pesticides ³²	**	*	++/-	+				
22	Precision agriculture	**	*	+	+				
23	Planting of hedgerows	*	*	++	-				
24	Establish buffer strips	*	*	+	0/-				
25	Reintroducing/ maintaining terraces	*	*	++	+				
26	Grass in orchards & vineyards	*	**	+/-	0/-				
27	Replacing annual with perennial/ permanent crops	*	*	++	+/-				
28	Replacement of synthetic pesticide with natural treatments	*	*	++/-	0/-				

Table 3-3 Key actions with co-	penefits for climate	change mitigatio	on and adaptation	in croplands
5		0 0	1	1

³¹ Prohibiting or limiting planting on sloped cropped land, eg contour ploughing, or excluding the growing of row crops, such as maize, potatoes, sugar beet, and sunflowers on slopes.

³² Optimising the rate, placement and timing of fertiliser; using fertilisers with added nitrification inhibitors and slow release fertilisers; reducing the amounts of mineral fertilisers below the economic optimum.

]	E ffect o	of action or	ı	Prime actor				
No.	Key actions	Mitigation	Adaptation	Environmental synergies and trade-offs	Productivity	Farmers	R&D suppliers	Industries	Government	
29	Integrated farming	*	*	+/-	0/-					
30	Organic farming	*	*	++	0/-					
31	Use of adapted plants and plant varieties ³³	*	*	+	+	•				
32	Improved pest strategies/integrated pest management		*	+/-	+					
33	Modifying sowing dates		*	+/-	+/-				l	
34	Extended use of biochar	*		+/ -					l	
35	Establishing more firebreaks		*	0	+/-				l	
36	Plant breeding and genetic modifications ³⁴		*	+	+					

Sources: see Annex 3

Notes: Mitigation / Adaptation potential: Very relevant ** Relevant *

Environmental effects: Strong Positive ++ Positive + Strong Negative -- Negative - Neutral 0

Productivity: Positive + Strong Negative -- Negative - Neutral 0

C/F -- May be implemented at farm level or through collective action at local level

³³ Planting adapted crops/varieties, and planting mixtures of different species (eg for pastures) and species genotypes

³⁴ Breeding crop varieties that are better adapted to more difficult environments (changing climate). It is also possible to use genetically improved crop species to be drought-tolerant or change their seasonal patterns (eg to be planted earlier or later to avoid heat waves). The benefits of plant breeding for agricultural productivity are the focus of Study 2

Land use change and other land based management actions

The key actions on this topic are presented in

Table 3-4.

Table 3-4 Key land use change and other land based management actions with co-benefits for climate change mitigation and adaptation

		Е	ffect o	f action o	n]	Prime	e actor	
No.	Key actions	Mitigation	Adaptation	Environmental synergies and	Productivity	Farmers	R&D suppliers	Industries	Government
37	Peatland and wetland restoration (rewetting of organic soils) C/F	**	*	++/-	-				
38	Afforestation of cropland/ Woodland creation <mark>C/F</mark>	**	*	++/-	-				
39	Conversion of arable land to grassland in high risk areas	**	*	++/-	-				
40	Shift crop and grazing zones ³⁵		*	+/-	0				
41	Agroforestry (farmland trees)	*	*	++	+/-				
42	Extensification / deintensification of agricultural management	*	*	++	-				
43	Set aside	*	*	++/-	-				
44	Restoring river patterns; restoring natural aquatic ecosystems and riparian forests C		*	++	0	•			

Sources: see Annex 3

Notes: Mitigation / Adaptation potential: Very relevant ** Relevant *

Environmental effects: Strong Positive ++ Positive + Strong Negative -- Negative - Neutral 0

Productivity: Positive + Strong Negative -- Negative - Neutral 0

C/F -- may be implemented at farm level or through collective action at local level

C – can only be implemented through collective action at local level

³⁵ Shifting areas geographically, following the creation of new conditions determined by a changing climate.

Energy efficiency and renewable energy use on farms and in rural areas

The key actions on this topic are presented in Table 3-5.

Table 3-5 Key actions for energy efficiency and renewable energy for climate change mitigation on farms and in rural areas

		E	Effect of action on Prime actor						
No.	Key actions	Mitigation	Adaptation	Environmental synergies and	Productivity	Farmers	R&D suppliers	Industries	Government
45	More energy efficient equipment	**	*	0	0				
46	Greater efficiency of farm buildings/greenhouse buildings	**	*	0	0-				
47	Reducing machinery fuel use	*	*	+	0				
48	Processing of agricultural and forest residues for energy ³⁶ C/F	*	*	+/-	0	•			۵
49	Installation of infrastructure for renewable energy (solar, wind, geothermal) C/F	**	*	+/-	0	•			

Sources: see Annex 3

Notes: Mitigation / Adaptation potential: Very relevant ** Relevant *

Environmental effects: Strong Positive ++ Positive + Strong Negative -- Negative - Neutral 0

Productivity: Positive + Strong Negative -- Negative - Neutral 0

C/F -- May be implemented at farm level or through collective action at local level

³⁶ Study 5 of the present project provides an assessment of the potential for producing bioenergy from agricultural sources with low environmental impacts such as waste and residues. Therefore the topic is not discussed in detail in this study.

Sustainable water management and water efficiency on farm and in rural areas

The key actions on this topic are presented in Table 3-6.

Table 3-6 Sustainable water use and water efficiency on farm and in rural areas

]	Effect	of action or	1	Prime actor Inductivity Farmers Inductivity Inductivity Inducting Inductivity					
No.	Key actions	Mitigation	Adaptation	Environmental synergies and trade-offs	Productivity	Farmers	R&D suppliers	Industries	Government		
50	Precision irrigation		**	+	+						
51	Reconstruction and upgrading of drainage infrastructure ³⁷	*	*	+/-	+						
52	Mulching or protective film covering		*	+/-	+						
53	Improvements in irrigation equipment		**	+	+						
54	Re-use of greywater on farms; rainwater harvesting		**	+	+						
55	Improved irrigation scheduling <mark>C</mark>		**	+	0		•				
56	Reconstruction of outdated rural water supply networks ³⁸ C		*	+/-					•		
57	More effective water regulation and allocation <mark>C</mark>		**	+	0/-				•		
58	Water footprinting, auditing and labelling C		*	0	0/-						
59	Extended water pricing and water metering C		**	+	0/-						

³⁸ Leakages and evaporation from water supply networks leads to inefficiencies. Better efficiency can be achieved, for example through canal lining, low pressure piping systems or channel automation.

Sources: see Annex 3

Notes: Mitigation / Adaptation potential: Very relevant ** Relevant * Environmental effects: Strong Positive ++ Positive + Strong Negative -- Negative -- Neutral 0 Productivity: Positive + Strong Negative -- Negative - Neutral 0

 ${\bf C}$ – can only be implemented through collective action at local level

Other key actions for adaptation to climate change and cross-cutting actions

Key actions in this final category are presented in Table 3-7.

Table 3-7 Other key actions for adaptation to climate change and cross-cutting actions

		E	ffect o	f action o	n		Prime	actor	
No	Key actions	Mitigation	Adaptation	Environmental synergies and	Productivity	Farmers	R&D suppliers	Industries	Government
Risk management									
60	Defences against floods and extreme events (hails etc)		**	-	+				
61	Establishing disaster information systems and monitoring C		**	0	+/-				
62	Establishing crop insurance schemes ³⁹ C		*	0	0				
Cross cutting actions									
63	Information, training & advisory services	**	**	+	0				
64	Co-operation for collective action	*	*	+	0				

Sources: see Annex 3

Notes: Mitigation / Adaptation potential: Very relevant ** Relevant *

Environmental effects: Strong Positive ++ Positive + Strong Negative -- Negative - Neutral 0

Productivity: Positive + Strong Negative -- Negative - Neutral 0

C – can only be implemented through collective action at local level

³⁹ Note the element of moral hazard associated with this action: support for risk management might discourage farmers and foresters from strengthening their adaptive capacity by offering them support regardless of the actions taken.

Summary

An important challenge for European agriculture to 2050 will be to adapt farm management to climatic change, whilst simultaneously reducing its GHG emissions and other environmental impacts and increasing its productivity. This represents a major technical and policy challenge. This study has identified 64 individual actions that could all help meet this challenge, but with varying implications for other goals in agriculture and rural areas. Some actions are essential for climate change mitigation but will reduce productivity; some may be extremely beneficial for adaptation but may increase GHG emissions or have other adverse environmental consequences. Detailed analysis of such synergies and trade-offs in each group of actions is in Annex 3. An attempt has been made to summarise this in Figure 3-2.

An obvious strategy for meeting the central challenge of sustainable intensification is therefore to focus first on those actions that lie within the intersection of all three circles in this diagram. These are likely to be beneficial wherever they are deployed and, where they have income benefits, farmers may undertake them for purely economic reasons.



3.3 Productivity issues

Chapter 1 described the challenges that climate change will pose for agriculture across Europe. Adapting agriculture to cope with these challenges so that it can produce more food whilst also helping to mitigate climate change is going to be a complex task. Tables 3-1 to 3-7 listed 64 individual actions that could potentially assist with the task. Table 3-8 classifies these according to their impact on production in broad terms.

Contribution to	Impact on agricultu	Impact on agricultural productivity									
climate change response	Positive	Uncertain or variable	Negative	Total actions							
Mitigation only	4	2	0	6							
Adaptation only	8	11	0	19							
Co-benefits for mitigation and adaptation	11	21	7	39							
Total actions	23	34	7	64							

Table 3-8 Analysis of the 64 potential climate change measures according to their impact on agricultural productivity

Twenty three of the 64 potential climate change response actions (36%) are likely also to increase productivity and 34 of the 64 (53%) are likely to have a variable, uncertain or neutral impact. Only 7 of the 64 (11%) are likely to have a negative impact according to the literature and taking account of the rather general nature of this analysis.

At a more detailed level, the analysis suggested that those actions that are expected to have an uncertain or variable effect on productivity are spread across all the categories used in this report. Land use change actions however dominate those expected to have an unequivocally negative impact on production, contributing 5 of the total of 7 actions categorised in this way. This is hardly surprising as they will often involve taking some land out of agricultural production in order to facilitate either mitigation or adaptation.

If all of the 64 measures, or most of them, were to be applied on a significant scale across the EU the net effect would be to reduce total agricultural output. It remains unclear how far it is possible both to adapt EU agriculture to climate change, reduce its contribution to GHG emissions, and limit its other adverse environmental impacts without adopting actions that require local reductions in productivity. Creative and innovative ways will need to be found to limit these reductions. Less widespread technologies such as paludiculture and agroforestry may have a role to play in this.

If a net reduction in EU production were nevertheless unavoidable then - unless this were matched by reductions in EU consumption - this would imply greater imports, with consequences for emissions in the exporting countries.

3.4 Costs

Table 3-9 provides an overview of the 64 actions by their category and by their estimated cost. The cost estimates of each action are included in Annex 3, where evidence could be found on which to base these estimates.

	Co	ost estima	te L = low	7, M = m e	dium, H =	= high	
Category of action	L	L/M	М	M/H	н	No Estimate	Total actions
Livestock management	0	0	5	0	2		7
Grazing land and pasture management	2	2	0	0	0	1	5
Croplands	12	2	2	2	2	4	24
Land Use Change	0	0	4	2	1	1	8
Energy efficiency & renewable energy for climate change mitigation	1	0	1	0	1	2	5
Water management & other measures for climate change adaptation	1	0	3	2	2	7	15
Total actions	16	4	15	6	8	15	64

Table 3-9 Analysis of the 64 actions by category and by the range of anticipated costs

Overall, estimates were available for 49 actions and of these 16 (33%) were estimated to be low cost and some would actually increase farm incomes. At the other extreme, some involve significant upfront costs. There are some interesting differences. Of the 20 cropland actions for which cost estimates were available, 12 were considered as being low cost. By contrast, of the 12 actions for livestock management and grazing land and pasture for which cost estimates were available, only 2 were estimated as being low cost. This suggests that some types of farm enterprises may find it easier to respond to climate change than others; targeting of policy support on specific measures and types of farm may be appropriate.

Land use change actions also tended to have higher costs with none of the 8 actions for which cost estimates were available having either a low or a low/medium estimate. Given the negative effect many of these are thought to have on production at a local scale, relatively few of these actions seem likely to be widely taken up without third party intervention such as policy support.

Overall it appears that some of the political actions summarised here represent rather basic farm management or land management that could be achieved with little or no cost of the farmer and even financial benefits, others come at moderate cost to farmers, while other actions involve significant upfront investment, some of which farmers are unlikely to make on their own.

These rather qualitative assessments demand more detailed empirical analysis and the more widespread and systematic construction of marginal abatement cost curves (MACCs) across the EU would be helpful.

3.5 Enabling mechanisms and policy measures

This section provides an overview of the enabling mechanisms and policy measures which could help European agriculture adapt to and help to mitigate climate change, focussing on the parties that will have to take the action. This then leads to a brief consideration of what policy changes may be needed to stimulate the various actors to take these actions.

Barriers to uptake

The analyses of the 64 different actions for adaptation and mitigation in the tables above sought to identify the key actors who will seem most likely to need to take them forward. Not surprisingly farmers will have a prominent role in nearly all cases; responsible for implementing 50 of the 64 actions discussed. For most of them, cost and localised negative impacts on productivity are two obvious barriers to uptake. Nevertheless, the analysis also has shown that there are actions available with potentially positive impacts on productivity that could be implemented at modest or even negative cost, improve profitability, and at the same time reduce GHG emissions.

Experience to date suggests however that even for these actions, widespread uptake cannot always be guaranteed without additional incentives. There are several possible reasons for this. There may be an unwillingness by farmers to try new techniques, which in some cases might be overcome through advice. It may be that the data on which the assessments are based does not accurately reflect the detailed and precise nature of the decision processes on the ground. Risks and transaction costs may be higher, or perceived to be higher, than portrayed in the literature for example. Alternatively there may be other factors preventing apparently optimal decisions by farmers. These could include risk and uncertainty, poor access to technology and the limited availability and cost of credit. In other situations farmers may not be able to implement the actions on their own and need advice, training or the co-operation of others, for example in sharing costs.

A large number of the actions also involve other actors. Further research and development is indicated for 18 of them. There is a close connection between much of this R&D investment and the efforts which are required from the agricultural supply industries and food processors. These actors will have to be involved in 19 of the 64 actions identified. Action at EU level and by national and subnational governments would appear to have a major role to play in 28 of the 66 actions. The proportion of actions requiring government is particularly high for measures concerned with land use change (75 per cent) and water and other measures (67 per cent). This may reflect the fact that these categories more often require regulation, financial incentives, action at a larger scale and infrastructural change. In addition to these specific actions, government at various levels usually will have an important initial role in raising the awareness of all the parties involved in the food chain to be more aware of the threats and opportunities brought by climate change.

Mechanisms enabling a sufficient response to climate change

As noted above, it is unlikely that any individual action alone will be sufficient to meet the full scale of the challenge regarding adaptation, mitigation and food production needs. Using mixes of actions will bring with it the imperative to manage the complex trade-offs that will result. The evidence gathered for this report suggests that this will require:

- \tilde{N} **A holistic approach:** An approach that does not pursue one objective disproportionally at the expense of others, which actively manages the trade-offs and which remains alert to the possibility of unforeseen perverse effects.
- **N** Focussed advice and support to farmers

- N **Coordinated and targeted action at a landscape scale:** Many of the actions described in this chapter require measures to be carefully targeted across whole landscapes to be effective⁴⁰.
- N **Cooperation and collaboration:** The need for coordinated action at a landscape scale means that farmers will need to collaborate with each other and that other parties will need to be involved to inform, facilitate and steer action and to monitor the outcomes.
- N **Research and development:** Including development to refine and turn into commercial propositions some of the actions that do appear to have the greatest potential to produce cobenefits, such as paludiculture, agro-forestry and precision farming.
- N The active involvement of government at all levels: The CAP, other EU funding instruments and EU environmental legislation need to provide well focussed regulatory and funding mechanisms that discourage inappropriate actions and promote and enable beneficial actions, especially those that will have a wider public good but may not be in the immediate interest of individual farmers. The EU also has a role in funding relevant Research & Development work, especially in areas where commercial funding is not available.

Measures under the Common Agricultural Policy promoting response to climate change

The Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) can play a prominent role in two ways. The first is by developing the instruments of the CAP, across both pillars, to facilitate and encourage the beneficial adoption of the practices and actions which have been identified above. The second is by requiring that Member States recognise and act on the need for climate adaptation and mitigation in their decisions about how to implement these CAP instruments in pursuit of broader EU policy. One area where the CAP is likely to have an important role is in facilitating the actions that are necessary to reduce GHG emissions or to help the industry adapt to climate change but which have negative effects on productivity or which impose other costs on farmers. This may require a combination of a stronger regulatory regime, perhaps making better use of cross-compliance and greening as instruments of the Common Agricultural Policy as well as financial incentives. The main relevant measures are listed in Table 3-10⁴¹ and a detailed analysis is presented in Annex 3.

⁴⁰ A good example of the need for careful targeting is the establishment of new riparian woodlands for flood management, where the location within the catchment is critical to achieve the intended effect and minimise the potentially adverse effects of afforestation on agricultural production and on other habitats.

⁴¹ Several forestry-related RDP measures could significantly benefit climate change objectives. However assessment of these measures is outside the scope of the study.

Table 3-10 Overview of proposed CAP i	neasures that could be used for su	pport to climate change
mitigation and adaptation on farms		

Proposed measure	Measure Description				
Pillar 1					
Cross compliance ⁴²	Cross compliance – Statutory management requirements (SMRs) and Good agricultural environmental condition (GAEC) (Article 91 and Annex II of the proposal). Specifies conditions placed on the receipt of Pillar 1 direct payments and the baseline requirements for agricultural area based payments under Pillar 2.				
Green payments ⁴³	Payment for agricultural practices beneficial for the climate and environment - to be finalised - Article 29.				
Farm Advisory	Obligations for Member States to provide advice on the SMRs and GAEC under cross-				
System ⁴⁴	compliance. Farmer participation is voluntary (Article 12),				
National	Actions aimed at protection of water:				
Frameworks for Fruit and Vegetables ⁴⁵	• The use of environmentally sound cultivation practices, production techniques and waste management (Article 3 (b));				
	• Restricted use of plant protection products and other inputs to protect water quality and availability (Article 20 (c)(vi)).				
Pillar 2 ⁴⁶ - key measures					
Article 18	Investments in physical assets				
Article 19	Restoring agricultural production potential damaged by natural disasters and catastrophic events and introduction of appropriate prevention actions				
Article 21	Basic services and village renewal in rural areas				
Article 23	Afforestation and creation of woodland and				
Article 24	Establishment of agro-forestry systems				
Article 29	Agri-environment-climate				
Pillar 2 - supporting	measures				
Article 15	Knowledge transfer and information action				
Article 16	Advisory services, farm management and farm relief services				
Article 17	Quality schemes for agricultural products				
Article 20	Farm and business development				
Article 30	Organic farming				
Article 31	Natura 2000 and Water framework directive payments				
Article 32	Payments to areas facing natural or other specific constraints				
Article 36	Co-operation, including cooperation in the context of European Innovation Partnership (EIP)				
Articles 42-45	LEADER approach				

⁴² European Commission (2011) Proposal for a regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on the financing, management and monitoring of the common agricultural policy, COM(2011)628, Brussels, 19 October 2011, http://ec.europa.eu/agriculture/cap-post-2013/legal-proposals/com628/628_en.pdf

⁴³ European Commission (2011) Proposal for a regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing rules for direct payments to farmers under support schemes within the framework of the common agricultural policy, COM(2011)625, Brussels, 19 October 2011, <u>http://ec.europa.eu/agriculture/cap-post-2013/legal-proposals/com625/625_en.pdf</u>

⁴⁴ European Commission (2011) Proposal for a regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on the financing, management and monitoring of the common agricultural policy, COM(2011)628, Brussels, 19 October 2011, http://ec.europa.eu/agriculture/cap-post-2013/legal-proposals/com628/628_en.pdf

⁴⁵ Council Regulation (EC) No 1182/2007 of 26 September 2007 laying down specific rules as regards the fruit and vegetable sector.

⁴⁶ European Commission (2011) Proposal for a regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on support for rural development by the European Agricultural Fund for Rural Development (EAFRD), COM(2011)627, Brussels, 19 October 2011, <u>http://ec.europa.eu/agriculture/cap-post-2013/legal-proposals/com627/627_en.pdf</u>

National and regional governments need to develop strong and effective programmes to make use of the measures provided by the CAP and other EU level instruments. These measures need to be used, together with their own knowledge of the agricultural and environmental geography of their territories, to ensure coordinated action and to support and pay for the facilitation, collaboration, cooperation and targeting that is needed to produce coordinated landscape-scale action. At a local level government bodies need to be actively involved in the planning implementation and monitoring of holistic, landscape scale action, bringing together the key stakeholders, providing data to inform the process and ensuring that regulatory and incentive mechanisms are effectively delivered.

Key RDP measures for support to capital investments to infrastructure. The key RDP measures are identified in Table 3-10, including support for investments in physical assets (Article 18), for basic services and village renewal in rural areas (Article 21), and for restoring agricultural production potential to areas damaged by natural disasters (Article 19). Support for investments in physical assets (Article 18) covers a broad range of capital investments: from improving agricultural performance to processing, marketing and development of products, and on farm infrastructure improvements. Support to village renewal in rural areas (Article 21) can help facilitate the improved efficiency of collective infrastructure, eg for sustainable water use. To ensure environmental additionality, investments should only be granted where sound evidence is provided taking into account multiple environmental objectives. Care should also be taken to avoid funding investments that are stipulated as requirements in national and / or EU legislation. Where new infrastructures are constructed, attention should be paid to ensure that it does not increase greenhouse gas emissions or decrease water availability. Support for the restoration of agricultural production potential that has been damaged by natural disasters (Article 19) can be used to strengthen adaptive capacity. There is a risk that support for disaster recovery might discourage farmers and foresters from strengthening their adaptive capacity by offering them support regardless of the actions taken. Care should be taken to use this article to encourage the uptake of investments for defence against floods and other extreme events, and to establish disaster information systems and monitoring, rather than to provide subsidised insurance.

Key RDP measures for soil and land management actions. Three key RDP measures have been identified here, the agri-environment-climate measure (Article 29), support for afforestation and creation of woodland (Article 23) and support to establish agro-forestry systems (Article 24). It is important to ensure that the support provided under these measures is used to deliver public goods and results in environmental additionality, particularly where there is a risk of a negative environmental outcome. For example, in order to mitigate climate change, there is a risk that seminatural grasslands might be used to cultivate energy crops or short rotation coppice, resulting in the loss of a carbon sink and important biodiversity habitat (see Chapter 5). Where the afforestation and agro-forestry measures are being used to deliver mitigation, care should be taken to ensure that the use of these measures is coherent with other environmental objectives, especially biodiversity. Afforestation should avoid peat soils and existing high quality semi-natural habitats. In terms of adaptation, particular vigilance is needed when considering afforestation and the establishment of agro-forestry systems in water scarce areas. The species composition and location of new planting should be chosen to avoid negative impacts on water availability through increased absorption and transpiration. Agri-environment-climate schemes focussed on soil protection require the effective use of targeting and differentiation of management requirements in specific areas, in order to ensure that the most cost effective actions for mitigation and adaptation are targeted at specific soil types and risk areas.

4 CLIMATE CHANGE AND AGRICULTURE: RECOMMENDED OPTIONS

The response of agriculture to climate change is both a classic example of market failure and a transboundary issue. It is an area where there is a clear case for action at a European level. It is also an area of European competence. The EU Common Agricultural Policy has a huge influence on the shape and direction of agriculture in Europe. Through this and other instruments of European policy, the European Union can play a very important part in helping European agriculture meet the central challenge of simultaneously adapting agriculture to climatic change, reducing its greenhouse gas emissions and other environmental impacts and increasing its productivity, which is what is needed to achieve sustainable intensification.

Options relating to the Common Agricultural Policy

The European Union and its Member States are currently working on the future of the Common Agricultural Policy up to 2020. This provides an opportunity to ensure that this Policy helps agriculture meet this central challenge during the rest of the decade. The ways in which it could do this are as follows:

1. Use the Common Agricultural Policy to help raise farmer awareness of climate change and the need for adaptation

There are four specific EU-level actions that could help impress on farmers the need to focus on climate issues:

- Integrate a climate dimension into all relevant requirements for individual farming operations to receive CAP payments and into all programmes of funded measures. Ensure that principles of sustainable agriculture, of which climate mitigation/adaptation is a part, are consistently applied throughout the EU.
- Establish databases of environmental performance of individual representative farms of all sizes, types and in all EU regions. This could be done through the Farm Accountancy Data Network, which could then be used to benchmark the greenhouse gas accounts for individual farms, and link these to certifications or payment for ecosystem services (PES) schemes in the same way that the FADN has stimulated numerous private or private-public benchmarking activities for the financial accounts of individual farms.
- Use a cautious approach in using the Rural Development measure for disaster recovery. Ensure that this measure is not used in a way that discourages but rather encourages adaptation. This would require support for recovery from a disaster to be made conditional on the production and implementation of an adaptation strategy.
- Farm advisory and extension services are key to informing farmers about potential improvements in practice, their associated economic benefits, as well as funding opportunities. Provide advisors with the means to adequately inform and train farmers about mitigation and adaptation actions.

2. Promote actions that have economic benefits for the farmer as well as benefits for climate change adaptation and mitigation

The initial focus should be on helping farmers take autonomous action to use water, soil and energy resources more efficiently. Such actions have three key advantages:

- They can be undertaken at farm level
- They should not require subsidy, as they make production more efficient and should be self-financing
- They do not require radical change to farming systems or a change in mind-set

This report has identified a group of such actions that can help farmers achieve this goal (see Figure 3-2). In arable farms, for example, these include reducing and optimising the use of fertilisers and pesticides but also better management of crop residues⁴⁷ and appropriate use of catch crops to provide winter cover to prevent soil erosion. The CAP Pillar 2 should help overcome the barriers to action in these areas by modest support to upfront investment costs and start-up costs where it is needed to overcome initial barriers to uptake, the knowledge transfer and advisory service and collaboration to enable exchange of good practice. This approach can be also used for encouraging improvements in water use and water efficiency and autonomous risk management across all types of farms.

There seems to be less scope for applying this approach to actions with co-benefits for mitigation and adaptation in the livestock sector. This is partly because there are fewer actions with direct productivity benefits. It is also partly because many of the actions farmers need to undertake to improve the efficiency with which they use natural resources, for example in manure application and processing, require a relatively high initial investment. There is nevertheless scope for the CAP to support extension and advice to promote the better and more economical use of fertilisers and animal feed.

Autonomous actions could go a considerable way towards reducing agriculture's GHG emissions. These actions also often offer benefits for adaptation to climate change and water protection and reduce impacts on soils, and thus support more efficient and sustainable agricultural production and financial rewards to farmers. Such measures are however unlikely to offer a complete solution to the central challenge.

3. Use the Common Agricultural Policy to help pay for actions that have clear long term climate and/or production benefits, but which do not provide an immediate benefit to the individual farmer

This report has identified many such actions which are necessary if the central challenge is to be met. Some may require a significant investment in farm infrastructure, such as improvements to manure storage and processing and its use to produce biogas. Other types of collective water and energy infrastructure at a local scale offer sustainability benefits and a long-term economic return but require a significant initial investment. Loans and Pillar 2 support to infrastructure are ways in which the CAP may assist, provided that the polluter pays principle is respected.

Others actions may require adapted soil and crop management, for example use of crop rotations, intercropping, conservation tillage, reduced livestock densities to maintain grassland carbon stocks and prevent erosion through overgrazing, the installation of unfarmed buffer strips, and some changes involving areas taken out of highly productive use, eg rewetting of peatlands and the selective use of afforestation in order to provide wider benefits. These improvements depend to a large extent on incentives through a mix of Pillar 2 payments.

Rural Development Plans may be used to implement these long-term actions. The Common Monitoring and Evaluation Framework under the CAP should then be rigorously applied at EU and national levels to monitor the impact of climate change actions supported under the Rural Development Plans.

In the longer term, more thought needs to be given to better ways in which the Common Agricultural Policy could be used to help bring about permanent changes in land use, where this is needed.

⁴⁷ For example leaving the over-winter stubble and the incorporation of straw in soils.

4. Provide and fund CAP Measures that can help bring about action at a landscape scale

This report has shown that many of the actions needed to meet the central challenge need to be planned and targeted at a scale larger than the individual farm. The draft Rural Development Regulation contains a number of important supporting measures that can help encourage and pay for the necessary planning and targeting by funding the creation of local partnerships, facilitators and advisors. The supporting measures can also help meet the extra costs of collective actions by farmers. It is important that Member States are encouraged to make full use of these measures in their Rural Development Plans and earmark an adequate share of funding to it, and that their plans to do so are checked against the needs assessment in the process of plan approval.

Other Options

5. Encourage Research and Development

This report has made it clear that we do not yet have all the knowledge that will enable us to meet the challenge of achieving sustainable intensification in the face of climate change. Research and development is needed to fill the gaps. The EU policies have a particular role in encouraging strategic research and development whose results are likely to be widely applicable across Europe and which private sector funding sources are unlikely to support.

Much commercial R&D is currently focused on incremental improvements to existing agricultural systems to improve yields and increase resource efficiency at the farm level. Two areas that may particularly benefit from EU R&D funding are development work to refine and turn into commercial propositions novel production systems such as paludiculture⁴⁸ on rewetted peatlands, agroforestry and research to develop better systems for managing the complex spatial analyses needed to optimise the targeting of multiple actions. Another important area is research of methods to improve yields in organic farming systems which have a particular role to play in developing added value products in less productive agriculture areas of Europe.

As well as directly funding such research, the EU policies should also encourage private sector research by establishing a regulatory framework that encourages its application to all aspects of food production.

6. Encourage greater innovation

Agricultural businesses already innovate to increase the productivity and profitability of food production. This needs to continue as Europe's and the global population continues to rise for the next few decades. As well, it should be ensured that:

- Considerable investment targets knowledge transfer to the areas of Europe where the potential for increased productivity is highest and locally adapted research is lacking or difficult to access though.
- Existing streams of yield innovation are comprehensively integrated with innovation to reduce the damaging environmental effects of agriculture in highly productive areas.
- Innovation should focus on avoiding past mistakes, such as damage to water and soils, when promoting intensification in large areas of Europe where present yields are low or sub-optimal.

In this way the production of 'public goods', such as the storage of greenhouse gases or water storage and retention, can be turned into a business opportunity. The recently launched

⁴⁸ See glossary

Innovation Partnerships may be one mechanism, and research to improve the legal basis of private or private-public payments for ecosystem services may enable another mechanism.

PART 2: BIODIVERSITY AND AGRICULTURE

Part 2 examines the relationship between agriculture and biodiversity and the provision of environmental ecosystem services, taking account of the impacts of land use changes, different management techniques and technologies.

Chapter 5 reviews the biodiversity impacts of agriculture in Europe and the status of the ecosystem services and biodiversity underpinning agricultural production. It identifies key farming practices that can help to maintain and increase biodiversity on farmland (and provide other benefits), and the measures that are needed to ensure their wider adoption.

Chapters 6 and 7 provide detailed analyses of the impacts of the cultivation of genetically modified crops and of crops for biofuel production on biodiversity, both in the EU and globally. Both chapters review the evidence base for estimating the current and possible future impacts of these cropping systems and options for mitigating negative impacts.

Two vital components of the biodiversity that underpins sustainable agriculture are pollinators – both honeybees and wild pollinators – and plant genetic resources for food and agriculture. Both of these are under threat in Europe for many reasons.

Chapter 8 gives an overview of the decline in the genetic diversity of plant genetic resources for food and agriculture in Europe. Chapter 9 reviews the impact of pollinator decline in Europe, particularly the loss of honeybee colonies. Both chapters detail the actions that are being taken to address the factors driving these trends, and specify some options for the EU.

5 THE IMPACT OF AGRICULTURAL PRACTICES ON BIODIVERSITY AND OF BIODIVERSITY ON AGRICULTURE IN THE EU

This chapter examines the biodiversity implications, both within and outside farmland ecosystems, of expected agricultural activities in the EU over the next few decades, including the on-going impacts of intensification and specialisation, and abandonment in some areas. It firstly identifies the main farming ecosystems in the EU and assesses their biodiversity importance and status. It then identifies the main causes of biodiversity losses within agriculture, and their implications in relation to the achievement of nature conservation objectives and the maintenance of agricultural productivity. Finally it identifies key farming practices that can help to maintain and increase biodiversity on farmland (and provide other benefits such as those related to climate mitigation and adaption), and the measures that are needed to ensure their wider adoption.

5.1 Biodiversity in EU agricultural ecosystems

Biodiversity and agricultural systems in Europe are closely interrelated. Firstly, agriculture depends on the ecosystem processes that support plant production, such as the maintenance of soils, pollination, and the regulation of pests and diseases. Secondly, most of the habitats that exist in Europe are the result of human activities over thousands of years, of which agriculture has had the most profound impact. In fact the legacy of low-intensity and diverse traditional agricultural practices and their interactions with the varying climates, topography and soils of Europe has created a rich diversity of landscapes and habitats. Consequently, although natural habitats declined as agriculture spread, diverse semi-natural habitats were created with novel species communities, which initially probably increased species richness across much of Europe (Baumann, 2006; Ellenberg, 1988; Kornas, 1983; Stoate, 2011). Some of these semi-natural habitats that depend on livestock grazing for their maintenance are likely to be analogous to former natural habitats that were dependent on grazing by wild herbivores (Goriup, 1988; Vera, 2000).

However, agricultural change since the 1950s has caused the loss of many of the semi-natural habitats and elements that were created by extensive agricultural practices, resulting in a predominance of highly modified and simplified agricultural habitats and landscapes over much of the lowlands of the EU (Poláková et al, 2011). Now European agricultural ecosystems can be broadly classified according to their original vegetation and degree of agricultural improvement, intensification and specialisation (although it should be noted that some agricultural modifications can be gradual, and European agriculture is very diverse⁴⁹) (Oppermann et al, 2012; Poláková et al, 2011) (see Annex 5.1 for details).

Other important factors that influence biodiversity in agricultural landscapes include: 1) the spatial scale of fields and farming system (eg from very small-scale strip farming, to enclosed fields, or extensive unenclosed landscapes); 2) the presence and ecological quality of field boundary habitats (eg hedges and ditches, uncropped strips) and other non-farmed habitat features (eg trees and ponds); and 3) landscape diversity, such as in terms of the variety of field sizes, boundary types and interactions with other habitat types (eg forests, wetlands, or urban areas).

As a result of the historic changes in farmland type and agricultural practices the current farming systems of highest biodiversity importance are the remaining traditional low-intensity farming systems that maintain semi-natural habitats, especially those with diverse habitats and landscapes. Such farming systems are often referred to as High Nature Value Farming systems (HNV) (Baldock et al, 1993; Baldock, 1999; EEA, 2004; Veen et al, 2009), and they still make up around a third of the EU

⁴⁹ Agricultural land use intensity varies significantly between Member States: in the Netherlands and Belgium over 70% of farms are classed as high input; in Bulgaria, Estonia, Latvia and Slovakia less than 10% of farms use high levels of inputs (Eurostat, 2012a).

agricultural area⁵⁰ (Paracchini et al, 2008). Many of these semi-natural habitats and their associated species are of European conservation importance (Table 5-1) and therefore the subject of conservation measures under the EU Habitats and Birds Directives. But despite the protection of 10 per cent of farmed land within the **Natura 2000 network**, a particularly high proportion of these habitats have an unfavourable conservation status compared to non-agricultural habitats (see Figure 5-1) (EEA, 2010c; European Commission, 2009c).

Biodiversity monitoring over recent decades has demonstrated that the impacts of past and continuing agricultural improvements, intensification and specialisation has led to further significant falls in diversity and loss of specialist agricultural species over much of Europe. The best evidence of widespread declines comes from farmland bird populations, as they have been relatively well monitored. Their trends have been used to develop a **Common Farmland Bird Indicator**, one of the indicators used by the EEA to monitor the status of biodiversity in the EU.⁵¹ The index of common farmland bird population changes in Europe in relation to 1980 levels (see Figure 5-2) shows a substantial 51% decline in their populations. The observed decline was particularly rapid up to about 1985 and especially in the EU-15 (Báldi and Batáry, 2011; Donald et al, 2001; Donald et al, 2006; Fox, 2004). Although there is a suggestion from the combined data that the rate of decline may have decreased in recent years, examination of regional trends indicate that the declines are continuing unchecked in all regions other than in southern Europe. Furthermore, it is important to note that these trends relate to common farmland birds, and population declines in rarer threatened farmland species appear to be unabated and are therefore of particular concern (Birdlife International, 2004).

Grassland butterfly populations have declined by almost 50 per cent since 1990 across Europe due to the intensification or abandonment of grasslands (EEA, 2013; van Swaay et al, 2010a; van Swaay et al, 2006), and wild bees and their forage plants are disappearing (Bommarco et al, 2011; Carvell et al, 2006; Goulson et al, 2008; Kosior et al, 2007). Farmland mammals such as Brown Hare (*Lepus europaeus*), European Hamster (*Cricetus cricetus*), and bats have declined significantly (La Haye et al, 2012; Robinson and Sutherland, 2002; Temple and Terry, 2007; Ziomek and Banaszek, 2007).

It is important to remember that even intensively farmed ecosystems support significant biodiversity, and although many of the remaining species are widespread generalists they are frequently encountered by people and therefore often of high cultural value.

⁵⁰ 75 million hectares (Paracchini et al, 2008)

⁵¹ http://biodiversity-chm.eea.europa.eu/information/indicator/F1090245995





Note: The index is compiled by the Pan-European Common Bird Monitoring Scheme (PECBMS) based on national species indices which are produced by annually operated national breeding bird surveys. The common farmland bird indicator presents the <u>combined</u> population trends of 37 common farmland bird species based on data collected from 23 EU countries: AT, BE, BG, CY, CZ, DK, EE, FI, FR, DE, EL, HU, IE, IT, LV, NL, PL, PT, SK, SI, ES, SE & UK.

Source: http://www.ebcc.info/index.php?ID=493&result_set=Publish2012&indik%5BEU1_Fa%5D=1

Table 5-1 Agricultural habitats in the EU, their importance for selected threatened habitats and species, and their overall biodiversity importance

Key: HD = Habitats Directive, BD = Birds Directive. Sources: Adapted from Poláková et al (2011), 1 Halada *et al* (2011); 2 adapted from Tucker and Evans (1997); 3 adapted from van Swaay *et al* (2006) using updated an annexes available from Butterfly Conservation Europe (<u>http://www.bc-europe.org/upload/Butterfly%20habitats%20-</u>%20Appendix%201.pdf): 4 (Temple and Cox, 2009a); 5 (Temple and Cox, 2009b). Note: Habitat divisions for each taxa group reflect the habitat types distinguished in the available data.

	Permanent grassland and other habitats grazed by livestock					Crops					
Habitat types	Natural habitats	Semi-natural habitats		Improved grassland		Cultivated			Permanent		
		Pastures	Meadows	Organic	Conventional	Extensive	Organic	Intensive	Extensive	Organic	Intensive
HD Annex 1 habitats ^{*1}	63			0		0	0		0	0	
BD Annex 1 birds ^{*2}	54		32				5				
HD Annex II butterflies*3	9	25		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
European threatened amphibians ^{*4}	3	5		0		1	0		0	0	
European threatened reptiles ^{*5}	1	4		0		0	0		4	0	
Overall biodiversity importance	Very high, many species are restricted to such habitats	Very high, tend to be sp declining; so restricted to and depend agricultur	these habitats pecies-rich and me species are such habitats ant on specific ral practices	Moderate, species diversity is much reduced compared to natural and semi-natural habitats, but some species of conservation importance use such habitats, sometimes in important numbers		High, such habitats are now rare and support some threatened species (esp birds)	Low, especially in intensive farmland dominated landscapes, but biodiversity levels can be enhanced by appropriate measures		Moderate - High, such habitats are declining and support some threatened species	Low, especially in intensive farmland dominated landscapes, but biodiversity levels can be enhanced by appropriate measures	

5.2 Abandonment of agricultural management on semi-natural habitats in the EU

The loss and degradation of semi-natural habitats dependent on farming is the most serious threat to agricultural biodiversity in most of the EU (Billeter et al, 2008). Such impacts are now mostly attributable to partial or complete abandonment of agricultural management (sometimes through afforestation) as a result of their low economic viability and social and agronomic change (IEEP and Veenecology, 2005; Keenleyside and Tucker, 2010). Extensively managed livestock systems are most at risk, especially in mountainous and remote regions and areas with poor soils and harsh climates (Dover et al, 2011; Laiolo et al, 2004). Determining the area and distribution of abandoned land across the EU is problematic (Keenleyside & Tucker, 2010), but as examples, annual losses of 0.17 per cent of Utilised Agricultural Land (UAA) in France and 0.8 per cent in Spain were recorded from the late 1980s to the end of the 1990s (Pointereau et al, 2008). Overall, the EU lost 2.4 per cent of semi-natural farmland since 1990, 40 per cent of which has become scrub or forest, and a fifth converted to more intensive farming (EEA, 2010c). Abandonment of semi-natural farmland is likely to continue over the next decades, as despite increasing agricultural demand (European Commission, 2012b), it seems reasonably certain that the profitability of extensive livestock farming will continue to decline (Nowicki et al, 2009; Rienks, 2008).

In some circumstances such abandonment may enable habitat restoration with beneficial biodiversity impacts (Navarro and Pereira, 2012). But given the high biodiversity importance of the semi-natural grasslands that are at most risk (see Table 5-1), in most situations large-scale abandonment of semi-natural habitats is likely to be significantly detrimental for biodiversity in the longer term (IEEP & Alterra, 2010; Macdonald et al, 2000; Stoate et al, 2009)

5.3 The impacts of farming practices on biodiversity in Europe

It is important to understand the effects of specific practices in order to be able to formulate effective conservation measures. The farming practices summarised below have been shown to have negative effects on biodiversity, based on Poláková et al (2011) and evidence from a range of studies (Billeter et al, 2008; Donald et al, 2001; Donald et al, 2006; Hendrickx et al, 2007; José-María et al, 2010; Liira et al, 2008; Pain and Pienkowski, 1997; Stoate et al, 2001; Stoate et al, 2009; Sutcliffe and Kay, 2000; Tucker and Evans, 1997; van Swaay et al, 2006; Wilson et al, 2009). The impacts of two practices – the use of fertilisers and the use of pesticides - are reviewed in detail. In Annex 5.2 a detailed review of the impact of each practice is provided.

It should be borne in mind that practices differ amongst ecosystem types and also vary in terms of intensity. As a result some practices can be beneficial or detrimental to biodiversity depending on their intensity, the habitat affected, and the context. For example, optimal levels of grazing can help maintain habitats, but over and under-grazing can be damaging. But some practices, such as conventional tillage, pesticide use, drainage and irrigation, and the use of artificial fertilisers, nearly always result in less biodiversity.

It is also important to note that fragmentation from urbanisation and other infrastructure developments, as well as climate change (see Chapter 1), will exacerbate all expected pressures on agricultural habitats and species (EEA and FOEN, 2011; IEEP & Alterra, 2010).

Use of fertilisers on grassland

The use of artificial fertilisers (typically nitrogen in grasslands, and nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium on other crops) to increase biomass production is almost universal in non-organic improved grasslands and crops in Western Europe. Consequently Central and Eastern European grasslands, which are less often fertilised, retain more biodiversity (Báldi & Batáry, 2011).

Fertiliser application causes changes in species composition because plants of natural and seminatural habitats have generally evolved in low nutrient conditions and are out-competed by the few species that are able to take advantage of the high nutrient levels. Consequently, even low levels of fertiliser use degrade the quality of such habitats (Cop et al, 2009; Zechmeister et al, 2003). Significant regular fertiliser use results in grass dominance and much reduced plant species diversity, leading to the conversion of semi-natural habitats into agriculturally improved grassland. For example, in the UK an average of only three broad-leaved species are found where nitrogen inputs exceed 75 kg/ha/yr (a currently average fertilisation rate on grassland in the UK⁵²) (McCracken and Tallowin, 2004). Furthermore, this process becomes increasingly irreversible as a result of the accumulation of nutrients in the soil and gradual die-off of the former semi-natural habitat's seed bank.

Declines in plant species diversity from eutrophication result in knock-on declines in invertebrates (Nagy, 2009; Oeckinger et al, 2006). Fertiliser creates dense fast growing homogeneous grass swards which are unsuitable for birds such as the Skylark (*Aluda arvensis*) and Lapwing (*Vanellus vanellus*) to nest in and interfere with foraging efficiency and prey availability (Donald et al, 2002; Wilson et al, 2009). Earthworms and other soil invertebrates may benefit from moderate fertiliser applications, especially farmyard manure (Vickery et al, 2001). But high nitrogen levels from excessive use of fertiliser and manure lead to increasing mineralisation of organic carbon in the soil, which destroys organic matter and reduces soil biodiversity.

Use of fertilisers on cropland

Fertiliser use on crops strongly decreases weed diversity, and also has a strong negative impact on plant diversity in field margins, particularly on rare arable weeds (Kovács-Hostyánszki et al, 2011b). High fertiliser inputs tend to favour bacterial decomposition, which quickly exploits readily available nutrients and easily digestible organic compounds, and so 'burns up' soil organic matter. Conversely, application of manure, or other organic matter sources, tends to lead to more abundant and diverse soil communities and more fungi, which can break down complex compounds such as lignin and cellulose and create long-lasting soil organic matter (humus) (Sradnick et al, 2013). Reactive nitrogen leaches more rapidly from artificial fertilisers than from manure and plant matter (Tuomisto et al, 2012), and nitrogen and phosphate in run-off from agricultural fields leads to eutrophication of streams, ponds and rivers, as well as any habitats that are flooded by ditch or river water, which has a strongly negative effect on biodiversity (Dise, 2011).

Use of pesticides (insecticides, herbicides, fungicides, and rodenticides)

Pesticides are used on most intensively cultivated crops (ie herbicides, insecticides, and fungicides) and most improved grasslands (mainly herbicides) (see Box 5-1 for details). For example, most cereal and maize in the EU relies heavily on the use of herbicides for weed control; around a third of the maize area⁵³ is treated with insecticides delivered as a seed treatment, soil insecticide or a foliar application, and nearly all maize seed is treated with fungicide (Meissle et al, 2010). Insecticide and fungicide use is particularly high on fruit and vegetable crops. Certain approved products (eg sulphur) are used on some organic farms, particularly on vineyards.

Evidence strongly suggests that the use of broad-spectrum pesticides has been a key factor in the decline of non-crop plants (ie weeds), many invertebrate groups and some birds in arable farmland habitats across much of Europe (Boatman et al, 2004; Campbell et al, 1997; Geiger et al, 2010b; Potts, 1997; Stoate et al, 2001). Amphibians, the most threatened and rapidly declining vertebrate group in

http://www.ukagriculture.com/farming_today/fertiliser_data.cfm

 $^{^{52}}$ The average N fertilisation rate on UK grasslands is currently around 60 kg/ha/yr. It should be noted that this is part of an on-going decline – in the 1990s it was 130 kg/ha/yr. See

⁵³ eg 50-60% of maize in Hungary and 32-42% of maize in France receives insecticides
Europe, are particularly vulnerable to pesticide toxicity due to their permeable skin and a life-style that encompasses terrestrial and aquatic phases (Brühl et al, 2013).

Insecticides are known to have negative effects on non-target insects, a particular concern with regard to impacts on bees and other pollinators, food for bird chicks, butterflies, and natural predators of crop pests. Most contact insecticide sprays only reach some of the organisms in a field, as some can usually hide⁵⁴, and populations recover between sprays; however, insecticide and herbicide drift onto field margins affects more species (Drapela et al, 2008; Haughton et al, 2001; Pekár, 2012). Insecticides used in a systemic way, for example as seed dressings, present new risks because the insecticides are taken up in the plant and are present in plant tissues as the plant grows, and in the soil and on other plants (see Box 5-2 for details). Four systemic insecticides have now been restricted for two years to only non-flowering crops, winter cereals and greenhouse crops⁵⁵ because of concern for their impact on honey bees and bumblebees that forage in these treated crops (EFSA, 2013a; EFSA, 2013b; European Commission, 2013a), (Gill et al, 2012; Kindemba, 2009; Whitehorn et al, 2012), as recommended by a recent report for the European Parliament (Grimm et al, 2012). As further discussed in Chapter 8, pesticides may be contributing to declines in bee populations in the EU.

⁵⁴ except species that are particularly active at the time when the insecticide is applied, for example bumblebees in the early morning

⁵⁵ Commission Implementing Regulation (EU) No 485/2013 of 24 May 2013 amending Implementing Regulation (EU) No 540/2011, as regards the conditions of approval of the active substances clothianidin, thiamethoxam and imidachloprid, and prohibiting the use and sale of seeds treated with plant protection products containing those active ingredients. http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2013:139:0012:0026:EN:PDF₂ and Standing Committee on the Food Chain and Animal Health vote on fipronil 16 July 2013 http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_IP-13-708_en.htm?locale=en

Box 5-1 Pesticide use in Europe

Overall pesticide use in Europe is steadily increasing by weight, with decreases in fungicide use countered by increases in herbicide use (Eurostat, 2007). By weight, over half of pesticide use goes on fruit and vegetables, particularly fungicide use in vineyards (in 2003 25% of the total volume of pesticides was inorganic sulphur). Nearly half goes on arable crops, mainly herbicides on cereals and maize. However, weight is not a good measure of the environmental impact of pesticide use, as fungicides and herbicides are much bulkier than insecticides, but not necessarily more damaging to biodiversity. Some pesticides are bulky but environmentally relatively benign, such as sulphur, whilst others are used in low doses but have significant environmental impacts, for example atrazine, which persists in the soil for up to 100 days and in groundwater for decades.⁵⁶

Pesticide active ingredients are therefore classified according to their environmental impact, combining data on eco-toxicity, persistence and environmental characteristics (Eurostat, 2012b) (see Box 5-2). In addition, pesticide impacts are strongly affected by the method of use; ie applied volume, application method and timing, and interaction with crop variety and soil type. The real risk of pesticide use is therefore calculated by multiplying the environmental impact rating of the active ingredient with data on the use (ie dose per ha, type of crop, time and method of application) taking into account influencing environmental factors (eg see the Environmental Yardstick for Pesticides in the Netherlands⁵⁷).

There is currently no agreed EU-wide indicator for the environmental impact of pesticides and a lack of harmonised data on pesticide use (Calliera et al, 2013), though the EU research projects HAIR⁵⁸ and FOOTPRINT⁵⁹ have developed proposals and tools for aggregated pesticide risk indicators. The widely used Environmental Index Quotient (EIQ), developed by Cornell University, has established EIQ values for pesticide active ingredients incorporating data regarding mode of action, plant surface residue half-life, soil residue half-life, toxicity to indicator organisms (including bees, birds, fish, and beneficial organisms), and ground-water/run-off potential. EIQs range from over 80 for the insecticide disulfoton (a systemic seed and soil treatment used on potatoes, fruit trees, beets, hops and other crops in the EU) to only 8.67 for flonicamid, a relatively new insecticide now widely used to control aphid on potatoes, wheat and fruit trees.⁶⁰ This means disulfoton is assigned over 10 times greater impacts on birds and beneficial insects per unit of pesticide than flonicamid.

Farmers are continually adapting and changing the pesticides they use, but new regulations are currently driving a faster rate of change. In 2009, a new EU pesticide regulation⁶¹ defined a positive list of approved 'active substances' at EU level, leaving Member States to license pesticide formulations on the basis of this list. Around 60% of the more than 800 'active substances' (chemical ingredients of pesticides) that were available for use in 2000 have already been withdrawn from the European market. Around 31 are being reviewed in the next years, including glyphosate and 2,4-D. The requirements of the Water Framework Directive may also trigger restrictions if some pesticides cannot be kept out of water courses (particularly the herbicides propyzamide, carbetamide, and

⁵⁶ For this reason, atrazine has been withdrawn from the market in the EU since 2005

⁵⁷ http://www.milieumeetlat.nl/en/home.html

⁵⁸ HAIR: <u>http://www.hair.pesticidemodels.eu/home.shtml</u>

⁵⁹ FOOTPRINT: http://www.eu-footprint.org/ppdb.html

⁶⁰ http://ec.europa.eu/food/plant/protection/evaluation/newactive/technical_review_flonicamid.pdf

⁶¹ Regulation (EC) No 1107/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 21 October 2009 concerning the placing of plant protection products on the market and repealing Council Directives 79/117/EEC and 91/414/EEC

chlorotoluron, and the molluscicide metaldehyde). There are contrasting trends in the consumption of pesticides and their use across countries in Europe, and it is difficult to determine the full extent of pesticide impacts in the EU due to the lack of consistent EU-level data and long-term studies.

Acaricides and molluscicides have a range of non-target effects. Metaldehyde and methiocarb – two commonly used molluscicides - are highly toxic to small mammals such as hedgehogs and wood mice (Brooks and Crook, 2002). Fungicides can persist in soil for many months and so can have chronic effects on soil organisms (see Box 5-2 for details). Many fungicides are washed into streams and are toxic to amphibians (Brühl et al, 2013), fish and other aquatic life. Fungicides based on copper are highly toxic to aquatic organisms especially fish.

The impacts of **herbicides** in reducing weed populations is known to be the most important factor affecting invertebrates in herbicide management systems, with an established correlation between phytophagous invertebrates and weed abundance (Hawes et al, 2003). This has substantial knock-on impacts on food webs, competitors and parasites that affect the entire ecosystem of intensively managed farmland habitats. UK studies have documented long-term declines in arable weeds (such that they are now extremely rare) and many insect groups in intensively managed farmland (Aebischer, 1991; Potts et al, 2010a). Herbicide drift is also significantly reducing field margin plants (Robinson & Sutherland, 2002), with loss of flower resources causing declines of pollinators (Brittain and Potts, 2013; Kovács-Hostyánszki et al, 2011a) and farmland butterflies (Frampton and Dorne, 2007).

Box 5-2 Persistence of pesticides in the environment

Persistence describes the ability of a pesticide active ingredient to retain its molecular integrity and thus its toxicity in the environment⁶², and is determined by its rate of **degradation** and its degree of **mobility** in soil, water and air. Pesticides are **degraded** by light (photodegradation), by pH or other soil or water factors (chemical degradation), and by micro-organisms (microbial degradation). Some pesticides remain toxic or increase toxicity when degraded into smaller molecules (metabolites). Fat-soluble pesticides can accumulate within the bodies of animals (known as **bio-accumulation**), and poison their predators (eg Kean et al, 2013).

Pesticide **mobility** is affected by volatilization, water solubility and leaching or run-off, adsorption to soil particles and soil erosion, and uptake by plants (Arias-Estévez et al, 2007). All pesticide application methods result in some pesticide dispersing into the air, soil, weeds, field margins or water. Granular or liquid soil treatments (generally before sowing or together with the seed) generally remain active in the soil for part or most of the crop growing season by binding to soil particles, and can spread with soil surface run-off or wind erosion of soil. When pesticides are applied as a seed treatment or coating, sowing the treated seeds creates dust containing high concentrations of pesticides (Krupke et al, 2012), though dust can be substantially reduced with new technology.⁶³ A certain proportion of foliar sprays drifts away and lands on the soil or field margins. Pesticide that lands on foliage is also washed off into soil or dissipates into air (volatilization).

Water-soluble pesticides in soil either **run off into surface waters** (through soil pipes or on the soil surface) or **leach into groundwater**. The slower the degradation of the pesticide, the more likely it is that it will pollute groundwater or have persistent effects in aquatic habitats. For example, whilst the

⁶² http://www.eionet.europa.eu/gemet/concept?ns=1&cp=6131

⁶³ http://seedgrowth.bayer.com/index.php?id=29

fungicide mancozeb is rapidly broken down in soil, its metabolite ETU is more persistent and highly toxic to aquatic life such as amphibians⁶⁴ (DG SANCO, 2013; Shenoy et al, 2009). Some pesticides are strongly **adsorbed onto soil** organic matter, and remain in the soil until they are broken down by microbes or run-off with soil erosion. Glyphosate is readily adsorbed onto soil particles, preventing much of the pesticide from leaching into water, even though it is highly water soluble. It is considered to have a half-life (ie half of total degraded) in soil of around 20 days, but degradation is actually very variable (Borggaard and Gimsing, 2008). It is also frequently detected in surface waters, reflecting its widespread use (Horth and Blackmore, 2009). Vineyard soils often contain quite high levels of persistent pesticides (Komárek et al, 2010).

Most pesticides work as **contact pesticides**, meaning that insects and other organisms are directly affected if the pesticide gets onto their bodies and enters the cuticle or skin, or through eating leaf material coated in pesticide or contaminated soil. Contact insecticides act usually in single exposures (eg through spray droplets, pulse contamination after spraying) and have the highest effects immediately after application (Sánchez-Bayo et al, 2013).

Systemic pesticides are taken up by the plant and enter all plant tissues, with the water-soluble active residues present within tissues, or soil, for the whole growing season (Sánchez-Bayo et al, 2013). Organisms can be directly affected by consumption of plant tissues containing the pesticide, including sap (phloem), leaves, roots, pollen, nectar, and guttation fluids, or by eating contaminated soil. They are exposed to systemic insecticides over long periods, resulting in highly effective pest control, but also in cumulative toxicity to non-target organisms, including insects and mites that suck phloem, seed or seedling eaters such as ladybird larvae (Moser and Obrycki, 2009) and birds (Prosser and Hart, 2005). Systemic pesticides are taken up by weeds and are present in sap, pollen, and nectar (Krupke et al, 2012), affecting insects (Rogers et al, 2007). They may also accumulate in aquatic habitats (van Dijk et al, 2013). Systemic pesticides include insecticides (eg neonicotinoids), fungicides (eg difenoconazole), and herbicides (eg glyphosate).

Other agricultural changes that result in loss of biodiversity on farmland

- Declines in mixed farming systems lead to reduced landscape-scale diversity, which leads to biodiversity losses because many species have a range of resource requirements (Guerrero et al, 2012; Newton, 2004). Habitat heterogeneity at both field and landscape scale is generally associated with species richness (Siriwardena et al, 2012), and is crucial for the maintenance of many species meta-populations, such as butterflies (Oliver et al, 2010). The loss of structural and ecological heterogeneity in the landscape results in reduced breeding and feeding options and reduced ecological connectivity amongst habitat patches for animals (Doxa et al, 2012), and few 'refuge' habitats for plant species (Roschewitz et al, 2005).
- The removal of farmland habitat features such as hedgerows, trees, ponds, ditches, stone terraces and uncropped areas with patches of rough grass or scrub lead to the loss of important habitat elements in many farmland landscapes. These support food resources, provide shelter and breeding sites and facilitate species movement (Batáry et al, 2010a; Davies and Pullin, 2007; Frey-Ehrenbold et al, 2013; Newton, 2004). Many species only occur on farmland if the population is regularly replenished from semi-natural habitat refuges, which have to be present at a sufficient density for that species (Bergman et al, 2004; Kivinen et al, 2006; Le Féon et al, 2010; Oeckinger and Smith, 2007).

⁶⁴ http://www.epa.gov/espp/litstatus/effects/redleg-frog/2011/mancozeb/assessment.pdf

- **Drainage of grasslands** leads to the loss of shallow pools and ditches, less winter flooding and lower groundwater levels, and changes the vegetation composition. It is a key factor in the decline of many butterfly species (van Swaay et al, 2006; WallisDeVries and van Swaay, 2009), and breeding birds (Newton, 2004), as well as many plant species.
- **Ploughing and reseeding** of grassland with a few selected grass cultivars adapted to high nutrient conditions clearly has a profound impact on the vegetation and knock-on impacts on the whole ecosystem.
- **Intensive grazing** reduces the heterogeneity of plant vegetation and decreases invertebrate species richness (Kruess and Tscharntke, 2002; WallisDeVries et al, 2002). High stocking rates can also lead to soil compaction, which destroys the structural diversity that maintains soil life and hinders access of birds and other animals to soil invertebrate food.
- Early mowing of grass for silage on former hay meadows and pasture results in a significant loss of biodiversity of plants, invertebrates, amphibians, reptiles, and birds and mammals dependent on seed food resources and on a sufficient period of undisturbed habitat in which to breed successfully (Buckingham et al, 2006; Buckingham et al, 2010; Vickery et al, 2001) (Oppermann and Spaar, 2003).
- The use of avermectins and other drugs against parasites of livestock reduces invertebrate densities in dung, which reduces food resources for the birds and bats that feed on them (Beynon, 2012; Floate et al, 2005; Hutton and Giller, 2003; Vickery et al, 2001).
- Switches from spring-sown crops to winter-sown crops in many areas results in the early ploughing of cereal stubble fields in autumn and winter, which deprives many farmland birds and mammals of the key food resource seeds (Geiger et al, 2010a). The loss of winter stubbles has contributed to farmland bird declines (Chamberlain et al, 2000; Newton, 2004; Whittingham et al, 2005). The switch to winter cereals in Denmark also led to a dramatic decline in the weed flora (Hald, 1999).
- **Ploughing and other tillage operations** result in the direct mortality of soil invertebrates and disruption of the soil ecosystem (Nieminen et al, 2011; Postma-Blaauw et al, 2012; Roger-Estrade et al, 2010), which reduces food availability for soil-invertebrate feeding birds (Tucker, 1992).
- **Irrigation** leads to intensification of many agricultural practices, as described above, with substantial impacts on biodiversity. For example, this has resulted in severe declines in farmland bird species, on former extensive cereals in Spain (Brotons et al, 2004; Ursúa et al, 2005). Trickle irrigation of permanent crops such as olives or citrus is associated with soil erosion and salinization, which has an indirect impact on soil biodiversity and weed diversity (European Commission, 2010a).

5.4 Impacts of agricultural practices on biodiversity outside agriculture in the EU

Intensive farming practices have significant impacts on other habitats that can lead to substantial habitat changes and biodiversity losses. Agriculture in the EU consumes a third of all water use, and in Mediterranean regions this diverts up to 80% of water from freshwater habitats (EEA, 2009). The increase in fertiliser use, ploughing of grasslands, and stocking densities, has led to increases in pollution, including water pollution, especially from nutrient-rich silty run-off from cultivated fields. Pesticides have significant impacts on species in freshwater habitats (Beketov et al, 2013). The most important pollution impacts result from emissions of reactive nitrogen (primarily ammonia from

manure), which is now considered to be one of the most important causes of biodiversity loss, both terrestrial and aquatic (Dise, 2011).

5.5 The impacts of agricultural production on biodiversity outside the EU

EU agriculture has a substantial biodiversity footprint resulting from its feed imports from non-EU countries (AEA, 2008; Lugschitz et al, 2011). Although the EU is relatively self-sufficient in cereals, it imports around 70% of its animal feed needs, mainly in the form of soybeans or maize. It is estimated that EU soy imports account for 12 million hectares of soybean cultivation outside Europe (Westhoek et al, 2011), nearly all in Brazil and Argentina, where semi-natural habitats high in biodiversity (eg Cerrado in Brazil, Chaco in Argentina) have been converted to soy plantations (Kessler et al, 2007; Mann et al, 2010; Smaling et al, 2008; Zak et al, 2008). Soybean cultivation also causes indirect deforestation through the displacement of livestock farming into forest (FAO, 2010a; Nepstad et al, 2006). The net embodied deforestation associated with EU-27 imports of crop and livestock products between 1990 and 2008 was calculated at 7.4 million ha (European Commission, 2013b), equivalent to 4 per cent of the EU's forest area. Half of this was from soybean imports from Brazil and Argentina. The impacts of palm oil, sugarcane, and maize for bioenergy feedstocks are described in Chapter 7.

5.6 Why biodiversity losses in agricultural systems matter

5.6.1 The impacts of biodiversity loss on agricultural production and ecosystem services

Biodiversity losses should be a concern for farmers, as well as nature conservationists, because they affect the long-term sustainability of agricultural production (EASAC, 2009; EEA, 2010a; PBL, 2009). Many species within agricultural systems have an important role to play in the provision of ecosystem services that underpin sustainable agricultural production. Consequently, there are concerns over the impacts of losses of biodiversity on important farmland ecosystem components and functions, some of which are discussed below.

Plant and animal genetic resources

Plant and animal genetic resources for food and agriculture are the biological basis of food security, as well as being an important part of our cultural heritage and regional identity in Europe. Genetic resources for food and agriculture comprise the diversity of genetic material contained in local or regional livestock breeds and varieties, traditional plant varieties and modern crop cultivars, as well as wild relatives and other wild species that can be used now or in the future for food and agriculture (FAO, 2007; FAO, 2010b). Adapting agriculture to the changing climate (eg drought resistant crops and breeds), or new demands, such as for bioenergy or biomaterials, may depend on species and varieties that are of little economic value today.

Europe harbours a large part of the world's recorded domestic **livestock diversity** (Nitsch, 2006), but almost half of European livestock breeds have endangered or critical status or are extinct⁶⁵ (DEFRA, 2013a; FAO, 2007). The genetic diversity in Europe's cultivated crops was eroded by the replacement of **landraces** by high-yielding varieties (eg Piergiovanni and Lioi, 2010) (together with other developments on agriculture that have changed the diversity of crops grown). It is now increasing again due in part to a greater use of crop wild relatives in breeding (Hajjar and Hodgkin, 2007; van de Wouw et al, 2010), but the European continent's significant endemic genetic diversity of **crop wild relatives** is vulnerable or threatened with extinction (Bilz et al, 2011).

⁶⁵ http://www.eea.europa.eu/data-and-maps/indicators/livestock-genetic-diversity/livestock-genetic-diversity-assessment-published

Chapter 8 describes the status of European plant genetic resources and options for its protection.

Soil functions

Sustainable agricultural production fundamentally depends on soil functions (see Box 5-3). Soils are highly complex systems with a very high level of biodiversity (Turbé et al, 2010), the majority of which is still unknown. Soil life supports agricultural production by decomposing plant residues and driving nutrient cycling, and by helping to stabilise soil structure, degrading pollutants, and regulating soil pests and diseases (Turbé et al, 2010). Soils also provide important ecosystem services for the wider landscape, including water retention and purification (through nutrient trapping), and carbon sequestration and storage which has an important impact on climate regulation (see Chapter 3). Because of the huge biodiversity present in soil, the essential ecosystem services it provides are remarkably robust: there is a high level of functional redundancy, so the loss of some species diversity does not affect service provision directly.

Box 5-3 The role of soil biodiversity in supporting soil processes and agricultural production

A range of soil organisms help break down plant residues to start decomposition and humus formation. Springtails (Collembola) are extremely abundant "**litter transformers**" that fragment plant residues and make them more accessible for microbial decomposition. Enchytraeid worms are very abundant in arable soils and digest large quantities of plant residues.

Bacteria, algae and fungi are the "**chemical engineers**" that decompose the molecules in plant residues, and transform them into nutrients (eg nitrogen, phosphorus, sulphur) that can be used again by crops. Mycorrhizal fungi have a crucial role because they scavenge for phosphorus and other nutrients and make them available to the plant roots on and in which they live (Hijri et al, 2006). Nitrogen-fixing bacteria and algae are very important for bringing nitrogen into soils and making it available for plants. Some are free-living in the soil, but most are found in the root nodules of leguminous plants.

Many soil organisms, such as earthworms, are "**ecosystem engineers**" because of the way they create and maintain soil structure and mix organic matter into soil. A key ecosystem engineering and chemical engineering process is the creation of long-lasting **soil organic matter** (humus), which is crucial for both soil structure and resilience, ability to retain water, and the long-term storage of nutrients – a "life-force" of the soil. Fungal hyphae and bacterial slimes are key binding factors that create humus and hold together soil.

Some soil organisms are "**biological regulators**" because their grazing, predation or parasitism controls the populations of potentially damaging groups, including soil borne pests and diseases. Nematodes, one of the most diverse soil invertebrate groups, are the main consumers of fungi and bacteria, as well as other nematodes including root-feeding pests and virus transmitters. Carabid beetles are active predators of slugs, root weevils, and soil-living larvae such as cutworms or wheat bulb fly larvae.

However, soils are vulnerable and many soils are degraded across Europe (Jones et al, 2012). A recent expert review indicates that soil biodiversity is potentially under high pressure in nearly a quarter of the EU⁶⁶, and is under very high pressure on 8 per cent of this area (Gardi et al, 2013; Jeffery et al,

⁶⁶ the EU-25 (excluding Sweden and Finland)

2010). Much of this is due to the serious decline of soil organic matter on most of Europe's arable land (Jones et al, 2012). In turn, the reduction of soil organic matter is a large contributor to other soil degradation processes, such as soil erosion and soil compaction (Jeffery et al, 2010).

Soil organic matter is the result of soil organism activity decomposing plant residues, and is the main 'fuel' driving the 'engine' of the soil food web (Jeffery et al, 2010). Soil biodiversity is intimately bound to soil organic matter: a large, varied source of organic matter supports a wide variety of organisms on its diverse substrates and nutrients. Generally, a reduction in soil organic matter is associated with a lower soil organism abundance and diversity. Almost half of Europe's land area has very low levels of soil organic matter⁶⁷ (Jones et al, 2012), and erosion rates on tilled arable land are 3 to 40 times greater than the upper limit of tolerable soil erosion⁶⁸ (Verheijen et al, 2009). However, soils are very diverse: sandy soils, which are naturally low in organic matter, host specialised species; whilst peat soils support a unique and mostly unknown soil biodiversity as well as storing large volumes of organic matter (Littlewood et al, 2011).

Pollination

Many food and biofuel crops (such as oilseed rape, vegetables and fruit) rely on insects and other invertebrates for pollination. Pollination enables the development of seeds and fruit and is therefore essential for the production of these crops. Pollinators pick up pollen grains on their bodies as they visit flowers, which rub off as they visit another flower. Honeybees (*Apis mellifera*) are major pollinators of crops worldwide, but bumblebees (*Bombus* spp.) are also very important pollinators of long-corolla flowers such as field beans, clover, and many wild species (Albrecht et al, 2012). Their buzz pollination (shaking the flower to dislodge more pollen) is particularly efficient at pollinating tomatoes, potatoes and other *Solanum* species. Mason bees (*Osmia* spp) are key pollinators of apple trees (Brittain et al, 2013). Flies, including hoverflies, bee flies, drone flies, carrion flies and fruit flies, are important for some plant species and are general pollinators when bees are absent. Butterflies and moths pick up pollen on their proboscis and pollinate some adapted species.

Semi-natural habitat patches are particularly important for supporting pollinator populations in agricultural landscapes (Oeckinger & Smith, 2007; Ricketts et al, 2008). The way pollinators are being lost in our agricultural landscapes, and the value of pollinators to European agriculture, is described in Chapter 9.

Natural biological control

Natural biological control is the natural control of pest populations through predators, parasitoids, parasites, and disease, through the actions of a diverse biological control community in and around crop fields.⁶⁹ Most native pests are eaten, parasitized, and infected by a wide range of insects, other invertebrates, bacteria and viruses, as well as amphibians, reptiles, birds and mammals (known as 'natural enemies'), which in ecologically intact communities can keep pest populations at a low level.

In crop monocultures, pest populations can increase faster than their natural enemies. If these natural enemies are not able to survive on alternative food or hosts or cannot move into the crop from other habitats fast enough, pest populations will escape their control and cause damage, triggering more insecticide use (see Box 5-4). However, if natural enemies can build up their populations on non-

⁶⁷ Low levels are defined as below 3.4 per cent soil organic matter or two per cent soil organic carbon

⁶⁸ Tolerable soil erosion is defined as any actual soil erosion rate at which a deterioration or loss of one or more soil functions does not occur

⁶⁹ Biological control also refers to the use of introduced biological control agents in agricultural fields, greenhouses, etc ("classical" biological control or importation or augmentation biological control). This includes the use of *Trichogramma* wasp egg cards, the release of captive-bred ladybirds, lacewings, parasitoid wasps, etc, or the spraying of preparations of bacteria, viruses or insect attractants or hormones.

damaging levels of pests in the crop, on weeds, or in the field margins, they are ready to increase their activity and keep pests in check. This is why insecticide use early in the crop season can be very damaging: it kills both pests and natural enemies, but the pests recover more quickly and cause a second wave of much greater damage to the crop (Dutcher, 2007).

There is evidence that biological control services across Europe's arable farmland are compromised because of insecticide use (Geiger et al, 2010b) and the lack of refuge habitat and floral resources to sustain populations eg in untreated flower-rich margins and on weeds (Holland et al, 2012; Landis et al, 2005; Rusch et al, 2013; Winqvist et al, 2011).

Box 5-4 The downside of biodiversity: pests, diseases and weeds

A diversity of pests, diseases and weeds present challenges to agricultural production in Europe, and can destroy yields if not controlled. It is predicted that climate change and climate variability will increase pest and disease losses in agriculture, especially in Southern Europe (see Chapter 1 for details).

Sucking pests take away energy from growing plants and transmit viral diseases, they include Aphids (Aphididae), Thrips (Thysanoptera), Sucking Bugs (Homoptera) incl. Frog Hoppers, Leaf Hoppers (Cicadellidae), and Plant Bugs (Miridae), Spidermites (Acaridae). **Chewing pests**, including various caterpillars (Lepidoptera), and Leaf Beetles (Chrysomelidae), are most damaging to young plants or when they have lifestyles hidden away from predators, such as stemborers of **maize**, which also encourage fungal infections that reduce grain quality (Meissle et al, 2010). Western Corn Rootworm (*Diabrotica virgifera virgifera*) is a new and damaging pest of maize that is spreading across Europe (Gray et al, 2009). **Soil pests** include pest nematodes eg Potato Cyst Nematode, Cutworms (Lepidoptera) that cut off seedlings, Beetle grubs (Coleoptera) such as Wireworms (Elateridae larvae), Leatherjackets (Tipulidae larvae), Millipedes (Diplopoda), Symphylids, Slugs, and Springtails (eg *Onychiurus* spp).

Diseases can be caused by fungi, viruses, bacteria, and/or other pathogens, and can be transmitted by water, wind, soil, plant material, insects, or other animals. Cereals are attacked by common soiland residue-transmitted fungi including *Alternaria alternaria* (sooty mold), *Cochliobolus sativus* and *Fusarium* spp. (common root rot, head & seedling blight). *Rhizoctonia solani* (root rot). The average yield increases from fungal disease control in Danish winter **wheat** are estimated to be about 10%, but vary considerably across years, depending on the earliness of disease onset and actual disease severity levels in individual seasons (Petersen et al, 2010). **Apples** receive up to 20 fungicide sprays per year to control fungal disease. **Potatoes** are attacked by long-standing fungal diseases such as Fusarium Potato Blight and Ring rot (*Clavibacter michiganensis*), and new diseases (eg *Dickeya solani*).

Weeds present management challenges in almost all crops, and can result in significant crop losses. In each crop a few persistent weed species cause most of the problems, and integrated weed management systems actually aim to increase weed diversity so that dominant weeds are suppressed. Ragwort (*Jacobaea vulgaris*) and White Hellebore (*Veratrum album*) are common pasture weeds that are poisonous to livestock. Sugar beet is susceptible to weeds because of its slow biannual growth.

5.6.2 The implications for the EU's nature conservation objectives

It is clear from this brief review of existing evidence that arresting and reversing losses of biodiversity and ecosystem services in EU agricultural habitats, and in habitats affected by agricultural activities, is essential if the EU is to meet its headline biodiversity target, which is 'to halt the loss of biodiversity and the degradation of ecosystem services in the EU by 2020, restore them in so far as feasible, while stepping up the EU contribution to averting global biodiversity loss'.⁷⁰ The Biodiversity Strategy 2020 recognises that in order to achieve this goal, significant action is needed to protect and conserve biodiversity in relation to agriculture, and four of the targets refer specifically to this.

- Target 1 requires improvements in the status of habitats and species protected by the Natura Directives; 28% of the non-marine habitat types and around 15% of the non-marine species are associated with farming, and 10% of the area of the Natura 2000 network is farmland, which is mostly in unfavourable conservation status and depends on the reinstatement or continuation of low-intensity management (Olmeda et al, 2013).
- Target 2 requires the maintenance of ecosystem services from land and the restoration of at least 15% of degraded ecosystems; the negative impacts of high input agricultural practices are currently a major factor degrading ecosystem services from land in the EU, whilst a significant proportion of High Nature Value farmland is degraded (Tucker et al, 2013).
- Target 3 requires a significant increase in the contribution of agriculture to maintaining and enhancing biodiversity, through better coverage and effectiveness of CAP measures for biodiversity and ecosystem services, and through the conservation and use of agricultural genetic diversity.
- Target 6 requires a step up in the EU's contribution to averting global biodiversity loss; this includes a reduction in the biodiversity impacts of EU consumption patterns, within which agricultural imports are a significant factor.

⁷⁰ And 'By 2050, EU biodiversity and the ecosystem services it provides – its natural capital – are protected, valued and appropriately restored for biodiversity's intrinsic value and for their essential contribution to human wellbeing and economic prosperity, and so that catastrophic changes caused by the loss of biodiversity are avoided.'

5.7 Maintaining and increasing biodiversity in agricultural systems to 2050

5.7.1 Biodiversity-friendly agricultural practices

This section lists farming practices and actions that have been shown to increase biodiversity at the farm scale and field scale in Europe (Cooper et al, 2009; Olmeda et al, 2013; Poláková et al, 2011; Wilson et al, 2009). These actions primarily aim to maintain and provide suitable habitats for breeding and feeding, abundant food resources for animals and limit mortality factors (such as from machinery, pesticides and livestock trampling). Their main benefits for biodiversity are summarised in Table 5-2 together with impacts relating to climate change mitigation and adaptation (see Chapter 3), and ecosystem service provision. Biodiversity benefits are described in more detail in Annex 5.2.

change intigation and adaptation, and ecosystem services						
Protection and management of farmland habitat features	Biodiversity benefits	Climate change mitigation impacts	Climate change adaptation impacts	Other ecosystem service impacts		
Protection, restoration and management of natural and semi-natural agricultural habitats	Natural / semi- natural habitats are of highest conservation importance and maintain many threatened species	Many such habitats are on carbon-rich soils, especially peatlands and grasslands on other types of soils with high carbon content	Such vegetation stabilises soils, improves water infiltration, thereby reducing run-off and improving water availability	flood alleviation; water provisioning; maintains pollinator populations; cultural & recreational benefits		
Extensive grassland management, decreased grazing density, mixed stocking, mosaic / rotational grazing	Livestock increase botanical and structural diversity of grass swards, increasing niches and thereby overall biodiversity. Livestock and their dung support invertebrates and their predators	As semi-natural	As semi-natural	high cultural value; maintains pollinator populations; reduces soil erosion and leaching from manure		
Hay meadow management (late cutting, restricted or no fertilisation etc)	Stimulates high botanical diversity and associated fauna	Avoiding GHG emissions from the production and use of fertilisers and mechanical operations		high cultural value; maintains pollinator populations		
Establishment / restoration of farmland features (hedges, shelterbelts, woodland patches, terraces, farm ponds, stone walls etc)	Farmland features are key breeding and feeding habitats for many species on farmland	Trees and shrubs sequester carbon	Can reduce risks of soil and wind erosion (esp. terraces); protect livestock from heat and wind	Cultural benefits (eg recreational value of countryside)		

Table 5-2 Farming practices that are beneficial for biodiversity and their impacts related to climate change mitigation and adaptation, and ecosystem services

Livestock with

supplementary

lower

more diverse

Cultural benefits

and climate

resilient

Traditional hardy

livestock breeds are

often most suitable

Protection and use of crop

and livestock genetic

diversity and crop wild

		Climate	Climate	Other
Protection and	Biodiversitv	change	change	ecosystem
management of farmland	benefits	mitigation	adaptation	service
habitat features		impacts	impacts	impacts
relatives	for management of semi-natural habitats. Interbreeding with CWR can reduce crop dependency on eg pesticides & fertilisers. Protection of crop	feed requirements reduce GHG emissions; increased crop genetic diversity can reduce crop dependency on pesticides &	livestock and crops can maintain productivity in the face of climate shocks	
	wild relatives in genetic reserves also protects other threatened species.	fertilisers		
Integrated Farm management / Integrated Production / Precision agriculture / Organic management	Reduced or no use of artificial fertilisers and pesticides increases soil biodiversity and invertebrate populations, providing more food for associated species	May reduce GHG emissions from the production and use of artificial fertilisers; reducing N2O and CO2 emissions (due to increased efficiency and optimised use of manure)	Reduced input costs and increased input use efficiency improve farm resilience to price increases; improved water use efficiency & better soil water retention reduce impacts of drought	Reduced pollution of freshwater habitats from fertiliser and pesticide run-off; premium food products
Conversion of arable land to species-rich grassland	Increases soil biodiversity and plant diversity, and associated fauna (eg soil invertebrate feeding birds)	Higher carbon sequestration & reduced GHG emissions from mechanical operations	Restoration of soil organic matter, protection against soil erosion, improved water balance	As semi-natural habitats
Integrated Pest Management (IPM), Integrated Weed Management (IWM)	Increases soil biodiversity and plant diversity, and associated fauna	Reduced use of pesticides (and benefits of diversified crop rotations as below)	Benefits of diversified crop rotations as below	Natural biological control of pests and diseases; reduced pollution from pesticide run-off
Diversified crop rotations, including more leguminous crops, fodder crops and green manures / catch crops	Increases soil biodiversity and associated fauna, and landscape diversity creating more niches and therefore biodiversity, notably flower resources for	May reduce GHG emissions from the production and use of fertilisers and pesticides due to nitrogen fixation and improved pest and weed	Improved soil structure and water retention capacity due to increased soil organic matter; increased resilience of soil and crop production to	Natural biological control of pests and diseases; possibly reduced pollution from nutrient run-off

		Climate	Climate	Other
Protection and	Biodiversity	change	change	ecosystem
management of farmland	benefits	penefits mitigation		service
habitat features		impacts	impacts	impacts
	pollinators	control; may improve soil carbon sequestration	climate shocks	
Under-sowing spring cereals and grass-clover leys in cereal rotations	As rotations (but flower visitors only benefit if clover allowed to flower); more grassland habitat in arable areas benefits some species	May reduce GHG emissions from the production and use of fertilisers and mechanical operations	Improved soil organic matter and water balance	
Conservation tillage, zero-till and direct drilling (including cover crops, mulching)	Increases soil biodiversity and associated fauna; increased herbicide use may have negative effects	Reduced carbon losses from soil maintains carbon sequestration; reduces GHG emissions from mechanical operations	Reduced soil erosion, improves water infiltration, thereby reducing run-off and improving water availability (but fungal diseases may reduce yield)	Flood alleviation and water resource enhancement; less nutrient run- off and eutrophication; possibly increased herbicide pollution
Field margins: grass & shrub buffer strips, flower rich field margins, bird food strips	Buffer strips protect water courses from run-off and spray drift; margins managed for biodiversity can increase plant diversity and food resources for pollinators, other insects and birds	May reduce GHG emissions from the production and use of fertilisers; reduced use of pesticides if natural biological control is enhanced; trees & shrubs store carbon	Can reduce soil erosion and improve water retention; can reduce susceptibility to pests & diseases through natural biological control	Helps protect water resources, cultural values, maintains pollinator populations, improved recreational access on farmland (grass strips only)
Uncropped arable field margins, arable in-field bird patches	As above; bird patches provide nesting and feeding sites; key habitat for rare arable weeds	May reduce GHG emissions from the production and use of fertilisers	Can lead to small increases in soil erosion and reduced yields	
Overwinter stubbles and winter bird crops	Prolongs the availability of food resources for birds	Can increase soil organic matter	Reduced soil erosion and run- off	Helps protect water resources
Set-aside, fallow	Provides breeding and feeding habitats for invertebrates, birds and mammals; key habitat for rare arable weeds	May reduce GHG emissions from the production and use of fertilisers and reduced mechanical	as stubbles	Improved recreational access on farmland, maintains pollinator populations

Protection and management of farmland habitat features	Biodiversity benefits	Climate change mitigation impacts	Climate change adaptation impacts	Other ecosystem service impacts
		operations, and reduces carbon losses		
Maintenance of permanent species-rich ground cover in perennial crops	Species-rich grassland is key habitat for plants, invertebrates and food resource for birds and other species	Maintains or enhances carbon sequestration in soil	Significantly reduces soil erosion and improves water retention	Maintains pollinator populations; reduces run-off into water sources

5.7.2 The current status of biodiversity-friendly practices in EU agriculture

Most of the beneficial practices listed in Table 5-2 are supported under agri-environment schemes in Member States' Rural Development Programmes, though the range and scope of actions varies greatly amongst programmes (Keenleyside et al, 2012). A meta-analysis of published research shows clear evidence that agri-environment schemes benefit species richness and abundance on both arable and grassland across Europe (Batáry et al, 2010b), but reviews also show that current agri-environment schemes are not sufficient to reverse the declines in Europe's farmland biodiversity (Berendse et al, 2004; Kleijn et al, 2006; Kleijn et al, 2011). Many agri-environment schemes are insufficiently targeted at biodiversity conservation or do not cover enough area (Concepción et al, 2012; Le Roux et al, 2009; Merckx et al, 2009).

Farmers are more likely to take up changed field margin management practices rather than in-field practices such as bird patches or fallow fields, over-wintered stubbles, crop diversification, or integrated pest or weed management (Poláková et al, 2011; Vickery et al, 2008). However, modelling based on bird conservation requirements shows that the main priority for most of the declining bird species on farmland are practices that provide in-field resources and breeding habitat, although some species also benefit from field edge management practices (Butler et al, 2007a; Butler et al, 2007b; Butler et al, 2010).

A number of reviews conclude that agri-environment programmes need to be better targeted to the nature of the landscapes of the regions where they are implemented and the type of species groups that should be benefiting (Batáry et al, 2010b; European Court of Auditors, 2011; Whittingham et al, 2007).

5.8 What is needed to maintain and increase biodiversity in agricultural systems?

Agriculture has created many habitats of high biodiversity value, but more recently has contributed substantially to the overall loss of biodiversity in Europe and the failure to meet the 2010 targets. Whilst progress has been made in regulating the use of more persistent pesticides, and introducing a new generation of agri-environment incentives for farmers, the scale of the challenge is such that a **step change in biodiversity conservation on farmland** in Europe is needed if the ecosystem services underpinning sustainable agricultural production are to be restored and enhanced, and the 2020 biodiversity targets met.

The spatial scale over which agricultural biodiversity is delivered needs to be increased significantly and the efficiency and effectiveness of measures improved to ensure that biodiversity thrives in the wider countryside as well as in protected areas (Poláková et al, 2011). For example, a study estimated that Germany would need active management actions over at least 15 per cent of its UAA in order to reverse the declines of farmland species and secure habitats, including restoring and maintaining semi-natural landscapes, extensifying 10 per cent of intensive grassland, and allocating 7 per cent of arable and grassland to farmland features (Hampicke, 2010). A Netherlands study estimated that a country-wide approach to conservation of farmland biodiversity would require active biodiversity management practices on at least 20 per cent of UAA (Overmars and Zeijts, 2010).

Active interventions to support and protect semi-natural farmland and the farming systems that maintain it are needed

Part of the response should be focussed on arresting the continued decline of the HNV farming systems still characteristic of considerable areas of Europe, particularly extensive livestock grazing. These play an important part in maintaining semi-natural habitats, many of which require protection and management under the Habitats Directive. The challenge is to maintain economic viability of these systems through a combination of support and enhanced investment in traditional management alongside the development of new approaches and adaptation to changing socio-economic conditions. Extensive livestock farming under appropriate management conditions can make a key contribution to European biodiversity.

Farmers who deliver the essential management of biodiverse habitats and species of conservation value on farmland often farm under difficult circumstances using labour-intensive systems on marginal land. This requires an integrated package of support measures that ensures the **long-term viability of High Nature Value farming systems** and their value for biodiversity, including combined support from both pillars of the CAP⁷¹, as well as better management within the Natura 2000 network:⁷²

- Member States can use the new CAP framework to develop an HNV policy package that 1) ensures that farming of semi-natural habitats continues; 2) supports the long-term viability of the farming systems that protect and maintain biodiversity; 3) builds farm capacity and add value to farm produce to improve economic and social sustainability; and 4) supports specific conservation actions for habitats and species on farmland (Olmeda et al, 2013; Oppermann et al, 2012)
- Specific support and advice should be targeted at farming systems that maintain and restore Natura 2000 habitats and species, both within Natura 2000 sites and outside, especially where they buffer or connect Natura 2000 sites.
- Recognise the substantial ecosystem services supplied by semi-natural farmland and farming systems by more explicitly linking public support to their continuation (including carbon storage, water flow regulation and purification, cultural and recreational value), through better monitoring, assessment and recognition of multifunctional land management and outcomes.

⁷¹ It is estimated that maintaining HNV farming practices over 80 million ha of EU-27 farmland would need \notin 16 to \notin 23 billion per year (including the farmland within Natura 2000) (Beaufoy and Marsden, 2010; Hart et al, 2011), compared to current annual spending on CAP Pillar 2 environmental measures (axis 2) of \notin 41.2 million (including Member State co-financing.

⁷² It is estimated that currently only a fifth or less of the funding that would be necessary to maintain and restore the Natura 2000 network to favourable conservation status, including the 22.2 million ha of farmland, is actually being made available (European Commission, 2011b; Gantioler et al, 2010; Kettunen et al, 2011).

Actions to avoid and reduce the detrimental impacts of agriculture to below threshold levels

At the same time there are opportunities to manage the pressures arising on biodiversity in the more specialised, high yielding and intensively managed parts of European agriculture. Firstly this involves the effective implementation of existing EU legislation, such as the Nitrates Directive and legislation on pesticides. In addition, greater priority on the development and application of integrated pest management (IPM) is required, where progress appears to be lagging and where substantial biodiversity, climate and agronomic benefits could be gained.

It is clear that ambitious actions are needed to constrain and reduce the negative impacts of intensive agricultural production on biodiversity in order to meet the goal of sustainable intensification. The EU can:

- Push for ambitious pesticide reduction targets and full implementation of integrated pest management under the Sustainable Use of Pesticides Directive. 20 Member States have now produced plans⁷³, indicating that training and awareness is improving; however, they lack ambition. Only Denmark⁷⁴ and France⁷⁵ set quantitative pesticide reduction targets.⁷⁶ Farm Advisory Services are now obliged to provide farmers with IPM advice.
- EU policies to reduce nitrogen (N) emissions and leaching⁷⁷ all demand substantial action from the agricultural sector. The strict and uniform implementation all over the EU of 1) balanced fertilisation (fertiliser use that does not lower crop yields⁷⁸ but that decreases N leaching losses to less than 50 mg NO₃- l⁻¹ ⁷⁹), combined with improved crop and manure management, 2) low-protein animal feeding, combined with improved herd management; and 3) ammonia emissions abatement measures, including improved manure application and storage, would increase Nitrogen Use Efficiency by 25 per cent, while ammonia emissions would decrease by 31 per cent and N leaching by 41 per cent (Oenema et al, 2009). This would bring substantial benefits for biodiversity both on farmland and in freshwater and marine habitats in Europe.
- CAP cross-compliance regulations have established a baseline of minimum environmental standards for farmland management across the EU, for example some protection for farmland features (Poláková et al, 2011). In the new CAP regulations Member States have been given greater flexibility to set GAEC⁸⁰ requirements. It is therefore important that Member States ensure high and enforced national standards that include the protection and management of permanent grassland, riparian buffer strips, and farmland features.

⁷³ http://ec.europa.eu/food/plant/pesticides/sustainable_use_pesticides/national_action_plans_en.htm

 $^{^{74}}$ The Danish plan aims to reduce pesticide use by 40%

⁷⁵ The French Ecophyto plan aims to reduce pesticide sales in France by 50% by 2018, http://agriculture.gouv.fr/Ecophyto-in-English-1571

⁷⁶ http://www.pan-europe.info/News/PR/130620_letter_Borg.pdf

⁷⁷ The Nitrates Directive, the Thematic Strategy on Air Pollution, and the National Emission Ceiling Directive

⁷⁸ although there may be an increased risk of reduced yields under favourable growing conditions when N demand of crops are relatively high (Oenema et al, 2009)

⁷⁹ The Nitrates Directive specifies that nitrate concentrations entering groundwater and surface waters must be reduced to less than 50 mg NO₃- l-1 in all designated nitrate vulnerable zones (NVZ). Overall, 46% of the EU is NVZ; some Member States, such as Denmark and Germany, have designated their whole land area as NVZ; others such as Poland have designated only 10% or less.

⁸⁰ Rules for Good Agricultural and Environmental Condition, including establishment of buffer strips, protection of groundwater and soil organic matter, minimum soil cover and management to limit erosion, and retention of landscape features

Actions to encourage and support the adoption of biodiversity beneficial practices and habitat restoration

Conflicts between increasing scale, specialisation and input use on arable land and in horticulture on the one hand, and the revival of biodiversity on the other, can only be addressed by action at different levels. This includes stronger education and advice for farmers, measures to maximise the biodiversity benefits of ecological focus areas being introduced into the CAP, more focussed and effective agri-environment schemes and further deployment of good practises.

All the actions listed in Table 5-2 bring biodiversity benefits and co-benefits for climate change adaptation and/or mitigation, and should be implemented as widely as possible. Two specific actions that bring multiple benefits for biodiversity, climate change mitigation and adaptation, and resource use efficiency are:

- Precision farming within which inputs are matched as precisely as possible to crop conditions can substantially decrease off-farm impacts of fertilisers, pesticides and irrigation.
- Flower rich field margins boost pollinator abundance and natural biological control, thus increasing yields of crops such as oilseed rape, provide resources for birds and mammals, and act as buffer strips that catch run-off and decrease soil erosion.

Actions to increase research, monitoring and innovation to maximise biodiversity benefits of agricultural change

Some of the beneficial practices on intensive arable and grassland may reduce overall output or constrain productivity increases per unit area over the short term, principally fallowing and grazing extensification; however this does not take account of their contribution to the long term sustainability of farming practices, for example through co-benefits for soil organic matter and climate change adaptation. This has led to a debate on the degree to which actions that focus on enhancing biodiversity within existing farmland ("land sharing") drive agricultural expansion and thus the loss of non-farmed or extensively farmed habitats elsewhere, and whether it would be better for overall biodiversity if yields are maximised on existing farmland despite the biodiversity loss, in order to retain and recreate biodiversity-rich habitats outside agriculture ("land sparing") (Balmford et al, 2005; Green et al, 2005; Phalan et al, 2011). Current evidence suggests that in mega-biodiverse countries with large areas of natural habitat, land sparing would be a more effective conservation strategy than land-sharing. However, the situation in Europe may be very different, due to the high biodiversity importance of semi-natural habitats. More research is therefore needed to establish the applicability of the land sparing concept in the EU, the influence of scale on the issues, and policy options that support land-sparing if needed (Ewers et al, 2009; Oeckinger & Smith, 2007; Phalan et al, 2011; Tscharntke et al, 2012).

In-field monitoring and constant review of the impacts of changing farming practise on the species and habitats dependent on agricultural ecosystems, and that underpin agriculture (such as soil biodiversity), needs to be maintained and further strengthened if our understanding of the dynamics between farming and biodiversity is to be improved and applied more systematically by the actors involved.

Actions to reduce the external impact of Europe's food and feed imports

Whether EU food production increases, and contributes to feeding the world, depends on global price trends, trade policies, biofuel policies, and consumer preferences for domestic versus imported food products (Hart et al, 2013). The EU's substantial imports of soy, palm oil and maize are facing increasing competition from countries with rapidly increasing demand, such as China. There is also a fear that a substantial scaling up of biodiversity-friendly farming practices in the EU could reduce agricultural production and increase demand for agricultural imports, increasing the EU's impacts on

global biodiversity loss. However, as described above, many biodiversity actions will also increase agricultural sustainability, or, if well designed and implemented, have little productivity impact.

Furthermore, the EU can make a more substantial contribution to reducing global biodiversity loss through actions to **improve the environmental footprint of the EU's food, feed and feedstock imports**, and to encourage consumer demand for environmentally sustainable food, including:

- active EU engagement in international initiatives to develop global environmental principles for food, fibre and energy production and clarification of assessment standards in the forthcoming policy paper on sustainable food;
- encouragement and support for voluntary and private certification schemes and products, such as the Roundtable on Sustainable Soy, Roundtable on Sustainable Palm Oil, organic, fair trade, GlobalGAP;⁸¹
- education and awareness campaigns to reduce unhealthy meat consumption levels, whilst promoting the livestock products from European High Nature Value farms;
- and actions to increase domestic production of animal feed that also brings benefits for biodiversity and adaptation to climate change, such as legume crop systems that do not require high levels of pesticide use.

⁸¹ http://www.globalgap.org/uk_en/for-producers/

6 CULTIVATION OF GM CROPS IN THE EU: WHAT IMPACTS ON BIODIVERSITY?

This chapter provides an overview of the kinds of impacts genetically modified (GM) crop varieties can have on biodiversity, and explores the possible impacts of new GM crop varieties that might be considered relevant for sustainable agriculture in Europe in the future.

6.1 Genetically Modified Organisms

Genetically modified organisms (GMOs)⁸² are animal or plant varieties that contain one or more genes inserted into their genome using the breeding technology known as recombinant nucleic acid transformation⁸³. Since the 1980s (Tiedje et al, 1989), GMOs have been developed from arable and perennial crops, trees, flowers, grasses, bacteria, algae, fish, insects, mammals and birds. However, the only GMOs that currently play a role in food and biomaterial production are GM bacteria and GM crops⁸⁴. GM crop breeding enables the insertion of genes with desirable traits into crops without the yield drag associated with the transfer of unwanted genetic sequences (Jacobsen and Schouten, 2007), and enables the insertion of genes with desirable traits from completely unrelated species.

GM crops differ from most conventionally bred crops in three main ways⁸⁵: 1) the GMO's genetic material (genome) contains a deliberately modified gene construct and may also contain other altered genetic sequences; 2) the GMO expresses a specific novel trait, which may mean the organism produces a novel desired GM product (usually a protein) in all or most of its tissues throughout all or most of its lifecycle, which changes its metabolism, and may result in other changes in the organism, such as different stress tolerance; and 3) the GMO may be managed in novel ways as a consequence of the GM specific trait, such as crops with changed herbicide applications, and/or crops that are grown in new areas or environments.

GM crops may be designed to offer agronomic, economic, nutritional, or environmental benefits, if they are managed appropriately, for example by reducing the negative environmental impacts associated with agricultural production; however, there are also potential environmental risks⁸⁶. This section focuses on the possible impacts of GM crops on biodiversity, in particular those crops that have been considered for use in Europe, and GM traits and crops that are being developed and could potentially be used in Europe in the next decades.

⁸² see definition in the glossary

⁸³ The Directive also mentions other techniques involving the direct introduction into an organism of heritable material prepared outside the organism including micro-injection, macro-injection and micro-encapsulation; and cell fusion (including protoplast fusion) or hybridisation techniques where live cells with new combinations of heritable genetic material are formed through the fusion of two or more cells by means of methods that do not occur naturally. The techniques of *in vitro* fertilisation; natural processes such as: conjugation, transduction, transformation; and polyploidy induction are not considered to result in genetic modification (provided they do not involve recombinant nucleic acid transformation).

⁸⁴ In this report it is assumed that GM micro-organisms and GM crops producing pharmaceuticals will only be cultivated in strictly regulated closed environments, therefore their impact on biodiversity is not assessed here. Nevertheless it is recognised that if they were released into the environment they could pose significant environmental risks (Andow et al, 2004; EFSA, 2009; Snow and Smith, 2012; Stevens et al, 2004).

⁸⁵ Like all crop varieties, GM varieties have underlying varietal characteristics differing in some ways from all other varieties, both GM and non-GM, except the untransformed parental variety. The scale of differences depends partly on whether the GM gene was inserted into a widely used or specially bred variety.

⁸⁶ National and EU laws and the international Cartagena Protocol on Biosafety therefore require environmental risk assessments of GMOs before they are released into the environment

6.2 GM crops grown in the EU or that could be grown in the EU in the coming decades

In Europe only two GM crops are currently authorised for cultivation – insect-resistant Bt maize (MON810) and BASF's starch-modified Amflora potato. Globally, around 130 different GM transformations or 'events' are used in commercial GM crop varieties⁸⁷, and these have been bred and combined (stacked) into a wide range of different crop varieties or cultivars⁸⁸. However these all express only four different transgenic trait types in four main crops, dominated by herbicide-resistance, followed by insect-resistance using Bt proteins, with a minor use of virus-resistance and starch-modification (James, 2012). This situation contrasts sharply with the far broader range of GM traits, genes and crops that have been developed in small-scale tests, but that have not been cleared for commercial use. Even so, these few crops and traits have resulted in the most rapid adoption rates of any new agricultural technology, significantly changing soybean, maize, and cotton production in North and South America, China, India and Australia (James, 2012).

A review was carried out for this study to identify GM crops that might contribute to sustainable agriculture in Europe to 2050, if they were authorised in the EU and commercial and research priorities swung back to GM in Europe (see Annex 6.1 for details). Around 25 GM crop applications are currently (early 2013) in the EU authorisation procedure for cultivation (deliberate release)⁸⁹, but due to the lack of consensus between EU Member States none of these applications have been given final authorisation for cultivation. The majority incorporate a single herbicide tolerance or insect resistance trait, or have stacked traits (Lusser et al, 2012), for example GM maize (MON88017) with resistance to corn rootworm and stem borers combined with herbicide tolerance (Devos et al, 2012a). Notably, no wheat varieties are on the list, though new GM varieties are being developed in the US⁹⁰.

Research on GM crops continues in Europe but applications for experimental releases of GM plants are decreasing⁹¹. About one-third of applications come from universities and public research bodies⁹², but current private sector GM research is aimed at markets where acceptance and market potential are higher than in Europe. It therefore seems unlikely under the current regulatory stalemate that any new GM crops will be authorised in the EU in the next decade (Fresco, 2013; Peng, 2011).

New GM traits include improved nutrient profiles; altered crop metabolism for industrial products; abiotic stress tolerance including drought-tolerance, freezing-tolerance and salinity-tolerance; disease resistance traits; nitrogen use efficiency; and bioremediation capacity. One particularly interesting trait is the inclusion of nitrogen fixing capacity into non-leguminous crops, which can probably only be achieved through the use of GM technologies because it requires the transfer of genes from other species. It is unlikely to be near commercial use within the next 15 years (Baulcombe et al, 2009), but rapid progress is being made (Untergasser et al, 2012).

⁸⁷ including more than 90 GM varieties approved in the US, around 30 in Brazil.

⁸⁸ Crop cultivars and varieties are genetically different strains of the crop that can all contain the GM gene, so that for example in China the Bt insect-resistance transgene can be found in over 500 different varieties.

⁸⁹ GMO Compass database http://www.gmo-compass.org/eng/gmo/db/

⁹⁰ http://www.guardian.co.uk/environment/2013/jun/22/agriculture-oregon-monsanto-gm-wheat

⁹¹ In 2012, less than 50 new release applications for GM plants were submitted in the EU whereas over 100 new applications were submitted in 2009. In 2012, 30 of the new applications came from Spain.

⁹² http://gmoinfo.jrc.ec.europa.eu/gmp_browse.aspx

6.3 How GM breeding differs from conventionally bred plants and animals

Unexpected changes resulting from the GM breeding process

The GM (recombinant nucleic acid transformation) process can produce unintended genetic changes (Latham et al, 2006), such as the insertion of multiple copies or fragments (Rang et al, 2005)⁹³, gene alterations (La Paz et al, 2010; Rosati et al, 2008)⁹⁴, or unexpected tissue expression (Zakharov et al, 2004), though plant breeders underline the precision of modern GM breeding in comparison to conventional plant breeding (Baudo et al, 2013; EASAC, 2013; Ricroch, 2013). GM breeding can also create new traits by silencing specific genes using non-coding RNA sequences, which might pose the risk of silencing other genes (Ramesh, 2013). Most unintended changes are noticed during the plant breeding process and removed (Jacobsen & Schouten, 2007), but sometimes an effect may not be noticed until the plant is subjected to stress such as drought or low temperature (eg Van Gelder et al, 1988), or during the food safety risk assessment process (eg Prescott et al, 2005).

Because the potential risks are specific to each different GM event, the risk assessment must be based on data specific to each event (EFSA, 2010). Current GM crops with single gene locus traits that produce one protein are relatively simple to verify (Cellini et al, 2004), but future GM traits such as abiotic stress tolerances will involve changes to regulatory and metabolic genes which affect several aspects of plant development and fitness, and often influence responses to multiple abiotic stresses (Mittler and Blumwald, 2010).

Biological novelty and new breeding technologies

The GM breeding process enables the introduction of a much wider range of novel traits than conventional breeding, which may deviate substantially (genetically, biochemically, and physiologically as well as in ethical and regulatory terms, and in public perception) from what classical, selection-based breeding has achieved, and which therefore pose a new scale of potential risk (Nielsen, 2003). Other new plant breeding technologies also enable the introduction of novel traits (Lusser et al, 2011), and can therefore present many of the same types of possible risks to biodiversity as GM crops (eg Busconi et al, 2012; Krato and Petersen, 2012; Perez-Jones et al, 2010; Peterson and Shama, 2005). They pose a legislative challenge in Europe because the status as GM or non-GM is currently not legally defined. An expert group convened by the European Commission has evaluated whether eight new techniques⁹⁵, including cisgenesis and intragenesis, constitute genetic modification within the scope of EU GMO legislation⁹⁶ (see Box 6-1 and Annex 6.1 for discussion).

⁹³ The widely grown Round Up Ready (event GTS 40-3-2) soybean transcribes variant bits of RNA from GM gene fragments in its genome, possibly producing protein fragments the effects of which are unknown

⁹⁴ The YieldGard MON810 Bt maize event lacks the terminator sequence, so the gene is read on further resulting in an extra bit added onto the GM protein, which does not however seem to affect the protein's activity

⁹⁵ These are: zinc finger nuclease (ZFN) technology (ZFN-1, ZFN-2 and ZFN-3), oligonucleotide directed mutagenesis (ODM), cisgenesis and intragenesis using recombinant nucleic acid transformation; RNA-dependent DNA methylation (RdDM); grafting of non-GM components onto GM rootstock; reverse breeding; agro-infiltration (agro-infiltration "*sensu stricto*", agro-inoculation, floral dip); and synthetic genomics.

⁹⁶ New Techniques Working Group (2012) Final Report, European Commission http://ec.europa.eu/food/plant/gmo/new_breeding_techniques/index_en.htm

Box 6-1 Status of cisgenic and intragenic crops

It is not clear whether crops produced through **cisgenesis** or intragenesis – gene movement using recombinant nucleic acid transformation between organisms in the same species or species complex⁹⁷ – are defined as GM crops or not. Because cisgenesis introduces genes that have been present in the species gene pool for centuries, using promoters and other genetic sequences from the same species, some argue that these crops should not be subject to such strict requirements because their risks can be regarded as comparable to conventionally bred crops (as long as the possibility of unintended genetic effects is considered) (Schouten et al, 2006). Others argue that cisgenic GM crops may still have novel traits in novel settings (Russell and Sparrow, 2008) and that the regulation is therefore warranted. Also, it is argued that public perception would backlash if cisgenic GMOs were deregulated, which could be more costly in the long run (Russell & Sparrow, 2008). EFSA has published a scientific opinion on the risks of cisgenesis and intragenesis, concluding that cisgenetic crops present similar hazards to conventionally bred plants whilst novel hazards can be associated with intragenic and transgenic plants, but that all these breeding methods can produce variable frequencies and severities of unintended effects which need to be assessed case by case (EFSA, 2012a).

6.4 Possible impacts of GM crops on biodiversity and current evidence for effects

This section summarises the possible risks and benefits of GM crops for biodiversity, according to the categories of environmental risk used by the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA, 2010), and the current scientific evidence. The possible risks and the corresponding evidence are described in more detail in Annex 6.2.

The scientific evidence is ranked according to whether it demonstrates a) risks or benefits with a measureable impact on a biodiversity assessment endpoint; b) risks or benefits that are likely to occur but that have not been associated with a clear negative effect on a biodiversity assessment endpoint; c) risks to biodiversity extrapolated from small-scale test results; d) risks demonstrated in experiments but very difficult to detect in the field. The published scientific evidence of the impacts of GM crops on biodiversity mainly relates to the current herbicide-tolerance and Bt insect-resistance traits (Andow and Zwahlen, 2005; Snow et al, 2005). It should be noted however that the new generation of GM traits poses a much wider range of potential risks to biodiversity than the current generation, and whilst the implications of their use is considered here, so far there is relatively little scientific data on these crops from which to judge impacts.

Risks and environmental benefits associated with the **impacts of the specific cultivation**, **management and harvesting techniques associated with GMOs**

The proven large-scale impacts of current GM crops on biodiversity are mostly related to the **changes in management practices involved**, particularly changed herbicide or insecticide use, reduced till and zero-till practices, and altered crop rotation practices; these risks are similar to the impacts of changes in comparable conventional farming systems. The scale and direction of these impacts depends very much on how farmers manage GM crops, the regulatory restrictions imposed on GM crop management, and on how the GM crop system is compared to conventional crop management practices. The agronomic changes associated with GM crop production practices can have positive or

⁹⁷ See definitions in the glossary

negative effects on biodiversity, and the overall impact can vary according to the precise management practices, environment, and landscape context.

Impacts of changed management of GM herbicide-tolerant (GMHT) crops (evidence=a) risks or benefits with a measureable impact on a biodiversity assessment endpoint)

The altered herbicide use associated with herbicide-resistant GM crops may **reduce weed populations**, resulting in **reduced populations of weed-associated wildlife** such as seed-eating birds. In the UK, a large farm scale evaluation of four GMHT cropping systems concluded that GMHT oilseed rape and beet crops (but not GMHT maize) reduced the abundance of weeds and associated wildlife compared to the conventional management at that time (Brooks et al, 2003; Brooks et al, 2005; Firbank et al, 2006; Haughton et al, 2003; Hawes et al, 2003; Heard et al, 2003) (see Annex 6.2 for details). As the loss of weed seed and insect food in the agricultural landscape has already had a strongly negative effect on many of Europe's farmland birds (Squire et al, 2003), and as oilseed rape is currently far more important than maize both in area and in the diversity of wildlife it supports in Western Europe (European Commission, 2012c; Squire et al, 2003), the negative effect on weeds was considered important enough to conclude that on balance the **GMHT crops would reduce biodiversity**⁹⁸ (UK ACRE, 2004; UK ACRE, 2005).

In contrast, research in the US, Canada and South America has come to the opposite conclusion that GMHT crops have increased weed diversity (Gulden et al, 2009; Gulden et al, 2010; Puricelli and Tuesca, 2005; Scursoni et al, 2006; Young et al, 2013). The authors conclude that this is because glyphosate has allowed more broad-leaved weeds to survive and causes greater species richness and evenness than the conventional weed control used in comparable US farming systems. Notably, however, the population of Monarch butterflies in the US Corn Belt is decreasing sharply and a partial cause is the dramatic reduction in its food plant - previously a widespread weed in GMHT maize and soy (Pleasants and Oberhauser, 2013). GMHT crops enable greater flexibility of herbicide use, and this can be implemented in a way that increases in-field biodiversity (eg Dewar et al, 2003) or that significantly decreases it (Strandberg et al, 2005), depending on the timing and frequency of herbicide applications.

GM herbicide-resistant crops in North America have not decreased the quantity of herbicide used on crops⁹⁹ but have resulted in a large-scale **shift to herbicide use with lower environmental toxicity rating** than previously used herbicide treatments (Brookes & Barfoot, 2012; Kleter et al, 2007; Lopez et al, 2012), because glyphosate is a relatively quick-acting readily degradable herbicide (Borggaard & Gimsing, 2008). However, recent evidence suggests that glyphosate may actually have a higher environmental toxicity than previously considered and that its environmental risk rating should be revised (FoEE, 2013; Helander et al, 2012).

At a global scale GMHT crops have facilitated the widespread adoption of **reduced tillage or zero-till farming** systems (Cerdeira et al, 2011; Givens et al, 2009), which are likely to have had large-scale beneficial impacts on soil biodiversity (from increased soil organic matter) and aquatic biodiversity (from reduced soil erosion and associated pollution) (Cerdeira et al, 2011; National Research Council, 2010). However, the lack of weed resistance management associated with GMHT use is resulting in the proliferation of **herbicide-tolerant weeds** (Duke and Powles, 2008; Owen, 2011; Powles, 2008); already this has resulted in an increase in the volume and environmental impact of herbicide use on GMHT crops in the US and South America (Binimelis et al, 2009; Brookes & Barfoot, 2012; Cerdeira et al, 2011), and/or the re-introduction of tillage into zero-till systems (Binimelis et al, 2009;

⁹⁸ Whilst recognising that the GM HT maize had a positive effect compared to atrazine-treated maize

⁹⁹ GMHT crops have not resulted in a reduction in the overall weight of herbicides applied in the US (which is increasing), because the average number of applications does not differ greatly from conventional cropping (Benbrook, 2012; Brookes and Barfoot, 2012; Kleter et al, 2007).

Christoffoleti et al, 2008), reducing the beneficial impact. GMHT cropping systems have also facilitated greater use of **monoculture** cropping and reduced crop rotations (Mortensen et al, 2012), which could be expected to decrease overall farmland biodiversity.

Impacts of changed management of GM insect-resistant Bt crops (evidence=b) risks or benefits that are likely to occur but that have not been associated with a clear negative effect on a biodiversity assessment endpoint)

GM insect-resistant Bt maize has resulted in large-scale reductions in stemborer pest pressure (Hutchison et al, 2010) and some **reductions in insecticide use** in the US¹⁰⁰, mainly on sweetcorn rather than field maize (feed maize) as insecticide use on the latter is low¹⁰¹ (Brookes & Barfoot, 2013). In Spain, a study has estimated that GM Bt maize has reduced the environmental impact of insecticide use by around 40 per cent compared to pre-GM (Brookes, 2009). However, insecticide use against corn borers is generally low and relatively ineffective, and most farmers in Europe either do not control this pest or use biological and agronomic control methods (Meissle et al, 2011).

Any reductions in pesticide use can generally be associated with benefits for biodiversity in farmland and aquatic habitats, but impacts have not been quantified. As the use of pesticides is changing rapidly in Europe, GM cropping systems would have to be compared to current best practices in order to demonstrate which has greater environmental impacts (see Chapter 5 for discussion of pesticide use in Europe).

Risks associated with **interactions of the GM plant with target organisms**, principally the **evolution of resistance** in target organisms

GM crops designed to improve the management of pests, weeds or diseases, are, like other pest management strategies, associated with the risk of resistance evolution¹⁰² in the target pest. The possible biodiversity impacts of resistance evolution are associated with **increased pesticide use and toxicity** to control the resistant pests. Resistance to the current herbicide-tolerant and insect-resistant GM crops has already appeared.

Risk management specifications are mandatory for GM insect-resistant crops but not for herbicidetolerant crops (evidence=b) risks or benefits that are likely to occur but that have not been associated with a clear negative effect on a biodiversity assessment endpoint)

Most authorisations of insect-resistant GM crops in the US, Canada and Europe recognise resistance evolution as a significant risk for both agronomic and environmental reasons. As a result, rigorous resistance management measures and monitoring have been required for insect-resistant GM crops

¹⁰⁰ NB Pesticide use data is only gathered systematically in the US, and only once or twice a decade and for a subset of crops. Different authors report different statistics of pesticide use on GM crops, either because of the use of different data or different assumptions in the analysis and modelling. In particular, conclusions about whether GM crops use more or less pesticide than non-GM crops should be treated with caution, since for the US soya and cotton crops (where most pesticide is used) there is no longer a "typical" non-GM crop area for comparison, so comparisons are made either with a modelled counterfactual or to extrapolations of historical data.

¹⁰¹ Before the introduction of GM Bt maize varieties in the US, no more than 10% of the maize crop typically received insecticide treatments targeted at stalk boring pests (Lepidoptera) and about 30-40% of the crop annually received treatments against corn rootworm (Coleoptera) (Brookes and Barfoot, 2013). Insecticide use against stalk/corn borers is often ineffective so many farmers did not control these pests unless infestation rates were very high.

¹⁰² Resistance evolution is the evolution of resistance to the GM trait in the target pests, eg resistance to Bt in Fall Armyworm *Spodoptera frugiperda*.

(particularly Bt maize and Bt cotton) since the first approvals, and are considered to have played an important role in delaying resistance evolution in most regions (Huang et al, 2011)¹⁰³.

In contrast, the evolution of herbicide-resistant weeds is now posing an increasingly serious agronomic and environmental problem for GM herbicide-resistant crops in the US, Argentina, Paraguay and Brazil (see above). The consequences for biodiversity derive from the increased use of herbicides to control resistant weeds that are more toxic and/or more persistent in the environment than glyphosate, such as 2,4-D or dicamba, and/or increases in glyphosate applications (Binimelis et al, 2009; Brookes & Barfoot, 2012; Cerdeira et al, 2011).

Possible risks associated with resistance in the new generation of GM traits and crops

Virus-resistant and fungal and bacterial disease-resistant GM crops pose resistance risks as viruses and bacteria are notoriously good at obtaining resistance through the acquisition of genetic material. There is still a lack of sufficient knowledge of the breadth and durability of GM virus-resistance under field conditions (Tepfer, 2002; Thompson and Tepfer, 2010).

Risks associated with persistence and invasiveness including plant-to-plant gene flow.

The potential risks to biodiversity associated with GM gene flow are:

- The increased abundance of feral, hybrid or wild GM plants with increased weediness and invasiveness, with 1) possible biodiversity consequences in the environments they invade, 2) possible increased pesticide use to control them with associated negative impacts, and 3) in the worst case, displacement of wild species through competition.
- 2) **reduced genetic diversity in wild plant populations**, especially wild crop relatives, due to introgression of the GM gene and loss of wild genes.
- 3) presence of the GM gene in crop land races or local crop varieties, which can be regarded as a risk to **crop genetic diversity**.

Gene flow occurs but it is often difficult to clarify or achieve consensus on the actual harm to biodiversity (evidence=b) risks or benefits that are likely to occur but that have not been associated with a clear negative effect on a biodiversity assessment endpoint)

It is widely recognised that gene flow between most crops and their wild relatives can and will occur if the crop is grown close to related weedy or wild populations (Ellstrand, 2003; Snow et al, 2005), eg oilseed rape, beets and wheat in Europe (Arnaud et al, 2003; Arrigo et al, 2011; Darmency et al, 2009; Fénart et al, 2007). There is a risk that feral and crop-wild hybrid populations with the GM gene might displace wild species in non-crop habitats through greater persistence in the soil (see Box 6-2) and greater fitness, eg if they are resistant to common diseases or pests (Warwick et al, 2009). Crop-wild hybrids are usually expected to have a lower fitness than wild plants or the crop (Halfhill et al, 2005), but this is often not the case (Snow et al, 2010), or only in the first hybrid generation, and the GM trait may tip the balance towards increased fitness of second and later generations. Research has shown that a GMHT gene persisted in oilseed rape crop-wild hybrids despite the absence of herbicide selection pressure and in spite of fitness costs associated with hybridization (Warwick et al, 2008).

¹⁰³ but not in South Africa (Kruger et al, 2011).

Box 6-2 Persistence and ferality of GM plants: seed dormancy and seed production

How can GM crops persist? Plants with the GM gene will persist if they 1) remain as seeds in the field, field margins and other habitats, and grow as volunteers in subsequent crops and/or develop feral populations, and/or if they 2) hybridise with wild relatives and persist in hybrid populations in crop habitats and/or other habitats. Crop management techniques can reduce the frequency of volunteers (Thole and Dietz-Pfeilstetter, 2012), but even if all plants are removed, some will persist from dormant seed (D'Hertefeldt et al, 2008; Lutman et al, 2005; Pekrun et al, 2005). Seed dormancy and a long-lived seed bank can greatly increase population growth rates and persistence times (Claessen et al, 2005a; Claessen et al, 2005b). It is therefore important to check the ability of GM seeds to persist in the soil and remain dormant despite suitable germination conditions¹⁰⁴. Equally importantly, if the GM crop can produce and release more seeds than the non-GM crop, it may be much more persistent.

What is the risk to biodiversity of GM seed persistence in the soil? If GM seeds can persist in the soil over a number of years, they can germinate and spread, carrying the GM trait into subsequent crops and non-crop habitats, and making it more likely that the GM plant will hybridise with wild relatives. Volunteers and feral populations form a 'genetic bridge' to crop-wild hybrids (Reagon and Snow, 2006), and long-lived seed banks can contribute to maintaining crop genes in wild populations (Arnaud et al, 2009), where their traits might have unwanted effects on the wild plants and/or on associated non-target organisms such as pollinators.

How much persistence do crops have? Most crops are bred to germinate as soon as they are sown, and some crops show very little dormancy or ferality under European conditions, for example maize. However, some crops have retained dormancy characteristics from their wild relatives, such as oilseed rape, or have been deliberately bred for dormancy, such as potato tubers¹⁰⁵. Most crops create volunteer and feral populations, and crop volunteers are some of today's commonest arable weeds. Oilseed rape, wheat, and potatoes leave behind as many or more seeds/tubers in the soil than recommended sowing densities, because of the way they are harvested (Warwick et al, 2009) and/or because they have shattering seed pods and small seeds (Dexter et al, 2011; Gulden et al, 2003a).

What affects seed dormancy? Seed dormancy is influenced by four factors: 1) genetic characteristics that can be stronger or weaker in different varieties, 2) the influence of environmental factors on seed development on the plant, 3) how quickly the seed is buried in the soil, and 4) the effect of environmental factors on the seed in the soil (Finch-Savage and Leubner-Metzger, 2006). Seeds such as oilseed rape can change their dormancy whilst they develop on the crop or when they are in the soil, and this can enhance their persistence (Fei et al, 2007; Gulden et al, 2003b; Momoh et al, 2002). Oilseed rape varieties can be selected for low dormancy (Schatzki et al, 2013), but this will generally only reduce the possibility of dormancy to a certain extent (Gulden et al, 2004). In contrast, wheat seeds do not generally develop increased dormancy (Nielson et al, 2009; Willenborg and Van Acker, 2008) (although relatively little is known about the long-term persistence of wheat volunteers).

Are GM seeds more persistent in the soil than non-GM seeds? GM modification can cause unexpected alterations in seed characteristics (Shewmaker et al, 2002), but it is expected that most of these will be detected during the environmental risk assessment process. Generally, GM crops can be

¹⁰⁴ see definitions in glossary

¹⁰⁵ Cereal crops have different specific dormancy characteristics that are crucial to seed quality: eg wheat should not sprout before harvest, but barley must continue ripening after harvest in order to be ready for the malting process.

expected to have similar seed persistence as the non-GM parent crop, unless a cultivar specially bred for lower persistence was used for the GM transformation. For example, GMHT oilseed rape cultivar seeds show no differences in persistence compared to conventional or conventionally herbicideresistant varieties (Lutman et al, 2005); however feral oilseed rape populations are already known to persist over many years, even decades, and persistence varies greatly between different varieties (Beckie and Warwick, 2010; Lutman et al, 2003; Pascher et al, 2010). GM stress-tolerant crops may be able to germinate in a wider range of conditions than their non-GM crop parents, increasing the likelihood of populations spreading into new habitats (Warwick et al, 2009).

So far, gene flow and its consequences have not been actively managed in GM growing countries (other than by the exclusion of certain areas¹⁰⁶), and GM volunteers, ferals and crop-wild hybrids have not been classed officially as serious environmental problems. The GMHT genes from oilseed rape are now relatively widespread in feral and weedy populations in Canada (Beckie & Warwick, 2010; Knispel and McLachlan, 2010), parts of the US (Munier et al, 2012; Schafer et al, 2011), and along transport routes in Japan and Switzerland (Nishizawa et al, 2009; Schoenenberger and D'Andrea, 2012). It is not clear whether the presence of the GMHT gene in feral oilseed rape and crop-wild hybrids is having any noticeable effect on biodiversity. The GM Bt gene is present in maize landraces in Mexico (Piñeyro-Nelson et al, 2008). Opinions differ as to whether this presence negatively affects the genetic diversity of maize (CEC, 2004; Wainwright and Mercer, 2009)¹⁰⁷, though it can be regarded as compromising the genetic integrity of the landraces (Bellon and Berthaud, 2004; van Heerwaarden et al, 2012). GM Bt genes have been found in wild/feral cotton populations in Mexico (Wegier et al, 2011).

It is widely accepted that if current GMHT **oilseed rape** (*Brassica napus*) varieties were cultivated on a large scale in Europe, it is highly likely that feral oilseed rape populations and wild relatives will acquire the GM gene, and that the herbicide-resistance trait will persist in some wild populations (Colbach et al, 2005; Colbach, 2009; Devos et al, 2012b; EFSA, 2013c; Messean et al, 2009; Squire et al, 2011). Feral GMHT oilseed rape and crop-wild hybrids would have a selective advantage where glyphosate herbicide is used to control weeds in ruderal habitats (see Box 6-3), but it is not clear whether this alone would present any additional ecological risks (Collier and Mullins, 2013), and it is also not common for ruderal habitats in Europe to be managed with glyphosate (Cook et al, 2010).

The presence of herbicide resistance in wild populations¹⁰⁸ may not in the end have a very significant impact on biodiversity because invasive plants can always be controlled by other herbicides or mechanical means, and the GM HT trait in oilseed rape does not seem to confer any other fitness benefits or disadvantages (Simard et al, 2005). However, other GM traits such as insect resistance or nitrogen use efficiency in oilseed rape might have greater consequences if they were used on a wide scale in Europe (see Annex 6.2 for scientific evidence).

¹⁰⁶ GM cotton cultivation is prohibited in areas where wild cotton is found in the US (Hawaii, Florida and Caribbean islands), but not in Australia (North) or Brazil (Bahia). In Mexico, GM maize is currently restricted in the south. However, little monitoring of the status of these wild populations is currently carried out.

¹⁰⁷ (CEC, 2004) p 17 'Transgenes are unlikely to displace more than a tiny fraction of the native gene pool, if any, because maize is an outcrossing plant with very high rates of genetic recombination. Instead, transgenes would be added to the dynamic mix of genes that are already present in landraces, including conventional genes from modern cultivars. Thus, the introgression of a few individual transgenes is unlikely to have any major biological effect on genetic diversity in maize landraces.'

¹⁰⁸ Gene flow of herbicide resistance is equally likely from conventionally bred oilseed rape (Krato & Petersen, 2012)

Box 6-3 What are the consequences for biodiversity of gene flow from GM herbicide resistant oilseed rape in Europe?

In Europe, GMHT oilseed rape (Brassica napus) has been shown to have transferred the GM herbicideresistance gene to feral populations even though it has only been grown for a few years in experimental field trials (D'Hertefeldt et al, 2008; Lutman et al, 2005). Oilseed rape also readily hybridises with a number of wild relatives that occur as weeds in agricultural areas (see Annex 6.2). It is therefore widely accepted that if current GMHT oilseed rape varieties were cultivated on a large scale in Europe, it is highly likely that feral oilseed rape populations and wild relatives will acquire the GM gene, and that the herbicide-resistance trait will persist in some wild populations (Colbach et al, 2005; Colbach, 2009; Devos et al, 2012b; EFSA, 2013c; Messean et al, 2009; Squire et al, 2011). Feral oilseed rape populations are becoming widespread in Europe in regularly disturbed ruderal habitats including field margins, urban and industrial sites, roadsides, railways, and riverbanks, and cropwild hybrids are also likely to be relatively common (Crawley and Brown, 1995; Pascher et al, 2010; Squire et al, 2011). These habitats can be important refuges for threatened arable weeds and other pioneer species in Europe (Fried et al, 2009; Walker et al, 2007)¹⁰⁹. Feral oilseed rape is not currently considered to be an invasive species, but where glyphosate herbicide is used to control weeds in these ruderal habitats, for example along railway lines (Schoenenberger & D'Andrea, 2012), as well as where glyphosate drift occurs, GMHT feral populations will have a selective advantage (Londo et al, 2010; Watrud et al, 2011), and could develop into a more persistent weed. It is not clear whether this alone would present any additional ecological risks (eg Collier & Mullins, 2013), and it is also not common for ruderal habitats to be managed with glyphosate (Cook et al, 2010). However, it may prove to be difficult to control these populations once established (EFSA, 2013c), because oilseed rape benefits from disturbance that removes competitors (Knispel & McLachlan, 2010). The European Food Safety Authority considers that GMHT feral populations are likely to be small and mostly confined to port areas so long as GMHT oilseed rape is not grown in Europe, but does acknowledge that control of feral GMHT populations may require repeated cutting and/or herbicide applications, as well as rigorous measures to prevent seed spills from transport etc (EFSA, 2013c).

Possible risks from gene flow of the new generation of GM traits and crops

Gene flow from conventionally bred crops is already affecting crop wild relatives all over Europe (see Annex 8.1), but the dominant, single locus pest resistance traits typical of GM crops are more easily transferred than the polygenic traits from most conventional breeding, and their potential impact is greater, because of the way the GM trait can more strongly and directly target a pest than can most conventional breeding technologies (Laughlin et al, 2009). Other than GMHT oilseed rape and GM Bt maize¹¹⁰, there are currently no GM crops subject to significant crop-wild gene flow¹¹¹ grown at the commercial scale, so there is a corresponding lack of scientific evidence of large-scale impacts on biodiversity. The detection of GM genes within genetically diverse wild plants and crop landraces

¹⁰⁹ This is a key difference between European and North American agricultural biodiversity, because in North America most weed and ruderal species are introduced aliens. The US APHIS risk assessment of GM HR canola concluded "*Since outcross species are only found in disturbed habitats, transfer of novel traits would not have an impact on unmanaged environments.*"

¹¹⁰ GM Bt maize cultivation is now authorised in Mexico, the home of the maize wild ancestor teosinte, and the biotech companies are waiting for approval of large-scale trials (see http://www.reuters.com/article/2012/11/23/us-mexico-corn-idUSBRE8AM00O20121123); maize-teosinte gene flow has been shown to occur spontaneously in the field (Guadagnuolo et al, 2006)

¹¹¹ The two other principal GM crops – soybean and cotton – are not (officially) grown near their wild relatives

requires more precise methods than for routine crop analysis, and is more prone to failure (Piñeyro-Nelson et al, 2008; Piñeyro-Nelson et al, 2009; Schoel and Fagan, 2009), so gene flow might not be detected until it is at an advanced stage.

Many grass and tree species are particularly likely to spread GM genes, as they produce large quantities of wind-spread pollen and cross-breed over large distances, and some can also spread vegetatively (Ahuja, 2009; Wang and Brummer, 2012). Avoiding gene flow risks to wild populations of these crops will require careful and rigorous research and management. The example of the establishment of a GMHT grass in the wild and its hybridisation with a wild grass species *Polypogon monspeliensis* in the US (after just a few years of field trials) illustrates this (Reichman et al, 2006; Zapiola et al, 2007; Zapiola and Mallory-Smith, 2012). There is concern that it is also hybridising with the invasive grass *Agrostis gigantean*, and that the hybrids will cause problems for biodiversity in protected habitats (Bollman et al, 2012).

The new generation of GM crops present a much wider range of potential environmental consequences of gene flow, including the impacts of gene flow of abiotic stress tolerance and industrial chemical production traits. Stress-tolerance traits are likely to influence fitness of crop-wild hybrids. For example, it will be important to test the fitness of feral GM freeze-tolerant *Eucalyptus* trees, because these trees are hybrids with one parent species that is already listed as a potentially invasive species in the USA; in addition they are designed to be grown over a wider geographic range than the non-GM crop (Wolt, 2009). GM modification for stress tolerance traits involves changes to genes that regulate other genes, metabolic processes, or membrane structure, rather than producing a GM protein (Cominelli et al, 2012), increasing the difficulty of predicting fitness effects from the genetic structure or phenotype (Chan et al, 2012) – in contrast to the GM Bt protein-producing trait which does not seem to interfere with expression of other genes (Coll et al, 2010). Stress tolerance genes can interact ("cross-talk"), possibly increasing the tolerance of the plant to other stresses (Mittler & Blumwald, 2010). Because the environmental tolerance of the GM crop differs from its non-GM comparators, no direct risk assessment comparisons are possible.

Risks associated with effects on biogeochemical processes

This category includes risks associated with changes in biogeochemical processes such as soil functions, nitrogen cycling, carbon sequestration, and nitrous oxide or carbon dioxide emissions. Adverse effects should be assessed at the field scale and the wider environment. However, it is often very difficult to detect impacts of crop changes on ecological functions in the field, because of the influence of environmental factors (Hönemann et al, 2009; Londoño-R et al, 2013; Rauschen et al, 2010). A key question is whether GM crops have negative impacts on essential soil functions. If a GM crop releases altered chemicals and residues into the soil which can persist and interact with soil organisms, they might affect soil processes. For example, GM Bt maize varieties release quite large quantities of GM Bt toxin into the soil, and the Bt toxins from Bt maize varieties can persist in soil (see Annex 6.2 for details).

GM Bt maize affects soil processes but not more than the differences found between crop types, tillage and pesticide use systems (evidence=a) risks or benefits with a measureable impact on a biodiversity assessment endpoint)

GM Bt maize has certain impacts on soil organisms, but no impacts on soil functions could be definitely attributed to the GM Bt trait (although many differences between crop varieties have been found) (see Annex 6.2 for details). Based on the research so far GM varieties do not have greater negative effects on soil functions than the differences found between different crop types, tillage and pesticide use systems (Birch et al, 2007; Cortet et al, 2007; Griffiths et al, 2007; Icoz and Stotzky, 2008).

Evidence that GM Bt crops have few direct impacts on natural biological control (evidence=a) risks or benefits with a measureable impact on a biodiversity assessment endpoint)

GM Bt crops have generally been found to have no significant effects on **natural biological control** agents (predators and parasitoids) in field surveys, but because GM insect-resistant crops are highly effective at reducing the numbers of their target prey, they have fewer parasitoids and predators that are specialised on the target pests (Farinós et al, 2008; Marvier et al, 2007; Poza et al, 2005; Romeis et al, 2006; Wolfenbarger et al, 2008). When both GM Bt and non-GM crop fields are treated with insecticides and compared, no differences in insect and invertebrate populations have been found (Eizaguirre et al, 2006; Wolfenbarger et al, 2008).

Risks associated with **interactions of the GM plant with non-target organisms**.

These risks are associated with the characteristics of GM traits, including the fact that the GM product is usually expressed in nearly all plant tissues throughout the life cycle of the plant, and that the GM product is a novel toxic chemical in the plant and crop environment.

The principal biodiversity concerns are that:

1) impacts may affect specific **species of conservation concern and/or economic concern or cultural significance** in and around crops (eg butterflies and pollinators, honeybees, silkworms).

2) impacts on key species may **disrupt ecosystem functions and services** including biological control (predators and parasitoids) and soil functions (eg degradation, nutrient recycling), resulting in less overall benefit for biodiversity in the agro-ecosystem, and possibly increased agri-chemical use and other practices with known negative impacts (see below).

3) impacts on non-target herbivores might make them into **new pests or more damaging pests**, which may trigger the use of more environmentally damaging control methods including increased insecticide use, and might also have consequences for other neighbouring crops.

GM Bt crops may have some effect on non-target Lepidoptera populations, but have not been found to have significant effects on bees or other non-target organisms (evidence=c) risks to biodiversity extrapolated from small-scale test results)

GM Bt crops produce Bt toxins that target either caterpillar (Lepidoptera) pests¹¹² or beetle (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) pests.¹¹³ Few toxic effects of the GM Bt traits have been found on species other than the target pests (in contrast to the evidence of non-target impacts of GM insect-resistant crops that use protease inhibitor genes) (see Annex 6.2 for details). However, GM Bt maize pollen has been shown to have an adverse effect on the caterpillars of some butterfly and moth species (see Box 6-4).

¹¹² Cry1Ab, Cry1Ac, Cry1F, VIP3a proteins

¹¹³ Cry3Bb1 protein

Box 6-4 Could the pollen of GM Bt maize affect non-target butterfly and moth populations?

Most GM Bt maize varieties express the Cry toxins in their pollen, and large-scale cultivation of GM Bt maize in Europe could affect Lepidoptera that use maize weeds as larval host plants, because of the way Bt-containing maize pollen coats the weeds during the flowering period. Numerous Lepidoptera species in Europe rely to some extent on agricultural weeds as larval food plants¹¹⁴, and this could affect valued species. Seven European butterfly species¹¹⁵, of which three are non-pest species, have been tested for the impact of consumption of Bt maize pollen, and all were found to be affected by Bt pollen (Lang and Otto, 2010). EFSA use a model to estimate the risk of Bt maize pollen for Lepidoptera, based on experimental data of acute mortality (LC50) for two species (Felke et al, 2010; Felke & Langenbruch, 2005), and concludes that there is no evidence that any Lepidoptera species fall into the 'extremely sensitive' class that requires risk mitigation measures. The model has been criticised for ignoring the possible impact of sublethal effects, extrapolating data from one GM Bt event to a different one, and making assumptions about maize cultivation periods and butterfly generations across Europe which are subject to considerable uncertainty (Lang et al, 2011). It is difficult to generate the scientific evidence to clearly prove or disprove a quantitative effect of Bt maize pollen on Lepidoptera populations, because of the need to account for all the other factors affecting Lepidoptera populations, many of which are currently in steep decline in Europe (van Swaay et al, 2006; van Swaay et al, 2010b). See Annex 6.2 for more details on this issue.

Small-scale tests with GM Bt crops have not found effects on honey **bees** (Duan et al, 2008a; Hendriksma et al, 2012; Huang et al, 2004; Ramirez-Romero et al, 2005; Rose et al, 2007) or bumblebees (Babendreier et al, 2008). The effects of GM Bt maize residues on four **aquatic species** was attributed to differences in the nutritional quality and structure of maize varieties (Jensen et al, 2010).

Possible non-target risks of the new generation of GM crops

The Bt proteins are relatively large and easily detectable for the measurement of exposure and impacts, but assessing the non-target impacts of future GM crops that do not produce a GM protein is much less clear-cut. The assessment may need to rely on testing impacts on key ecological functions (see above).

Risks associated with **plant to micro-organism gene transfer**, ie the horizontal transfer of the transgene from the plant into bacteria or viruses or other micro-organisms.

Bacteria are known to frequently acquire and transfer genetic material (DNA or RNA) from other bacteria (known as horizontal transfer). It has also been demonstrated that bacteria can pick up genetic material from plants or from free DNA in the soil (Kay et al, 2002; Nielsen et al, 2000); therefore it is possible that bacteria could acquire GM genes from GM crop cultivation.

Horizontal gene transfer has been demonstrated in experiments but is very difficult to detect in the field (evidence=d) risks demonstrated in experiments but very difficult to prove in field)

¹¹⁴ Examples are: *Issoria lathonia* and *Argynnis adippe* on *Viola arvensis; Lythria purpuraria* on *Polygonum aviculare; Tyta luctuosa* on *Convolvulus arvensis* (Hilbeck et al, 2008).

¹¹⁵ The tested European Lepidoptera are the main target pests of Bt maize *Ostrinia nubilalis* and *Sesamia nonagroides*, plus the secondary pests *Plutella xylostella*, *Pleris brassicae*, *Pieris rapae*, and *Agrotis segetum* (Felke et al, 2002; Felke and Langenbruch, 2005), and the non-pest species Common Swallowtail (*Papilio machaon* L.), Peacock (*Inachis io*), and Small Tortoiseshell (*Aglais urticae*).

Horizontal gene transfer from GM crops to micro-organisms and consequences for biodiversity have not been conclusively demonstrated in the field (Keese, 2008), but studies have shown the ubiquitous distribution of genetically modified DNA in the soil and water environment and soil and water food webs where GM crops are grown (Douville et al, 2007; Douville et al, 2009; Hart et al, 2009; Nielsen et al, 2007). Current scientific understanding tends to conclude that horizontal transfer from GM crops to bacteria is extremely rare and unlikely to have any adverse environmental consequences, but also recognises the lack of knowledge about genetically modified plant DNA in the environment (EFSA, 2010; Gulden et al, 2005; Keese, 2008; Vries and Wackernagel, 2005), and the technical difficulties to detecting horizontal gene transfer under field conditions (Gebhard and Smalla, 1999; Mohr and Tebbe, 2007).

6.5 What is the evidence for effects of GM crops on biodiversity in Europe?

GMOs cover a very broad spectrum, and their characteristics and possible impacts vary greatly, so it is not possible to make any generalised statements about the consequences for biodiversity. Current GM crops have shown statistically significant effects on ecological processes and organisms in the field, but most of these effects are smaller than or comparable to those due to general agricultural practices. However, as shown in Chapter 5, some of these **current agricultural practices** are having significantly adverse effects on biodiversity, including gene flow of crop genes into wild relatives, weed problems from crop volunteers and ferals, resistance development in pests, and loss of agrobiodiversity from more intensive cultivation practices. The current controversy is partly about whether new GM crop varieties should simply be no worse than current practice, or whether they should be measured against standards and criteria for more environmentally resilient and sustainable cropping systems.

The **evidence for benefits to biodiversity** from the current EU-relevant GM crops comes mainly from North and South America and relates to changes in farm management, such as reduced use of certain broad spectrum insecticides and greater up-take of zero-tillage arable systems, with benefits for soil biodiversity. Some of these benefits may not be applicable in Europe, where for example the potential for zero-till agriculture is constrained by the limitations of soil types and the smaller scale of farming systems. The US National Research Council has concluded that GM crops in the US have brought environmental benefits but "excessive reliance on a single technology combined with a lack of diverse farming practices could undermine the economic and environmental gains" (National Research Council, 2010).

In most of the EU, commercial planting of GMOs has been on a very small scale to date, and it is **difficult to forecast the balance of hazards and benefits to biodiversity** from a larger scale use of GMOs in Europe. If GM cultivation were to expand in scale in Europe it would be likely to involve a broader range of new generation GM traits than are currently grown in comparable regions, for which the evidence base is therefore still very limited. Evidence from the US and other part of the world can inform risk appraisal and analysis in Europe, but each GM variety must be evaluated in the specific local conditions of European cropping systems.

A number of EU governments have chosen to adopt the **precautionary principle**, mitigating against the use of GMOs, whilst others regard the risks as acceptable (European Commission, 2011c). Eight Member States have implemented national bans on GM crop cultivation citing concerns about impacts on biodiversity¹¹⁶ - Austria, Bulgaria, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Poland, Luxembourg and France (see Annex 6.1 for details of Member State concerns).

¹¹⁶ Additionally, the Italian government has requested the EU executive to suspend the authorisation for cultivation of MON 810 maize seeds in all EU Member States due to environmental risks http://www.politicheagricole.it/flex/cm/pages/ServeBLOB.php/L/IT/IDPagina/6133

Impacts of agricultural systems on biodiversity are often only apparent at the scale of commercial fields and over multiple seasons, and it is likely that some of the positive and negative effects of GM traits on biodiversity are only detectable after large-scale cultivation has already begun (eg Jorgensen et al, 2009), or are only detectable with increased monitoring effort (Aviron et al, 2009). **Better monitoring and increased research** could provide better understanding of risks in order to help inform decisions on GM crop cultivation and its risks and benefits to the environment. Improved monitoring and research on conventional crops and gene flow would provide the necessary comparative analysis on which to make sound assessments.

Where GM crops are authorised in the EU in the near future, it will be important to ensure **good management practices** that mitigate known risks to biodiversity. Mandatory resistance management rules on GM Bt crops have been successful in prolonging the benefits of that GM cropping system, but where these rules have not been followed, and on GMHT crops where no mandatory rules have been implemented, the GM system is showing signs of breaking down. Increasing GM cultivation in Europe would require active resistance management rules and management of crop-to-crop gene flow through a co-existence regulatory framework (legal, agronomic, and institutional). Ideally, these should be Europe-wide (Messean et al, 2009) in order to prevent legal disputes and excessive risk for farmers. Measures specific to certain crops would also be needed, such as rigorous removal of sugar beet bolters and strict isolation of GM sugar beet seed production (Darmency et al, 2009; Fénart et al, 2007).

In the longer term, if it were to be established that GMO based cropping systems were both stable in the longer term and able to sustain a higher level of yield than conventional crops without adverse environmental impacts, then there would be the prospect that the pressure to expand the agricultural land area can be constrained and more land could be available for biodiversity conservation (see Chapter 5 for discussion). Key biodiversity considerations would include the likelihood and consequences of gene flow, particularly to wheat and sugar beet wild relatives, and the risk of invasive feral populations with stress tolerance traits. At present, however, it is unclear whether GMO based arable systems in Europe could perform such a role and it would be premature to conclude that a gain for biodiversity could be made this way.

7 IMPACTS OF BIOFUEL FEEDSTOCKS ON BIODIVERSITY

7.1 Biofuel technologies

Biofuels are liquid fuels made from the processing of plant material or waste food products¹¹⁷. There are two main types of liquid biofuel: bioethanol, an alcohol fuel which is blended with petrol; and biodiesel, which can be used on its own or in combination with conventional diesel.

The first biofuels to reach large scale commercial viability and widespread use, commonly referred to as '**conventional**' biofuels for this reason, were those for which the process of conversion to fuel is most straightforward (see Table 7-1). These are sometimes also called 'first generation' biofuels. The process for making conventional bioethanol involves the fermentation of the sugar content of starchy or sugary crops (similar to the process of producing alcoholic beverages). Biodiesel is produced from the crushing of oilseeds, yielding vegetable oils that are transformed into biodiesel through a chemical reaction. Biodiesel can also be produced from used cooking oil and tallow¹¹⁸.

A more advanced suite of processes has emerged in recent times which allow biofuels to be developed from more difficult to access sources, creating what is often referred to as '**advanced**' or 'second generation' biofuels. The most prominent of these is the conversion of ligno-cellulosic material (such as crop residues, grasses or wood) to bio-ethanol, through a multiple stage process of hydrolysis, fermentation and distillation. The feedstocks within this category include perennial energy crops such as tall rapidly-growing grass with high lignin content, short rotation coppice (SRC) of fast growing trees and crop residues. Although they have not yet been used commercially for this purpose, they are generally expected to be economically feasible by 2020, although this remains controversial (Elbersen et al, 2012a; OECD and FAO, 2011).

A third process involves the use of land-based or marine microalgae to either extract oils or derive ethanol and biogas. These 'third generation' technologies remain hampered by high production costs and will likely only reach an early commercial demonstration stage after 2020 (Elbersen et al, 2012b).

Biofuel type	Feedstocks of conventional biofuels	Feedstocks of advanced biofuels
Bioethanol	<u>EU</u> : wheat, sugar beet or maize <u>Outside EU</u> : sugar cane, maize	Tall-growing grasses (eg <i>Miscanthus</i> , Canary Grass, Switch grass); short rotation coppice (eg willow, poplar);
	<u>EU</u> : oilseed rape, sunflower, waste	
Biodiesel	tallow) Outside EU: sova, jatropha and palm	n/a
	oil	

Table 7-1 Feedstocks	of	conventional	and	advanced	biofue	1s
Table /-1 recusiocks	UI	conventional	anu	auvanceu	Diorue	12

¹¹⁸ Tallow is rendered animal fat, also used in candles and soaps.

¹¹⁷ Biogas, which is produced by anaerobic digestion, is typically derived from waste materials, including from livestock farms or captured from landfills. It is predominately used for heating, but can be used for transport.

7.2 Current production and projections of future biofuel consumption

This section provides a review of some estimates of future European biofuel consumption and associated land use impacts. The majority of the modelling work undertaken to establish such estimates is focused at the 2020 horizon, when the Renewable Energy Directive's (RED) targets are to be met. The key driver behind EU biofuel use is the RED's current target to increase the share of renewable energy in the transport sector to 10 per cent in each Member State as well as the target to reduce the greenhouse intensity of transport fuels supplied to the European market by 6 per cent by 2020. This target is anticipated to lead to a tripling of biofuel use in the EU in 2020 compared to 2008 levels, predominantly met by first-generation biofuels produced from traditional food and feed crops (Kretschmer et al, 2012).

However, it is important to note that these scenarios are likely to change as a result of the Commission's recent proposal to amend the RED by measures to address indirect land use change (ILUC) (see Box 7-6), and they are also subject to changes in agricultural markets.

Current biofuel production locations and footprints

The current EU biofuels market is dominated by conventional biofuels produced from food and feed crops. In particular, rapeseed oil dominates the biodiesel market, amounting to almost half of all consumption, while sugar beet, wheat, maize and sugar cane dominate the ethanol market.¹¹⁹ Total biofuel consumption in 2010 amounted to close to 13 million tonnes of oil equivalent (Mtoe); ie 4.27 per cent of total transport energy (Ecofys et al, 2013). The total land used for biofuel feedstock production for the EU in 2010 was about **5.7 million ha**; 3.2 million ha (57 per cent) within the EU and 2.4 million ha (43 per cent) outside (Ecofys et al, 2013). This is around **1.8 per cent** of the total Utilised Agricultural Area (UAA) in the EU-27¹²⁰, and the most important domestic biofuel feedstocks are wheat, sugar beet and rapeseed oil (Elbersen et al, 2012a). Some Member States, such as Germany, already have significant areas of biofuel feedstock production. At the same time, feedstocks and processed biofuels are imported from outside the EU, particularly from North and South America, and to a lesser extent Southeast Asia. These are frequently imported from areas with high biodiversity and weak protection regimes (Schmidt et al, 2012), resulting in high external biodiversity impacts (see section 7.3).

The 2020 biofuel market – consumption projections

An analysis of Member States' National Renewable Energy Action Plans (NREAPs) by Bowyer and Kretschmer (2011) gave the following outlook for meeting the 10 per cent target for 2020 (summarised in Table 7-2):

- The EU-27 Member States anticipate consuming 29.6 Mtoe of biofuels in 2020. This translates into an increase in biofuel use between 2008 and 2020 of 19.5 Mtoe. The majority will be conventional biofuels, making up about 92 per cent of total predicted biofuel use or 27.3 Mtoe in 2020, equating to 8.8 per cent of the total energy in transport. Advanced biofuels will not gain an important market share and are anticipated to account for only 7.1 per cent (2.1 Mtoe) of total biofuels by 2020.
- Conventional biofuels are anticipated to be 72 per cent biodiesel and 28 per cent bioethanol; anticipated imports amount to 44 per cent of bioethanol and 36 per cent of biodiesel used in 2020.

¹¹⁹ Based on recent figures provided in the Commission's Staff Working Document accompanying the 2013 renewable energy progress report, COM(2013)175, 2013.

¹²⁰ Around 172.4 million ha in 2007: Eurostat (ef_kvaareg)

	Total	Biodiesel		Bioethanol		
	Mtoe	Mtoe	share	Mtoe	share	
Consumption	29.6	21.3	72% of total	8.3	28% of total biofuels	
			biofuels			
Imports	11.3	7.7	36% of biodiesel	3.6	44% of ethanol consumption	
			consumption			
Production	18.3	13.7	74.4% of total	4.7	25.6% of total biofuels	
			biofuels			

Table 7-2 The projected composition of EU biofuel consumption in 2020

Source: Own compilation based on Bowyer (2011), and NREAPs. **Note**: With regard to the trade shares, actual imported levels of feedstock could be higher, as it is unclear whether the figures reported in the NREAPs also include imported feedstock for 'domestic' processing into biofuels or only refer to imports of processed biofuels.

The 2020 biofuel market - land use projections

Land requirements for biofuel feedstocks are expected to more than double from present levels when the anticipated consumption levels as set out in the NREAPs are taken into account. If we assume that the average cropland requirement per unit of biofuels remains the same as currently¹²¹, the predicted EU biofuel consumption in 2020 (29.6 Mtoe) will require 12.96 million ha of land globally - an increase of **7.3 million ha** over 2010 levels. Based on the current mix of EU and external land use for biofuel feedstock production (57 per cent and 43 per cent respectively) this amounts to an *additional* 4.1 million ha of land required within the EU and 3.1 million ha outside. This is equivalent to an additional **2 per cent** of the UAA in the EU-27. Other studies predict that even larger areas of land in the EU would be required to grow first-generation biofuel feedstock crops in order to fulfill current EU targets; although it is thought that half of production will occur outside the EU (Box 7-1).

Box 7-1 Estimates of land use requirements for biofuels in the EU

The European Commission in 2008 calculated that 17.5 million hectares of land within the EU is likely to be required to meet the 10 per cent biofuels target by 2020 (about 10 per cent of EU-27 UAA). This assumes that 50 per cent of biofuel comes from domestic production of conventional biofuels and the remainder comes from either domestic ligno-cellulosic products or biofuel imports (European Commission, 2008).

The OECD, presenting a less optimistic scenario of ligno-cellulosic technology development, estimated that about 45 million hectares of land in the EU would have been required to reach the RED's EU energy targets by 2020. This is based on the use of conventional biofuel technologies only, and assumes that yields remain at the same levels as they were in 2006 (OECD, 2006). This would be more than a quarter of the UAA of the EU-27.

However, these figures represent only a crude assessment that does not take into account market responses and mitigating factors such as the use of co-products, demand response due to increased food prices (see section 7.4 for discussion), and yield improvements. The importance of such factors is illustrated in Figure 7-1. The most prominent mitigation measure that can reduce the net land use impacts of biofuels is the use of co-products to displace livestock feed. The biofuel process produces a

 $^{^{121}}$ 0.438 ha/toe of biofuel calculated as the ratio of the amount of biofuels consumed in the EU in 2010 (13 Mtoe) and the estimated total land required for their production (5.7 Mha) (Ecofys et al, 2013)
number of co-products, two of which - dried distillers grain with solubles from bioethanol production and oilseed cake from biodiesel - are used as high protein animal feed in the EU livestock sector. The expectation is therefore that the use of such co-products will displace some of the imported soy requirements for animal feed, thus reducing associated land needs.





A number of modelling studies have accounted for these influencing factors and estimated the amount of potentially *additional* cropland conversion expected as a result of EU biofuel policy. These range from **1.73 to 1.87 million ha** globally in 2020, depending on the scenario (Laborde, 2011). Most of this additional cropland is expected to come from outside the EU, with only 6 per cent of the expansion or 105,000 - 118,000 ha expected within the EU (ie an additional **0.07 per cent** of EU-27 UAA).

Clearly there is a huge difference between the estimated additional land requirement in absolute terms and the estimated additional land requirement taking into account the large-scale use of coproducts and other factors (see Table 7-3). Furthermore, different models and studies give different estimates of additional land requirement (Edwardson and Santacoloma, 2013; Fritsche et al, 2012; Fritsche and Wiegmann, 2011). These differences relate to the relative assumptions underpinning the different modelling approaches, for example on co-products and future yield developments.

It is important to understand the impact of such assumptions and whether or not they will materialise in reality or if they are masking a much greater land use impact, for instance whether co-products will actually be taken up as a feed crop replacing traditional feeds (Allen et al, 2013). To make co-products an economically viable option that is taken up by the livestock sector, the price of co-products often must be lower or the quality must be higher than for traditional feeds in order to promote a change from the status quo. In practice, their potential to displace soy is limited by their lower nutrient content and higher levels of fibre. There is also some doubt regarding their additionality, as the same co-products are produced through other processes such as the production of vegetable oil, alcohol and other food products (Allen et al, 2013). However, regardless of their additionality, even when coproducts are taken into account a degree of land use change (LUC) is shown in most modelling studies (Edwards et al, 2010; Laborde, 2011).

The projected feedstock mix and location of the EU's biofuel footprint in 2020

The NREAPs do not report on the feed stocks that Member States expect to utilise in future, so economic modelling studies are used to estimate this. One of the most prominent is the 'IFPRI study' commissioned by the European Commission's TRADE Directorate-General (Laborde, 2011). This investigated the (agricultural) market and land use implications of EU biofuel use as predicted by the NREAPs (ie 8.8 per cent use in 2020), and estimated the projected 2020 biofuel feedstock mix (see Error! Reference source not found.) and imports (see

) under two scenarios of trade policy. This study shows a continued dominance of rapeseed in the biodiesel market given current policy. The market for ethanol in the EU is projected to become increasingly reliant on sugar cane in the run-up to 2020, accounting for almost half of all feedstock.

Biodiesel is projected to be imported mainly from Indonesia and Malaysia (palm oil), followed by Latin America without Brazil (this relates primarily to soy-based biodiesel from Argentina). The dominant source of ethanol is Brazil (sugarcane). The most pronounced changes in feedstock imports are projected for rapeseed and oil palm, likely to be used to produce biodiesel domestically in the EU, but imports of feed and food crops such as maize and soy and, to a lesser extent, wheat, increase depending on the scenario. These projected trade patterns translate into an expansion of cropland as a result of EU biofuel policy where roughly half of all the expansion takes place in Brazil, Russia and Central Asia (Commonwealth of Independent States CIS), and Sub-Saharan Africa.





Source: Mirage-Biof Simulations; taken from Laborde (2011, p46)

7.3 Biodiversity impacts of current and projected biofuel consumption

Current and possible future biodiversity impacts within the EU

The biodiversity impacts of conventional biofuel feedstocks are comparable to arable cropping impacts generally (see Chapter 5). The biodiversity impacts of advanced biofuel feedstock crops vary according to each feedstock's management practices and to the land requirements, as determined by the rate of return per hectare and the efficiency of the energy transformation rate (biomass to energy yield) of the feedstock.

A major concern is the conversion of natural or semi-natural ecosystems, either for production of biofuel feedstock themselves (ie direct land use change) or for production of other crops that have been displaced by biofuels (ie indirect land use change or ILUC). Land could also come from the utilisation of marginal or degraded land. Some of the energy crops used as feedstocks for advanced biofuels can be grown on land where there are constraints on food crop production (such as on low nutrient soils or land prone to flooding) and therefore do not necessarily compete with food for agricultural land. However, such land may support natural and semi-natural habitats and therefore be of high biodiversity value. The most significant losses of biodiversity in the EU may be expected if biofuel pressures result in land use change from pasture (especially extensive systems), forests, wetlands or peatlands to arable land (Bertzky et al, 2011). While a spatially explicit analysis of the impacts of the target on biodiversity (Hellmann and Verburg, 2010) finds that the direct effects of the original targets on European biodiversity are likely to be relatively small due to a preference for the cultivation of biofuels on land with good overall agricultural quality (and therefore already under agricultural cultivation), indirect land use change within the EU is likely to be much higher. It estimates a reduction of 3 to 8 per cent of semi-natural vegetation by 2020 compared to 2000, as a consequence of the displacement of grasslands and arable farming into these areas. As discussed earlier however, the total area required for feedstocks and consequently the biodiversity impacts may be lower once mitigating factors such as use of co-products are taken into account.

On the other hand, a significant advantage of the perennial species (such as *Miscanthus* and short rotation coppice) is the reduced disturbance to soils and longer periods needed for species to establish, typically remaining *in situ* for 7 to 25 years (Haughton et al, 2009). This can provide environmental benefits in terms of water retention and reduced soil erosion (International Energy Agency, 2010) which can be beneficial for biodiversity. In addition, energy crops typically use few agrochemical inputs compared to most crop-derived biofuels (Biemans et al, 2008; Haughton et al, 2009). For example, eutrophication is reported to be two to three times lower from biofuels based on sugar beet or willow compared to biofuels based on wheat (Börjesson and Tufvesson, 2011).¹²²

Studies comparing the impacts of dedicated energy crops for advanced biofuels to the impact of conventional biofuel feedstocks on butterfly and bird species support the idea that advanced biofuels feedstock may have less impact on biodiversity (see Box 7-2). However, increased experience and efficiency of feedstock on farms in the future may reduce or eliminate the presence of weeds and other features that act to increase biodiversity in these early studies. Furthermore, it should be noted that the studies to date on biodiversity have not looked at the cumulative impacts of large developments and regional concentrations of energy crop mono-cultures - likely to be necessary to supply large power plants. This could result in the displacement of farmland species and open-field specialists. Therefore, it is too early to judge the overall biodiversity impacts of commercial scale production of advanced biofuel feedstocks, and much will depend on which habitats are being replaced and the scale and location of planting.

¹²² Unfertilized grassland is used as a reference in this calculation.

Box 7-2 Biodiversity impacts of selected advanced biofuel crops compared to arable crops

Initial field studies suggest a possible biodiversity benefit from the use of advanced feedstock crops compared to arable crops. A comparison of the abundance of families of butterfly in field margins of *Miscanthus* and SRC willow compared to arable crop breaks found that abundance was significantly higher in field margins surrounding *Miscanthus* and SRC willow (60% and 132% more butterflies respectively) than in arable crops. SRC appears to support a greater density and number of bird species than arable land (particularly scrub and woodland species) including certain species of high conservation concern. However, skylark nesting success was found to be lower in Reed Canary Grass (*Phalaris arundinacea*) than in cereals.

Sources: (Haughton et al, 2009) (Sage et al, 2010) (Vepsäläinen, 2010).

Current and future biodiversity impacts outside the EU

Globally, the conversion of natural or semi-natural land to agriculture remains one of the most significant pressures on biodiversity worldwide and is increasing (FAO, 2008a).

Palm oil plantations in South-East Asia are often cited as a critical driver of forest and biodiversity loss (Friends of the Earth, 2005; Wilcove and Koh, 2010). Palm oil has many uses, one of them being for biofuels. An estimated 27 per cent of oil palm concessions displace peatland rainforest and an estimated 55 to 59 per cent of oil palm expansion in Malaysia, and 56 per cent in Indonesia has occurred at the expense of forests (Campbell and Doswald, 2009). Palm oil plantations are also implicated in the deforestation of areas in Colombia, Ecuador, Brazil, Central America, Uganda and Cameroon (AEA, 2008; Campbell & Doswald, 2009; FAO, 2008a), including the highly biodiverse lowland evergreen tropical forest in South East Asia (Hoojier et al, 2006; Koh and Wilcove, 2008; Mace et al, 2005). Fires and soil erosion associated with land clearance pollute air and water (Donald, 2004). Only 15 to 22 per cent of species recorded in primary forests are found in palm oil plantations (eg a 72 per cent reduction in arthropods), and these plantations support lower levels of biodiversity than other tree crops, agricultural crops and abandoned pastures (Campbell & Doswald, 2009; Danielsen et al, 2009; Donald, 2004; Fitzherbert et al, 2008). In addition, those species lost are generally specialist species of high conservation concern, some of which are threatened with global extinction. Oil palm plantations could be managed to enhance wildlife habitat (Turner et al, 2008), nevertheless the sheer scale of the plantations significantly threatens biodiversity (Sheil et al, 2009).

Soybean is also currently a major source of biodiesel for EU consumption; the impacts of soybean production on biodiversity in Latin America are described in Chapter 5 section 5.5.

Bioethanol production is one of the main economic drivers for the expansion of **sugar cane** in Brazil. Sawyer (2008) reported encroachment by sugarcane into the Brazilian Cerrado, the world's most biodiverse savannah. According to Sparovek et al (2007), 45 per cent of the land converted to sugarcane between 2007 and 2008 in São Paulo state in Brazil was previously rangeland (Zuurbier and van de Vooren, 2008).

Agricultural practices used for growing biofuel crops also result in biodiversity impacts. **Maize**-based ethanol in the USA is reported to have the highest impacts, compared to other agricultural crops, due to its high fertiliser and pesticide requirements (Campbell & Doswald, 2009). Maize is often irrigated, which also has an impact on riparian and aquatic wetlands if it results in lower water availability. One recent study estimates the EU water footprint as a result of biofuel production at around 82 km³, of which 39 km³ is used from European water resources¹²³ (see Charles et al, 2013, p66). Pesticides and

¹²³ For comparison, Germany's total annual freshwater resource is around 188 km³

fertilisers used on oil palm and palm oil processing effluents have negative effects on aquatic biodiversity (Donald, 2004; Fitzherbert et al, 2008).

Laborde (2011) estimates that the EU 2020 biofuels mandate could lead to a global increase in cropland of 1.73 to 1.87 million ha, mainly in Latin America (primarily Brazil), Russia and Central Asia, and Sub-Saharan Africa. The principal sources of cropland expansion would be pasture and managed forest, followed by savannah and grasslands and then primary forest. The biodiversity impacts arising from these land use changes will vary, with the highest losses resulting from primary forest and lowest from pasture and managed forests.

7.4 Competition for agricultural land and influence on food prices

All of the conventional feedstocks, with the exception of jatropha and those derived from waste streams, are also used as food for animal or human consumption. This has raised concerns over competition for land between food and energy crops for biofuels and the potential impacts of EU biofuel policy. The additional demand for agricultural commodities will translate into an increase in their prices but by how much is the subject of continued debate. In 2011, the High Level Panel of Experts on Food Security and Nutrition identified two major reasons for biofuels playing an important role in the global increase of food prices and volatility since 2004 (HLPE, 2011). First, with the simultaneous increase in oil prices in that time, ethanol manufacturers could bid up the price of maize (and through it also the price of other crops) while remaining competitive. Second, the production and supply of grain, vegetable oil and sugar since 2004 has not been growing as fast as their demand, which is mainly due to the rise in demand for biofuels.

Modelling studies focusing on the impacts of EU (as opposed to global) biofuel policies show the most significant price increases are projected for oilseeds and vegetable oils (Ecofys et al, 2011), with increases in world prices by 2020 typically ranging between 8 to 20 per cent and 5 to 36 per cent respectively (for example, see Taheripour et al, 2010). Laborde (2011) projects increases in world rapeseed prices (anticipated to be the most significant feedstock for EU biofuel use in 2020) of around 11 per cent. However, the most recent paper by the HLPE highlighted the difficulties of estimating increases in food prices as a result of biofuel consumption and estimating the actual impacts the price increases have on food security (HLPE, 2013). The use of models and other analytical tools in this context is far from being straightforward and has to be built on several assumptions on short- and long-term elasticities for different commodities, which make the results uncertain.

Price increases can have multiple effects. If people consume less food in response to higher prices, this could lead to malnutrition among poorer people, while at the same time a general reduction in consumption can alleviate the price increases. A study from the JRC found that from 34 to 52 per cent of maize or wheat diverted to ethanol would not be replaced in the food chain due to reduced food consumption (Edwards et al, 2010). The consequences of reducing food consumption are obviously most severe for the 850 million food insecure people worldwide, who already spend 60 per cent or more of their incomes on food. It is estimated that around 44 million people in low- and middle-income countries have fallen into poverty because of higher food prices since June 2010 (World Bank, 2011).

Converting land to biofuel plantations can also have indirect effects on poverty and malnutrition. Most importantly, if the land was previously used by local communities for pasturing, collecting firewood or for gathering and selling products, converting the land into biomass plantations could lead to a loss of those income opportunities, which are in turn needed to buy food (Wunder et al, 2012). There is substantial evidence that access to land for the rural poor is essential for food security and economic development in developing countries (Cotula et al, 2008; Gerstter et al, 2011).

In recent years, the general competition for land opened up an international debate around the phenomenon of "land grabbing". Land grabbing can be defined as large-scale land acquisitions from

foreign and domestic investors, which are often associated with severe social and environmental impacts. Due to unclear or non-existent land rights in the targeted countries, investors can buy or lease land from governments, often affecting land used previously by local communities. As a result, many people are evicted from their land or lose access to valuable resources for their livelihood such as water, timber or pastoral land (see for example the Kenyan example in Kay (2012) as well as FIAN (2010)). However, there is a lack of detailed evidence on this topic and the exact motivations underlying land deals are not always transparent.

Models of commodity prices and trends do not capture all the institutional questions of relevance or necessarily the role of key actors. As the land grabbing phenomenon shows, mainly in developing countries there is usually an imbalance in power relations between investing companies who buy or lease land from national governments on a large scale and displaced small holders for whom access to a small piece of land could determine their survival. Both the national governments in developing countries, who try to attract investors for their agricultural sectors assuming that this will lead to economic development, and governments in industrialised countries, who are dependent on imports to fulfil their biofuels targets, can contribute significantly to alleviating the increasing pressure on land and avoiding the most severe social impacts. First, national governments can establish or reinforce a land tenure policy building on the internationally acknowledged 'Voluntary Guidelines on the Responsible Governance of Tenure of Land, Fisheries and Forests' adopted by the FAO Committee on World Food Security as a response to land grabbing. Although voluntary, those Guidelines set out clear provisions on responsible land tenure practices, which can serve as an internationally agreed benchmark for any legally binding measures on land tenure at national and international level. Second, governments in industrialised countries could rethink their biofuel policies, in particular the binding targets for first generation fuels.

7.5 Effectiveness of biodiversity and social sustainability criteria in the EU RED

RED sustainability criteria for biofuels

EU sustainability criteria for biofuels were introduced as part of the RED with the objective of preventing the conversion of biodiversity-rich habitats and high-carbon storage areas to cropland to grow biofuel feedstocks. While these regulations are important to allow for more careful siting of biofuel crops (ie regulating direct land use change), they do not mitigate against ILUC risks, because other crops are not banned from these areas of high biodiversity value. Indeed, it is likely that the sustainability criteria of the RED will have little or no effect on global agricultural systems due to leakage effects in the food and animal feed sectors and the biofuel sector outside Europe. This is because biofuels are likely to be grown on current agricultural areas, resulting in the crops formerly grown on these areas being displaced, potentially, to areas important for biodiversity and/or carbon storage (Frank et al, 2012).

Social aspects of biofuel production such as impacts on land tenure, food security and labour conditions are not directly addressed by sustainability criteria under the Renewable Energy Directive. Instead, the Commission is obliged to report on progress in addressing such aspects in exporting countries. The first report was due by the end of 2012. No separate report has been published by the Commission, but its stance on biofuel sustainability in relation to social issues was explained in the 2013 renewable energy progress report.¹²⁴ As part of this the Commission concluded that no further sustainability criteria are needed but that continued monitoring is warranted. In a recent study Kaphengst et al (2012) pointed to the risk of a "race to the bottom" in terms of social criteria in the certification schemes that biofuel producers have to participate in to show the sustainability of their

¹²⁴ The Commission's renewable energy progress report COM(2013) 175 final of 27 March 2013 http://ec.europa.eu/energy/renewables/reports/doc/com_2013_0175_res_en.pdf

biofuels in order to be counted towards the 10 per cent target under the RED. To date, 14 certification schemes have been approved by the Commission. Some of these schemes have more ambitious (social) criteria than others and biofuel producers' enthusiasm for them varies. Since the fulfilment of social criteria is not obligatory under the RED, producers can opt for certification schemes which address them either superficially or not at all (see Kaphengst et al, 2012).

To be effective, the policy would need to target a wider range of agricultural commodities and a more comprehensive group of countries. Nonetheless, it is worth noting that the criteria are very important as a first step in mitigating the impact of the biofuel industry and may in turn lead to tighter standards in other industries that currently have a negative impact.

Proposal to revise the EU RED to address ILUC

Partly in recognition of the impact on food security and prices and concern over the extent of any actual GHG savings from conventional biofuels, the Commission has made a proposal¹²⁵ to limit the contribution that biofuels derived from food crops can make towards the attainment of the RED target to a maximum of 5 per cent of energy in transport in 2020 (see Box 7-3).

Box 7-3 Amending the RED to address ILUC - the current state of play of the legislative process

As part of its proposal COM(2012)595¹²⁶ issued in October 2012, the Commission put forward a set of measures, the most important ones being a suggested five per cent cap on the contribution of biofuels from food crops (cereals, oil and sugar crops) towards the RED's ten per cent target; increased incentives for advanced biofuels from certain feedstocks, mainly wastes and residues, by counting their energy content double or even four times; and the introduction of 'ILUC emission factors' that attribute to different crop categories their estimated ILUC impact (determined through modelling) for GHG reporting under the RED.

The proposal is currently undergoing discussions in both the Council and different Parliamentary committees (the EP's environment committee being in the lead). Both Member States and committees in the European Parliament have voiced opposition to the various elements of the proposal. A particularly contentious issue is the proposed five per cent cap, which various actors are trying to weaken or abolish altogether. One alternative that has been suggested is the introduction of a 'sub-target' for advanced biofuels, in order to increase their market share going towards 2020. The ILUC dossier is unlikely to be resolved before the end of 2013.

The aim of the proposal is to attempt to encourage advanced biofuel technologies, which reduce interference with global food production because the feedstocks they use are usually not food crops. However, it has to be noted that some of the feedstocks for advanced biofuels referred to in the Commission's proposal also require land for their production. For example, wood and switch grass, which is used for the production of ligno-cellulosic ethanol, has to be grown in plantations or on farmland, which might lead to the conversion of land that might also be suitable for the production of food. The only 'land-neutral' feedstocks are those solely based on residues and organic wastes (see Study 5 for further discussion). However, residues are a limited resource and some fulfil important

¹²⁵ Commission proposal of 17 October 2012 to amend the RED and FQD:

http://ec.europa.eu/clima/policies/transport/fuel/documentation_en.htm

¹²⁶ COM(2012)595 (2012) Proposal for a directive of the European Parliament and of the Council amending Directive 98/70/EC relating to the quality of petrol and diesel fuels and amending Directive 2009/28/EC on the promotion of the use of energy from renewable sources. http://ec.europa.eu/clima/policies/transport/fuel/documentation_en.htm

functions in agricultural practices, eg straw being returned to the soil. Moreover, they are more dispersed than traditional crops and therefore pose important logistical challenges (HLPE, 2013; Kretschmer et al, 2013b).

7.6 What are the consequences of biofuel feedstocks for biodiversity?

The demand for food and feed crops for the production of conventional biofuels for EU consumption will lead to significant additional land requirements. Estimates vary and are sensitive to the relative assumptions underpinning the different modelling approaches, in particular with regards to the use of co-products and yield developments (Allen et al, 2013). What is certain, however, is that ILUC impacts from EU biofuel demand are a real and tangible problem and affect the potential contribution biofuels can make towards decarbonising the EU transport sector (IEEP, 2013).

ILUC is not only a problem with regard to associated land use change emissions. It may also entail significant biodiversity impacts. It has been argued that direct impacts on biodiversity arising from the conversion of (semi-)natural land for biofuel cropping may remain limited. The sustainability criteria as part of the RED will play a part in this. Indirect impacts, on the other hand, ie those resulting from ILUC with land use change taking place at the end of a chain of displacement effects, are believed to be a considerable risk and one that is not at all monitored let alone regulated at present as part of the RED's sustainability scheme (Frank et al, 2012; Hellmann & Verburg, 2010).

With regards to social sustainability, impacts on agricultural markets and ultimately food prices are often cited as a major concern along with 'land grabs' in developing countries associated with biofuel development. Impacts on agricultural commodity prices and even more so on consumer food prices are difficult to estimate (HLPE, 2013). Analysis seeking to quantify this is also driven by the set of assumptions underlying modelling, with particular parameters of uncertainty being, for example, yield developments and consumer response to rises in food prices. What is clear is that biofuel demand constitutes a 'new' demand and will hence add to existing pressure on agricultural markets stemming *inter alia* from a growing world population, income rises and associated changes in dietary patterns and climate change related impacts on agricultural productivity.

A conceptually, if not politically straightforward solution to most of the problems rehearsed here would be the phasing out of volume targets for (conventional) biofuels in the EU (and elsewhere). The current legislative process, following the Commission's ILUC proposal, demonstrates how difficult it is to change the political status quo, however. While volume targets have been successful in bringing about a significant scale up of first generation biofuel production, they turn out to be inflexible in light of the need to respond to evidence based challenges such as ILUC and all its associated effects. Therefore, such targets should be replaced by emission reduction targets for fuel suppliers (as enshrined in the Fuel Quality Directive) and increasingly stringent vehicle CO2 standards in the longer term (IEEP, 2013).

Promoting advanced biofuels from wastes and residues would help overcome the EU's overreliance on conventional biofuels. Several options are currently being discussed, one being a binding subtarget for advanced biofuels. Such options merit consideration. However, advanced biofuels from wastes and residues are not inherently sustainable and any incentives to use them need to be accompanied by environmental safeguards to prevent harmful indirect effects, such as those related to the displacement of residues used to build up soil carbon on fields and in forests (Kretschmer et al, 2013a); see STOA Area 5 study on bioenergy and biomaterials for a discussion of the safeguards needed.

8 CONSERVATION OF PLANT GENETIC RESOURCES FOR FOOD AND AGRICULTURE IN THE EU

8.1 Plant genetic resources for food and agriculture

Biodiversity in agriculture encompasses the genetic diversity within crops and related species (Figure 8-1), which plays an important role in adaptation to different environmental conditions across the EU, eg crop cultivars that are planted at different periods, such as winter or spring wheat, or for different purposes, such as soft wheat for bread or hard durum wheat for pasta. The genetic diversity of agricultural crops is a crucial factor in agriculture's ability to adapt to a changing climate, resist new pests and pathogens, and provide high yielding varieties under different conditions, or to meet changing consumer preferences. However, the continuing genetic erosion or extinction of plant genetic diversity reduces the plant breeding options, and the options of future generations, for adapting to such challenges and for ensuring food security.

FAO (FAO, 2010b) warns that the world's food security is threatened by our failure to conserve crop genetic diversity and crop wild relatives, and emphasises that this loss of biodiversity will have a major impact on the ability of humankind to feed itself in the future, with the poorest regions of the world experiencing most severe shortages. FAO estimates that three-quarters of crop diversity has been lost globally since 1900, in particular due to the widespread abandonment of genetically diverse traditional crop landraces in favour of genetically uniform modern crop varieties, and predicts a further loss in the future. This is even more problematic in the context of climate change and human population growth impacts, which are expected to increase the need for diversity of plant genetic resources (FAO, 2008b).



Plant genetic resources for food and agriculture (PGRFA) encompass a wide range of categories that differ in how much genetic diversity they contain, including modern cultivars, breeding lines and genetic stocks, obsolete cultivars, ecotypes, landraces and crop wild relatives (CWR) (Maxted et al,

2008), as well as weedy races and primitive forms of crops (Maxted et al, 2011) (see glossary for an explanation of key terms). Strategies to preserve PGRFA will need to target a diversity of resources and stakeholders, and use the full range of available techniques for *ex situ* and *in situ* conservation and use.

8.2 International and European policy targets for plant genetic resources

The international institutional framework governing plant genetic resources consists of the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) and the more genetic resource-specific International Treaty on Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture (ITPGRFA), under the FAO Commission on Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture, which was adopted in 2001 and entered into force in 2004 (Box 8-1).¹²⁷ The ITPGRFA establishes a multilateral system of access and benefit sharing for crop genetic resources¹²⁸, promotes the *in situ* conservation of crop wild relatives, and commits the parties to the implementation of the Global Plan of Action for Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture.

Box 8-1 The scope of the International Treaty on Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture (ITPGRFA) and the Nagoya Protocol on Access and Benefit Sharing under the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD)

The ITPGRFA establishes a multilateral system of access and benefit sharing for 35 food and 29 forage crop genepools. Parties to the Treaty have guaranteed access to these genetic resources, without the need for bilateral negotiations, and share the commercial and other benefits arising from their use, facilitated by the Standard Material Transfer Agreement (SMTA) agreed in 2007.¹²⁹ As of 1st January 2013, the Treaty has been ratified by 127 countries including the European Union.¹³⁰ However, the non-ratifying countries, including China, Japan, Mexico and the United States, host a significant proportion of the genetic diversity of some of the crops listed in the Treaty. Moreover, the list of crops in the Treaty Annex was compiled as the result of a political process rather than science-based considerations, and some important crops are excluded, including soya, quinoa, sugar cane, oil palm, tomato, and a number of other vegetables (Visser, 2013).

For crops not included under the ITPGRFA, the access and benefit sharing provisions of the CBD are applicable, and, after its entry into force, the Nagoya Protocol on Access to Genetic Resources and the Fair and Equitable Sharing of Benefits Arising from their Utilization.¹³¹ The relationship between the ITPGRFA, the CBD and the Nagoya Protocol still needs further clarification with respect to the crops covered under the treaty (Cabrera Medaglia et al, 2013), though in practice many gene banks responsible for germplasm distribution use SMTAs for all material, whether covered by the ITPGRFA or not.¹³²

¹²⁷ ftp://ftp.fao.org/docrep/fao/011/i0510e/i0510e.pdf

¹²⁸ It was designed to strike a compromise between the situation that prevailed before the rise of intellectual property and access and benefit-sharing laws, when all PGRFA were *de facto* considered public domain (common heritage of mankind) and free to use by all (Stec, 2010), and the race-to-the-bottom scenario that has ensued since the 1980s in terms of establishing forms of private control over PGRFA which favours large multinational companies (Aoki and Luvai, 2007; Halewood et al, 2013).

¹²⁹ ftp://ftp.fao.org/ag/agp/planttreaty/agreements/smta/SMTAe.pdf

¹³⁰ Council Decision 2004/869 concerning the conclusion, on behalf of the European Community, of the International Treaty on Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture, OJ L378, 23.12.2004

¹³¹ <u>http://www.cbd.int/abs/doc/protocol/nagoya-protocol-en.pdf</u>. The Nagoya Protocol will enter into force after it has been ratified by 50 countries (18 countries on 1 June 2013).

¹³² FAO (2010) First Meeting of the Ad Hoc Advisory Technical Committee on the Standard Material Transfer Agreement and the Multilateral System of the Treaty. IT/AC-SMTA-MLS 1/10/Report. International Treaty on

Considerable progress has been made globally in implementing the Global Plan of Action for PGRFA (FAO, 2011b), but more needs to be done in particular with a view to the expected impacts of climate change. The second GPA lays out agreed priority plans and actions to protect the diversity of genetic resources and to ensure a sustainable flow of improved varieties from plant breeding. Implementation will require a substantial increase in current activities in countries, and the active involvement of international and regional organizations, donors, scientists, farmers, indigenous and local communities, the public and private sectors, civil society, and research and educational institutes (FAO, 2011b). Further policy targets that support the preservation of plant genetic resources for food and agriculture at EU level are listed in Table 8-1.

Strategy	Target to 2014
European	7.1 60% of species of European conservation priority ¹³³ plant and fungal species,
Strategy for	including crop wild relatives, conserved in situ by 2014 through the
Plant	implementation of national strategies for conserving priority species
Conservation	7.2 Develop database of plant micro-reserves, genetic reserves for crop wild
2008-2014	relatives, and where relevant other small <i>in situ</i> protected areas
(implementing	9.1 Establishment of 25 European crop wild relative genetic reserves covering the
the Global	major hotspots of species and genetic diversity ¹³⁴
Strategy for	13.1 Projects in place in four European subregions demonstrating sustainable
Plant	methods of conserving plant resources (crop wild relatives, land races, medicinal
Conservation)	plants) whilst supporting European livelihoods
Strategy	Target to 2020
EU 2020	Target 3A) Agriculture: (see Chapter 5 for details of target)
Biodiversity	Action 9b) The Commission and Member States will establish mechanisms to facilitate
Strategy	collaboration among farmers and foresters to achieve protection of genetic resources
(implementing	Action 10: Conserve Europe's agricultural genetic diversity: The Commission and Member
the Strategic	States will encourage the uptake of agri-environmental measures to support genetic
Plan for	diversity in agriculture and explore the scope for developing a strategy for the conservation
Biodiversity)	of genetic diversity.

Table 8-1 European targets and actions for PGRFA and CWR to 2014/2020

Source: (Council of Europe, 2008; European Commission, 2011d)

Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture, FAO, Rome. Available online (accessed 30 September 2011): http://ftp.fao.org/ag/agp/planttreaty/gb4/AC_SMTA_MLS1/ac_smta_mls1_repe.pdf

¹³³ *Prioritised according to their inclusion in regional and national legislation, including the EC Habitats and Species Directive, the Bern Convention and IPA programmes, and with reference to European Red Lists for all taxonomic groups as they are developed

¹³⁴ Including: Action 1 Establish baseline of genetic diversity for priority crop complexes of European socioeconomically important wild species to assist conservation prioritisation and as a means for assessing genetic erosion; Action 2 Assess genetic diversity against time for all European socio-economically important wild species; Action 3 Develop a preliminary list of crop wild relative hotspots of species and genetic diversity at national and European levels; Action 4 Prepare a gap analysis review of *ex situ* holdings of European crop wild relative species; Action 5 Prepare a European inventory of traditional, local crop landrace varieties; Action 6 Prepare a priority list of European crop wild relatives; Action 7 Promote the Crop Wild Relative Information System.

8.3 European initiatives for the conservation and use of plant genetic resources

Many initiatives have been undertaken in Europe both to reduce the threats to PGRFA and to conserve crop genetic diversity and crop wild relatives (Damania, 2008; Hajjar & Hodgkin, 2007; Johnson, 2008; Maxted and Kell, 2009; Treuren et al, 2012). These initiatives can be categorised according to their purpose into threat assessment, collection and conservation, coordination and access to information, public research, plant breeding, and education and public awareness. It is important to recognise that for PGRFA the end product is not conservation *per se* but the sustainable utilisation of conserved germplasm (EASAC, 2011).

Threats and threat assessment of PGRFA

At least 11.5% of the high priority European crop wild relative (CWR) species are threatened, primarily from unsustainable farming practices, urbanisation, and other infrastructure developments (Bilz et al, 2011; Kell et al, 2012), and many are affected by gene flow and hybridization with crops (see Annex 8.1 for details of the status of European CWR). It is more difficult to assess the threats facing European landrace diversity as the threat assessment techniques are not so well developed, but Negri *et al.* (Negri et al, 2009) conclude that landrace diversity is likely to be the most threatened element of all biodiversity in Europe because: (a) we have no idea how many landraces exist as there are no inventories available, (b) landrace maintainers are almost always older (average over 65) and their number is dwindling each year, (c) seed companies, breeders and government agencies are actively promoting modern cultivars to replace landraces, and (d) in most countries there is no single agency with direct responsibility for their conservation. Their conclusion is that without urgent action further loss or complete extinction is the only possible outcome.

Collection and conservation ex situ and in situ of PGRFA

Europe has approximately 500 gene banks and other institutes such as botanical gardens for *ex situ* conservation, with storage facilities as well as field gene banks (EASAC, 2011). Together they maintain 2 million *ex situ* accessions, representing a wide range of origins (see Annex 8.2 for details). Most EU countries have their collections duplicated in centralised collections on a crop-by-crop basis, whilst partner institutions maintain regional crop collections, and the state of phenotypic characterisation and evaluation of PGRFA across Europe is generally good by global standards (EASAC, 2011).

In terms of *in situ* PGRFA conservation, there is currently no coordinated or systematic attempt to conserve landraces or crop wild relatives nationally or regionally within Europe (Maxted et al, 2012b; Veteläinen et al, 2009). However, many (mainly small-scale, farmer or agro-NGO-led) ad hoc initiatives focus on *in situ* conservation of specific plant varieties and increasingly on participatory plant breeding (Bocci and Chable, 2009) (see Annex 8.2 for details). For example, the Scottish Landraces Protection Scheme¹³⁵ stores landrace seed each season, providing a safety net for growers and making the seed available for research, breeding and education. For crop wild relative diversity the main focus of *in situ* conservation should be the implementation of genetic reserves, but there are no European genetic reserves that meet the minimum quality standards (Iriondo et al, 2012) and the Natura 2000 network does not recognise the conservation of crop wild relative diversity as a goal.

Coordination and access to information on PGRFA

In Europe 43 national networks of gene banks and other conservation initiatives collaborate in the European Cooperative Programme for Genetic Resources (ECPGR)¹³⁶, aimed at contributing to

¹³⁵ http://www.scottishlandraces.org.uk/scotlandrace_index.htm

¹³⁶ <u>http://www.ecpgr.cgiar.org (</u>formerly European Cooperative Programme/ Genetic Resources (ECP/GR)

national, sub-regional and regional programmes to rationally and effectively conserve PGRFA *ex situ* and *in situ* and increase their utilization. Crop specific and *in situ* technique-based working groups provide a platform for current initiatives in a number of European countries (see Annex 8.2 for examples).

The web-based catalogue EURISCO¹³⁷ contains data on more than half of the *ex situ* accessions maintained in Europe and roughly 16% of total worldwide holdings¹³⁸. The Crop Wild Relative Information System¹³⁹ contains a checklist for all 25,000 crop wild relatives present in Europe (Kell et al, 2007).

Public research on PGRFA conservation and use

Research actions funded by DG AGRI under the Second Community Programme on the conservation, characterisation, collection and use of genetic resources in agriculture (2006-2011) included 17 GENRES projects completed in 2011 (European Commission, 2013c). One was the Leafy Veg project (2007-2010), which resulted in International Leafy Vegetable Databases for lettuce, chicory, spinach and minor leafy vegetables and identified collection gaps (Treuren et al, 2012).

Research initiatives funded under DG Research framework programmes (FP) have made key advances in knowledge, practice and coordination. EPGRIS¹⁴⁰ produced the EURISCO Catalogue providing information about *ex situ* accessions maintained in Europe; CRYMCEPT¹⁴¹ determined cryopreservation methods for conserving European plant germplasm focusing on coffee, banana, olives and garlic; Farm Seed Opportunities¹⁴² was developed in order to enhance the diversity of seeds available in Europe and support Member States' implementation of two Directives on seed regulation and marketing¹⁴³; and ENSCONET¹⁴⁴ brought together the key European botanic garden facilities involved in the conservation of European native seeds. Major projects under the current Framework Programme (2007-2013) focusing on plant breeding using the diversity of PGRFA include RECBREED¹⁴⁵, SOLIBAM¹⁴⁶, and DROPS¹⁴⁷.

ECPGR has a *in situ* and on-farm conservation network and this has been successful in using EU funding to implement action: the FP5-funded PGR Forum project provided a European forum for the discussion of crop wild relative conservation methodologies (2002-2005)¹⁴⁸, the DG AGRI project AEGRO provided a means of case study testing of crop wild relative and landrace conservation

¹⁴⁴ http://ensconet.maich.gr

¹³⁷ http://eurisco.ecpgr.org/

¹³⁸ Updated to May 2012.

¹³⁹ <u>http://www.pgrforum.org/cwris/cwris.asp</u>

¹⁴⁰ http://ipgri.singer.cgiar.org/ECPGR/epgris/Index.htm

¹⁴¹ http://www.agr.kuleuven.ac.be/dtp/tro/CRYMCEPT/CRYMCEPT.htm

¹⁴² http://www.sad.inra.fr/en/All-the-news/Farm-Seed-Opportunities-European-project

¹⁴³ Directive 2008/62/EC providing for certain derogations for acceptance of agricultural landraces and varieties which are naturally adapted to the local and regional conditions and threatened by genetic erosion and for marketing of seed and seed potatoes of those landraces and varieties [2008] OJ L162/13; and Directive 2009/145/EC providing for certain derogations, for acceptance of vegetable landraces and varieties which have been traditionally grown in particular localities and regions and are threatened by genetic erosion and of vegetable varieties with no intrinsic value for commercial crop production but developed for growing under particular conditions and for marketing of seed of those landraces and varieties [2009] OJ L312/44.

¹⁴⁵ Recombination: An old and new tool for plant breeding, www.recbreed.eu

¹⁴⁶ Strategies for Organic and Low-input Integrated Breeding and Management, www.solibam.eu

¹⁴⁷ Drought tolerant yielding plants, www.dropsproject.eu

¹⁴⁸ FP5 project (2002-2005) http://www.pgrforum.org

methodologies (2006-2010)¹⁴⁹, and the FP7-funded PGR Secure project is developing national and regional conservation strategies for European crop wild relative and landrace diversity linked to enhanced utilisation of the conserved material (2011-2014)¹⁵⁰.

Use of PGRFA in plant breeding

Plant breeding depends on the ability of breeders to access genetic diversity and use it in new varieties with desired properties, such as better disease resistance, increased shelf-life, enhanced taste, and nutritional value (EASAC, 2011; van den Hurk, 2011). Plant breeders' use of genetic diversity is demonstrably increasing in the face of changing consumer demands, the demands of climate change mitigation, and increased production to feed the rising human population (Maxted et al, 2012a), and the diversity they use is increasingly taken from landraces and crop wild relatives (Feuillet et al, 2008)¹⁵¹. Plant breeding companies often work in close cooperation with gene banks, facilitating characterisation and regeneration, and in some cases co-financing collecting trips in order to increase access to genetic diversity. Europe has relatively well advanced public breeding institutions and programmes and an important plant breeding sector (Mwila, 2013; Visser and Borring, 2011) - for example, the Netherlands is a world player in vegetable seeds, and Germany and France are major producers of seeds for arable crops - but all are finding that access to genetic diversity is a limiting factor on cultivar development.

Increasing education, awareness and consumer demand for PGRFA products

Public awareness of plant genetic resources and agricultural biodiversity and the momentum for action has increased through the plethora of largely NGO based activities such as community gardens, farmer markets, seed exchanges, listings of forgotten and endangered crop varieties, books and documentary films, and the availability of internet-based information. Worries over contaminated food stuffs have also stimulated consumers to become more demanding, seeking fresher, less intensively produced and more localised food production (Lang and Heasman, 2004; Pretty, 1999), and the food and retailing sector is trying to strengthen its competitive position by offering specialty products for niche markets based on new varieties or local traditional landraces. The sector has created new governance structures focused on quality, safety and sustainability attributes of products (Fulponi, 2006; Gereffi et al, 2005), and new organic and fair trade business models that encourage greater crop and product diversity, such as Agrofair¹⁵² and Eosta¹⁵³.

The NGO Slow Food Foundation for Biodiversity¹⁵⁴ establishes stronger links between producers, consumers and local communities through the listing of endangered PGRFA products in its Ark of Taste¹⁵⁵, its producer communities called Presidia¹⁵⁶, and the Terra Madre network of sustainable food communities (Petrini, 2009). Europe now counts around 90 Presidia focusing on the conservation of traditional plant varieties and seeds (Peano and Sottile, 2012). However, a more coordinated and systematic approach to the recording and conservation of landraces and crop wild relatives nationally or regionally within Europe is required (Maxted et al, 2012b; Veteläinen et al, 2009).

¹⁴⁹ http://aegro.jki.bund.de/aegro/

¹⁵⁰ FP7 project (2011-2014) http://www.pgrsecure.org/

¹⁵¹ FAO Integrated Food Security Support Service reports

¹⁵² http://www.agrofair.nl

¹⁵³ http://www.eosta.com

¹⁵⁴ http://www.slowfoodfoundation.com

¹⁵⁵ Manifesto Ark of Taste by the Slow Food Foundation for Biodiversity. See at

http://www.slowfoodfoundation.com/pagine/eng/arca/pagina.lasso?-id_pg=37

¹⁵⁶ http://www.slowfoodfoundation.com/presidia

Various European universities provide courses in agricultural sciences, plant breeding, and plant science, which include aspects of plant genetic resources; however, the one specific MSc course in the subject has recently closed.

8.4 Challenges and opportunities from the European perspective

This section describes the challenges and opportunities for PGRFA conservation and use in Europe based on discussion with authoritative experts, representing the main categories of international public governance, gene banks, public research, plant breeding companies, and agro-NGOs. The interview questionnaire and the list of interviewees are provided in Annex 8.2.

Gaps in the conservation and characterisation of PGRFA

The interviews have confirmed that there is an urgent need for increased *in situ* and *ex situ* conservation and characterisation of PGRFA, not only of major and minor crops but particularly of land races and crop wild relatives. This was also emphasised by the European Academies Science Advisory Council in their 2011 report (EASAC, 2011).

Knowledge about the conservation status of European landraces is still limited and will require a comprehensive and systematic inventory in all EU Member States (Veteläinen et al, 2009), though such work has begun for crop wild relative diversity (see above). The network of *ex situ* seed gene banks and field gene banks is well established but *in situ* conservation of PGRFA in Europe is very limited. Currently there are a few on-farm based projects conserving landraces (Veteläinen et al, 2009) but there is no *in situ* conservation of crop wild relatives using the international recognised standard (Iriondo et al, 2012) and only 6 per cent of European crop wild relative species have any collections in seed gene banks (Maxted et al, 2012b).

One interviewee stressed that *ex situ* conservation efforts should not only focus on seed producing plants but also on species with other reproduction mechanisms, such as vegetative species (eg yam, cassava, and banana). Cryopreservation has recently become available as an effective conservation technique for these species, enabling similar *ex situ* conservation initiatives as already exist for seed producing plants. It could be an option to create an initiative for vegetative crops which is comparable to the Svalbard Seed Vault.

Support for use of PGRFA in farming still too limited

Several interviewees emphasised that the use of PGRFA is still far too limited in farming. Farmers using landraces and the products derived from them are not yet using the opportunities offered by diversification of agricultural and horticultural production and the development of local niche products. Product designation schemes¹⁵⁷ such as Protected Designation of Origin (PDO), Protected Geographical Indication (PGI) and Traditional Specialty Guaranteed (TSG) may support the marketing of these products. However, it was noted that often farmer's use of landraces is limited by their availability: if land races are unrecognised or not conserved then it is not possible for farmers who wish to cultivate them to obtain the necessary seed (Veteläinen et al, 2009).

Inadequacies related to the institutional framework

The institutional framework provided by the GPA and ITPGRFA is seen by several interviewees as a step in the right direction, but its implementation is lagging. This is confirmed by a survey among gene banks showing that thus far the Treaty has not created a significant change in actors' willingness to make new materials internationally available through the Consultative Group on International

¹⁵⁷ Council Regulation No 509/2006 on agricultural products and foodstuffs as traditional specialities guaranteed [2006] OJ L93/1 and Council Regulation510/2006 on the protection of geographical indications and designations of origin for agricultural products and foodstuffs [2006] OJ L93/12.

Agricultural Research (CGIAR) centres' gene banks (Halewood et al, 2013). On the contrary, it has been claimed that accessions have diminished as well as their use.

Interviewees have pointed at difficulties in drawing up bilateral agreements for collection purposes which is complicating the work of gene banks and breeding companies. Some participating countries have taken a principled stance against such agreements, although cooperation is generally better in the case of collection for scientific rather than commercial purposes. Other countries seem to lack the knowledge and competence to make proper agreements, and the support provided by national focal points and the ITPGRFA Secretariat is seen as insufficient. Similar remarks have been made about quarantine authorities that lack the capacity for adequate control of plant genetic material. An additional problem is that countries do not always report which accessions have been used successfully and consequently do not make any payments to the benefit sharing fund.

The interviewees considered the scope of the ITPGRFA to be limited as not all relevant food crops are covered, particularly minor crops and vegetables, the former being of interest to local communities and the latter to the plant breeding sector (Visser, 2013) (see Box 8-1). Thus far, the Contracting Parties have been hesitant to propose the inclusion of additional crops. Furthermore, a number of countries with high stakes in PGRFA have not ratified the Treaty.

Insufficient cooperation and coordination between stakeholders

Several interviewees are of the opinion that the mutual cooperation between gene banks could be improved. To this end, ECPGR (2012) have suggested creating 'A European Genebank Integrated System' (AEGIS) for PGFRA aimed at conserving the genetically unique and important accessions in Europe and making them available for breeding and research. Although a complementary approach for on-farm and *in situ* conservation has been discussed at the global level, led by FAO¹⁵⁸, there has been limited discussion of such a parallel initiative in Europe thus far. There is also a lack of integration between the communities working on PGRFA and other biodiversity conservation, such that the *in situ* conservation activities of protected areas and genetic reserves for crop wild relative conservation and the *ex situ* conservation of crop wild relatives has historically fallen between those involved in the conservation of socio-economically important species and the nature conservation community with neither taking responsibility for their conservation (Maxted et al, 2012b).

Legal uncertainty hampering access and technological innovation

Several interviewees using PGRFA mentioned that access to plant genetic resources is hampered by the institutional framework provided by the CBD, and fear that under the Nagoya Protocol the situation will further deteriorate because many countries are not willing or able to implement it properly, thereby increasing legal uncertainty. The EU has proposed due diligence obligations for users of genetic resources¹⁵⁹ that go further than the Protocol requires, demanding from users to seek, keep, and transfer to subsequent users detailed information relevant for access and benefit sharing for at least 20 years. This will put an additional administrative burden on the breeding sector. A counter view held by several European farmer or grower based NGOs is that those farmers and growers who have maintained crop diversity for millennia should be fairly and equitably treated by the community when exploiting their resources.¹⁶⁰ It is also argued that the establishment of a clear legal framework of responsibilities, the system of Union trusted collections, and the proposed EU platform will lower

¹⁵⁸ www.fao.org/agriculture/seed

¹⁵⁹ Draft Regulation on access to genetic resources and the fair and equitable sharing of benefits arising from their utilisation in the Union COM(2012) 576 final

¹⁶⁰ Eg http://www.scidev.net/global/indigenous/opinion/making-the-nagoya-protocol-work-at-the-community-level.html

the risks and costs for researchers and plant breeding development in Europe of using illegally acquired genetic resources, and improve resolution of issues and provision of advice. There is still legal uncertainty and only limited information to assess options, and the EU needs to play a careful policy role (IEEP et al, 2012b).

The plant breeding sector is also stressing that it needs legal certainty about the EU's course of action with regard to new biological techniques that enable the use of more genetically distant crop varieties and crop wild relatives¹⁶¹. These novel plant breeding techniques are currently being evaluated to decide whether they fall within the legal EU definition of genetically modified organisms (GMOs), whether the current regulatory exemptions in these Directives apply, and/or whether additional EU regulation should be considered for these techniques¹⁶² (see Chapter 6 for discussion). However the decision is delayed and no legislative initiative is currently foreseen.

The proposed EU seed regulation¹⁶³ strengthens protection of intellectual property rights on breeder produced varieties. However, some companies in the plant breeding sector would prefer to maintain the old system based on UPOV¹⁶⁴ as they fear that the open access to plant genetic resources will be further limited to the advantage of the larger multinational companies, leading to increased uniformity instead of diversity (van den Hurk, 2011).

Diversity-eroding side-effects of EU regulations

The number of EU rules has significantly increased in practically all stages of the plant breeding cycle and is perceived by several interviewees as 'over-regulation', promoting uniformity of crops and produce rather than diversity. For example, the DUS (distinct, uniform and stable) requirements for inclusion of a variety in the common catalogue of agricultural plant varieties have a limiting effect on diversity. The EU marketing standards for fresh produce¹⁶⁵, designed to protect consumers and facilitate trade, limit market access for varieties that deviate from these standards specifying inter alia commercial type, quality, and sizing.

Human diets based on a limited amount of plant species

Several interviewees mentioned that food consumption needs to diversify, referring to FAO figures that people's diets rely on four crops -- rice, maize, wheat and potatoes -- for over 50 per cent of the food supply and only 30 crops provide 90 per cent of the world's calorie intake. Although public awareness has grown in Europe, several interviewees were convinced that much more work needs to be done to stimulate people to better understand the benefits of diversified diets (Fanzo et al, 2013).

¹⁶¹ These techniques include: Oligonucleotide Directed Mutagenesis (ODM); Zinc Finger Nuclease Technology (ZFN) including ZFN-1, ZFN-2 and ZFN-3; Cisgenesis and Intragenesis; Agro-infiltration; RNA-dependent DNA methylation (RdDM); Reverse breeding; Synthetic genomics.

¹⁶² http://ec.europa.eu/food/plant/gmo/new_breeding_techniques/index_en.htm

¹⁶³ COM(2013) 262 final

¹⁶⁴ http://www.upov.int/portal/index.html.en

¹⁶⁵ Council Regulation (EC) No 1234/2007 establishing a common organisation of agricultural markets and on specific provisions for certain agricultural products (Single CMO Regulation) [2007] OJ L299/1

8.5 Options for the EU for the conservation and use of plant genetic resources

It is vital that policy-makers in the EU and at the Member State level recognise the current threats facing European PGRFA, as well as the need to ensure policies are in place to support their enhanced conservation and use (eg EASAC, 2011). This means that the EU should give a higher profile and priority to issues related to PGRFA. Diversity of plant genetic resources should be recognised as a necessity, not a luxury. The current challenges to the conservation and use of PGRFA and the needs of future generations demand an integrated, multifaceted approach that builds on the initiatives of all stakeholders concerned and is based on increased cooperation and mutual learning.

In concrete terms, recommended options for the EU include the following:

Greater collaboration and coordination among national, European and international policy and scientific stakeholders to promote PGRFA conservation and use

PGRFA conservation is directly linked to maintenance of food security. This requires a coordinated effort at the national and European levels to effectively conserve PGRFA, with appropriate links to the global context.

- Place the existing ECPGR Network on a more sure footing and provide better resources;
- Encourage all EU Member States to ratify the ITPGRFA and work to amend Annex 1 to include all major crops.

Systematic and effective PGRFA in situ and ex situ conservation

The PGRFA user community has a growing need for more PGRFA diversity to sustain food security, yet European PGRFA diversity is threatened by ecosystem mismanagement and is poorly conserved. Moreover, lack of PGRFA availability limits economic growth. Systematic and effective PGRFA *in situ* and *ex situ* conservation is required.

- Establish a European network of *in situ* genetic reserves for crop wild relatives and onfarm conservation sites for landraces (funded by targeted CAP agri-environment schemes);
- Set up a more coordinated European Genebank Integrated System, including an evidence based research internet platform.

Concerted attention to conserve crop wild relative diversity

Climate change is forcing plant breeders to search for mitigating diversity through utilisation of the broader range of PGRFA diversity found in crop wild relatives. Yet there is no active *in situ* protected areas conservation of European crop wild relatives and 94% of them have no accessions in *ex situ* gene banks; their conservation tending to fall between the priorities of both environmental and agricultural agencies.

• Develop and implement a European action plan for crop wild relative conservation.

Greater integration of PGRFA conservation with other biodiversity conservation activities

There are two distinct communities working within European biodiversity conservation, those involved in the conservation of socio-economically important species and those involved in nature conservation. Despite obvious overlap between the targeted sites and techniques applied, the two communities work independently and duplicate effort. There is a need to mainstream PGRFA with European nature conservation.

• Integrate PGRFA conservation with existing European biodiversity conservation actions using the Natura 2000 network.

Improve policy incentives for European PGRFA utilisation

The regulatory environment can be improved by systematically analysing the positive and negative implications of the EU regulatory regime upon the diversity of crops and plant genetic resources. The priority in legislation should be to create an environment that fosters a constant flow of conserved PGRFA into utilisation programmes.

- Modify variety and seed production legislation that conflicts with on-farm diversification;
- Reduce unnecessary administrative burdens for the plant breeding sector.

Secure the evidence research base that underpins PGRFA conservation and utilisation

The end product of PGRFA conservation is not conservation of the resource itself, but sustainable utilisation of the conserved resource. Most European conserved PGRFA is not well used by breeders because it lacks characterisation and evaluation information that identifies which traits each accession contains. Therefore there is need for greater actual or predictive characterisation and evaluation of conserved PGRFA and the web-enablement of this information to help promote utilisation of conserved PGRFA.

- Give greater prominence in the Horizon 2020 programme, and specifically the European Innovation Partnership on agricultural productivity and sustainability, to research on PGRFA involving all scientific disciplines and stimulate an improved use of scientific evidence;
- Carry out a systematic assessment of climate change impacts on PGRFA conservation and utilisation to ensure continued food security.

9 THE IMPACTS OF BEE DECLINE ON BIODIVERSITY AND POLLINATION IN THE EU

9.1 The importance of pollinators

Pollinators ensure the reproduction and fruit set of many crops and wild plants by transporting pollen from one flower to another (pollination by wind and water is also possible). Cross-pollination is the process by which pollen is transferred from the male part of the flower of one plant to the female part of a flower on another plant, enabling the cross-fertilisation and sexual reproduction of plants, maintaining genetic diversity. Pollinators ensure crop yields and the transfer of genes within and among populations of plant species (Kjøhl et al, 2011) (see Box 9-1).

Whilst a range of species (including birds, thrips, flies, wasps and ants) are pollinators, bees are the primary pollinators for most crops requiring animal pollination (Klein et al, 2007; Potts et al, 2010b), including domestic honey bees and wild species such as stingless bees, bumblebees and solitary bees. Studies have shown the importance of pollinator diversity: wild species are more efficient pollinators of many plant species than honey bees, because of their physical compatibility with the flower (Albrecht et al, 2012; Klein et al, 2003; Le Féon et al, 2010; Winfree et al, 2007). The interaction between wild pollinators (especially bumblebees) and honeybees increases honeybee pollination efficiency (Brittain et al, 2013; Greenleaf and Kremen, 2006).

Box 9-1 Role of pollination in Europe

In Europe, 84% of crop species, ie more than 150 plant species (Williams, 1994)¹⁶⁶, and 80% of European wild plant species (Blacquière et al, 2012; Potts et al, 2010b) are directly influenced by insect pollination for fruit and seed set (especially by bees). The European crops in which fruit and seed production and quality is dependent upon, or enhanced by, insect pollination (Corbet et al, 1991; STEP, 2013), include:

- Fruits: apple, orange, tomato, pear, peach, melons, lemon, strawberry, raspberry, plum, apricot, cherry, kiwifruit, mango, and currants
- Vegetables: eggplant/aubergine, carrot, onion, pepper, field bean, French bean, soy bean, courgette/zucchini, squash/pumpkin, and cucumber
- Industrial crops: cotton, oilseed rape, white mustard, and buckwheat
- Seeds and nuts: sunflower, almond and chestnut
- Herbs: basil, sage, rosemary, thyme, coriander, cumin and dill
- Forage crops for animals: alfalfa, clover and sweet clover
- Essential oils: chamomile, lavender, and evening primrose

9.2 Pollinator decline in Europe

An abnormal decline of bees (both honeybees and wild bees) has been observed worldwide for several decades.¹⁶⁷ A number of studies have documented this decline; for example, AFFSA (AFSSA, 2008) highlighted abnormal losses in 8 out of 12 and 11 out of 12 countries studied in 2006 and 2007 (detailed figures in Annex 9.1) and van der Zee et al (2012) indicated mortality rates in European

¹⁶⁶ Considering that 57 food crops represent 94,5% of the European food production

¹⁶⁷ NB Colony Collapse Disorder is a specific syndrome of rapid worker bee loss in the presence of brood, queen and food stores in the hive reported in the US; only one incident has been reported in Europe, and this study reports on bee decline more generally (Dainat et al, 2012; OPERA, 2013)

countries of 7 to 22% in the 2008-2009 winter and 7 to 30% in the 2009-10 winter. Such studies are however relatively recent and generally investigate only honey bee losses, with less information available on wild bee losses. However, monitoring has been increased recently (eg COLOSS survey¹⁶⁸).

9.3 European beekeeping

The European Union had around 700,000 beekeepers in 2010 with an estimated 15 million hives. The hive density varies greatly between Member States, as does the number of hives per beekeeper. For example hive density is more than five times higher in Hungary than in Germany, but the number of beekeepers is five times higher in Germany (De la Rúa et al, 2009). The sector is fragmented, as only 3 per cent of beekeepers are professionals, with around a third of EU hives (European Commission, 2010b). Many beekeepers do not belong to an organisation, so are not counted in national and European statistics (Hendrikx et al, 2009). Moreover, the methods for data collection vary between countries (Potts et al, 2010b), making comparisons and evaluation of issues complex. Understanding whether and why wild bees decline is an even more challenging issue.

9.4 The factors affecting bee/pollinator populations in the EU

The causes of bee colony loss are disputed and vary across regions of the world. Current knowledge suggests the cause of decline is due to **multiple factors** (AFSSA, 2008; Breeze et al, 2012; European Parliament, 2011; Schweiger et al, 2010; Tylianakis et al, 2008). The frequency, severity and rapidity of bee colony mortality varies depending on the type of factor affecting bees (exposure and virulence), the bees' health, and the environment (AFSSA, 2008). The following key pressures and drivers on bee colonies and pollinators are identified as possible factors (Table 9-1):

Main factors	Effects on bee colonies and/or pollinators	Studies on the topic			
Factors with substantial scientific evidence and widespread impact					
Pests and pathogens					
Invasive species - <i>Varroa destructor</i> mites	Varroa destructor is a disease vector and an external parasite of the honeybee. It breeds within the colony by laying its eggs within capped brood and feeding on larvae. It also transmits bee viruses including Deformed Wing Virus and Acute bee paralysis virus (in the absence of Varroa these viruses cause only covert /benign infections). Varroa in combination with diseases is the major driver of winter colony mortality across Europe. Almost all colonies need annual treatment; most untreated colonies die within one to three years. Some bee varieties are relatively resistant but current bee breeding is not selecting for resistance and may actually be selecting against it.	(Le Conte et al, 2010) (Carreck et al, 2010) (Dietemann et al, 2012) (Dainat et al, 2013) (Genersch, 2010) (Meixner et al, 2010) (Costa et al, 2012) (Büchler et al, 2010)			
Nosema parasites	Nosema ceranae is a microsporidian parasite of the Asian honeybee that has probably been infesting European honeybees for at least the last two	(Higes et al, 2010) (Paxton, 2010) (Higes et al, 2008)			
	decades. It causes a progressive depopulation of	(Fries, 2010)			

Table 9-1 Pressures and drivers of bee colony and pollinator declines

¹⁶⁸ part of the COLOSS project (Prevention of honey bee COlony LOSSes, www.coloss.org)

Main factors	Effects on bee colonies and/or pollinators	Studies on the topic
	hives reducing colony strength. <i>N ceranae</i> virulence and distribution is still relatively unknown, but its impact is limited in Northern Europe, perhaps due to lower genetic susceptibility (whilst <i>N apis</i> , more prevalent in cooler climates, has lower virulence). <i>In 2004, it was present in 90-97% of hives in Spain, and</i> <i>it is now recorded from all EU countries that have the</i> <i>technical capacity to distinguish N ceranae from N apis.</i>	(Dainat et al, 2012) (Dussaubat et al, 2013)
Bacterial brood diseases	Bee mortality from European Foulbrood, previously a minor disease, has recently become a major problem for apiculture in Switzerland and the UK. American Foulbrood is an easily diagnosed disease not associated with inexplicable colony losses, but is nevertheless a major threat to honey bee health and causes considerable economic losses to beekeepers.	(Forsgren, 2010) (Genersch, 2010)
Lack of appropriate,	<i>Varroa</i> and other pest mites ¹⁶⁹ have developed	(AFSSA, 2008) (Thompson ot al
accessible treatment	on a few agro-chemicals to treat beehives.	2002)
Interaction of treatments with other factors	Treatment against <i>Varroa</i> can cause significant bee population mortality if not applied appropriately. Antibiotics used to treat bee diseases may increase the susceptibility of bees to some insecticides.	(Haubruge et al, 2006) (Hawthorne and Dively, 2011)
Agricultural		
Pesticides	Pesticides can have lethal or sub-lethal effects on bees. The bees can be poisoned by the insecticides present in the air due to spray drift or volatilisation and can come into contact or ingest residual products in the soil or on crops. Exposure depends on bees' interest for the treated area, climatic conditions, pesticide quantity and method of application, eg film-coat quality. Neonicotinoid insecticides (imidacloprid, thiamethoxam and clothianidin) are quoted as being among the most dangerous pesticides with direct lethal effects from contact exposure. Imidacloprid seems to have adverse sub-lethal effects on larval development. Neonicotinoid insecticides act as neurotoxic agents and can affect bee mobility at high doses (Blacquière et al, 2012). The phenylpyrazole pesticide fipronil has similar impacts. Further studies are needed on chronic effects of pesticides because the link between exposure through bee food and individual mortality is	(Johnson et al, 2010) (AFSSA, 2008) (Alaux et al, 2010) (Blacquière et al, 2012) (Whitehorn et al, 2012) (Grimm et al, 2012) (Thompson, 2012) (Gill et al, 2012) (DEFRA, 2013b)

¹⁶⁹ Eg Acarapis woodi (honey bee tracheal mite)

Main factors	Effects on bee colonies and/or pollinators	Studies on the topic
	currently not clearly proved. Wild pollinators are potentially also affected by pesticides, although fewer studies are available on their impacts (Whitehorn et al, 2012). Declared cases of bee poisoning are decreasing, reflecting both better farming practices and a tendency of beekeepers to declare fewer incidents (AFSSA, 2008).	
Destruction of habitat	Urbanisation, land use change and agricultural intensification cause bee habitat loss and fragmentation. Habitat fragmentation isolates bee populations from each other and means bees have to travel further to find sufficient and varied food. Fragmentation reduces reproduction of plants dependent on pollinators. <i>Wild pollinators depend on</i> <i>semi-natural habitat patches as breeding habitat, and</i> <i>their pollination services decline by half or more at 100m</i> <i>to 500m from breeding habitat.</i>	(Tscharntke et al, 2005) (Aguilar et al, 2006) (Albrecht et al, 2007) (Klein et al, 2007) (Ricketts et al, 2008) (Kohler et al, 2008) (Garibaldi et al, 2011)
Lack of nutrient sources, diversity and quality due to intensification of arable land	Monoculture and simplified crop rotations impoverish crop diversity, in particular species rich in pollen and nectar, ie leguminous and entomophilous species (rapeseed, field bean, clover, etc), and shorten the crop flowering period. Crop food resources are thus both decreasing and lacking during a longer period.	(Kremen et al, 2002) (Tscharntke et al, 2005) (Carvell et al, 2006) (Klein et al, 2007) (AFSSA, 2008) (Potts et al, 2009)
Lack of nutrient sources, diversity and quality due to intensification of grassland	Semi-natural grassland is increasingly being replaced by improved grassland with few nectar and pollen-producing flowers, reducing feeding resources for bees. Dairy farmers often mow before meadows flower, reducing available food sources such as clover (<i>Trifolium</i> spp).	(Kohler et al, 2006) (Pywell et al, 2006) (Holzschuh et al, 2007) (AFSSA, 2008)
Decline in pollen quality	Pollen quality is important to ensure an optimal larvae development and survival and activity during the winter season, and diet diversity increases immune-competence levels. Pollen quality could also have an effect on temperature regulation (tested on bumble bees) and the sensitivity of bees to pesticides.	(AFSSA, 2008) (Mapalad et al, 2008)
Beekeeper practices	Ded hasheener meeting on the 1	
Beekeeper practices	 bau beekeeper practices can cause bee loss, including: Loss of the queen during manipulation Bad maintenance of the hive (too much humidity, lack of food or drinking water, etc) Bad management of swarming Lack of disease and pathogen monitoring and inadequate treatment. 	(AFSSA, 2008) (OPERA, 2013)

Main factors	Effects on bee colonies and/or pollinators	Studies on the topic		
	Moreover, there is currently no selection of bees when composing the hive.			
Lack of genetic diversity and vitality, restriction of queen bee breeding	Local bee strains tend to show more resistance to pathogens and environmental stresses, and suffer fewer losses. Native bee genetic diversity is being lost by introgression from commercial subspecies, which is further exacerbated due to the specialisation of a small number of beekeepers to queen breeding, distributing large numbers of progeny around Europe from few queen mothers.	(Soland-Reckeweg et al, 2009) (Meixner et al, 2010) (Costa et al, 2012)		
Emerging threats with	substantial scientific evidence but currently limited	impact		
Pests and pathogens				
Invasive species - Vespa velutina	<i>Vespa velutina</i> , the Asian Hornet, attacks bees and feeds its larvae with bee brood. Attacks kill an estimated 20 to 30% of bees and only 8 hornets in a hive can kill the colony. <i>The species is currently only present in southwestern France and Spain</i> ¹⁷⁰ <i>but is also reported from Belgium and Portugal.</i>	(Villemant et al, 2006) (AFSSA, 2008) (OPERA, 2013)		
Invasive species – <i>Tropilaelaps clareae</i> and <i>Tropilaelaps</i> <i>mercedesae</i> mites	<i>Tropilaelaps</i> mites develop on the brood - larvae and nymphs – and adults. Brood mortality rate can be 50%. The main factor currently limiting survival and spread of exotic mites in northern Europe is their dependency on a continuous, year-round food supply of immature bees within infected colonies. <i>Tropilaelaps mites have not currently been</i> <i>detected in Europe but the risk of accidental import is</i> <i>considered to be high</i> ¹⁷¹	(AFSSA, 2008)		
Invasive species - <i>Aethina tumida</i>	<i>Aethina tumida</i> , the Small Hive Beetle, lays its eggs on the hive. Once the eggs become larvae, they feed with bee eggs and larvae and dig galleries that destroy brood cells and honey. A high level of infestation can cause the death of the colony. <i>Aethina tumida is currently not detected in Europe but</i> <i>the risk of accidental import is considered to be high</i> ¹⁷²	(Hauser, 2004) (AFSSA, 2008)		
Possible factors with less documenting evidence available				
Climate change				
Synchronization of flowering and bee seasonal activity	Climate change can induce earlier flowering of plants and crops, which can cause maturity gaps between colony development and the availability of pollen. It may also affect morphological and physiological matching of flowers and pollinator	(Memmott et al, 2007) (Schweiger et al, 2010)		

 $^{^{170}\,}http://www.europe-aliens.org/speciesFactsheet.do?speciesId=50954\#$

¹⁷¹ https://secure.fera.defra.gov.uk/beebase/index.cfm?pageid=92

¹⁷² https://secure.fera.defra.gov.uk/beebase/index.cfm?pageid=125

Main factors	Effects on bee colonies and/or pollinators	Studies on the topic
	species by modifying the appropriateness of plants or pollinator characteristics ¹⁷³ . If pollinators and plants are no longer compatible, pollination fails.	
Increased pest	Climate change could trigger the appearance of	(Schweiger et al,
pressure	new bee pests.	2010)
Electromagnetic waves		·
Effect of Electromagnetic radiation	Bees perceive electric and magnetic fields, in particular from Digital Enhanced Cordless Telecommunication (eg cordless phones) and antennas, through small abdominal crystals containing iron. Electromagnetic radiation seems to affect returning bees and bee behaviour.	(Kimmel et al, 2007) (Favre, 2011) (Sainudeen, 2011)
Potential future threat	s	
GMOs		
GMOs	GM insect-resistant crops modified with proteinase inhibitors have been shown to be toxic to bees, but these crops are currently not approved for cultivation. No negative effects of GM insect- resistant Bt crops on bees have been found.	(Brødsgaard et al, 2003) (Duan et al, 2008b) (Ramirez- Romero et al, 2008) (Johnson et al, 2010)

Many of these factors are linked or interact, adding to the complexity of understanding the exact causes of bee decline. For example, climate change facilitates the presence of new pest species, and increasing weather variability presents challenges to winter colony survival. Similarly, evidence on neonicotinoids pesticides seem to show that such products do not necessarily have significant impacts alone, but reduce the resistance to pests, making both factors in combination a significant threat to bees (eg Potts et al, 2010b). Similarly, the *Varroa destructor* mite is a vector for viruses, including the Deformed Wing Virus and the Acute Bee Paralysis Virus, that lower bee immunity and enhance their sensitivity to other infections (Dainat et al, 2013). According to Didham et al (2007), the effects of interactions could be almost as important as those of each driver in isolation.

Similar interactions are observed for wild bees (Goulson et al, 2008; Whitehorn et al, 2012), but more research on the threats to wild bees is needed in order to implement effective actions to sustain pollination by wild pollinators.

Pollinator decline is seen as an early-warning sign or bio-indicator of broader environmental issues, as it may be linked to the decline of the plants that they visit (Biesmeijer et al, 2006), and bees are seen by many as bio-indicators due to their sensitivity to environmental stress factors (Balayiannis and Balayiannis, 2008; Devillers and Pham-Délègue, 2002; Porrini et al, 2003).

¹⁷³ (flower tongue length, quantity of secreted nectar, sugar concentration, etc.)

9.5 The impact of bee/pollinator declines on crop production in the EU

Impact of pollinator decline on crop production in the EU

Klein et al (2007) calculated that pollinators have an impact on the yield of 76% of crop types in Europe¹⁷⁴, which together represent 35% of food production (by weight). Considering that the area dedicated to pollinator-dependent crops is increasing worldwide, in particular in the developed world (Aizen et al, 2008), the decline of managed and wild pollinators could have an important impact on food production, and possibly in the future on biomass production too.

However, estimates of yield losses due to pollinator declines depend greatly on the crops considered. Aizen et al (2008) question the impact of pollinators on yield. They show that the yield of pollinator-dependent and the yield of non-pollinator-dependent crops have increased similarly over forty years (from 1961 to 2006) whilst pollinators have been declining. In another study, Aizen et al (2009) estimated that the expected direct yield reduction in the absence of animal pollination ranged from only 3 to 8% because of the low dependence of rice and wheat (the highest volume crops) on animal pollination (Ghazoul, 2005). For fruits and vegetables, a hypothetical complete pollinator loss translated into a production deficit over current consumption levels of -12% for fruits and -6% for vegetables globally (Gallai et al, 2009).

Economic impact of pollinator decline

The ALARM project has estimated the global economic value of the ecosystem service provided by pollinators at \in 153 billion per year, roughly 9.5% of the total global value of human food production, based on the value of production resulting from pollinators (Gallai et al, 2009) (see details in Annex 9.2). In the EU, the economic value of food production from animal-pollinated crops is estimated at \in 15 billion per year, and resorting to human-assisted pollination is estimated to cost at least twice as much (European Parliament, 2011). In the USA, honey bee colonies are rented and transported to pollinate specific crops such as almonds, and the average cost has increased steeply from \in 35 in the 1990s to \in 150 in 2006, partly due to bee decline (National Research Council, 2007).

Nutritional impacts of pollinator decline

Pollinator-dependant crops supply us with important nutrients; for example, 74% of all lipids produced globally come from oils from animal-pollinated plants; 98% of available vitamin C comes from animal-pollinated plants, primarily citrus; and many other vitamins are supplied by animal-pollinated fruits and vegetables (Eilers et al, 2013). The pollinator decline may thus lead to nutritional imbalances and deficiencies, jeopardizing human health.

¹⁷⁴ 92 out of 108 studied crops present an increased yield with animal pollination, among which data are available for 82 from experiments comparing pollination with and without animal-pollination. The 10 others are deduced from the fact that self-pollination and wind-pollination are not possible.

9.6 Actions to address each of these factors and maintain pollination services

A number of actions to address the causes of bee mortality and control pollinator decline are available and being investigated. Stakeholders have different roles to play in each case (Figure 9-1).



Biological factors affecting bees

Beekeepers often rely on antibiotics and pesticides (fungicides) to control pathogens and parasites, but inappropriate use of these chemicals can affect honeybees. Moreover, pathogens and parasites often develop resistance quickly due to the low number of available substances and their lack of target specificity (AFSSA, 2008; Arbia and Babbay, 2011). Due to the limited size of the sector¹⁷⁵, pharmaceutical firms have little interest in developing more diverse and appropriate chemical treatments (European Parliament, 2011).

¹⁷⁵ (so called minor uses, minor species or MUMS markets)

More sustainable practices for controlling diseases include:

- Using sanitation strategies: good practices include keeping clean, well ventilated hives (AFSSA, 2008), avoiding transfer of combs between colonies, and replacing storage and brood combs annually (Flores et al, 2005). Alternative compounds for fumigation of equipment against *Varroa* mites include lactic acid (Ritter and Akratanakul, 2006), formic acid (Amrine and Noel, 2006) or oxalic acid (Emsen and Dodologlu, 2009).
- Using biological control agents: bacteria inhibit fungal growth (Evans and Armstrong, 2006), essential oils inhibit bacterial and fungal growth (Bailac et al 2006 cited by Arbia & Babbay, 2011; Emsen & Dodologlu, 2009) and propolis has antibacterial properties (Bastos et al, 2008; Ivancajic et al, 2010).
- *Using genetic selection*: selecting bees for their natural resistance to pests or disease, particularly *Varroa* mite (Büchler et al, 2010), including hygienic behaviour (ability to detect and diseased larvae early to prevent spread of disease) (Spivak and Gilliam, 1998).
- Monitoring hives and diseases: monitoring is essential for the assessment and control of colony mortality. There is a wide variety of monitoring and surveillance systems for bee mortality and bee health in Europe (European Parliament, 2011; Hendrikx et al, 2009), and a corresponding need for improvement, harmonization and standardisation (OPERA, 2013).
- *Controlling the entry and spread of alien invasive species*: bee predators, pests and diseases have entered Europe via imports, and prevention will require continuation (and possibly strengthening) of border controls. Bee imports are now strictly regulated¹⁷⁶ and several bee pests have been made notifiable in the EU.¹⁷⁷ The European Parliament has called for a temporary ban on bee imports¹⁷⁸.
- *Encouraging research*: there is a need for research on bee pests, diseases and the effects of pesticides; mapping of factors to create a more precise model of bee exposure (Thompson, 2012); understanding the contribution of each factor and of multi-factorial interaction to bee decline; studying wild bees; and developing appropriate veterinary medicines.
- *Proposing training*: to increase awareness of bee diseases by beekeepers and veterinarians, and help them identify and cure pathogens more effectively (European Parliament, 2011). Some Member States such as the UK already offer specific beekeeper training for recognition of diseases (OPERA, 2013).

Agro-chemical factors affecting bees

Pesticide risks depend on the toxicity of agro-chemical active ingredients and bee exposure, so measures should target these factors. Some measures identified for biological factors are useful to mitigate agro-chemical factors, such as using sanitation strategies, monitoring and training. Additional specific good practices include:

• *Choosing areas where exposure to pesticides is limited*: beekeepers can install their hives in "pesticide-safe" areas. This requires mapping of these areas and beekeeper access to the maps.

 $^{^{176}}$ All consignments of bees must conform to the general animal health conditions laid down in Council Directive 92/65/EC and the specific animal health conditions and accompanying health certificates in Commission Decision 2003/881/EC

¹⁷⁷ This means that all beekeepers who suspect their colonies are infested by the Small Hive Beetle or *Tropilaelaps* mites have to inform the appropriate authorities in their Member States under Commission Regulation (EC) No 1398/2003

¹⁷⁸ European Parliament Committee on Agriculture and Rural Development 25.10.2011. Report on honeybee health and the challenges of the beekeeping sector (2011/2108(INI)) RR\881743EN.doc

- *Encouraging farmers' good practices*: studies argue that honey bees are not harmed when best practices for pesticide application are implemented¹⁷⁹, and point to bad practices by farmers. Good pesticide use practices can be encouraged through information and training and bad practices discouraged through cross-compliance in the CAP.
- *Ensure the enforcement of pesticide regulations*: the Sustainable Use of Pesticides Directive requires the implementation of integrated pest management strategies (see Chapter 5).
- *Improving pesticide risk assessment:* the European Food Safety Authority has produced new guidelines for bee risk testing including semi-field and field test methods using four exposure routes, repeated exposure and larval exposure, including wild bee tests (EFSA, 2012b; EFSA, 2013d).

Environmental factors affecting bees

Hive handling and management

Hive management has a major impact on bee health, and good practices can significantly reduce bee mortality. Good practices include careful handling of hives and queens (AFSSA, 2008). Beekeepers must provide access to water and food of sufficient quality, with supplementary feeding if needed, in order to ensure good colony health (Arbia & Babbay, 2011). Migratory beekeeping requires particular attention as transport results in stress for colonies (OPERA, 2013). Good beekeeper management practice depends on their level of information, awareness and training. The creation of a guide to good beekeeping practice could be helpful. Since the beekeeping sector is very fragmented, the transfer of knowledge and information between stakeholders (beekeepers, farmers, public authorities, pharmaceutical industries) could be improved by measures such as (AFSSA, 2008):

- The creation of a technical institute that brings together inter-professional honey sector stakeholders and improves knowledge of bee mortality factors, prevention and mitigation measures (for example in France a scientific and technical institute for beekeeping¹⁸⁰ was created in 2009);
- The development of tools for collecting bee data with the help of beekeepers;
- The creation of a specific status for professional beekeepers and non-professional beekeepers.

Food resources of sufficient quantity and quality in the landscape

Farmers play an important role in providing food for bees through the cultivation of nectar and pollen-rich crops and grassland, though beekeepers also have a limited influence on access to food through moving colonies (OPERA, 2013). Public institutions and policy makers can encourage the provision of bee food resources through information, agri-environmental measures, etc (see Chapter 5 for key actions). Good practices include (AFSSA, 2008; Allen-Wardell et al, 1998; OPERA, 2013):

- Encourage diversification of crop rotation and mass-flowering crops, particularly legumes such as alfalfa and clover;
- Prevent early mowing of meadows before flowering;
- Limit mowing of roadsides, parks and public gardens;
- Encourage the maintenance of flowering meadows, fallow land, and flower-rich field edges through incentives;
- Prevent the loss of (semi-)natural areas to arable land, managed forest or urbanisation;
- Recommend winter soil cover plants that provide late-season food for pollinators¹⁸¹.

¹⁷⁹ For example applying appropriate pesticides at the adequate quantity at the right timing, avoiding application in windy conditions or at a certain distance from water bodies

¹⁸⁰ ITSAP-Institut de l'abeille, see <u>www.itsap.asso.fr/asso/qui-sommes-nous.php</u>

¹⁸¹ Under the Nitrates Directive and/or cross-compliance rules, countries may require the partial or total covering of arable land during the period of leaching risks (in winter). Each Member State defines the period of

Preservation and maintenance of bee habitats

Farmers participate in the preservation of bee habitats, especially of wild species, through their role in the maintenance of landscape features. In particular, they can prevent the destruction of farmland features such as hedges, field margins, and river banks, and maintain and plant hedges with indigenous species beneficial to pollinators (AFSSA, 2008; OPERA, 2013). Public institutions and policy makers can encourage such practices (see above).

Other factors affecting bees

Efforts to mitigate climate change must be continued, in order to avoid the most critical possible impacts on pollinators. Measures to reduce other factors may also increase the resilience of bees, although the current level of knowledge is often insufficient to recommend good practices other than avoidance or preventative measures where possible.

9.7 What is needed to reverse pollinator decline in Europe?

The loss of pollinators in Europe is having a proven economic impact on food production and an ecological impact on wild plant species. Our **dependency on both honeybees and wild pollinators** for a nutritionally diverse and balanced food supply is high.

The causes of honeybee decline are multi-factorial, including the influence of pests, agricultural practices and beekeeper practices, and interact with each other; the causes of wild bee declines are less investigated, but expected to be similar. This means a **range of measures** are needed, **requiring concerted actions** by public authorities, beekeepers, farmers, the pharmaceutical industry, and researchers. **The fact that no one factor seems to be the cause of bee decline should not be used as a reason for inaction.** Monitoring and reporting, and finding causes and solutions, is made more difficult because of the fragmentation of the beekeeper sector, and the fact that most beekeepers are non-professional. However, monitoring systems are now being implemented in most Member States, and significant new research programmes are underway.¹⁸²

Whilst recognising that multiple factors require action, three specific actions are:

Increasing knowledge of the risks posed by neonicotinoids and other systemic pesticides

The recent European Food Safety Authority reports (EFSA, 2013a; EFSA, 2013b; EFSA, 2013e; EFSA, 2013f) show risks from these pesticides for bees, but also that information is still lacking for performing a full assessment.¹⁸³

Breeding for Varroa resistance and improved availability of better treatment methods

Current control methods for Varroasis are failing due to resistance and their significant costs and side-effects on honey production and bee vitality. The genetic diversity of European honeybees is compromised due to narrow selection criteria and restricted queen bee breeding, but the remaining subspecies and ecotypes of honey bee in Europe still provide a genetically diverse landscape for selection of *Varroa* resistance.¹⁸⁴ It is important that disease resistance is bred multiply into locally adapted varieties, so as not to lose even more genetic diversity. However, disease mechanisms are

risks and the list of permitted crops (example in France: http://www.herault.equipement.gouv.fr/4eme-programme-d-actions-directive-a1020.html).

¹⁸² See for example BEEDOC <u>http://www.bee-doc.eu/</u> STEP <u>http://www.step-project.net/</u> and the COST action of the COLOSS network <u>http://www.coloss.org/</u>

¹⁸³ NB the EFSA reports provide detailed information that has not been reproduced in this report

¹⁸⁴ high survival rates in some local populations and significant variability in mite infestation levels between breeding lines demonstrate this (Büchler et al, 2010; Costa et al, 2012)

complex, as host-parasite interaction are dependent on environmental conditions and hive management techniques, and substantial research is still needed, including better mite treatment methods.

Increasing flower resources for pollinators in agricultural landscapes

Pollen and nectar resources in agricultural landscapes have declined significantly, as shown for example in the UK, and this is the primary factor limiting wild pollinator populations¹⁸⁵ (Carvell et al, 2006; Rouston & Goodell, 2010). A number of Member States are committing to national and regional action plans and programmes to increase 'bee-friendly' agricultural practices including the promotion of Integrated Pest Management (IPM) for reducing the impacts of pesticides on pollinators, and agrienvironment measures for protection of semi-natural habitat patches in farmland and creation of field margins.¹⁸⁶ The scale of action needed across Europe's landscapes will become clearer as research results come out.

¹⁸⁵ Nesting sites in undisturbed semi-natural vegetation patches are also important eg bare ground in field margins & hedge banks, mouse holes, drystone walls & terraces, tree cavities (Rouston and Goodell, 2010)

¹⁸⁶ Eg Welsh Assembly Draft Action Plan for Pollinators; French Plan de développement durable de l'apiculture; Denmark's National Stategy on Honey Bees 2009-2013

10 THE INTERACTIONS BETWEEN AGRICULTURE AND CLIMATE CHANGE, AND AGRICULTURE AND BIODIVERSITY: RECOMMENDED OPTIONS

As a result of inevitable population growth (possibly to 10 billion by 2050) and expected economic development it is clear that there will be rising demands for food and energy over the coming decades. Moreover this requirement for increased production will coincide with increasing climate change related threats to agriculture (which will probably outweigh opportunities in Europe) and therefore put pressure on agriculture to adapt to cope with these threats. At the same time, there is also the potential for agriculture to play its part in mitigating climate change by reducing its net greenhouse gas emissions, although some mitigation options may conflict with the goal of increasing agricultural production.

Furthermore, projected drivers of agricultural change suggest that biodiversity losses will continue due to the ongoing impacts of intensive agricultural practices, and especially in Eastern Europe due to intensification and specialisation in some areas (and abandonment of low-intensity biodiversity-rich farming systems in others). This will undermine the EU's ability to meet its nature conservation targets (and those of the Convention on Biological Diversity), and threaten the long-term sustainability of farming in some areas as a result of, for example, soil degradation, declines in pollinators and increased outbreaks of pests and diseases. Agriculture relies on good soil quality, pollination, and low pest and disease pressure. Also, the loss of components of biodiversity such as flowering weed populations and livestock genetic diversity has significant detrimental impacts on many related ecosystem services, including the loss of pollination services and honey production through the collapse of European honeybee populations, and the loss of adaptation potential through disappearing European plant and animal genetic resources for food and agriculture.

These interrelated challenges clearly lead to the conclusion that if agricultural production is to be increased through intensification then it has to be achieved sustainably, taking into account climate and biodiversity needs in the EU and elsewhere. Step changes in actions are therefore required to ensure rapid reductions in agricultural emissions of greenhouse gases, and effective agricultural adaption and biodiversity conservation in Europe. In this respect EU policies, including the CAP and other initiatives such the European Innovation Partnership (EIP) on agricultural productivity and sustainability, have key roles to play in increasing the scope, pace and effectiveness of actions. Such actions should include the application of legislation to avoid unsustainable practices and protect important ecosystems and their biodiversity, the provision of incentives to support beneficial practices and funding to stimulate research and the transfer of technological and non-technological innovation options, such as better soil and water management practices on farms. Private funded and market based measures may also contribute, but these may require an improved legal framework for private or public-private payments for ecosystem services in order to increase the use of the land for the delivery of 'public goods', such as biodiversity, the storage of greenhouse gases, or water storage and retention.

The following are some recommended priority options for sustainably increasing agricultural productivity whilst supporting key actions to facilitate agriculture related climate change adaptation and mitigation, and biodiversity conservation. These are based on a review of the implications of the interrelationships between climate change and agriculture, and between agriculture and biodiversity, and take into account the potential for using a range of innovative options to increase agricultural productivity on a sustainable basis.

1. Provide incentives for climate resilient and biodiversity-friendly farmland management

Promote actions that have benefits for climate change adaptation and mitigation and avoid significant biodiversity damage, and that may be taken up by farmers as a result of the economic benefits

- Help farmers identify and take appropriate actions to use water, soil and energy resources more efficiently.
- Public funding should help overcome barriers to action by farmers, through modest support to upfront investment costs and start-up costs where needed, particularly in the livestock sector where there are fewer direct productivity benefits.
- A climate dimension needs to be integrated into a range of CAP measures, including rural development programmes.

Strengthen the protection and management of semi-natural agricultural habitats and the economic viability of the farming systems that maintain them

- This requires a combination of support and enhanced investment in traditional management alongside the development of new approaches and adaptation to changing socio-economic conditions.
- Member States can use the new CAP framework to develop measures that assist High Nature Value farming in different ways, such as supporting the appropriate management of valuable semi-natural habitats on farmland; and less direct measures such as adding value to HNV farm produce to improve economic and social sustainability.
- Increase targeted support and advice to farming systems that maintain and restore Natura 2000 habitats and species, both within Natura 2000 sites and outside, especially where they buffer or connect Natura 2000 sites.

Develop policy measures that recognise the substantial ecosystem services supplied by semi-natural farmland and farming systems

• More explicitly link public support to the provision of ecosystem services that are not supported by economic markets (including carbon storage, water flow regulation and purification, cultural and recreational value), through ecosystem assessments, strategic multifunctional land use planning and management, payment for ecosystem services schemes and improved monitoring.

Provide well-designed, targeted and monitored agri-environment schemes on farmland that provide cobenefits for biodiversity and climate change adaptation

- Some actions require adapted soil and crop management, for example use of crop rotations, integrated weed and pest management, intercropping, conservation tillage, unfarmed flower-rich buffer strips, reduced livestock densities.
- Some limited areas may be taken out of highly productive use, such as the creation of areas of flower and seed resources on intensive arable land, the rewetting of peatlands, and the extensification of grassland.
- Many of the actions needed are more beneficial if they are planned and targeted at a scale larger than the individual farm, as is occurring in some Member States. The Rural Development Regulation contains a number of important supporting measures that can help encourage and pay for the necessary planning and targeting of long-term actions at a landscape scale by funding the creation of local partnerships, facilitators and advisors.

2. Constrain unsustainable practices through policy mechanisms

Ensure compliance with the Nitrates Directive and other EU legislation that reduces nitrogen emissions

- Better management of the nitrogen cycle on farmland is beneficial for both biodiversity, reducing GHG emissions, and water quality.
- The more consistent and rigorous implementation all over the EU would be helpful and would lead to more balanced fertilisation , combined with improved crop and manure management; low-protein animal feeding, combined with improved herd management; and ammonia emissions abatement measures, including improved manure application and storage.

Push for ambitious pesticide reduction targets and full implementation of integrated pest management

• Member States are currently failing to set ambitious pesticide reduction targets under the Sustainable Use of Pesticides Directive. Under the new CAP framework, Farm Advisory Services are now obliged to provide farmers with IPM advice.

Use CAP cross-compliance requirements to ensure protection and management of farmland elements that benefit biodiversity and climate change adaptation

• Ensure that Member States use the greater flexibility to set GAEC requirements in the new CAP cross-compliance regime so as to enhance protection and management of permanent grassland, riparian buffer strips, and farmland features, as well as water and nitrogen use efficiency.

3. Implement options to maximise climate resilient agriculture that benefits biodiversity through the CAP and through the new EU-level mechanisms to support innovation

Ensure that innovation investment targets areas of greatest potential and knowledge gaps, combining yield improvement with sustainability objectives

- Existing streams of yield innovation need to be better integrated with innovative practices that reduce the damaging environmental effects of high yielding agriculture. Innovation should focus on the sustainability and efficiency of contemporary systems across the spectrum in both high yielding and extensive systems.
- Other research priorities include methods to improve yields in organic farming systems; and options to refine and turn into commercial propositions novel production systems that provide the greatest co-benefits for climate change mitigation and adaptation, resource efficiency, and biodiversity conservation such as precision farming and paludiculture on rewetted peatlands, and other beneficial approaches such as some forms of agroforestry. This includes the targeted creation of green infrastructure to restore connectivity and ecosystem services in agricultural landscapes.

Environmental safeguards, research and evaluation of the possible negative impacts of new technologies

- Innovations are not inherently more sustainable or biodiversity-friendly, and their potential impacts need careful research and evaluation, with environmental safeguards associated with any incentives for use.
- For example: the promotion of advanced biofuels from wastes and residues requires appropriate environmental safeguards to prevent harmful indirect effects, such as those related to the displacement of straw and other crop residues that are needed to retain soil carbon in fields.

 GM crops can be beneficial or detrimental to biodiversity depending on their traits and management. A relatively narrow stock of GM crops and traits is currently used globally, while a wide range of new generation traits and crops for potential future use is being developed. However, it is too early to conclude whether these crops would have beneficial or detrimental biodiversity impacts in Europe if they were to be authorised for deliberate release. It is also important to bear in mind that a suite of new plant breeding techniques is now available, most of which have the potential to produce biologically novel crops and cropping systems¹⁸⁷; consequently their potential environmental impacts should also be carefully assessed.

Ensure Europe's genetic resources for food and agriculture are better used and conserved

- Give greater prominence in the Horizon 2020 programme to research on plant genetic resources for a more biodiverse crop base better adapted to climate change.
- Establish a more coordinated European Genebank Integrated System that provides crop breeders with greater actual or predictive characterisation and evaluation of conserved plant genetic resources, and more available online information linked with better mutual cooperation between gene banks.
- Establish a European network of *in situ* genetic reserves for crop wild relatives and onfarm conservation sites for landraces, and support measures for farmers to use and conserve genetic diversity on-farm.
- Stimulate the use of plant genetic resources and the marketing of a greater variety of crops by enacting legislation that systematically fosters PGRFA diversity in each link of the plant breeding cycle.

Provide increased direct funding for research on tackling the multiple factors causing honeybee losses and wild pollinator decline

• Public funding is urgently required to address the multiple factors causing European honeybee losses. The fact that no one factor seems to be the cause of bee decline should not be used as a reason for inaction. Because the interactive effects can cause greater impacts than each factor in isolation, an integrated response with concerted actions by public authorities, beekeepers, farmers, the pharmaceutical industry, and researchers is needed.

4. Reduce the external impacts of European agriculture and biofuel imports

Increase the EU's efforts to reducing global biodiversity loss through actions to reduce the environmental footprint of the EU's food, feed and biofuel imports, and to encourage consumer demand for environmentally sustainable food

- Increase the EU's active engagement in international initiatives to develop global environmental principles for food, fibre and energy production.
- Encourage and support effective voluntary and private environmental certification schemes and products.
- Encourage certification schemes with effective environmental sustainability standards for biofuel imports, and increase efforts to reduce the indirect impacts of biofuel related land use change, because these are believed to be considerably more important than direct

¹⁸⁷ Biological novelty that deviates substantially (genetically, biochemically, and physiologically as well as in ethical and regulatory terms, and in public perception) from what classical, selection-based breeding has achieved, and which therefore poses a new scale of potential risk.
impacts and are not monitored let alone regulated by the EU directive's sustainability scheme.

- Increase education and awareness campaigns to reduce unhealthy and unsustainable meat consumption levels, whilst promoting the livestock products from European High Nature Value farms.
- Take steps to increase domestic production of animal feed that also brings benefits for biodiversity and adaptation to climate change, such as legume crop systems that do not require high levels of pesticide use.
- Fund research on the potential biodiversity trade-offs of increasing or constraining (through environmental measures) agricultural production in the EU with respect to EU and global biodiversity impacts, considering also the possible impacts of land sparing versus land sharing strategies in the EU and elsewhere.

REFERENCES

- AEA (2008) *Environmental Impacts of Significant Natural Resource Trade Flows into the EU*. Study for DG ENV. AEA Energy and Environment, Harwell, UK.
- Aebischer, N J (1991) Twenty years of monitoring invertebrates and weeds in cereal fields in Sussex, in L G Fairbank, N.Carter, J F Derbyshire, & G R Potts. (eds) *The Ecology of Temperate Cereal Fields*, Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford.
- AFSSA (2008) *Mortalités, effondrements et affaiblissements des colonies d'abeilles [Weakening, collapse and mortality of bee colonies]*. AFSSA Agence Française de Sécurité Sanitaire des Aliments, France.
- Aguilar, R, Ashworth, L, Galetto, L and Aizen, M A (2006) Plant reproductive susceptibility to habitat fragmentation: review and synthesis through a meta-analysis. *Ecology Letters*, No 9, (8) pp968-980.
- Ahuja, M R (2009) Transgene stability and dispersal in forest trees. *Trees*, No 23, (6) pp1125-1135.
- Aizen, M A, Garibaldi, L A, Cunningham, S A and Klein, A M (2008) Long-term global trends in crop yield and production reveal no current pollination shortage but increasing pollinator dependency. *Current Biology*, No 18, pp1572-1575.
- Aizen, M A, Garibaldi, L A, Cunningham, S A and Klein, A M (2009) How much does agriculture depend on pollinators? Lessons from long-term trends in crop production. *Annals of Botany*, No 103, (9) pp1579-1588.
- Alaux, C, Brunet, J-L, Dussaubat, C, Mondet, F, Tchamitchan, S, Cousin, M, Brillard, J, Baldy, A, Belzunces, L P and Le Conte, Y (2010) Interactions between *Nosema* microspores and a neonicotinoid weaken honeybees (*Apis mellifera*). *Environmental Microbiology*, No 12, (3) pp774-782.
- Albrecht, M, Schmid, B, Hautier, Y and Müller, C B (2012) Diverse pollinator communities enhance plant reproductive success. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B*, No 279, (1748) pp4845-4852.
- Albrecht, M, Duelli, P, Muller, C, Kleijn, D and Schmid, B (2007) The Swiss agri-environment scheme enhances pollinator diversity and plant reproductive success in nearby intensively managed farmland. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, No 44, (4) pp813-822.
- Alene, A D and Coulibaly, O (2009) The impact of agricultural research on productivity and poverty in sub-Saharan Africa. *Food Policy*, No 34, (2) pp198-209.
- Allen, B, Kretschemer, B, Kieve, D and Smith, C (2013) *Biofuels and ILUC Q&A: Answers to common questions surrounding the ILUC debate*. Biofuel ExChange briefing No 5., Institute for European Environment Policy (IEEP), London.
- Allen-Wardell, G, Bernhardt, P, Bitner, R, Burquez, A, Buchmann, S, Cane, J H, Cox, P A, Dalton, V, Feinsinger, P, Ingram, M, Inouye, D, Jones, C E, Kennedy, K, Kevan, P, Koopowitz, H, Medellin, R, Medellin-Morales, S, Nabhan, G P, Pavlik, B, Tepedino, V, Torchio, P and Walker, S (1998) The potential consequences of pollinator declines on the conservation of biodiversity and stability of food crop yields. *Conservation Biology*, No 12, (1) pp8-17.
- Amrine, J W Jr and Noel, R (2006) Formic acid fumigator for controlling honey bee mites in bee hives. *International Journal of Acarology*, No 32, (2) pp115-124.
- Anderson, K and Bows, A (2011) Beyond 'dangerous' climate change: emission scenarios for a new world. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London.Series B: Biological Sciences*, No 369, (1934) pp20-44.
- Andow, D A and Zwahlen, C (2005) Assessing environmental risks of transgenic plants. *Ecology Letters*, No 9, (2) pp196-214.
- Andow, D A, Daniell, H, Gepts, P, Lamkey, K, Nafziger, E and Strayer, D (2004) *A Growing Concern: Protecting the Food Supply in an Era of Pharmaceutical and Industrial Crops.* UCS Publications, Cambridge, MA.

- Aoki, K and Luvai, K (2007) Reclaiming "common heritage" treatment in the international plant genetic resources regime complex. *Michigan State Law Review*, No 35, pp35-70.
- Arbia, A and Babbay, B (2011) Management strategies of honey bee diseases. *Journal of Entomology*, No 8, (1) pp1-15.
- Arias-Estévez, M, López-Periago, E, Martínez-Carballo, E, Simal-Gándara, J, Mejuto, J-C and García-Rio, L (2007) The mobility and degradation of pesticides in soils and the pollution of groundwater resources. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, No 123, (4) pp247-260.
- Arnaud, J-F, Viard, V, Delescluse, M and Cuguen, J (2003) Evidence for gene flow via seed dispersal from crop to wild relatives in *Beta vulgaris* (Chenopodiaceae): consequences for the release of genetically modified crop species with weedy lineages. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B Biological Sciences*, No 270, (1524) pp1565-1571.
- Arnaud, J-F, Fénart, S, Godé, C, Deledicque, S, Touzet, P and Cuguen, J (2009) Fine-scale geographical structure of genetic diversity in inland wild beet populations. *Molecular Ecology*, No 18, (15) pp3201-3215.
- Arrigo, N, Guadagnuolo, R, Lappe, S, Pasche, S, Parisod, C and Felber, F (2011) Gene flow between wheat and wild relatives: empirical evidence from *Aegilops geniculata, Ae.neglecta* and *Ae.triuncialis. Evolutionary Applications*, No 4, (5) pp685-695.
- Aviron, S, Sanvido, O, Romeis, J, Herzog, F and Bigler, F (2009) Case-specific monitoring of butterflies to determine potential effects of transgenic Bt-maize in Switzerland. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, No 131, (3-4) pp137-144.
- Babendreier, D, Reichhart, B, Romeis, J and Bigler, F (2008) Impact of insecticidal proteins expressed in transgenic plants on bumblebee microcolonies. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*, No 126, (2) pp148-157.
- Bain, C G, Bonn, A, Stoneman, R, Chapman, S, Coupar, A, Evans, M, Gearey, B, Howat, M, Joosten, H, Keenleyside, C, Labadz, J, Lindsay, R, Littlewood, N, Lunt, P, Miller, C J, Moxey, A, Orr, H, Reed, M, Smith, P, Swales, V, Thompson, D B A, Thompson, P S, Van de Noort, R, Wilson, J D and Worrall, F (2011) *IUCN UK Commission of Inquiry on Peatlands*. IUCN UK Peatland Programme, Edinburgh.
- Balayiannis, G and Balayiannis, P (2008) Bee honey as an environmental bioindicator of pesticides' occurrence in six agricultural areas of Greece. *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, No 55, pp462-470.
- Báldi, A and Batáry, P (2011) The past and future of farmland birds in Hungary. *Bird Study*, No 58, (3) pp365-377.
- Baldock, D (1999) *Indicators for High Nature Value Farming Systems in Europe.* CABI Publishing, Wallingford, UK.
- Baldock, D, Beaufoy, G, Bennett, G and Clark, J (1993) *Nature Conservation and New Directions in the EC Common Agricultural Policy: The Potential Role of EC Policies in Maintaining Farming and Management Systems of High Nature Value in the Community.* Institute for European Environmental Policy, London.
- Balmford, A, Green, R E and Scharlemann, J P W (2005) Sparing land for nature: exploring the potential impact of changes in agricultural yield on the area needed for crop production. *Global Change Biology*, No 11, (10) pp1594-1605.
- Bastos, E M A F, Simone, M, Jorge, D M, Soares, A E E and Spivak, M (2008) In vitro study of the antimicrobial activity of Brazilian propolis against *Paenibacillus larvae*. *Journal of Invertebrate Pathology*, No 97, (3) pp273-281.
- Batáry, P, Matthiesen, T and Tscharntke, T (2010a) Landscape-moderated importance of hedges in conserving farmland bird diversity of organic vs. conventional croplands and grasslands. *Biological Conservation*, No 143, (9) pp2020-2027.

- Batáry, P, Báldi, A, Kleijn, D and Tscharntke, T (2010b) Landscape-moderated biodiversity effects of agri-environmental management: a meta-analysis. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B Biological Sciences*, No 278, (1713) pp1894-1902.
- Baudo, M, Lyons, R and Powers, S (2013) Transgenesis has less impact on the transcriptome of wheat grain than conventional breeding. *Plant Biotechnology Journal*, No 4, (4) pp369-380.
- Baulcombe, D, Crute, I, Davies, B, Dunwell, J, Gale, M, Jones, J, Pretty, J, Sutherland, W J, Toulmin, C and Green, N (2009) *Reaping the benefits: Science and the sustainable intensification of global agriculture.* The Royal Society, London, UK.
- Baumann, A (2006) On the vegetation history of calcareous grasslands in the Franconian Jura (Germany) since the Bronze Age. Dissertationes Botanicae [404]. Berlin/Stuttgart, J.Cramer.
- Beaufoy, G and Marsden, K (2010) CAP Reform 2013: last chance to stop the decline of Europe's High Nature Value farming? Joint position paper by EFNCP, BirdLife International, Butterfly Conservation Europe and WWF. European Forum on Nature Conservation and Pastoralism, Derwentside, UK.
- Beckie, H J and Warwick, S I (2010) Persistence of an oilseed rape transgene in the environment. *Crop Protection*, No 29, (5) pp509-512.
- Beintema, N, Stads, G-J, Fuglie, K and Heisey, P (2012) *ASTI Global Assessment of Agricultural R&D Spending*. International Food Policy Research Institute IFPRI, Washington DC.
- Beketov, M A, Kefford, B J, Schäfer, R B and Liess, M (2013) Pesticides reduce regional biodiversity of stream invertebrates. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA*, No online early, (doi:10.1073/pnas.1305618110)
- Bellarby, J, Tirado, R, Leip, A, Weiss, F, Lesschen, J P and Smith, P (2013) Livestock greenhouse gas emissions and mitigation potential in Europe. *Global Change Biology*, No 19, (1) pp3-18.
- Bellon, M R and Berthaud, J (2004) Transgenic maize and the evolution of landrace diversity in Mexico. The importance of farmers' behavior. *Plant Physiology*, No 134, (3) pp883-888.
- Benbrook, C M (2012) Impacts of genetically engineered crops on pesticide use in the US the first sixteen years. *Environmental Sciences Europe*, No 24, 24-doi:10.1186/2190-4715-24-24.
- Berendse, F, Chamberlain, D E, Kleijn, D and Schekkerman, H (2004) Declining biodiversity in agricultural landscapes and the effectiveness of agri-environment schemes. *Ambio*, No 33, pp499-502.
- Bergman, K-O, Askling, J, Ekberg, O, Ignell, H, Wahlman, H and Milberg, P (2004) Landscape effects on butterfly assemblages in an agricultural region. *Ecography*, No 27, (5) pp619-628.
- Bertzky, M, Kapos, V and Scharlemann, J P W (2011) *Indirect Land Use Change from biofuel production: implications for biodiversity*. JNCC Report No.456, Joint Nature Conservation Committee, Peterborough.
- Beynon, S A (2012) Potential environmental consequences of administration of anthelmintics to sheep. *Veterinary Parasitology*, No 189, (1) pp113-124.
- Biemans, M, Waarts, Y, Nieto, A, Goba, V, Jones-Walters, L and Zöckler, C (2008) *Impacts of biofuel production on biodiversity in Europe*. ECNC European Centre for Nature Conservation, Tilburg, the Netherlands.
- Biesmeijer, J C, Roberts, S P M, Reemer, M, Ohlemüller, R, Edwards, M, Peeters, T, Schaffers, A P, Potts, S G, Kleukers, R, Thomas, C D, Settele, J and Kunin, W E (2006) Parallel declines in pollinators and insect-pollinated plants in Britain and the Netherlands. *Science*, No 313, (5785) pp351-354.
- Billeter, R, Liira, J, Bailey, D, Bugter, R, Arens, P, Augenstein, I, Aviron, S, Baudry, J, Bukacek, R, Burel, F, Cerny, M, De Blust, G, De Cock, R, Diekotter, T, Dietz, H, Dirksen, J, Dormann, C, Durka, W, Frenzel, M, Hamersky, R, Hendrickx, F, Herzog, F, Klotz, S, Koolstra, B, Lausch, A, Le Coeur, D, Maelfait, J P, Opdam, P, Roubalova, M, Schermann, A, Schermann, N, Schmidt, T, Schweiger, O, Smulders, M J M, Speelmans, M, Simova, P, Verboom, J, van Wingerden, W K R E,

Zobel, M and Edwards, P J (2008) Indicators for biodiversity in agricultural landscapes: a pan-European study. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, No 45, (1) pp141-150.

- Bilz, M, Kell, S P, Maxted, N and Lansdown, R V (2011) *European Red List of Vascular Plants*. IUCN Regional Office for Europe. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.
- Bindi, M and Olesen, J E (2011) The responses of agriculture in Europe to climate change. *Regional Environmental Change*, No 11, (supplement 1) pp151-158.
- Binimelis, R, Pengue, W and Monterroso, I (2009) "Transgenic treadmill": Responses to the emergence and spread of glyphosate-resistant Johnsongrass in Argentina. *Geoforum*, No 40, (4) pp623-633.
- BioIntelligence Service (2011) *Disturbance of EU forests caused by biotic agents*. Final report prepared for the European Commission (DG ENV), BIO Intelligence Service, Paris.
- Birch, A N E, Griffiths, B S, Caul, S, Thompson, J, Heckmann, L-H, Krogh, P H and Cortet, J (2007) The role of laboratory, glasshouse and field scale experiments in understanding the interactions between genetically modified crops and soil ecosystems: A review of the ECOGEN project. *Pedobiologia*, No 51, (3) pp251-260.
- Birdlife International (2004) *Birds in Europe: Population Estimates, Trends and Conservation Status.* Birdlife International, Cambridge, UK.
- Blacquière, T, Smagghe, G, van Gestel, C A M and Mommaerts, V (2012) Neonicotinoids in bees: a review on concentrations, side-effects and risk assessment. *Ecotoxicology*, No 21, (4) pp973-992.
- Boatman, N D, Brickle, N W, Hart, J D, Milsom, T P, Morris, A J, Murray, A W A, Murray, K A and Robertson, P A (2004) Evidence for the indirect effects of pesticides on farmland birds. *Ibis*, No 146, (s2) pp131-143.
- Bocci, R and Chable, V (2009) Peasant seeds in Europe: stakes and prospects. *Journal of Agriculture and Environment for International Development*, No 103, (1-2) Article 26[http://www.iao.florence.it/ojs/index.php/JAEID/article/viewArticle/26].
- Boller, E F, Avilla, J, Joerg, E, Malavolta, C, Wijnands, F G and Esbjerg, P (2004) *Integrated Production Principles and Technical Guidelines*. 3rd edition, IOBC-WPRS (International Organisation for Biological Control - Western Palearctic & Russia Section), Wadenswil, Switzerland.
- Bollman, M A, Storm, M, King, G A and Watrud, L S (2012) Wetland and riparian plant communities at risk of invasion by transgenic herbicide-resistant *Agrostis* spp. in central Oregon. *Plant Ecology*, No 213, (3) pp355-370.
- Bommarco, R, Lundin, O, Smith, H G and Rundlöf, M (2011) Drastic historic shifts in bumble-bee community composition in Sweden. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B*, No 279, (1727) pp309-315.
- Borggaard, O K and Gimsing, A L (2008) Fate of glyphosate in soil and the possibility of leaching to ground and surface waters: a review. *Pest Management Science*, No 64, (4) pp441-456.
- Börjesson, P and Tufvesson, L M (2011) Agricultural crop-based biofuels resource efficiency and environmental performance including direct land use changes. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, No 19, (2-3) pp108-120.
- Bowyer, C and Kretschmer, B (2011) *Anticipated Indirect Land Use Change Associated with Expanded Use of Biofuels and Bioliquids in the EU An Analysis of the National Renewable Energy Action Plans (updated version)*. Institute for European Environmental Policy, London.
- Breeze, T D, Roberts, S P M and Potts, S G (2012) *The decline of England's bees*. Policy review and recommendations. Report for Friends of the Earth, University of Reading.
- Brittain, C and Potts, S G (2013) The potential impacts of insecticides on the life-history traits of bees and the consequences for pollination. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, No 12, (4) pp321-331.
- Brittain, C, Williams, N M, Kremen, C and Klein, A-M (2013) Synergistic effects of non-*Apis* bees and honey bees for pollination services. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B Biological Sciences*, No 280, (1754) pp2012-2767.

- Brødsgaard, H F, Brødsgaard, C J, Hansen, H and Lövei, G L (2003) Environmental risk assessment of transgene products using honey bee (*Apis mellifera*) larvae. *Apidologie*, No 34, (2) pp139-145.
- Brookes, G (2009) *The existing and potential impact of using GM insect resistant (GM IR) maize in the European Union*. PG Economics, UK.
- Brookes, G and Barfoot, P (2012) Global impact of biotech crops: environmental effects 1996-2010. *GM Crops and Food: Biotechnology in Agriculture and the Food Chain*, No 3, (2) pp129-137.
- Brookes, G and Barfoot, P (2013) Key environmental impacts of global genetically modified (GM) crop use 1996-2011. *GM Crops and Food: Biotechnology in Agriculture and the Food Chain*, No 4, (2) pp1-11.
- Brooks, A and Crook, M (2002) The use of molluscicides in UK agriculture and their effects on nontarget organisms. The Malacological Society of London, http://www.malacsoc.org.uk/malacological_bulletin/Mini-Reviews/2Molluscicides/molluscicide.htm.
- Brooks, D R, Bohan, D A, Champion, G T, Haughton, A J, Hawes, C, Heard, M S, Clark, S J, Dewar, A M, Firbank, L G, Perry, J N, Rothery, P, Scott, R J, Woiwod, I P, Birchall, C, Skellern, M P, Walker, J H, Baker, P, Bell, D, Browne, E L, Dewar, A J G, Fairfax, C M, Garner, B H, Haylock, L A, Horne, S L, Hulmes, S E, Mason, N S, Norton, L R, Nuttall, P, Randle, Z, Rossall, M J, Sands, R J N, Singer, E J and Walker, M J (2003) Invertebrate responses to the management of genetically modified herbicide-tolerant and conventional spring crops. I. Soil-surface-active invertebrates. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B*, No 358, (1439) pp1847-1862.
- Brooks, D R, Clark, S J, Perry, J N, Bohan, D A, Champion, G T, Firbank, L G, Haughton, A J, Hawes, C, Heard, M S and Woiwod, I P (2005) Invertebrate biodiversity in maize following withdrawal of triazine herbicides. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, No 272, (1571) pp1497-1502.
- Brotons, L, Mañosa, S and Estrada, J (2004) Modelling the effects of irrigation schemes on the distribution of steppe birds in Mediterranean farmland. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, No 13, (5) pp1039-1058.
- Brühl, C A, Schmidt, T, Pieper, S and Alscher, A (2013) Terrestrial pesticide exposure of amphibians: An underestimated cause of global decline? *Scientific Reports (Nature)*, No 3, (1135) doi:10.1038/srep01135.
- Büchler, R, Berg, S and Le Conte, Y (2010) Breeding for resistance to *Varroa destructor* in Europe. *Apidologie*, No 41, (3) pp393-408.
- Buckingham, D L, Peach, W J and Fox, B W (2006) Effects of agricultural management on the use of lowland grassland by foraging birds. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment,* No 112, (1) pp21-40.
- Buckingham, D L, Atkinson, P W, Peel, S and Peach, W (2010) New conservation measures for birds on grasslands and livestock farms, in *BOU Proceedings Lowland Farmland Birds III*. British Ornithologist's Union, http://www.bouproc.net/.
- Busconi, M, Rossi, D, Lorenzoni, C, Baldi, G and Fogher, C (2012) Spread of herbicide-resistant weedy rice (red rice, *Oryza sativa* L.) after 5 years of Clearfield rice cultivation in Italy. *Plant Biology*, No 14, (5) pp751-759.
- Butler, S J, Vickery, J A and Norris, K (2007a) Farmland biodiversity and the footprint of agricultural change. *Science*, No 315, (5810) pp381-384.
- Butler, S J, Vickery, J and Norris, K (2007b) A risk assessment framework for evaluating progress towards sustainability targets. *Aspects of Applied Biology*, No 81, pp317-323.
- Butler, S J, Boccaccio, L, Gregory, R D, Vorisek, P and Norris, K (2010) Quantifying the impact of land-use change to European farmland bird populations. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment,* No 137, (3-4) pp348-357.

- Butler, S J, Brooks, D, Feber, R E, Storkey, J, Vickery, J A and Norris, K (2009) A cross-taxonomic index for quantifying the health of farmland biodiversity. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, No 46, (6) pp1154-1162.
- Cabrera Medaglia, J, Walløe Tvedt, M, Perron-Welch, F, Jørem, A and Phllips, F-K (2013) *The interface between the Nagoya Protocol on ABS and the ITPGRFA at the international level*. Potential issues for consideration in supporting mutually supportive implementation at the national level. FNI Report 1/2013, Fridtjof Nansen Institute, Norway.
- Cadotte, M W, Carscadden, K and Mirotchnick, N (2011) Beyond species: functional diversity and the maintenance of ecological processes and services. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, No 48, (5) pp1079-1087.
- Calliera, M, Marchis, A, Bollmohr, S, Sacchettini, G, Lamastra, L and Capri, E (2013) A process to provide harmonised criteria for the selection of indicators for pesticide risk reduction within the framework of the sustainable use directive. *Pest Management Science*, No 69, (4) pp451-456.
- Campbell, A and Doswald, N (2009) *The impacts of biofuel production on biodiversity: A review of the current literature.* UNEP-WCMC, Cambridge, UK.
- Campbell, B, Mann, W, Meléndez-Ortiz, R, Streck, C and Tennigkeit, T (2011) *Agriculture and climate change: A scoping report*. Report for "Global Dialogue on Climate Change and Agriculture" project, Meridian Institute, Washington DC.
- Campbell, L H, Avery, M I, Donald, P, Evans, A D, Green, R E and Wilson, J D (1997) *A review of the indirect effects of pesticides on birds*. 227, JNCC Report, Joint Nature Conservation Committee, Peterborough.
- Carreck, N L, Ball, B V and Martin, S J (2010) Honey bee colony collapse and changes in viral prevalence associated with *Varroa destructor*. *Journal of Apicultural Research*, No 49, (1) pp93-94.
- Carson, R (1962) *Silent Spring*. Houghton Mifflin, New York.
- Carvell, C, Roy, D B, Smart, S M, Pywell, R F, Preston, C D and Goulson, D (2006) Declines in forage availability for bumblebees at a national scale. *Biological Conservation*, No 132, (4) pp481-489.
- Caspari, C, Christodoulou, M, Nganga, J and Ricci, M (2009) *Implications of Global Trends in Eating Habits for Climate Change, Health and Natural Resources*. IP/A/STOA/2008-04, European Parliament Science and Technology Options Assessment STOA, http://www.europarl.europa.eu/stoa/cms/cache/offonce/home/publications/studies?page=3.
- CEC (2004) *Maize and Biodiversity: The Effects of Transgenic Maize in Mexico*. North American Commission for Environmental Cooperation, Quebec, Canada.
- Cellini, F, Chesson, A, Colquhoun, I, Constable, A, Davies, H V, Engel, K H, Gatehouse, A M R, Kärenlampi, S, Kok, E J, Leguay, J-J, Lehesranta, S, Noteborn, J M, Pedersen, J and Smith, M (2004) Unintended effects and their detection in genetically modified crops. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, No 42, (7) pp1089-1125.
- Cerdeira, A L, Gazziero, D L P, Duke, S O and Matallo, M B (2011) Agricultural impacts of glyphosate-resistant soybean cultivation in South America. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, No 59, (11) pp5799-5807.
- Chamberlain, D E, Fuller, R J, Bunce, R G H, Duckworth, J C and Shrubb, M (2000) Changes in the abundance of farmland birds in relation to the timing of agricultural intensification in England and Wales. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, No 37, (5) pp771-788.
- Chan, Z, Bigelow, P J, Loescher, W and Grumet, R (2012) Comparison of salt stress resistance genes in transgenic *Arabidopsis thaliana* indicates that extent of transcriptomic change may not predict secondary phenotypic or fitness effects. *Plant Biotechnology Journal*, No 10, (3) pp284-300.
- Charles, C, Gerasimchuk, I, Bridle, R, Moerenhout, T, Asmelash, E and Laan, T (2013) *Biofuels at what cost? A review of costs and benefits of EU biofuel policies*. Research Report, The International Institute for Sustainable Development.

- Christoffoleti, P J, Galli, A J B, Carvalho, S J P, Moreira, M S, Nicolai, M, Foloni, L L, Martins, B A B and Ribeiro, D N (2008) Glyphosate sustainability in South American cropping systems. *Pest Management Science*, No 64, (4) pp422-427.
- Ciais, P, Wattenbach, M, Vuichard, N, Smith, P, Piao, S, Don, A, Luyssaert, S, Janssens, I A, Bondeau, A, Dechow, R, Leip, A, Smith, P C, Beer, C, Van der Werf, G R, Gervois, S, Van Oost, K, Tomelleri, E, Freibauer, A, Schulze, E D and Carboeurope synthesis team (2010) The European carbon balance. Part 2: Croplands. *Global Change Biology*, No 16, (5) pp1409-1428.
- Ciscar, J C, Iglesias, A, Feyen, L, Goodess, C M, Szabó, L, Christensen, O B, Nicholls, R, Amelung, B, Watkiss, P, Bosello, F, Dankers, R, Garrote, L, Hunt, A, Horrocks, L, Moneo, M, Moreno, A, Pye, S, Quiroga, S, van Regemorter, D, Richards, J, Roson, R and Soria, A (2009) *Climate change impacts in Europe*. Final report of the PESETA research project. Joint Research Centre, Ispira, Italy.
- Claessen, D, Gilligan, C A, Lutman, P J W and Bosch, F v d (2005a) Which traits promote persistence of feral GM crops? Part 2: implications of metapopulation structure. *Oikos*, No 110, (1) pp30-42.
- Claessen, D, Gilligan, C A, Lutman, P J W and Bosch, F v d (2005b) Which traits promote persistence of feral GM crops? Part 1: implications of environmental stochasticity. *Oikos*, No 110, (1) pp20-29.
- Colbach, N (2009) How to model and simulate the effects of cropping systems on population dynamics and gene flow at the landscape level: example of oilseed rape volunteers and their role for co-existence of GM and non-GM crops. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, No 16, (3) pp348-360.
- Colbach, N, Fargue, A, Sausse, C and Angevin, F (2005) Evaluation and use of a spatio-temporal model of cropping system effects on gene escape from transgenic oilseed rape varieties. Example of the GeneSys model applied to three coexisting herbicide tolerance transgenes. *European Journal of Agronomy*, No 22, (4) pp417-440.
- Coll, A, Nadal, A, Collado, R, Capellades, G, Kubista, M, Messeguer, J and Pla, M (2010) Natural variation explains most transcriptomic changes among maize plants of MON810 and comparable non-GM varieties subjected to two N-fertilization farming practices. *Plant Molecular Biology*, No 73, (3) pp349-362.
- Collier, M J and Mullins, E (2013) Potential for longevity of novel genetically modified herbicidetolerant traits in the Irish landscape. *Irish Geography*, No online early, (DOI:10.1080/00750778.2013.775768)
- Cominelli, E, Conti, L, Tonelli, C and Galbiati, M (2012) Challenges and perspectives to improve crop drought and salinity tolerance. *New Biotechnology*, No 30, (4) pp355-361.
- Concepción, E D, Díaz, M, Kleijn, D, Báldi, A, Batáry, P, Clough, Y, Gabriel, D, HERZOG, F, Holzschuh, A, Knop, E, Marshall, E J P, Tscharntke, T and Verhulst, J (2012) Interactive effects of landscape context constrain the effectiveness of local agri-environmental management. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, No 49, (3) pp695-705.
- Cook, S K, Wynn, S C and Clarke, J H (2010) How valuable is glyphosate to UK agriculture and the environment? *Outlooks on Pest Management*, No 21, (6) pp280-284.
- Cooper, T, Hart, K and Baldock, D (2009) *The Provision of Public Goods Through Agriculture in the European Union*. Report prepared for DG Agriculture and Rural Development, Contract No 30-CE-0233091/00-28, Institute for European Environmental Policy, London.
- Cop, J, Vidrih, M and Hacin, J (2009) Influence of cutting regime and fertilizer application on the botanical composition, yield and nutritive value of herbage of wet grasslands in Central Europe. *Grass and Forage Science*, No 64, (4) pp454-465.
- Corbet, S A, Willimas, I H and Osborne, J L (1991) Bees and the pollination of crops and wild flowers in the European Community. *Bee World*, No 72, pp47-59.
- Cortet, J, Griffiths, B S, Bohanec, M, Demsar, D, Andersen, M N, Caul, S, Birch, A N E, Pernin, C, Tabone, E, Vaufleury, A d, Ke, X and Krogh, P H (2007) Evaluation of effects of transgenic Bt

maize on microarthropods in a European multi-site experiment. *Pedobiologia*, No 51, (3) pp207-218.

- Costa, C, Büchler, R, Berg, S, Bienkowska, M, Bouga, M, Bubalo, D, Charistos, L, Le Conte, Y, Drazic, M, Dyrba, W, Fillipi, J, Hatjina, F, Ivanova, E, Kezic, N, Kiprijanovska, H, Kokinis, M, Korpela, S, Kryger, P, Lodesani, M, Meixner, M, Panasiuk, B, Pechhacker, H, Petrov, P, Oliveri, E, Ruottinen, L, Uzunov, A, Vaccari, G and Wilde, J (2012) A Europe-wide experiment for assessing the impact of genotype-environment interactions on the vitality and performance of honey bee colonies: experimental design and trait evaluation. *Journal of Apicultural Science*, No 56, (1) 147.
- Cotula, L, Dyer, N and Vermeulen, S (2008) *Fueling expansion? The biofuels boom and poor people's access to land*. FAO and IIED, London.
- Council of Europe (2008) European Strategy for Plant Conservation (2008-2014): A Sustainable Future for Europe. T-PVS/Inf(2008)14, Council of Europe, http://www.bgci.org/files/Plants2020/national_responses/new_european_strategy_for_plant_c onservation_20082014.pdf.
- Crawley, M J and Brown, S L (1995) Seed limitation and the dynamics of feral oilseed rape on the M25 motorway. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B Biological Sciences*, No 259, (1354) pp49-54.
- D'Hertefeldt, T, Jorgensen, R B and Pettersson, L B (2008) Long-term persistence of GM oilseed rape in the seedbank. *Biology Letters*, No 4, (3) pp314-317.
- Dainat, B, Evans, J D, Chen, Y P, Gauthier, L and Neumann, P (2012) Predictive markers of honey bee Colony Collapse. *PLoS ONE*, No 7, (2) e32151-doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0032151.
- Dainat, B, Evans, J D, Chen, Y P, Gauthier, L and Neumann, P (2013) Dead or alive: Deformed Wing Virus and *Varroa destructor* reduce the life span of winter honeybees. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, No 78, (4) 981.
- Damania, A B (2008) History, achievements, and current status of genetic resources conservation. *Agronomy Journal*, No 100, (1) pp9-21.
- Danielsen, F, Beukema, H, Burgess, N D, Parish, F, Brühl, C A, Donald, P F, Murdiyarso, D, Phalan, B, Reijnders, L, Struebig, M and Fitzherbert, E B (2009) Biofuel plantations on forested lands: double jeopardy for biodiversity and climate. *Conservation Biology*, No 23, (2) pp348-358.
- Darmency, H, Klein, E K, Gestat De Garanbé, T, Gouyon, P-H, Richard-Molard, M and Muchembled, C (2009) Pollen dispersal in sugar beet production fields. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, No 118, (6) pp1083-1092.
- Davies, Z G and Pullin, A S (2007) Are hedgerows effective corridors between fragments of woodland habitat? An evidence-based approach. *Landscape Ecology*, No 22, (3) pp333-351.
- De la Rúa, P, Jaffé, R, Dall'Olio, R, Muñoz, I and Serrano, J (2009) Biodiversity, conservation and current threats to European honeybees. *Apidologie*, No 40, (3) pp263-284.
- DEFRA (2013a) *UK Country Report on Farm Animal Genetic Resources 2012*. Department for Environment Food & Rural Affairs, UK.
- DEFRA (2013b) *An assessment of key evidence about neonicotinoids and bees*. PB13937, Defra (UK Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs), UK.
- Desneux, N, Decourtye, A and Delpuech, J-M (2007) The sublethal effects of pesticides on beneficial arthropods. *Annual Review of Entomology*, No 52, pp81-106.
- Devillers, J and Pham-Délègue, MH (2002) *Honey Bees: Estimating the Environmental Impact of Chemicals.* Taylor & Francis, London.
- Devos, Y, De Schrijver, A, De Clercq, P, Kiss, J and Romeis, J (2012a) Bt-maize event MON 88017 expressing Cry3Bb1 does not cause harm to non-target organisms. *Transgenic Research*, No 21, (6) pp1191-1214.
- Devos, Y, Hails, R S, Messean, A, Perry, J N and Squire, G R (2012b) Feral genetically modified herbicide tolerant oilseed rape from seed import spills: are concerns scientifically justified? *Transgenic Research*, No 21, (1) pp1-21.

- Dewar, A M, May, M J, Woiwod, I P, Haylock, L A, Champion, G T, Garner, B H, Sands, R J N, Qi, A and Pidgeon, J D (2003) A novel approach to the use of genetically modified herbicide tolerant crops for environmental benefit. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B Biological Sciences*, No 270, (1513) pp335-340.
- Dexter, J E, Jhala, A J, Yang, R-C, Hills, M J, Weselake, R J and Hall, L M (2011) Harvest loss and seed bank longevity of flax (*Linum usitatissimum*): implications for seed-mediated gene flow. *Weed Science*, No 59, (1) pp61-67.
- DG SANCO (2013) EU Pesticides Database. European Commission DG for Health and Consumers http://ec.europa.eu/sanco_pesticides/public/index.cfm
- Diaz-Chavez, R, Kunen, E, Walden, D, Fingerman, K, Arya, L, Kretschmer, B, Poláková, J, Farmer, A, Bowyer, C, Menadue, H, Alberici, C and Toop, G (2013) *Study on the operation of the system for the biofuels and bioliquids sustainability scheme*. A report for DG Energy, Ecofys, IEEP, Winrock International, http://ec.europa.eu/energy/renewables/biofuels/sustainability_criteria_en.htm.
- Didham, R K, Tylianakis, J M, Gemmell, N J, Rand, T A and Ewers, R M (2007) Interactive effects of habitat modification and species invasion on native species decline. *TRENDS in Ecology and Evolution*, No 22, (9) pp489-496.
- Dietemann, V, Pflugfelder, J, Anderson, D, Charrière, J-D, Chejanovsky, N, Dainat, B, de Miranda, J, Delaplane, K, Dillier, F-X, Fuch, S, Gallmann, P, Gauthier, L, Imdorf, A, Koeniger, N, Kralj, J, Meikle, W, Pettis, J, Rosenkranz, P, Sammataro, D, Smith, D, Yanez, V O and Neumann, P (2012) *Varroa destructor*: research avenues towards sustainable control. *Journal of Apicultural Research*, No 51, (1) pp125-132.
- Dise, N B (2011) Nitrogen as a threat to European terrestrial diversity, in M A Sutton, C M Howard, J W Erisman, G Billen, A Bleeker, P Grennfelt, H van Grinsven, & B Grizzetti (eds) *The European Nitrogen Assessment*, ppChapter 20. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Donald, P F (2004) Biodiversity impacts of some agricultural commodity production systems. *Conservation Biology*, No 18, (1) pp17-38.
- Donald, P F, Green, R E and Heath, M F (2001) Agricultural intensification and the collapse of Europe's farmland bird populations. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B*, No 268, (1462) pp25-29.
- Donald, P F, Sanderson, F J, Burfield, I J and van Bommel, F P J (2006) Further evidence of continent-wide impacts of agricultural intensification on European farmland birds, 1990-2000. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment,* No 116, (3-4) pp189-196.
- Donald, P F, Evans, A D, Muirhead, L B, Buckingham, D L, Kirby, W B and Schmitt, S I A (2002) Survival rates, causes of failure and productivity of Skylark *Alauda arvensis* nests on lowland farmland. *Ibis*, No 144, (4) pp652-664.
- Donatelli, M, Duveiller, G, Fumagalli, D, Srivastava, A, Zucchini, A, Angileri, V, Fasbender, D, Loudjani, P, Kay, S, Juskevicius, V, Toth, T, Haastrup, P, M'barek, R, Espinosa, M, Ciaian, P and Niemeyer, S (2012) *Assessing agriculture vulnerabilities for the design of effective measures for adaptation to climate change (AVEMAC project)*. European Commission Joint Research Centre, Luxembourg.
- Douville, M, Gagne, F, Blaise, C and André, C (2007) Occurrence and persistence of *Bacillus thuringiensis* (Bt) and transgenic Bt corn *cry1Ab* gene from an aquatic environment. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, No 66, (2) pp195-203.
- Douville, M, Gagné, F, André, C and Blaise, C (2009) Occurrence of the transgenic corn cry1Ab gene in freshwater mussels (*Ellipto complanata*) near corn fields: Evidence of exposure by bacterial ingestion. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, No 72, (1) pp17-25.
- Dover, J, Spencer, S, Collins, S, Hadjigeorgiou, I and Rescia, A (2011) Grassland butterflies and low intensity farming in Europe. *Journal of Insect Conservation*, No 15, (1) pp129-137.

- Doxa, A, Paracchini, M L, Pointereau, P, Devictor, V and Jiguet, F (2012) Preventing biotic homogenization of farmland bird communities: The role of High Nature Value farmland. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, No 148, (0) pp83-88.
- Drapela, T, Moser, D, Zaller, J G and Frank, T (2008) Spider assemblages in winter oilseed rape affected by landscape and site factors. *Ecography*, No 31, (2) pp254-262.
- Duan, J J, Marvier, M, Huesing, J E, Dively, G P and Huang, Z Y (2008a) A meta-analysis of effects of Bt crops on honey bees (Hymenoptera: Apidae). *PLoS ONE*, No 3, (1) e1415-doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0001415.
- Duan, J J, Marvier, M, Huesing, J E, Dively, G P and Huang, Z Y (2008b) A meta-analysis of effects of Bt crops on honey bees (Hymenoptera: Apidae). *PLoS ONE*, No 3, (1) e1415.
- Duke, S O and Powles, S B (2008) Glyphosate: a once-in-a-century herbicide. *Pest Management Science*, No 64, (4) pp319-325.
- Dussaubat, C, Sagastume, S, Gómez-Moracho, T, Botías, C, García-Palencia, P, Martín-Hernández, R, Le Conte, Y and Higes, M (2013) Comparative study of *Nosema ceranae* (Microsporidia) isolates from two different geographic origins. *Veterinary Microbiology*, No 162, (2-4) pp670-678.
- Dutcher, J D (2007) A review of resurgence and replacement causing pest outbreaks in IPM. [Vol 1], 27-43. General Concepts in Integrated Pest and Disease Management.
- EASAC (2009) *Ecosystem Services and Biodiversity in Europe*. EASAC Policy Report 09, European Academies Science Advisory Council Secretariat, The Royal Society, London, UK.
- EASAC (2011) *Plant genetic resources for food and agriculture: roles and research priorities in the European Union*. EASAC Policy Report No.17, The European Academies Science Advisory Council.
- EASAC (2013) *Planting the future: opportunities and challenges for using crop genetic improvement technologies for sustainable agriculture.* EASAC policy report 21, European Academies Science Advisory Council EASAC, www.easac.eu.
- Ecofys, Fraunhofer ISI, the Energy Economics Group, Becker Büttner Held and Winrock International (2013) *Renewable energy progress and biofuels sustainability*. ENER/C1/463-2011-Lot2, Report for the European Commission, London, UK.
- Ecofys, Bart Dehue, Sebastian Meyer, Jasper van de Staaij, Conservation International and WWF (2011) *Responsible Cultivation Areas: Identification and certification of feedstock production with a low risk of indirect effects*. Ecofys, http://www.ecofys.com/en/publication/17/.
- Ecologic (2010) Catalogue of Measures for Tackling Agricultural Pollution Under the WFD (CAOM). European Commission Joint Research Centre http://rbn-water-agri.jrc.ec.europa.eu/Prb-agri/documents/open-section
- ECPGR (2012) A strategic framework for the implementation of a European Genebank Integrated System (AEGIS). A policy guide. European Cooperative Programme for Plant Genetic Resources ECP/GR, Bioversity International, Rome, Italy.
- Edwards, R, Mulligan, D and Marelli, L (2010) *Indirect Land Use Change from increased biofuels demand*. EUR 24485 EN, European Commission Joint Research Centre (JRC), Ispra.
- Edwardson, W and Santacoloma, P (2013) Organic supply chains for small farmer income generation in *developing countries. Case studies in India, Thailand, Brazil, Hungary and Africa.* FAO, Rome.
- EEA (2004) *High Nature Value farmland: Characteristics, trends and policy challenges*. EEA Report No 1/2004, European Environment Agency, Copenhagen.
- EEA (2009) *Water Resources across Europe. Confronting Water Scarcity and Drought*. EEA Report No 2/2009, European Environment Agency, Copenhagen.
- EEA (2010a) The European Environment State and Outlook 2010: Synthesis. 1-228. Copenhagen, European Environment Agency. The European Environment State and Outlook SOER.
- EEA (2010b) The European Environment State and Outlook 2010: Assessment of global megatrends. Copenhagen, European Environment Agency. The European Environment State and Outlook SOER.

- EEA (2010c) *EU 2010 Biodiversity Baseline*. EEA Technical Report No 12/2010, European Environment Agency, Copenhagen.
- EEA (2012a) *European waters assessment of status and pressures*. EEA Report No.8/2012, European Environment Agency, Copenhagen.
- EEA (2012b) *Climate change, impacts and vulnerability in Europe 2012. An indicator-based report.* EEA Report No12/2012, European Environment Agency, Copenhagen.
- EEA (2012c) *Towards efficient use of water resources in Europe*. EEA Report No1/2012, European Environment Agency, Copenhagen.
- EEA (2013) *The European Grassland Butterfly Indicator: 1990-2011*. Technical report No 11/2013, European Environment Agency, Copenhagen.
- EEA and FOEN (2011) *Landscape Fragmentation in Europe*. Joint EEA-FOEN report. EEA Report No 2/2011, European Environment Agency / Swiss Federal Office for the Environment, Copenhagen / Bern.
- EFSA (2009) *Scientific Opinion on Guidance for the risk assessment of genetically modified organisms used for non-food non-feed purposes.* EFSA Panel on Genetically Modified Organisms (GMO).
- EFSA (2010) EFSA Guidance on the environmental risk assessment of genetically modified plants. *EFSA Journal*, No 8, (11) 1879.
- EFSA (2012a) Scientific Opinion addressing the safety assessment of plants developed through cisgenesis and intragenesis. *EFSA Journal*, No 10, (2) 2561-[doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2012.25619].
- EFSA (2012b) Scientific Opinion on the science behind the development of a risk assessment of Plant Protection Products on bees (*Apis mellifera, Bombus* spp. and solitary bees). *EFSA Journal*, No 10, (5) 2668-doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2012.2668.
- EFSA (2013a) Conclusion on the peer review of the pesticide risk assessment for bees for the active substance imidacloprid. *EFSA Journal*, No 11, (1) 3068-doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2013.3068.
- EFSA (2013b) Conclusion on the peer review of the pesticide risk assessment for bees for the active substance thiamethoxam. *EFSA Journal*, No 11, (1) 3067-doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2013.3067.
- EFSA (2013c) Scientific Opinion on application (EFSA-GMO-NL-2010-87) for the placing on the market of genetically modified herbicide tolerant oilseed rape GT73 for food containing or consisting of, and food produced from or containing ingredients produced from, oilseed rape GT73 (with the exception of refined oil and food additives) under Regulation (EC) No 1829/2003 from Monsanto. *EFSA Journal*, No 11, (2) 3079 [26 pp.].
- EFSA (2013d) EFSA Guidance Document on the risk assessment of plant protection products on bees (*Apis mellifera, Bombus* spp. and solitary bees). *EFSA Journal*, No 11, (7) 3295-doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2013.3295.
- EFSA (2013e) Conclusion on the peer review of the pesticide risk assessment for bees for the active substance clothianidin. *EFSA Journal*, No 11, (1) 3066-doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2013.3066.
- EFSA (2013f) Conclusion on the peer review of the pesticide risk assessment for bees for the active substance fipronil. *EFSA Journal*, No 11, (5) 3158-doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2013.3158.
- EFTEC and IEEP (2010) *The Use of Market-based Instruments for Biodiversity Protection the Case of Habitat Banking*. Technical report for European Commission DG Environment, Eftec and IEEP, London.
- Eilers, E J, Kremen, C, Greenleaf, S S, Garber, A K and Klein, A M (2013) Contribution of pollinator-mediated crops to nutrients in the human food supply. *PLoS ONE*, No 6, (6) e21363.
- Eizaguirre, M, Albajes, R, López, C, Eras, J, Lumbierres, B and Pons, X (2006) Six years after the commercial introduction of Bt maize in Spain: field evaluation, impact and future prospects. *Transgenic Research*, No 15, (1) pp1-12.
- Elbersen, B, Startisky, I, Hengeveld, G, Schelhaas, M J and Naeff, H (2012a) *Atlas of EU biomass potentials. Spatially detailed and quantified overview of EU biomass potential taking into account the main crieria determing biomass availability from different sources*. Biomass Futures project deliverable 3.3, Alterra & Intelligent Energy Europe, Netherlands.

- Elbersen, B, Fritsche, U, Eerens, H, Overmars, K, Lesschen, J P, Startisky, I, Zulka, K P, Brodski, L and Hennenberg, K (2012b) *Review of the EU bioenergy potential from a resource efficiency perspective*. A follow-up to EEA report No 7/2006. European Environment Agency, Copenhagen.
- Ellenberg, H (1988) *Vegetation Ecology of Central Europe*. 1st edition ed. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Ellstrand, N C (2003) Current knowledge of gene flow in plants: implications for transgene flow. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B*, No 358, (1434) pp1163-1170.
- Emsen, B and Dodologlu, A (2009) The effects of using different organic compounds against honey bee mite (*Varroa destructor* Anderson and Trueman) on colony developments of honey bee (*Apis mellifera* L.) and residue levels in honey. *Journal of Animal and Veterinary Advances*, No 8, (5) pp1004-1009.
- European Commission (2008) *Prospects for agricultural markets and income in the European Union* 2007 2014.
- European Commission (2009a) *Fifth National Communication from the European Community under the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCC)*. (required under Article 12 of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change). Technical Report 2009 038, European Commission, Brussels.
- European Commission (2009b) *The role of European agriculture in climate change mitigation*. Commission Staff Working Document, SEC(2009) 1093 final, 23.7.2009b, European Commission, Brussels.
- European Commission (2009c) *Composite report on the conservation status of habitat types and species as required under Article 17 of the Habitats Directive.* Report from the Commission to the Council and the European Parliament Composite, COM(2009)0358 final, 13.7.2009c, Commission of the European Communities, Brussels.
- European Commission (2010a) *LIFE among the olives: good practice in improving environmental performance in the olive oil sector.* Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.
- European Commission (2010b) *Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council on honeybee health*. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council, COM(2010) 714final, 6.12.2010b, European Commission, Brussels.
- European Commission (2011a) *Roadmap to a resource efficient Europe*. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, COM(2011) 571, 20.9.2011a, European Commission, Brussels.
- European Commission (2011b) *Commission working paper on financing Natura 2000. Investing in Natura 2000: Delivering benefits for nature and people.* SEC(2011) 1573 final, 12.12.2011b, European Communities,
- European Commission (2011c) *Report from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council on socio-economic implications of GMO cultivation on the basis of Member States contributions, as requested by the Conclusions of the Environment Council of December 2008.* Report from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council, COM(2011) 0214 final*, 15.4.2011c, European Commission, Brussels.
- European Commission (2011d) Our life insurance, our natural capital: an EU biodiversity strategy to 2020. COM(2011)244 Final, 3.5.2011d, European Commission, http://ec.europa.eu/environment/nature/biodiversity/comm2006/pdf/2020/1_EN_ACT_part1 _v7%5b1%5d.pdf.
- European Commission (2012a) *Accounting for land use, land use change and forestry (LULUCF) in the Union's climate change commitments.* Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, COM(2012) 94 final, 12.3.2012a, European Commission, Brussels.

- European Commission (2012b) *Prospects for Agricultural Markets and Income in the EU 2012-2022*. European Commission, http://ec.europa.eu/agriculture/markets-and-prices/medium-term-outlook/2012/fullrep_en.pdf.
- European Commission (2012c) EU Agriculture Statistical and Economic Information. European Commission, Agriculture and Rural Development http://ec.europa.eu/agriculture/statistics/agricultural/2012/index_en.htm
- European Commission (2013a) *Guidance on Integrating Climate Change and Biodiversity into Strategic Environmental Assessment*. European Commission, http://ec.europa.eu/environment/eia/.
- European Commission (2013b) *The impact of EU consumption on deforestation: Comprehensive analysis of the impact of EU consumption on deforestation.* Study funded by the European Commission DG ENV and undertaken by VITO, IIASA, HIVA and IUCN NL. Views or opinions expressed in this report do not necessarily represent those of IIASA or its National Member Organizations, European Commission DG Environment,

http://ec.europa.eu/environment/forests/impact_deforestation.htm.

- European Commission (2013c) *Preserving genetic resources in agriculture*. Achievements of the 17 projects of the Community Programme 2006-2011. European Commission DG AGRI, http://ec.europa.eu/agriculture/genetic-resources/actions/index_en.htm.
- European Court of Auditors (2011) *Is agri-environment support well designed and managed?* Special Report Number 7, European Court of Auditors, Luxembourg.
- European Parliament (2011) *Report on honeybee health and the challenges of the beekeeping sector.* Committee on Agriculture and Rural Development Report. Rapporteur: Csaba Sándor Tabajdi. 2001/2108(INI), European Parliament, Brussels.
- Eurostat (2007) *The use of plant protection products in the European Union. Data* 1992-2003. Statistical books, Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg.
- Eurostat (2012a) *Agriculture, fishery and forestry statistics (pocketbook)*. Main results 2010-11. European Commission,
- http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/portal/page/portal/agriculture/introduction. Eurostat (2012b) AEI 17 Agri-Environmental Indicator - Pesticide Risk. Eurostat
- http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/statistics_explained/index.php/Agrienvironmental_indicator_-_pesticide_risk
- Evans, J D and Armstrong, T N (2006) Antagonistic interactions between honey bee bacterial symbiots and implications for disease. *BMC Ecology*, No 6, (4) doi:10.1186/1472-6785-6-4.
- Ewers, R M, Scharlemann, J P W, Balmford, A and Green, R E (2009) Do increases in agricultural yield spare land for nature? *Global Change Biology*, No 15, (7) pp1716-1726.
- Faber, J, Schroten, A, Bles, M, Sevenster, M, Markowska, A, Smit, M, Rohde, C, Dutschke, E, Kohler, J, Gigle, M, Zimmermann, K, Soboh, R and van't Riet, J (2012) *Behavioural Climate Change Mitigation Options and their Appropriate Inclusion in Quantitative Longer Term Policy Scenarios*. Main report.
- Fanzo, J, Hunter, D, Borelli, T and Mattei, F (eds) (2013) *Diversifying Food and Diets: Using Agricultural Biodiversity to Improve Nutrition and Health.* Routledge, Oxford, UK.
- FAO (2006) *World Agriculture Towards 2030/2050 Interim Report.* Prospects for food, nutrition, agriculture and major commodity groups. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome.
- FAO (2007) *The State of the World's Animal Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture*. Commission on Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome.
- FAO (2008a) *The State of Food and Agriculture 2008. Biofuels: prospects, risks and opportunities.* Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome.

- FAO (2008b) *Climate change and biodiversity for food and agriculture*. Technical background document from the expert consultation held on 13 to 14 February 2008. HLC/08/BAK/3, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome.
- FAO (2010a) *Global Forest Resources Assessment (FRA)* 2010. Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations, Rome.
- FAO (2010b) *The State of the World's Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture*. Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations, Rome.
- FAO (2011a) *Looking Ahead in World Food and Agriculture: Perspective to 2050.* Agricultural Development Economics Division Economic and Social Development Department Report, P Conforti (ed), Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations, Rome.
- FAO (2011b) *Second Global Plan of Action for Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture*. Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations, Rome.
- FAO (2012) *The State of Food and Agriculture*. Investing in agriculture for a better future.
- Farinós, G P, Poza, M d l, Hernández-Crespo, P, Ortego, F and Castañera, P (2008) Diversity and seasonal phenology of aboveground arthropods in conventional and transgenic maize crops in Central Spain. *Biological Control*, No 44, (3) pp362-371.
- Favre, D (2011) Mobile phone-induced honeybee worker piping. *Apidologie*, No 42, (3) pp270-279.
- Fei, H, Tsang, E and Cutler, A J (2007) Gene expression during seed maturation in *Brassica napus* in relation to the induction of secondary dormancy. *Genomics*, No 89, (3) pp419-428.
- Felke, M and Langenbruch, G A (2005) *Auswirkungen des Pollens von transgenem Bt-Mais auf ausgewählte Schmetterlingslarven*. BFN-Skripten 157, Bundesamt fuer Naturschutz, Bonn Bad Godesberg, Germany.
- Felke, M, Lorenz, N and Langenbruch, G A (2002) Laboratory studies on the effects of pollen from Bt-maize on larvae of some butterfly species. *Journal of Applied Entomology*, No 126, (6) pp320-325.
- Felke, M, Langenbruch, G A, Feiertag, S and Adane, K (2010) Effect of Bt-176 maize pollen on first instar larvae of the Peacock butterfly (*Inachis io*) (Lepidoptera; Nymphalidae). *Environmental Biosafety Research*, No 9, (1) pp5-12.
- Fénart, S, Austerlitz, F, Cuguen, J and Arnaud, J-F (2007) Long distance pollen-mediated gene flow at a landscape level: the weed beet as a case study. *Molecular Ecology*, No 16, (18) pp3801-3813.
- Feuillet, C, Langridge, P and Waugh, R (2008) Cereal breeding takes a walk on the wild side. *Trends in Genetics*, No 24, (1) pp24-32.
- FIAN (2010) *Land grabbing in Kenya and Mozambique*. A report on two research missions and a human rights analysis of land grabbing. FIAN, Heidelberg.
- Fiener, P, Auerswald, K and Van Oost, K (2011) Spatio-temporal patterns in land use and management affecting surface runoff response of agricultural catchments A review. *Earth-Science Reviews*, No 106, pp92-104.
- Finch-Savage, W E and Leubner-Metzger, G (2006) Seed dormancy and the control of germination. *New Phytologist*, No 171, (3) pp501-523.
- Firbank, L G, Rothery, P, May, M J, Clark, S J, Scott, R J, Stuart, R C, Boffey, C W H, Brooks, D R, Champion, G T, Haughton, A J, Hawes, C, Heard, M S, Dewar, A M, Perry, J N and Squire, G R (2006) Effects of genetically modified herbicide-tolerant cropping systems on weed seedbanks in two years of following crops. *Biology Letters*, No 2, (1) pp140-143.
- Fitzherbert, E B, Struebig, M J, Morel, A, Danielsen, F, Brühl, C A, Donald, P F and Phalan, B (2008) How will oil palm expansion affect biodiversity? *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, No 23, (10) pp538-545.
- Floate, K D, Wardhaugh, K G, Boxall, A B A and Sherratt, T N (2005) Fecal residues of veterinary parasiticides: nontarget effects in the pasture environment. *Annual Review of Entomology*, No 50, pp153-179.

- Flores, J M, Spivak, M and Gutiérrez, L (2005) Spores of *Ascosphaera apis* contained in wax foundation can infect honeybee brood. *Veterinary Microbiology*, No 108, (1-2) pp141-144.
- FoEE (2013) *The environmental impacts of glyphosate*. Friends of the Earth Europe, Brussels, Belgium.
- Foresight (2011) *The Future of Food and Farming: Challenges and choices for global sustainability*. Final Project Report. The Government Office for Science, London.
- Forsgren, E (2010) European foulbrood in honey bees. *Journal of Invertebrate Pathology*, No 103, (S) S5-S9.
- Fox, A D (2004) Has Danish agriculture maintained farmland bird populations? *Journal of Applied Ecology*, No 41, (3) pp427-439.
- Frampton, G K and Dorne, J L C M (2007) The effects on terrestrial invertebrates of reducing pesticide inputs in arable crop edges: a meta-analysis. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, No 44, (2) pp362-373.
- Frank, S, Böttcher, H, Havlík, P, Valin, H, Mosnier, A, Obersteiner, M, Schmid, E and Elbersen, B (2012) How effective are the sustainability criteria accompanying the European Union 2020 biofuel targets? *Global Change Biology Bioenergy*, No online early, (doi: 10.1111/j.1757-1707.2012.01188.x)
- Freibauer, A, Mathijs, E, Brunori, G, Damianova, Z, Faroult, E, Girona i Gomis, J, O'Brien, L and Treyer, S (2011) *Sustainable food consumption and production in a resource-constrained world: the 3rd SCAR Foresight Exercise*. European Commission Standing Committee on Agricultural Research, Brussels.
- Frelih-Larsen, A, Leipprand, A, Naumann, S and Beucher, O (2008) *PICCMAT Climate change mitigation through agricultural techniques. Policy recommendations.* PICCMAT Deliverable D11. PICCMAT Policy Incentives for Climate Change Mitigation Agricultural Techniques.
- Fresco, L O (2013) The GMO stalemate in Europe. Science, No 339, (6122) 883.
- Frey-Ehrenbold, A, Bontadina, F, Arlettaz, R and Obrist, M K (2013) Landscape connectivity, habitat structure and activity of bat guilds in farmland-dominated matrices. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, No 50, (1) pp252-261.
- Fried, G, Petit, S, Dessaint, F and Reboud, X (2009) Arable weed decline in Northern France: crop edges as refugia for weed conservation? *Biological Conservation*, No 142, (1) pp238-243.
- Friends of the Earth (2005) *The oil for ape scandal: How palm oil threatens orang-utan survival.*
- Fries, I (2010) *Nosema ceranae* in European honey bees (*Apis mellifera*). *Journal of Invertebrate Pathology*, No 103, (S) S73-S79.
- Fritsche, U R and Wiegmann, K (2011) *Indirect Land Use Change and Biofuels*. European Parliament Directorate-General for Internal Policies, Policy Department A: Economic and Scientific Policy: Environment, Public Health and Food Saftey, Brussels.
- Fritsche, U R, Van Steen, H, Petersen, J-E, Marelli, L, Andersson, K, Berndes, G and Urbancic, N (2012) *Proceedings from the Workshop on Biofuels and Indirect Land Use Change Brussels 25 January 2012*. IP / A / ENVI / WS / 2011-18, European Parliament, Policy Department A Economic and Scientific Policy, Brussels.
- Fulponi, L (2006) Private voluntary standards in the food system: The perspective of major food retailers in OECD countries. *Food Policy*, No 31, (1) pp1-13.
- Gallai, N, Salles, J-M, Settele, J and Vaissière, B E (2009) Economic valuation of the vulnerability of world agriculture confronted with pollinator declines. *Ecological Economics*, No 68, (3) pp810-821.
- Gantioler, S, Rayment, M, Bassi, S, Kettunen, M, McConville, A J, Landgrebe, R, Gerdes, H and ten Brink, P (2010) *Costs and Socio-Economic Benefits associated with the Natura 2000 Network*. Final Report to the European Commission, DG Environment on Contract ENV.B.2/SER/2008/0038, Institute for European Environmental Policy / GHK / Ecologic, Brussels.

- Gardi, C, Jeffery, S and Saltelli, A (2013) An estimate of potential threats levels to soil biodiversity in EU. *Global Change Biology*, No 19, (5) pp1538-1548.
- Garibaldi, L A, Aizen, M A, Klein, A M, Cunningham, S A and Harder, L D (2011) Global growth and stability of agricultural yield decrease with pollinator dependence. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA*, No 108, (14) pp5909-5914.
- Gay, S, Louwagie, G, Sammeth, F, Ratinger, T, Marechal, B, Prosperi, P, Rusco, E, Terres, J, Van Der Velde, M, Baldock, D, Bowyer, C, Cooper, T, Fenn, I, Hagemann, N, Prager, K, Heyn, N and Schuler, J (2009) *Final report on the project 'Sustainable Agriculture and Soil Conservation' (SoCo)*. EUR - Scientific and Technical Reports JRC51775, European Commission, Luxembourg.
- Gebhard, F and Smalla, K (1999) Monitoring field releases of genetically modified sugar beets for persistence of transgenic plant DNA and horizontal gene transfer. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, No 28, (3) pp261-272.
- Geiger, F, de Snoo, G R, Berendse, F, Guerrero, I, Morales, M B, Oñate, J, Eggers, S, Pärt, T, Bommarco, R, Bengtsson, J, Clement, L W, Weisser, W, Olsezeski, A, Ceryngier, P, Hawro, V, Inchausti, P, Fischer, C, Flohre, A, Thies, C and Tscharntke, T (2010a) Landscape composition influences farm management effects on farmland birds in winter: A pan-European approach. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, No 139, (4) pp571-577.
- Geiger, F, Bengtsson, J, Berendse, F, Weisser, W W, Emmerson, M, Morales, M B, Ceryngier, P, Liira, J, Tscharntke, T, Winqvist, C, Eggers, S, Bommarco, R, Pärt, T, Bretagnolle, V, Plantegenest, M, Clement, L W, Dennis, C, Palmer, C, Oñate, J J, Guerrero, I, Hawro, V, Aavik, T, Thies, C, Flohre, A, Hänke, S, Fischer, C, Goedhart, P W and Inchausti, P (2010b) Persistent negative effects of pesticides on biodiversity and biological control potential on European farmland. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, No 11, (2) pp97-105.
- Genersch, E (2010) Honey bee pathology: current threats to honey bees and beekeeping. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, No 87, (1) pp87-97.
- Gereffi, G, Humphrey, J and Sturgeon, T (2005) The governance of global value chains. *Review of International Political Economy*, No 12, (1) pp78-104.
- Gerstter, C, Kaphengst, T, Knoblauch, D and Timeus, K (2011) *An assessment of the effects of land ownership and land grab on development with a particular focus on small holdings and rural areas*. Adhoc briefing for the European Parliament's Committee on Development, Brussels, European Parliament.
- Ghazoul, J (2005) Buzziness as usual? Questioning the global pollinator crisis. *TRENDS in Ecology and Evolution*, No 20, (7) pp367-373.
- Gill, R J, Ramos-Rodriguez, O and Raine, N E (2012) Combined pesticide exposure severely affects individual- and colony-level traits in bees. *Nature*, No doi:10.1038/nature11585,
- Givens, W A, Shaw, D R, Kruger, G R, Johnson, W G, Weller, S C, Young, B G, Wilson, R G, Owen, M D K and Jordan, D L (2009) Survey of tillage trends following the adoption of glyphosate-resistant crops. *Weed Technology*, No 23, (1) pp150-155.
- Gobin, A, Campling, P, Janssen, L, Desmet, N, van Delden, H, Hurkens, J, Lavelle, P and Berman, S (2011) Soil organic matter management across the EU - best practices, constraints and trade-offs. Final Report for the European Commission, DG Environment. Technical Report - 2011 - 051, European Communities, Luxembourg.
- Goriup, P D (1988) *Ecology and Conservation of Grassland Birds.* International Council for Bird Conservation, Cambridge, UK.
- Goulson, D, Lye, G C and Darvill, B (2008) The decline and conservation of bumblebees. *Annual Review of Entomology*, No 53, pp191-208.
- Gray, M E, Sappington, T W, Miller, N, Moeser, J and Bohn, M O (2009) Adaptation and invasiveness of Western Corn Rootworm: intensifying research on a worsening pest. *Annual Review of Entomology*, No 54, pp303-321.

- Green, R E, Cornell, S J, Scharlemann, J P W and Balmford, A (2005) Farming and the fate of wild nature. *Nature*, No 307, (5709) pp550-555.
- Greenleaf, S S and Kremen, C (2006) Wild bees enhance honey bees' pollination of hybrid sunflower. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA*, No 103, (37) pp13890-13895.
- Gregory, P J, Johnson, S N, Newton, A C and Ingram, J S I (2009) Integrating pests and pathogens into the climate change/food security debate. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, No 60, (10) pp2827-2838.
- Griffiths, B S, Caul, S, Thompson, J, Birch, A N E, Cortet, J, Andersen, M N and Krogh, P H (2007) Microbial and microfaunal community structure in cropping systems with genetically modified plants. *Pedobiologia*, No 51, (3) pp195-206.
- Grimm, M, Sedy, K, Süssenbacher, E and Riss, A (2012) *Existing scientific evidence of the effects of neonicotinoid pesticides on bees*. IP/A/ENVI/NT/2012-09, This document was requested by the European Parliament's Committee on Environment, Public Health and Food Safety, European Parliament DG Internal Policies Dept A: Economic and Scientific Policy, Brussels.
- Guadagnuolo, R, Clegg, J and Ellstrand, N C (2006) Relative fitness of transgenic vs. nontransgenic maize x teosinte hybrids: A field evaluation. *Ecological Applications*, No 16, (5) pp1967-1974.
- Guerrero, I, Morales, M B, Oñate, J J, Geiger, F, Berendse, F, de Snoo, G, Eggers, S, Pärt, T, Bengtsson, J, Clement, L W, Weisser, W W, Olszewski, A, Ceryngier, P, Hawro, V, LIIRA, J, Aavik, T, Fischer, C, Flohre, A, Thies, C and Tscharntke, T (2012) Response of ground-nesting farmland birds to agricultural intensification across Europe: Landscape and field level management factors. *Biological Conservation*, No 152, pp74-80.
- Gulden, R H, Shirtliffe, S J and Thomas, A G (2003a) Harvest losses of canola (*Brassica napus*) cause large seedbank inputs. *Weed Science*, No 51, (1) pp83-86.
- Gulden, R H, Shirtliffe, S J and Gordon Thomas, A (2003b) Secondary dormancy prolongs persistence of volunteer canola in western Canada. *Weed Science*, No 51, (6) pp904-913.
- Gulden, R H, Thomas, A G and Shirtliffe, S J (2004) Relative contribution of genotype, seed size and environment to secondary seed dormancy potential in Canadian spring oilseed rape (*Brassica napus*). *Weed Research*, No 44, (2) pp97-106.
- Gulden, R H, Sikkema, P H, Hamill, A S, Tardif, F J and Swanton, C J (2009) Conventional vs. glyphosate-resistant cropping systems in Ontario: weed control, diversity, and yield. *Weed Science*, No 57, (6) pp665-672.
- Gulden, R H, Sikkema, P H, Hamill, A S, Tardif, F J and Swanton, C J (2010) Glyphosate-resistant cropping systems in Ontario: multivariate and nominal trait-based weed community structure. *Weed Science*, No 58, (3) pp278-288.
- Gulden, R H, Lerat, S, Hart, M, Campbell, R, Powell, J, Pauls, P, Klironomos, J N, Swanton, C and Trevors, J (2005) Tracking plant transgenes in soil where do they go? *ISB News Report* (5/05)
- Hajjar, R and Hodgkin, T (2007) The use of wild relatives in crop improvement: a survey of developments over the last 20 years. *Euphytica*, No 156, (1-2) pp1-13.
- Halada, L, Evans, D, Romão, C and Petersen, J-E (2011) Which habitats of European importance depend on agricultural practices? *Biodiversity and Conservation*, No 20, (11) pp2365-2378.
- Hald, A B (1999) The impact of changing the season in which cereals are sown on the diversity of the weed flora in rotational fields in Denmark. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, No 36, (1) pp24-32.
- Halewood, M, López-Noriega, I and Louafi, S (2013) *Crop Genetic Resources As a Global Commons. Challenges in International Law and Governance.* Routledge/Bioversity International, Oxford, UK.
- Halfhill, M D, Sutherland, J P, Moon, H S, Poppy, G M, Warwick, S I, Weissinger, A K, Rufty, T W, Raymer, P L and Stewart Jr., C N (2005) Growth, productivity, and competitiveness of introgressed weedy *Brassica rapa* hybrids selected for the presence of Bt *cry1Ac* and gfp transgenes. *Molecular Ecology*, No 14, (10) pp3177-3189.

- Hampicke, U (2010) *Expert Report on the Level of Compensation Payments for the Near-Natural Exploitation of Agricultural Land in Germany.*
- Hart, K, Allen, B, Lindner, M, Keenleyside, C, Burgess, P J, Eggers, J and Buckwell, A (2013) *Land as an environmental resource*. Report prepared for DG Environment, Contract No ENV.B.1/ETU/2011/0029, Institute for European Environmental Policy, London.
- Hart, K, Baldock, D, Tucker, G M, Allen, B, Calatrava, J, Black, H, Newman, S, Baulcomb, C, McCracken, D and Gantioler, S (2011) *Costing the Environmental Needs Related to Rural Land Management*. Report prepared for DG Environment, Contract No ENV.F.1/ETU/2010/0019r, Institute for European Environmental Policy, London.
- Hart, M M, Powell, J R, Gulden, R H, Levy-Booth, D J, Dunfield, K E, Pauls, K P, Swanton, C J, Klironomos, J N and Trevors, J T (2009) Detection of transgenic *cp4epsps* genes in the soil food web. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, No 29, (4) pp497-501.
- Haubruge, E, Nguyen, B K, Widart, J, Thomé, JP, Fickers, P and Depauw, E (2006) Le dépérissement de l'abeille domestique, *Apis mellifera* L., 1758 (Hymenoptera: Apidae): faits et causes probables. *Notes fauniques de Gembloux*, No 59, (1) pp3-21.
- Haughton, A J, Bell, J R, Boatman, N D and Wilcox, A (2001) The effect of the herbicide glyphosate on non-target spiders: Part II. Indirect effects on *Lepthyphantes tenuis* in field margins. *Pest Management Science*, No 57, (11) pp1037-1042.
- Haughton, A J, Bond, A J, Lovett, A A, Dockerty, T, Sünnenberg, G, Clark, S J, BOHAN, D A, Sage, R B, MALLOTT, M D, Mallott, V E, Cunningham, M D, Riche, A B, Shield, I F, Finch, J W, Turner, M M and Karp, A (2009) A novel, integrated approach to assessing social, economic and environmental implications of changing rural land-use: a case study of perennial biomass crops. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, No 46, (2) pp315-322.
- Haughton, A J, Champion, G T, Hawes, C, Heard, M S, Brooks, D R, Bohan, D A, Clark, S J, Dewar, A M, Firbank, L G, Osborne, J L, Perry, J N, Rothery, P, Roy, D B, Scott, R J, Woiwod, I P, Birchall, C, Skellern, M P, Walker, J H, Baker, P, Browne, E L, Dewar, A J G, Garner, B H, Haylock, L A, Horne, S L, Mason, N S, Sands, R J N and Walker, M J (2003) Invertebrate responses to the management of genetically modified herbicide-tolerant and conventional spring crops. II. Within-field epigeal and aerial arthropods. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B*, No 358, (1439) pp1863-1877.
- Hauser, R (2004) *Aethina tumida*: la menace se précise. *Insectes*, No 134, (3) 15.
- Hawes, C, Haughton, A J, Osborne, J L, Roy, D B, Clark, S J, Perry, J N, Rothery, P, Bohan, D A, Brooks, D R, Champion, G T, Dewar, A M, Heard, M S, Woiwod, I P, Daniels, R E, Young, M W, Parish, A M, Scott, R J, Firbank, L G and Squire, G R (2003) Responses of plants and invertebrate trophic groups to contrasting herbicide regimes in the Farm Scale Evaluations of genetically modified herbicide–tolerant crops. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London.Series B: Biological Sciences*, No 358, (1439) pp1899-1913.
- Hawthorne, D J and Dively, G P (2011) Killing them with kindness? In-hive medications may inhibit xenobiotic efflux transporters and endanger honey bees. *PLoS ONE*, No 6, (11) e26796.
- Heard, M S, Hawes, C, Champion, G T, Clark, S J, Firbank, L G, Haughton, A J, Parish, A M, Perry, J N, Rothery, P, Roy, D B, Scott, R J, Skellern, M P, Squire, G R and Hill, M O (2003) Weeds in fields with contrasting conventional and genetically modified herbicide-tolerant crops. II. Effects on individual species. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B*, No 358, (1439) pp1833-1846.
- Helander, M, Saloniemi, I and Saikkonen, K (2012) Glyphosate in northern ecosystems. *Trends in Plant Science*, No 17, (10) pp569-574.
- Hellmann, F and Verburg, P H (2010) Impact assessment of the European biofuel directive on land use and biodiversity. *Journal of Environmental Management*, No 91, (6) pp1389-1396.
- Hendrickx, F, Maelfait, J P, van Wingerden, W, Schweiger, O, Speelmans, M, Aviron, S, Augenstein, I, Billeter, R, Bailey, D, Bukacek, R, Burel, F, Diekotter, T, Dirksen, J, Herzog, F,

Roubalova, M, Vandomme, V and Bugter, R (2007) How landscape structure, land-use intensity and habitat diversity affect components of total arthropod diversity in agricultural landscapes. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, No 44, (2) pp340-351.

- Hendriksma, H P, Härtel, S, Babendreier, D, von der Ohe, W and Steffan-Dewenter, I (2012) Effects of multiple Bt proteins and GNA lectin on in vitro-reared honey bee larvae. *Apidologie*, No 43, (5) pp549-560.
- Hendrikx, P, Chauzat, M-P, Debin, M, Neuman, P, Fries, I, Ritter, W, Brown, M, Mutinelli, F, Le Conte, Y and Gregorc, A (2009) *Bee Mortality and Bee Surveillance in Europe*. Scientific Report submitted to EFSA. European Food Safety Authority EFSA, Capri, Italy.
- Higes, M, Martín-Hernández, R and Meana, A (2010) *Nosema ceranae* in Europe: an emergent type C nosemosis. *Apidologie*, No 41, (3) pp375-392.
- Higes, M, Martín-Hernández, R, Botías, C, Bailón, E G, González-Porto, A V, Barrios, L, Jesús de Nozal, M, Bernal, J L, Jiménez, J J, Palencia, P G and Meana, A (2008) How natural infection by *Nosema ceranae* causes honeybee colony collapse. *Environmental Microbiology*, No 10, (10) pp2659-2669.
- Hijri, I, Sykorová, Z, Oehl, F, Ineichen, K, Mäder, P, Wiemken, A and Redecker, D (2006) Communities of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in arable soils are not necessarily low in diversity. *Molecular Ecology*, No 15, (8) pp2277-2289.
- Hilbeck, A, Meier, M and Benzler, A (2008) Identifying indicator species for post-release monitoring of genetically modified, herbicide resistant crops. *Euphytica*, No 164, (3) pp903-912.
- Hjerp, P, Volkery, A, Lückge, H, Medhurst, J, Hart, K, Medarova-Bergstrom, K, Tröltzsch, J, McGuinn, J, Skinner, I, Desbarats, J, Slater, C, Bartel, A, Frelih-Larsen, A and ten Brink, P (2012) *Methodologies for climate proofing investments and measures under Cohesion and regional policy and the Common Agricultural Policy*. A report for DG Climate. Institute for European Environmental Policy, London.
- HLPE (2011) *Price volatility and food security*. A report by the High Level Panel of Experts on Food Security and Nutrition. HLPE Report No1, FAO Committee on World Food Security, Rome.
- HLPE (2013) *Biofuels and food security*. A report by the High Level Panel of Experts on Food Security and Nutrition. HLPE Report 5, FAO Committee on World Food Security, Rome.
- Hoffmann, C C, Kjaergaard, C, Uusi-Kämppä, J, Hansen, H C B and Kronvang, B (2009) Phosphorus retention in riparian buffers: review of their efficiency. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, No 38, (5) pp1942-1955.
- Holland, J M (2004) The environmental consequences of adopting conservation tillage in Europe: reviewing the evidence. *Agriculture Ecosystems and Environment*, No 103, (1) pp1-25.
- Holland, J M, Oaten, H, Moreby, S, Birkett, T, Simper, J, Southway, S and Smith, B M (2012) Agrienvironment scheme enhancing ecosystem services: A demonstration of improved biological control in cereal crops. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, No 155, pp147-152.
- Holzschuh, A, Steffan-Dewenter, I, Kleijn, D and Tscharntke, T (2007) Diversity of flower-visiting bees in cereal fields: effects of farming system, landscape composition and regional context. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, No 44, (1) pp41-49.
- Hönemann, L, Zurbrügg, C and Nentwig, W (2009) Effects of Bt-corn decomposition on the composition of the soil meso- and macrofauna. *Applied Soil Ecology*, No 40, (2) pp203-209.
- Hoojier, A, Nelson, E, Tilman, D, Polasky, S and Tiffany, D (2006) *Assessment of CO2 emissions from drained peatlands in SE Asia. A technical report.* Wetlands International, Netherlands.
- Horth, H and Blackmore, K (2009) *Survey of glyphosate and AMPA in groundwaters and surface waters in Europe*. WRc Ref: UC8073.02, Report for Monsanto, Water Research Centre plc (WRc), Swindon, UK.
- Huang, F, Andow, D A and Buschman, L L (2011) Success of the high-dose/refuge resistance management strategy after 15 years of Bt crop use in North America. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*, No 140, (1) pp1-16.

- Huang, Z Y, Hanley, A V, Pett, W L, Langenberger, M and Duan, J J (2004) Field and semifield evaluation of impacts of transgenic canola pollen on survival and development of worker honey bees. *Journal of Economic Entomology*, No 97, (5) pp1517-1523.
- Hümann, M, Schüler, G, Müller, C, Schneider, R, Johst, M and Caspari, T (2011) Identification of runoff processes the impact of different forest types and soil properties on runoff formation and floods. *Journal of Hydrology*, No 409, (3-4) pp637-649.
- Hutchison, W D, Burkness, E C, Mitchell, P D, Moon, R D, Leslie, T W, Fleischer, S J, Abrahamson, M, Hamilton, K L, Steffey, K L, Gray, M E, Hellmich, R L, Kaster, L V, Hunt, T E, Wright, R J, Pecinovsky, K, Rabaey, T L, Flood, B R and Raun, E S (2010) Areawide suppression of European Corn Borer with Bt maize reaps savings to non-Bt maize growers. *Science*, No 330, (6001) pp222-225.
- Hutton, S A and Giller, P S (2003) The effects of the intensification of agriculture on northern temperate dung beetle communities. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, No 40, (6) pp994-1007.
- IAASTD (2009) *Agriculture at a Crossroads: International Assessment of Agricultural Knowledge, Science and Technology for Development*. Synthesis Report. International Assessment of Agricultural Knowledge, Science and Technology for Development (IAASTD), Island Press, Washington DC.
- Icoz, I and Stotzky, G (2008) Fate and effects of insect-resistant Bt crops in soil ecosystems. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, No 40, (3) pp559-586.
- IEEP (2013) *The European Commission's proposal to mitigate indirect land use change from biofuels.* Institute for European Environmental Policy, London.
- IEEP and Veenecology (2005) *Land abandonment, biodiversity and the CAP*. Outcome of an international seminar in Sigulda, Latvia, 7-8 October 2004. Institute for European Environmental Policy, London / Brussels.
- IEEP, GHK and TEPR (2012a) *Background Study Towards Biodiversity Proofing of the EU Budget*. Report to the European Commission, Institute for European Environmental Policy, London.
- IEEP, Ecologic and GHK (2012b) *Study to analyse legal and economic aspects of implementing the Nagoya Protocol on ABS in the European Union*. Final report for the European Commission DG ENV, Institute for European Environmental Policy, Brussels and London.
- IEEP & Alterra (2010) *Reflecting environmental land use needs into EU policy: preserving and enhancing the environmental benefits of "land services": soil sealing, biodiversity corridors, intensification / marginalisation of land use and permanent grassland.* Final report to the European Commission, DG Environment on Contract ENV.B.1/ETU/2008/0030. Institute for European Environmental Policy, London.
- Iglesias, A, Garrote, L, Flores, F and Moneo, M (2007a) Challenges to manage the risk of water scarcity and climate change in the Mediterranean. *Water Resources Management*, No 21, (5) pp775-788.
- Iglesias, A, Avis, K, Benzie, M, Fisher, P, Harley, M, Hodgson, N, Horrocks, L, Moneo, M and Webb, J (2007b) *Adaptation to Climate Change in the Agricultural Sector*. AEA report AEA/ED05334/Issue 1 for European Commission DG AGRI, AEA Energy & Environment and Universidad Politécnica de Madrid, Didcot, UK.
- International Energy Agency (2010) Sustainable production of second-generation biofuels. Potential and perspectives in major economies and developing countries. OECD/IEA, 2010.
- IPCC (2007a) *Climate Change 2007: Impacts, adaptation and vulnerability.* Working Group II Contribution to the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change Fourth Assessment Report. Summary for policymakers. Intergovermental Panel on Climate Change, Geneva.
- IPCC (2007b) Chapter 8: Agriculture, in *Climate Change 2007: Mitigation of Climate Change*, Working Group III contribution to the IPCC Fourth Assessment Report ed. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Geneva.
- Iriondo, J M, Maxted, N, Kell, S P, Ford-Lloyd, B V, Lara-Romero, C, Labokas, J and Magos Brehm, J (2012) Quality standards for genetic reserve conservation of crop wild relatives, in N

Maxted, M E Dulloo, B V Ford-Lloyd, L Frese, J M Iriondo, & M Pinheiro de Carvalho (eds) *Agrobiodiversity Conservation: Securing the Diversity of Crop Wild Relatives and Landraces*, pp72-77. CABI Publishing, Wallingford, UK.

- IUCN, UNEP and WWF (1980) *World Conservation Strategy*. Living Resource Conservation for Sustainable Development. IUCN, UNEP and WWF.
- Ivancajic, S, Mileusnic, I and Cenic-Miloševic, D (2010) *In vitro* antibacterial activity of propolis extracts on 12 different bacteria in conditions of 3 various pH values. *Archives of Biological Sciences*, No 62, (4) pp915-934.
- Jacobsen, E and Schouten, H J (2007) Cisgenesis strongly improves introgression breeding and induced translocation breeding of plants. *Trends in Biotechnology*, No 25, (5) pp219-223.
- James, C (2012) *Global status of commercialized biotech / GM crops: 2011*. Executive summary. ISAAA Brief 43, ISAAA (International Service for the Acquisition of Agri-Biotech Applications), Ithaca, NY, USA.
- Jeffery, S, Gardi, C, Jones, A, Montanarella, L, Marmo, L, Miko, L, Ritz, K, Peres, G, Römbke, J and Van der Putten, W H (2010) *European Atlas of Soil Biodiversity*. 1st edition ed. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.
- Jensen, P D, Dively, G P, Swan, C M and Lamp, W O (2010) Exposure and nontarget effects of transgenic Bt corn debris in streams. *Environmental Entomology*, No 39, (2) pp707-704.
- Johnson, R C (2008) Gene banks pay big dividends to agriculture, the environment, and human welfare. *PLoS Biology*, No 6, (6) e148-doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.0060148.
- Johnson, R M, Ellis, M D, Mullin, C A and Frazier, M (2010) Pesticides and honey bee toxicity USA. *Apidologie*, No 41, (3) pp312-331.
- Jones, A, Panagos, P, Barcelo, S, Bouraoui, F, Bosco, C, Dewitte, O, Gardi, C, Erhard, M, Hervás, J, Hiederer, R, Jeffery, S, Lükewille, A, Marno, L, Montanarella, L, Olazábal, C, Petersen, J-E, Penizek, V, Strassburger, T, Tóth, G, Van Den Eeckhaut, M, Van Liedekerke, M, Verheijen, F, Viestova, E and Yigini, Y (2012) *The State of Soil in Europe*. A contribution of the JRC to the European Environment Agency's Environment State and Outlook Report SOER 2010. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.
- Jones, M B (2010) Potential for carbon sequestration in temperate grassland soils, in M Abberton, R Conant, & C Batello (eds) *Proceedings of the workshop on the role of grassland carbon sequestration in the mitigation of climate change*, pp1-18. Grassland Carbon Sequestration: Management, Policy and Economics. FAO, Rome.
- Joosten, H (2009) *The global peatland CO2 picture. Peatland status and drainage related emissions in all countries of the world.* Wetlands International.
- Jorgensen, R B, Hauser, T P, D'Hertefeldt, T, Andersen, N S and Hooftman, D A P (2009) The variability of processes involved in transgene dispersal case studies from *Brassica* and related genera. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, No 16, (4) pp389-395.
- José-María, L, Armengot, L, Blanco-Moreno, J M, Bassa, M and Sans, F X (2010) Effects of agricultural intensification on plant diversity in Mediterranean dryland cereal fields. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, No 47, (4) pp832-840.
- Kaphengst, T, Wunder, S and Timeus, K (2012) *The social dimension of EU biofuel policy*. Ecologic Institute, Berlin.
- Kay, E, Vogel, T M, Bertolla, F, Nalin, R and Simonet, P (2002) In situ transfer of antibiotic resistance genes from transgenic (transplastomic) tobacco plants to bacteria. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, No 68, (7) pp3345-3351.
- Kay, S (2012) *Positive investment alternatives to large-scale land acquisitions or leases.* Transnational Institute, www.tni.org.
- Kean, E, Lyons, G and Chadwick, E (2013) *Persistent organic pollutants and indicators of otter health: other factors at play*? A CHEM Trust report, CHEM Trust & Cardiff University Otter Project, Cardiff.

- Keenleyside, C and Tucker, G M (2010) *Farmland Abandonment in the EU: an Assessment of Trends and Prospects*. Report for WWF. Institute for European Environmental Policy, London.
- Keenleyside, C, Allen, B, Hart, K, Menadue, H, Stefanova, V, Prazan, J, Herzon, I, Clement, T, Povellato, A, Maciejczak, M and Boatman, N D (2012) *Delivering environmental benefits through entry-level agri-environment schemes in the EU*. Report Prepared for DG Environment, Project ENV.B.1/ETU/2010/0035. Institute for European Environmental Policy, London.
- Keese, P (2008) Risks from GMOs due to horizontal gene transfer. *Environmental Biosafety Research*, No 7, (3) pp123-149.
- Kell, S P, Maxted, N and Bilz, M (2012) European crop wild relative threat assessment: knowledge gained and lessons learnt, in N Maxted, M E Dulloo, B V Ford-Lloyd, L Frese, J M Iriondo, & M Pinheiro de Carvalho (eds) *Agrobiodiversity Conservation: Securing the Diversity of Crop Wild Relatives and Landraces*, pp218-242. CABI Publishing, Wallingford, UK.
- Kell, S P, Knüpffer, H, Jury, S L, Ford-Lloyd, B V and Maxted, N (2007) Crops and wild relatives of the Euro-Mediterranean region: making and using a conservation catalogue, in N Maxted, B V Ford-Lloyd, S P Kell, J M Iriondo, M E Dulloo, & J Turok (eds) *Crop Wild Relative Conservation and Use*, CABI Publishing, Wallingford, UK.
- Kessler, J J, Rood, T, Tekelenburg, T and Bakkenes, M (2007) Biodiversity and socioeconomic impacts of selected agro-commodity production systems. *The Journal of Environment and Development*, No 16, (2) pp131-160.
- Kettunen, M, Baldock, D, Gantioler, S, Carter, O, Torkler, P, Arroyo Schnell, A, Baumueller, A, Gerritsen, E, Rayment, M, Daly, E and Pieterse, M (2011) *Assessment of the Natura 2000 co-financing arrangements of the EU financing instrument*. A project for the European Commission final report. 138 pp. + Annexes, Institute for European Environmental Policy, Brussels, Belgium.
- Kimmel, S, Kuhn, J, Harst, W and Stever, H (2007) *Electromagnetic radiation: influences on honeybees (Apis mellifera)*. h.e.s.e project "the international scientific Internet platform on topical issues", UK.
- Kindemba, V (2009) The impact of neonicotinoid insecticides on bumblebees, honey bees and other nontarget invertebrates. (revised version), Buglife, http://www.buglife.org.uk/Resources/Buglife/revised%20neonics%20report.pdf.
- Kivinen, S, Luoto, M, Kuussaari, M and Helenius, J (2006) Multi-species richness of boreal agricultural landscapes: effects of climate, biotope, soil and geographical location. *Journal of Biogeography*, No 33, (5) pp862-875.
- Kjøhl, M, Nielsen, A and Stenseth, N C (2011) *Potential effects of climate change on crop pollination*. Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations, Rome.
- Kleijn, D, Baquero, R A, Clough, Y, Diaz, M, Esteban, J, Fernandez, F, Gabriel, D, Herzog, F, Holzschuh, A, Johl, R, Knop, E, Kruess, A, Marshall, E J P, Steffan-Dewenter, I, Tscharntke, T, Verhulst, J, West, T M and Yela, J L (2006) Mixed biodiversity benefits of agri-environment schemes in five European countries. *Ecology Letters*, No 9, (3) pp243-254.
- Kleijn, D, Rundlöf, M, Scheper, J, Smith, H G and Tscharntke, T (2011) Does conservation on farmland contribute to halting the biodiversity decline? *TRENDS in Ecology and Evolution*, No 26, (9) pp474-481.
- Klein, A-M, Steffan-Dewenter, I and Tscharntke, T (2003) Fruit set of highland coffee increases with the diversity of pollinating bees. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, No 270, (1518) pp955-961.
- Klein, A-M, Vaissière, B E, Cane, J H, Steffan-Dewenter, I, Cunningham, S A, Kremen, C and Tscharntke, T (2007) Importance of pollinators in changing landscapes for world crops. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, No 274, (1608) pp303-313.
- Kleter, G A, Bhula, R, Bodnaruk, K, Carazo, E, Felsot, A S, Harris, C A, Katayama, A, Kuiper, H A, Racke, K D, Rubin, B, Shevah, Y, Stephenson, G R, Tanaka, K, Unsworth, J, Wauchope, R D and Wong, S-S (2007) Altered pesticide use on transgenic crops and the associated general impact from an environmental perspective. *Pest Management Science*, No 63, (11) pp1107-1115.

- Knispel, A L and McLachlan, S M (2010) Landscape-scale distribution and persistence of genetically modified oilseed rape (*Brassica napus*) in Manitoba, Canada. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, No 56, (1) pp72-80.
- Koh, L P and Wilcove, D S (2008) Is oil palm agriculture really destroying tropical biodiversity? *Conservation Letters*, No 1, (2) pp60-64.
- Kohler, F, Verhulst, J, Van Klink, R and Kleijn, D (2008) At what spatial scale do high-quality habitats enhance the diversity of forbs and pollinators in intensively farmed landscapes? *Journal of Applied Ecology*, No 45, (3) pp753-762.
- Kohler, F, Verhulst, J, Knop, E, Herzog, F and Kleijn, D (2006) Indirect effects of grassland extensification schemes on pollinators in two contrasting European countries. *Biological Conservation*, No 135, (2) pp302-307.
- Komárek, M, Cadková, E, Chrastny, V, Bordas, F and Bollinger, J-C (2010) Contamination of vineyard soils with fungicides: A review of environmental and toxicological aspects. *Environment International*, No 36, (1) pp138-151.
- Kornas, J (1983) Man's impact on flora and vegetation in Central Europe. *Geobotany*, No 5, pp277-286.
- Kosior, A, Celary, W, Olejniczak, P, Fijal, J, Król, W, Solarz, W and Plonka, P (2007) The decline of the bumble bees and cuckoo bees (Hymenoptera: Apidae: Bombini) of Western and Central Europe. *Oryx*, No 41, (01) pp79-88.
- Kovács-Hostyánszki, A, Batáry, P and Báldi, A (2011a) Local and landscape effects on bee communities of Hungarian winter cereal fields. *Agricultural and Forest Entomology*, No 13, (1) pp59-66.
- Kovács-Hostyánszki, A, Batáry, P, Báldi, A and Harnos, A (2011b) Interaction of local and landscape features in the conservation of Hungarian arable weed diversity. *Applied Vegetation Science*, No 14, (1) pp40-48.
- Krato, C and Petersen, J (2012) Gene flow between imidazolinone-tolerant and -susceptible winter oilseed rape varieties. *Weed Research*, No 52, (2) pp187-196.
- Kremen, C, Williams, N M and Thorp, R W (2002) Crop pollination from native bees at risk from agriculture intensification. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA*, No 99, (26) pp16812-16816.
- Kretschmer, B, Bowyer, C and Buckwell, A (2012) *EU biofuel use and agricultural commodity prices: A review of the evidence base.* Report prepared for Action Aid, Institute for European Environmental Policy, London.
- Kretschmer, B, Allen, B and Tucker, G M (2013a) *A Framework for Land Use Mapping: Mapping appropriate land use and reducing land use change impacts in the context of the Renewable Energy Directive.* A Contribution to the WWF Sustainable Land Use (SuLu) Project, Institute for European Environmental Policy, London.
- Kretschmer, B, Allen, B, Kieve, D and Smith, D (2013b) *The sustainability of advanced biofuels in the EU: Assessing the sustainability of wastes, residues and other feedstocks set out in the European Commission's proposal on Indirect Land Use Change (ILUC).* Institute for European Environmental Policy (IEEP), London.
- Kruess, A and Tscharntke, T (2002) Contrasting responses of plant and insect diversity to variation in grazing intensity. *Biological Conservation*, No 106, (3) pp293-302.
- Kruger, M, Van Rensburg, J B J and Van den Berg, J (2011) Resistance to Bt maize in *Busseola fusca* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) from Vaalharts, South Africa. *Environmental Entomology*, No 40, (2) pp477-483.
- Krupke, C H, Hunt, G J, Eitzer, B D, Andino, G and Given, K (2012) Multiple routes of pesticide exposure for honey bees living near agricultural fields. *PLoS ONE*, No 7, (1) e29268-doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0029268.

- La Haye, M J J, Neumann, K and Koelewijn, H P (2012) Strong decline of gene diversity in local populations of the highly endangered Common Hamster (*Cricetus cricetus*) in the western part of its European range. *Conservation Genetics*, No 13, (2) pp311-322.
- La Paz, J L, Vicient, C, Puigdomènech, P and Pla, M (2010) Characterization of polyadenylated *cryIA(b)* transcripts in maize MON810 commercial varieties. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, No 396, (6) pp2125-2133.
- Laborde, D (2011) *Assessing the Land Use Change Consequences of European Biofuel Policies*. Report for the European Commission, DG Trade, International Food Policy Institute (IFPRI), Washington DC, USA. http://www.ifpri.org/sites/default/files/publications/biofuelsreportec2011.pdf.
- Laiolo, P, Dondero, F, Ciliento, E and Rolando, A (2004) Consequences of pastoral abandonment for the structure and diversity of the alpine avifauna. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, No 41, (2) pp294-304.
- Lal, R (2004) Soil carbon sequestration impacts on global climate and food security. *Science*, No 304, (5677) pp1623-1627.
- Lal, R (2012) *World Soils and the Carbon Cycle in Relation to Climate Change and Food Security*. Global Soil Forum, Berlin.
- Landis, D A, Menalled, F D, Costamagna, A C and Wilkinson, T K (2005) Manipulating plant resources to enhance beneficial arthropods in agricultural landscapes. *Weed Science*, No 53, (6) pp902-908.
- Lang, A and Otto, M (2010) A synthesis of laboratory and field studies on the effects of transgenic *Bacillus thuringiensis* (Bt) maize on non-target Lepidoptera. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*, No 135, (2) pp121-134.
- Lang, A, Brunzel, S, Dolek, M, Otto, M and Theißen, B (2011) Modelling in the light of uncertainty of key parameters: a call to exercise caution in field predictions of Bt-maize effects. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B Biological Sciences*, No 278, (1708) pp980-981.
- Lang, T and Heasman, M (2004) *Food Wars: the Global Battle for Mouths, Minds and Markets.* Earthscan, London.
- Latham, J, Wilson, A K and Steinbrecher, R A (2006) The mutational consequences of plant transformation. *Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology*, No 2006, (Article ID 25376)
- Laughlin, K D, Power, A G, Snow, A A and Spencer, L J (2009) Risk assessment of genetically engineered crops: fitness effects of virus-resistance transgenes in wild *Cucurbita pepo. Ecological Applications*, No 19, pp1091-1101.
- Le Conte, Y, Ellis, M and Ritter, W (2010) *Varroa* mites and bee health: can *Varroa* explain part of the colony losses? *Apidologie*, No 41, (3) pp353-363.
- Le Féon, V, Schermann-Legionnet, A, Delettre, Y, Aviron, S, Billeter, R, Bugter, R, Hendrickx, F and Burel, F (2010) Intensification of agriculture, landscape composition and wild bee communities: A large scale study in four European countries. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, No 137, (1-2) pp143-150.
- Le Roux, X, Barbault, R, Baudry, J, Burel, F, Doussan, I, Garnier, E, Herzog, F, Lavorel, S, Lifran, R, Roger-Estrade, J, Sarthou, J P and Trommetter, M (2009) *Agriculture Et Biodiversité. Valoriser Les Synergies.* Expertise Scientifique Collective INRA Juillet 2008 ed. Editions Quae, Versailles Cedex.
- Liira, J, Schmidt, T, Aavik, T, Arens, P, Augenstein, I, BAILEY, D, Billeter, R, Bukácek, R, Burel, F, De Blust, G, De Cock, R, DIRKSEN, J, Edwards, P J, Hamersky, R, Herzog, F, Klotz, S, Kühn, I, Le Coeur, D, Miklová, P, ROUBALOVA, M, SCHWEIGER, O, Smulders, M J M, van Wingerden, W K R E, Bugter, R and Zobel, M (2008) Plant functional group composition and large-scale species richness in European agricultural landscapes. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, No 19, (1) pp3-14.
- Littlewood, N, Anderson, P, Artz, R, Bragg, O, Lunt, P and Marrs, R (2011) *Review Peatland Biodiversity*. Final report, IUCN UK Peatland Programme, http://www.iucn-uk-peatlandprogramme.org/resources/178.

- Londo, J P, Bautista, N S, Sagers, C L, Lee, H E and Watrud, L S (2010) Glyphosate drift promotes change in fitness and transgene gene flow in canola (*Brassica napus*) and hybrids. *Annals of Botany*, No 106, (6) pp957-965.
- Londoño-R, L M, Tarkalson, D and Thies, J E (2013) In-field rates of decomposition and microbial communities colonizing residues vary by depth of residue placement and plant part, but not by crop genotype for residues from two Cry1Ab Bt corn hybrids and their non-transgenic isolines. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, No 57, pp349-355.
- Lopez, S L, Aiassa, D, Benitez-Leite, S, Lajmanovich, R, Mañas, F, Poletta, G, Sánchez, N, Simoniello, M F and Carrasco, A E (2012) Chapter Two – Pesticides Used in South American GMO-Based Agriculture: A Review of Their Effects on Humans and Animal Models. *Advances in Molecular Toxicology*, No 6, pp41-75.
- Lugschitz, B, Bruckner, M and Giljum, S (2011) *Europe's global land demand. A study on the actual land embodied in European imports and exports of agricultural and forestry products.* Sustainable Europe Research Institute (SERI), Vienna, Austria.
- Lusser, M, Parisi, C, Plan, D and Rodriguez-Cerezo, E (2011) *New plant breeding techniques: state-ofthe-art and prospects for commercial development*. EUR 24760 EN, Joint Research Centre (JRC) Institute for Prospective Technological Studies (IPTS) and Institute for Health and Consumer Protection (IHCP), European Commission.
- Lusser, M, Raney, T, Tillie, P, Dillen, K and Rodriguez-Cerezo, E (2012) *International workshop on socio-economic impacts of genetically modified crops co-organised by JRC-IPTS and FAO workshop proceedings*. EUR 25265 EN, Joint Research Centre Institute for Prospective Technological Studies (IPTS), Seville, Spain.
- Lutman, P J W, Freeman, S E and Pekrun, C (2003) The long-term persistence of seeds of oilseed rape (*Brassica napus*) in arable fields. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*, No 141, (02) pp231-240.
- Lutman, P J W, Berry, K, Payne, R W, Simpson, E, Sweet, J B, Champion, G T, May, M J, Wightman, P, Walker, K and Lainsbury, M (2005) Persistance of seeds from crops of conventional and herbicide tolerant oilseed rape (*Brassica napus*). *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B Biological Sciences*, No 272, (1575) pp1909-1915.
- Macdonald, D, Crabtree, J R, Wiesinger, G, Dax, T, Stamou, N, Fleury, P, Gutierrez Lazpita, J and Gibon, A (2000) Agricultural abandonment in mountain areas of Europe: Environmental consequences and policy response. *Journal of Environmental Management*, No 59, (1) pp47-69.
- Mace, G M, Masundire, H, Baillie, J, Ricketts, T, Brooks, T, Hoffmann, M, Stuart, S, Balmford, A, Purvis, A, Reyers, B, Wang, J, Revenga, C, Kennedy, E, Naeem, S, Alkemade, R, Allnutt, T, Bakarr, M, Bond, W, Chanson, J, Cox, N, Fonseca, G, Hilton-Taylor, C, Loucks, C, Rodrigues, A, Sechrest, W, Stattersfield, A, van Rensburg, B J, Whiteman, C, Abell, R, Cokeliss, Z, Lamoreux, J, Pereira, H M, Thönell, J and Williams, P (2005) Biodiversity, in R Hassan, R Scholes, & N Ash (eds) *Ecosystems and Human Well-Being: Current State and Trends Findings of the Condition and Trends Working Group*, pp77-122. Island Press, Washington DC.
- Malingreau, J-P, Eva, H and Maggio, A (2012) *NPK: Will there be enough plant nutrients to feed a world of 9 billion in 2050?* Foresight and Horizon Scanning Series. JRC70936, Joint Research Centre of the European Commission.
- Mann, M L, Kaufmann, R K, Bauer, D, Gopal, S, del Carmen Vera-Diaz, M, Nepstad, D, Merry, F, Kallay, J and Amacher, G S (2010) The economics of cropland conversion in Amazonia: The importance of agricultural rent. *Ecological Economics*, No 69, pp1503-1509.
- Mapalad, K S, Leu, D and Nieh, J C (2008) Bumble bees heat up for high quality pollen. *The Journal of Experimental Biology*, No 211, pp2239-2242.
- Maracchi, G, Sirotenko, O and Bindi, M (2005) Impact of present and future climate variability on agriculture and forestry in the temperate regions: Europe, in J Salinger, M V K Sivakumar, & R P Motha (eds) *Increasing Climate Variability and Change*, pp117-135. Springer, Netherlands.

- Marvier, M, McCreedy, C, Regetz, J and Kareiva, P (2007) A meta-analysis of effects of Bt cotton and maize on nontarget invertebrates. *Science*, No 316, (5830) pp1475-1477.
- Maxted, N and Kell, S (2009) *Establishment of a global network for the in situ conservation of crop wild relatives: status and needs*. FAO consultancy report. Commission on Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture Background Study Paper No 39, Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations, Rome.
- Maxted, N, Kell, S and Magos Brehm, J (2011) *Options to promote food security: On-farm management and In situ conservation of Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture*. Commission on Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture Background Study Paper Nr 51, Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations, Rome.
- Maxted, N, Iriondo, J, Dulloo, E and Lane, A (2008) Introduction: The integration of PGR conservation with protected area management, in J Iriondo, N Maxted, & E Dulloo (eds) *Conserving Plant Genetic Diversity in Protected Areas: Population Management of Crop Wild Relatives,* pp1-22. CABI Publishing, Wallingford, UK.
- Maxted, N, Kell, S P, Ford-Lloyd, B V, Dulloo, M E and Toledo, Á (2012a) Toward the systematic conservation of global crop wild relative diversity. *Crop Science*, No 52, (2) pp774-785.
- Maxted, N, Dulloo, M E, Ford-Lloyd, B V, Frese, L, Iriondo, J M and Pinheiro de Carvalho, M (2012b) *Agrobiodiversity Conservation: Securing the Diversity of Crop Wild Relatives and Landraces.* CABI Publishing, Wallingford, UK.
- Mazza, L, Bennett, G, De Nocker, L, Gantioler, S, Loscarcos, L, Margerison, C, Kaphengst, T, McConville, A J, Rayment, M, ten Brink, P, Tucker, G M and van Diggelen, R (2012) *Green Infrastructure Implementation and Efficiency*. Final report for the European Commission, DG Environment on Contract ENV.B.2./SER/2010/0059., Institute for European Environmental Policy, Brussels and London.
- McCracken, D I and Tallowin, J R (2004) Swards and structure: the interactions between farming practices and bird food resources in lowland grasslands. *Ibis*, No 146, (s2) pp108-114.
- McKinsey&Company (2009) *Pathways to a low-carbon Economy Global Greenhouse Gases (GHG) Abatement Cost Curve, Version 2 of the Global Greenhouse Gas Abatement Cost Curve.*
- Meissle, M, Romeis, J and Bigler, F (2011) Bt maize and integrated pest management a European perspective. *Pest Management Science*, No 67, (9) pp1049-1058.
- Meissle, M, Mouron, P, Musa, T, Bigler, F, Pons, X, Vasileiadis, V P, Otto, S, Antichi, D, Kiss, J, Pálinkás, Z, Dorner, Z, Van Der Weide, R, Groten, J, Czembor, E, Adamczyk, J J Jr, Thibord, J-B, Melander, B, Cordsen Nielsen, G, Poulsen, R T, Zimmermann, O, Verschwele, A and Oldenburg, E (2010) Pests, pesticide use and alternative options in European maize production: current status and future prospects. *Journal of Applied Entomology*, No 134, (5) pp357-375.
- Meixner, M, Costa, C, Kryger, P, Hatjina, F, Bouga, M, Ivanova, E and Büchler, R (2010) Conserving diversity and vitality for honey bee breeding. *Journal of Apicultural Research*, No 49, (1) pp85-92.
- Memmott, J, Craze, PG, Waser, NM and Price, MV (2007) Global warming and the disruption of plant-pollinator interactions. *Ecology Letters*, No 10, (8) pp710-717.
- Merckx, T, Feber, R E, Riordan, P, Townsend, M C, Bourn, N A D, Parsons, M S and Macdonald, D W (2009) Optimizing the biodiversity gain from agri-environment schemes. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, No 130, (3-4) pp177-182.
- Messean, A, Squire, G R, Perry, J N, Angevin, F, Gomez, M, Townend, P, Sausse, C, Breckling, B, Langrell, S, Dzeroski, S and Sweet, J B (2009) Sustainable introduction of GM crops into European agriculture: a summary report of the FP6 SIGMEA research project. *Oleagineux, Corps Gras, Lipides,* No 16, (1) pp37-51.
- Mittler, R and Blumwald, E (2010) Genetic engineering for modern agriculture: challenges and perspectives. *Annual Review of Plant Biology*, No 61, pp443-462.

- Mohr, K I and Tebbe, C C (2007) Field study results on the probability and risk of a horizontal gene transfer from transgenic herbicide-resistant oilseed rape pollen to gut bacteria of bees. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, No 75, (3) pp573-582.
- Momoh, E J J, Zhou, W J and Kristiansson, B (2002) Variation in the development of secondary dormancy in oilseed rape genotypes under conditions of stress. *Weed Research*, No 42, (6) pp446-455.
- Moorby, J M, Chadwick, D R, Scholefield, D and Williams, J R (2007) *A review of research to identify best practice for reducing greenhouse gases from agriculture and land management*. IGER Project report on Agricultural Emission and Climate Change (AC0206), IGER & ADAS.
- Moran, D and Pratt, K (2010) Greenhouse gas mitigation in land use measuring economic potential, in M Abberton, R Conant, & C Batello (eds) *Proceedings of the workshop on the role of grassland carbon sequestration in the mitigation of climate change*, pp197-210. Grassland Carbon Sequestration: Management, Policy and Economics. FAO, Rome.
- Moran, D, MacLeod, M, Wall, E, Eory, V, Pajot, G, Matthews, R, McVittie, A, Barnes, A, Rees, B, Moxey, A, Williams, A and Smith, P (2008) UK Marginal Abatement Cost Curves for the Agriculture and Land Use, Land-Use Change and Forestry Sectors out to 2022, with Qualitative Analysis of Options to 2050, in *Building a Low-Carbon Economy the UK's Contribution to Tackling Climate Change*, Supporting research to Chapter 9: Non-CO₂ Gases ed. UK Committee on Climate Change, London & Edinburgh.
- Mortensen, D A, Egan, J F, Maxwell, B D, Ryan, M R and Smith, R G (2012) Navigating a critical juncture for sustainable weed management. *Bioscience*, No 62, (1) pp75-84.
- Moser, S E and Obrycki, J J (2009) Non-target effects of neonicotinoid seed treatments; mortality of coccinelid larvae related to zoophytophagy. *Biological Control*, No 51, (3) pp487-492.
- Munier, D J, Brittan, K L and Lanini, W T (2012) Seed bank persistance of genetically modified canola in California. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, No 19, (6) pp2281-2284.
- Mwila, G (2013) From negotiations to implementation: global review of achievements, bottlenecks and opportunities for the Treaty in general and for the multilateral system in particular, in M Halewood, I López Noriega, & S Louafi (eds) *Crop Genetic Resources As a Global Commons. Challenges in International Law and Governance,* pp226-242. Routledge, Oxford, UK.
- Nagy, S (2009) Grasslands as a bird habitat, in P Veen, R Jefferson, J de Smidt, & ven der Straaten (eds) *Grasslands in Europe of High Nature Value*, pp35-42. KNNV Publishing, Zeist, The Netherlands.
- National Research Council (1996) *Understanding Risk: Informing Decisions in a Democratic Society.* National Research Council of the US National Academy of Sciences, Washington DC, USA.
- National Research Council (2007) *Status of Pollinators in North America*. The National Academies Press, Washington DC, USA.
- National Research Council (2010) *Impact of Genetically Engineered Crops on Farm Sustainability in the United States.* The National Academies Press, Washington DC.
- Naumann, S, McKenna, D, Kaphengst, T, Pieterse, M and Rayment, M (2011) *Design, Implementation and Cost Elements of Green Infrastructure Projects*. Final report for the European Commission, DG Environment, Contract no. 070307/2010/577182/ETU/F, Ecologic Ltd and GHK Consulting.
- Navarro, L M and Pereira, H M (2012) Rewilding abandoned landscapes in Europe. *Ecosystems*, No 15, (6) pp900-912.
- Negri, V, Maxted, N and Veteläinen, M (2009) European landrace conservation: an introduction, in M Veteläinen, V Negri, N Maxted, & (eds.) (eds) *European Landraces: On-Farm Conservation Management and Use*, pp1-22. Biodiversity International, Rome, Italy.
- Nepstad, D C, Stickler, C M and Almeida, O T (2006) Globalization of the Amazon soy and beef industries: opportunities for conservation. *Conservation Biology*, No 20, (1595) 1603.

- Newton, I (2004) The recent declines of farmland bird populations in Britain: an appraisal of causal factors and conservation actions. *Ibis*, No 146, (4) pp579-600.
- Nielsen, K M (2003) Transgenic organisms time for conceptual diversification? *Nature Biotechnology*, No 21, (3) pp227-228.
- Nielsen, K M, Van Elsas, J D and Smalla, K (2000) Transformation of *Acinetobacter* sp. strain BD413(pFG4deltanptII) with transgenic plant DNA in soil microcosms and effects of kanamycin on selection of transformants. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, No 66, (3) pp1237-1242.
- Nielsen, K M, Johnsen, P J, Bensasson, D and Daffonchio, D (2007) Release and persistence of extracellular DNA in the environment. *Environmental Biosafety Research*, No 6, (1-2) pp37-53.
- Nielson, R L, McPherson, M A, O'Donovan, J T, Neil Harker, K, Yang, R-C and Hall, L M (2009) Seed-mediated gene flow in wheat: seed bank longevity in Western Canada. *Weed Science*, No 57, (1) pp124-132.
- Nieminen, M, Ketoja, E, Mikola, J, Terhivuo, J, Sirén, T and Nuutinen, V (2011) Local land use effects and regional environmental limits on earthworm communities in Finnish arable landscapes. *Ecological Applications*, No 21, (8) pp3162-3177.
- Nishizawa, T, Nakajima, N, Aono, M, Tamaoki, M, Kubo, A and Saji, H (2009) Monitoring the occurrence of genetically modified oilseed rape growing along a Japanese roadside: 3-year observations. *Environmental Biosafety Research*, No 8, (1) 33.
- Nitsch, H (2006) *MEACAP WP5 Case study on genetic resources in food and agriculture*. Dissemination level: non-public. 6th Framework Programme SPECIFIC TARGETED RESEARCH PROJECT n°SSPE-CT-2004-503604,
 - http://www.ieep.org.uk/assets/602/WP5_Case_study_GenRes_Sept_06_final_pdf.pdf.
- Nowicki, P, Goba, V, Knierim, A, van Meijl, H, Banse, M, Delbaere, B, Helming, J, Hunke, P, Jansson, K, Jansson, T, Jones-Walters, L, Mikos, V, Sattler, C, Schlaefke, N, Terluin, I and Verhoog, D (2009) *Scenar 2020-11. Update of Analysis of Prospects in the Scenar 2020 Study Preparing for Change*. Final Report. Contract No. 30-CE-0200286/00-21, European Commission DG Agriculture and Rural Development, Brussels.
- O'Connor, R J and Shrubb, M (1986) Farming and Birds. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- OECD (2006) SCOPE Biofuel Report.
- OECD (2010) *Climate Change and Agriculture: impacts, adaptation and mitigation.* OECD, Paris.
- OECD (2012) Water quality and agriculture: meeting the policy challenge. OECD, Paris.
- OECD and FAO (2010) OECD-FAO Agricultural Outlook 2009-2018. OECD, Paris, France.
- OECD and FAO (2011) OECD-FAO Agricultural Outlook 2011. OECD.
- OECD and FAO (2012) OECD-FAO Agricultural Outlook 2012-2021. http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/agr_outlook-2012-en, OECD Publishing and FAO, Paris, France.
- Oeckinger, E and Smith, H G (2007) Semi-natural grasslands as population sources for pollinating insects in agricultural landscapes. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, No 44, (1) pp50-59.
- Oeckinger, E, Hammarstedt, O, Nilsson, S G and Smith, H G (2006) The relationship between local extinctions of grassland butterflies and increased soil nitrogen levels. *Biological Conservation*, No 128, (4) pp564-573.
- Oenema, O, Witzke, H P, Klimont, Z, Lesschen, J P and Velthof, G L (2009) Integrated assessment of promising measures to decrease nitrogen losses from agriculture in EU-27. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, No 133, (3-4) pp280-288.
- Oerke, E-C (2006) Crop losses to pests. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*, No 144, (01) pp31-43.
- Olesen, J E, Trnka, M, Kersebaum, K C, Skjelvag, A O, Seguin, B, Peltonen-Sainio, P, Rossi, F, Kozyra, J and Micale, F (2011) Impacts and adaptation of European crop production systems to climate change. *European Journal of Agronomy*, No 34, (2) pp96-112.
- Olesen, J E, Børgesen, C D, Elsgaard, L, Palosuo, T, Rötter, R P, Skjelvag, A O, Peltonen-Sainio, P, Börjesson, T, Trnka, M, Ewert, F, Siebert, S, Brisson, N, Eitzinger, J, van Asselt, E D, Oberforster, M and van der Fels-Klerx, H J (2012) Changes in timing of sowing, flowering and maturity of

cereals in Europe under climate change. *Food Additives & Contaminants: Part A*, No 29, (10) pp1527-1542.

- Oliver, T H, Roy, D B, Hill, J K, Brereton, T and Thomas, C D (2010) Heterogeneous landscapes promote population stability. *Ecology Letters*, No 13, (4) pp473-484.
- Olmeda, C, Keenleyside, C, Tucker, G M and Underwood, E (2013) *Farming for Natura* 2000. *Guidance on how to integrate Natura* 2000 *conservation objectives into farming practices based on Member States good practice experiences*. European Commission, Brussels.
- OPERA (2013) *Bee health in Europe facts and figures 2013*. OPERA Research Center, Università Cattolica del Sacro Cuore, Piacenza, Italy.
- Oppermann, R and Spaar, R (2003) Artenreiches Grünland Lebensraum für Wiesenbrüter, in R Oppermann & H U Gujer (eds) *Artenreiches Grünland Bewerten Und Fördern*, pp128-133. Verlag Eugen Ulmer, Stuttgart.
- Oppermann, R, Beaufoy, G and Jones, G (eds) (2012) *High Nature Value Farming in Europe.* 35 *European Countries Experiences and Perspectives.* verlag regionalkultur, Ubstadt-Weiher.
- Overmars, K P and Zeijts, H v (2010) *The Common Agricultural Policy: Possible contribution towards achieving biodiversity targets for Dutch agricultural areas.* PBL Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency, The Hague/Bilthoven.
- Owen, M D K (2011) Weed resistance development and management in herbicide-tolerant crops: experiences from the USA. *Journal für Verbraucherschutz und Lebensmittelsicherheit*, No 6, (S1) pp85-89.
- Pain, D J and Pienkowski, M W (eds) (1997) *Farming and Birds in Europe. The Common Agricultural Policy and Its Implications for Bird Conservation.* Academic Press, London.
- Paracchini, M L, Petersen, J-E, Hoogeveen, Y, Bamps, C, Burfield, I and van Swaay, C (2008) *High Nature Value Farmland in Europe - An Estimate of the Distribution Patterns on the Basis of Land Cover and Biodiversity Data.* JCR Scientific and Technical Reports EUR 23480 EN, Office for Official Publications of the European Union, Luxembourg.
- Pascher, K, Macalka, S, Rau, D, Gollmann, G, Reiner, H, Glossl, J and Grabherr, G (2010) Molecular differentiation of commercial varieties and feral populations of oilseed rape (*Brassica napus* L.). *BMC Evolutionary Biology*, No 10, (63) doi:10.1186/1471-2148-10-63.
- Paxton, R J (2010) Does infection by *Nosema ceranae* cause "Colony Collapse Disorder" in honey bees (*Apis mellifera*)? *Journal of Apicultural Research*, No 49, (1) pp80-84.
- PBL (2009) *Getting into the right lane for 2050. A primer for EU debate*. Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency (PBL), Bilthoven, The Netherlands.
- Peano, C and Sottile, F (2012) *Slow Food Presidia in Europe: a model of sustainability*. An assessment of the sociocultural, agri-environmental and economic results 2000-2012. Slow Food and Slow Food Foundation for Biodiversity, Bra, Italy.
- Pekár, S (2012) Spiders (Araneae) in the pesticide world: an ecotoxicological review. *Pest Management Science*, No 68, (11) pp1438-1446.
- Pekrun, C, Lane, P W and Lutman, P J W (2005) Modelling seedbank dynamics of volunteer oilseed rape (*Brassica napus*). *Agricultural Systems*, No 84, (1) pp1-20.
- Peng, W (2011) GM crop cultivation surges, but novel traits languish. *Nature Biotechnology*, No 29, (4) 302.
- Perez-Jones, A, Martins, B A B and Mallory-Smith, C A (2010) Hybridization in a commercial production field between imidazolinone-resistant winter wheat and jointed goatgrass (*Aegilops cylindrica*) results in pollen-mediated gene flow of *Imi1. Weed Science*, No 58, (4) pp395-401.
- Petersen, J, Haastrup, M, Knudsen, L, Olesen, J E and (eds.) (2010) *Causes of yield stagnation in winter wheat in Denmark*. DJF Report Plant Science No.147, Faculty of Agricultural Sciences, Aarhus University, Denmark.

- Peterson, R K D and Shama, L M (2005) A comparative risk assessment of genetically engineered, mutagenic, and conventional wheat production systems. *Transgenic Research*, No 14, (6) pp859-875.
- Petrini, C (2009) *Terra Madre: Forging a New Global Network of Sustainable Food Communities.* Chelsea Green Publishing, Vermont.
- Phalan, B, Onial, M, Balmford, A and Green, R E (2011) Reconciling food production and biodiversity conservation: land sharing and land sparing compared. *Science*, No 333, (6047) pp1289-1291.
- Piergiovanni, A R and Lioi, L (2010) Italian Common Bean landraces: history, genetic diversity and seed quality. *Diversity*, No 2, (6) pp837-862.
- Piñeyro-Nelson, A, Van Heerwaarden, J, Perales, H R, Serratos-Hernández, J-A, Rangel, A, Hufford, M B, Gepts, P, Garay-Arroyo, A, Rivera-Bustamante, R and Alvarez-Buylla, E R (2008) Transgenes in Mexican maize: molecular evidence and methodological considerations for GMO detection in landrace populations. *Molecular Ecology*, No 18, (4) pp750-761.
- Piñeyro-Nelson, A, Van Heerwaarden, J, Perales, H R, Serratos-Hernández, J-A, Rangel, A, Hufford, M B, Gepts, P, Garay-Arroyo, A, Rivera-Bustamante, R and Alvarez-Buylla, E R (2009) Resolution of the Mexican transgene detection controversy: error sources and scientific practice in commercial and ecological contexts. *Molecular Ecology*, No 18, (20) pp4145-4150.
- Pleasants, J M and Oberhauser, K S (2013) Milkweed loss in agricultural fields because of herbicide use: effects on the monarch butterfly population. *Insect Conservation and Diversity*, No 6, (2) pp135-144.
- Pointereau, P, Coulon, F, Girard, P, Lambotte, M, Stuczynski, T, Sánchez Ortega, V and Del Rio, A (2008) *Analysis of farmland abandonment and the extent and location of agricultural areas that are actually abandoned or are in risk to be abandoned*. EUR 23411 EN, OPOCE, http://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/handle/111111111/166.
- Poláková, J, Berman, S, Naumann, S, Frelih-Larsen, A, von Toggenburg, J and Farmer, A (2013) *The sustainable management of natural resources with a special focus on water and agriculture*. Report prepared for the STOA Panel of the European Parliament. Contract IP/A/STOA/FWC/2008-096/LOT3/C1/SC1, Institute for European Environmental Policy, BIO Intelligence Service, Ecologic Institute, Brussels/London.
- Poláková, J, Tucker, G M, Hart, K, Dwyer, J and Rayment, M (2011) *Addressing biodiversity and habitat preservation through Measures applied under the Common Agricultural Policy*. Report prepared for DG Agriculture and Rural Development, Contract No. 30-CE-0388497/00-44, Institute for European Environmental Policy, London.
- Pölling, B, Herold, L and Volgmann, A (2010) *Typology of farms and regions in EU States: assessing the impacts of Precision Farming-Technologies in EU-farms*. EU-project FUTUREFARM, http://www.futurefarm.eu/node/233.
- Porrini, C, Sabatini, S, Girotti, S, Ghini, P, Medrzycki, F, Grillenzoni, L, Bortolotti, L, attavecchia, E and Celli, G (2003) Honey bees and bee products as monitors of the environmental contamination. *Apiacta*, No 38, pp63-70.
- Postma-Blaauw, M B, de Goede, R G M, Bloem, J, Faber, J H and Brussaard, L (2012) Agricultural intensification and de-intensification differentially affect taxonomic diversity of predatory mites, earthworms, enchytraeids, nematodes and bacteria. *Applied Soil Ecology*, No 57, pp39-49.
- Potts, G R (1997) Cereal farming, pesticides and grey partridges, in D J Pain & M W Pienkowski (eds) *Farming and Birds in Europe: the Common Agricultural Policy and Its Implications for Bird Conservation*, Academic Press, London.
- Potts, G R, Ewald, J A and Aebischer, N J (2010a) Long-term changes in the flora of the cereal ecosystem on the Sussex Downs, England, focusing on the years 1968-2005. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, No 47, (1) pp215-226.

- Potts, S G, Biesmeijer, J C, Kremen, C, Neumann, P, SCHWEIGER, O and Kunin, W E (2010b) Global pollinator declines: trends, impacts and drivers. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, No 25, (6) pp345-353.
- Potts, S G, Woodcock, B A, Roberts, S P M, Tscheulin, T, Pilgrim, E S, Brown, V K and Tallowin, J R (2009) Enhancing pollinator biodiversity in intensive grasslands. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, No 46, (2) pp369-379.
- Powles, S B (2008) Evolved glyphosate-resistant weeds around the world: lessons to be learnt. *Pest Management Science*, No 64, (4) pp360-365.
- Poza, M d I, Pons, X, Farinós, G P, López, C, Ortego, F, Eizaguirre, M, Castañera, P and Albajes, R (2005) Impact of farm-scale Bt maize on abundance of predatory arthropods in Spain. *Crop Protection*, No 24, (7) pp677-684.
- Prescott, V E, Campbell, P M, Moore, A, Mattes, J, Rothenberg, M E, Foster, P S, Higgins, T J V and Hogan, S P (2005) Transgenic expression of bean alpha-amylase inhibitor in peas results in altered structure and immunogenicity. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, No 53, (23) pp9023-9030.
- Pretty, J N (1999) *The Living Land: Agriculture, Food and Community Regeneration in Rural Europe.* Earthscan, London.
- Pricewaterhouse Coopers (2012) *Too late for two degrees?* Low carbon economy index 2012. Price Waterhouse Coopers, www.pwc.co.uk.
- Prosser, P and Hart, A D M (2005) Assessing potential exposure of birds to pesticide-treated seeds. *Ecotoxicology*, No 14, (7) pp679-691.
- Puricelli, E and Tuesca, D (2005) Weed density and diversity under glyphosate-resistant crop sequences. *Crop Protection*, No 24, (6) pp533-542.
- Pywell, R F, Warman, E A, Hulmes, L, Hulmes, S, Nuttall, P, Sparks, T H, Critchley, C N R and Sherwood, A (2006) Effectiveness of new agri-environment schemes in providing foraging resources for bumblebees in intensively farmed landscapes. *Biological Conservation*, No 129, (2) pp192-206.
- Ramesh, S V (2013) Non-coding RNAs in crop genetic modification: considerations and predictable environmental risk assessments (ERA). *Molecular Biotechnology*, No online early, DOI: 10.1007/s12033-013-9648-6.
- Ramirez-Romero, R, Chaufaux, J and Pham-Delègue, M-H (2005) Effects of Cry1Ab protoxin, deltamethrin and imidachloprid on the foraging activity and the learning performances of the honeybee *Apis mellifera*, a comparative approach. *Apidologie*, No 36, (4) pp601-611.
- Ramirez-Romero, R, Desneux, N, Decourtye, A, Chaffiol, A and Pham-Delègue, M-H (2008) Does Cry1Ab protein affect learning performances of the honey bee *Apis mellifera* L. (Hymenoptera, Apidae)? *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, No 70, (2) pp327-333.
- Rang, A, Linke, B and Jansen, B (2005) Detection of RNA variants transcribed from the transgene in Roundup Ready soybean. *European Food Research and Technology*, No 220, (3-4) pp438-443.
- Rauschen, S, Schaarschmidt, F and Gathmann, A (2010) Occurrence and field densities of Coleoptera in the maize herb layer: implications for Environmental Risk Assessment of genetically modified Bt-maize. *Transgenic Research*, No 19, (5) pp727-744.
- Reagon, M and Snow, A A (2006) Cultivated *Helianthus annus* (Asteraceae) volunteers as a genetic "bridge" to weedy sunflower populations in North America. *American Journal of Botany*, No 93, (1) pp127-133.
- Reichman, J R, Watrud, L S, Lee, E H, Burdick, C, Bollman, M, Storm, M, King, G and Mallory-Smith, C A (2006) Establishment of transgenic herbicide-tolerant creeping bentgrass (*Agrostis stolonifera* L.) in nonagronomic habitats. *Molecular Ecology*, No 15, (13) pp4243-4255.
- Reinhardt, C, Bölscher, J, Schulte, A and Wenzel, R (2011) Decentralised water retention along the river channels in a mesoscale catchment in south-eastern Germany. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/B/C*, No 36, (7-8) pp309-318.

- Ricketts, T H, Regetz, J, Steffan-Dewenter, I, Cunningham, S A, Kremen, C, Bogdanski, A, Gemmill-Herren, B, Greenleaf, S S, Klein, A-M, Mayfield, M M, Morandin, L A, Ochieng, A and Viana, B F (2008) Landscape effects on crop pollination services: are there general patterns? *Ecology Letters*, No 11, (5) pp499-515.
- Ricroch, A E (2013) Assessment of GE food safety using '-omics' techniques and long-term animal feeding studies. *New Biotechnology*, No in press, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nbt.2012.12.001.
- Rienks, W A (2008) *The future of rural Europe: An anthology based on the results of the Eururalis 2.0 scenario study.* Wageningen University Research and Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency (Alterra), Wageningen, The Netherlands.
- Ritter, W and Akratanakul, P (2006) *Honey bee disease and pests: a practical guide*. Agricultural and Food Engineering Technical Report 4, Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations, Rome.
- Robinson, R A and Sutherland, W J (2002) Post-war changes in arable farming and biodiversity in Great Britain. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, No 39, (1) pp157-176.
- Roger-Estrade, J, Anger, C, Bertrand, M and Richard, G (2010) Tillage and soil ecology: Partners for sustainable agriculture. *Soil and Tillage Research*, No 111, (1) pp33-40.
- Rogers, M A, Krischik, V A and Martin, L A (2007) Effect of soil application of imidacloprid on survival of adult lacewing, *Chrysoperla carnea* (Neuroptera: Chrysopidae), used for biological control in greenhouse. *Biological Control*, No 42, (2) pp172-177.
- Romeis, J, Meissle, M and Bigler, F (2006) Transgenic crops expressing *Bacillus thuringiensis* toxins and biological control. *Nature Biotechnology*, No 24, (1) pp63-71.
- Rosati, A, Bogani, P, Santarlasci, A and Buiatti, M (2008) Characterisation of 3' transgene insertion site and derived mRNAs in MON810 YieldGard maize. *Plant Molecular Biology*, No 67, (3) pp271-281.
- Roschewitz, I, Gabriel, D, Tscharntke, T and Thies, C (2005) The effects of landscape complexity on arable weed species diversity in organic and conventional farming. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, No 42, (5) pp873-882.
- Rose, R, Dively, G P and Pettis, J (2007) Effects of Bt corn pollen on honey bees: emphasis on protocol development. *Apidologie*, No 38, (4) pp368-377.
- Rosegrant, M W, Msangi, S, Sulser, T and Ringler, C (2006) *Future Scenarios for Agriculture: Plausible futures to 2030 and key trends in agricultural growth.* Background report prepared for the World Development Report 2008. International Food Policy Research Institute, USA.
- Rouston, T H and Goodell, K (2010) The role of resources and risks in regulating wild bee populations. *Annual Review of Entomology*, No 56, pp293-312.
- Rusch, A, Bommarco, R, Jonsson, M, Smith, H G and Ekbom, B (2013) Flow and stability of natural pest control services depend on complexity and crop rotation at the landscape scale. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, No 50, (2) pp345-354.
- Russell, A W and Sparrow, R (2008) The case for regulating intragenic GMOs. *Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Ethics*, No 21, (2) pp153-181.
- Russi, D, ten Brink, P, Farmer, A, Badura, T, Coates, D, Förster, J, Kumar, R and Davison, N (2013) *The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity for Water and Wetlands*. Ramsar Secretariat, http://www.teebweb.org/wetlands/.
- Sage, R, Cunningham, M, HAUGHTON, A J, MALLOTT, M D, BOHAN, D A, Riche, A and Karp, A (2010) The environmental impacts of biomass crops: use by birds of miscanthus in summer and winter in southwestern England. *Ibis*, No 152, (3) pp487-499.
- Sainudeen, S S (2011) Electromagnetic radiation (EMR) clashes with honey bees. *International Journal of Environmental Sciences*, No 1, (5) pp897-900.
- Sánchez-Bayo, F, Tennekes, H A and Goka, K (2013) Impact of Systemic Insecticides on Organisms and Ecosystems, in S Trdan (ed) *Insecticides Development of Safer and More Effective Technologies*, ppChapter 13. Intechopen, www.intechopen.com.

- Sawyer, D (2008) Climate change, biofuels and eco-social impacts in the Brazilian Amazon and Cerrado. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, No 363, (1498) pp1747-1752.
- Schafer, M G, Ross, A A, Londo, J P, Burdick, C, Henry Lee, S, Travers, S E, Van de Water, P K and Sagers, C L (2011) The establishment of genetically engineered canola populations in the US. *PLoS ONE*, No 6, (10) e25736.
- Schatzki, J, Allam, M, Klöppel, C, Nagel, M, Börner, A and Möllers, C (2013) Genetic variation for secondary seed dormancy and seed longevity in a set of black-seeded European winter oilseed rape cultivars. *Plant Breeding*, No online early, (DOI: 10.1111/pbr.12023)
- Schils, R, Kuikman, P, Liski, J, Van Oijen, M, Smith, P, Webb, J, Alm, J, Somogyi, Z, Van der Akker, J, Billett, M, Emmett, B, Evans, C, Lindner, M, Palosuo, T, Bellamy, P, Jandl, R and Hiederer, R (2008) *Review of Existing Information on the Interrelations between Soil and Climate Change*. CLIMSOIL final report. Contract number 070307/2007/486157/SER/B1, European Commission, Brussels.
- Schmidt, M, Porcar, M, Schachter, V, Danchin, A and Mahmutoglu, I (2012) Biofuels, in M Schmidt (ed) *Synthetic Biology*, pp7-66. vol. doi: 10.1002/9783527659296.ch1 Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Weinheim, Germany.
- Schoel, B and Fagan, J (2009) Insufficient evidence for the discovery of transgenes in Mexican landraces. *Molecular Ecology*, No 18, (20) pp4143-4144.
- Schoenenberger, N and D'Andrea, L (2012) Surveying the occurrence of subspontaneous glyphosate-tolerant genetically engineered *Brassica napus* L. (Brassicaceae) along Swiss railways. *Environmental Sciences Europe*, No 24, (23) pphttp://www.enveurope.com/content/24-1/23.
- Schouten, H J, Krens, F A and Jacobsen, E (2006) Do cisgenic plants warrant less strict oversight? *Nature Biotechnology*, No 24, (753) Correspondance-doi:10.1038/nbt0706-753.
- Schröder, J J, Cordell, D, Smit, A L and Rosemarin, A (2010) *Sustainable use of phosphorus*. Report for European Commission DG ENV, Plant Research International & Stockholm Environment Institute, Wageningen.
- Schweiger, O, Biesmeijer, J C, Bommarco, R, Hickler, T, Hulme, P E, Klotz, S, Kühn, I, Moora, M, Nielsen, A, Ohlemüller, R, Petanidou, T, Potts, S G, Pyšek, P, Stout, J C, Sykes, M T, Tscheulin, T, Vilà, M, Walther, G-R, Westphal, C, Winter, M, Zobel, M and Settele, J (2010) Multiple stressors on biotic interactions: how climate change and alien species interact to affect pollination. *Biological Reviews of the Cambridge Philosophical Society*, No 85, (4) pp777-795.
- Scursoni, J A, Forcella, F, Gunsolus, J, Owen, M D K, Oliver, R, Smeda, R and Vidrine, R (2006) Weed diversity and soybean yield with glyphosate management along a north-south transect in the United States. *Weed Science*, No 54, (4) pp713-719.
- Semenov, M A and Shewry, P R (2011) Modelling predicts that heat stress, not drought, will increase vulnerability of wheat in Europe. *Nature: Scientific Reports*, No 1, (66) doi:10.1038/srep00066
 - http://www.nature.com/srep/2011/110818/srep00066/full/srep00066.html.
- Sheil, D, Casson, A, Meijaard, E, van Noordwijk, M, Gaskell, J, Sunderland-Groves, J, Wertz, K and Kanninen, M (2009) *The impacts and opportunities of oil palm in Southeast Asia*. What do we know and what do we need to know? CIFOR Occasional Paper No.51, Center for International Forestry Research CIFOR, Bogor, Indonesia.
- Shenoy, K, Cunningham, B T, Enfroe, J W R and Crowley, P H (2009) Growth and survival of northern leopard frog (*Rana pipiens*) tadpoles exposed to two common pesticides. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, No 28, (7) pp1469-1474.
- Shewmaker, C K, Sheely, J A, Daley, M, Colburn, S and Ke, D Y (2002) Seed-specific overexpression of phytoene synthase: increase in carotenoids and other metabolic effects. *The Plant Journal*, No 20, (4) pp401-412.

- Simard, M-J, Légère, A, Séguin-Swartz, G, Nair, H and Warwick, S I (2005) Fitness of double vs. single herbicide-resistant canola. *Weed Science*, No 53, (4) pp489-498.
- Siriwardena, G M, Cooke, I R and Sutherland, W J (2012) Landscape, cropping and field boundary influences on bird abundance. *Ecography*, No 35, (2) pp162-173.
- Smaling, E M A, Roscoe, R, Lesschen, J P, Bouwman, A F and Comunello, E (2008) From forest to waste: assessment of the Brazilian soybean chain, using nitrogen as a marker. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, No 128, pp185-197.
- Smith, P (2012) Soils and climate change. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, No 4, (5) pp539-544.
- Smith, P and Olesen, J E (2010) Synergies between the mitigation of, and adaptation to, climate change in agriculture. *Journal of Agricultural Science*, No 148, (5) pp543-552.
- Snow, A A and Smith, V H (2012) Genetically engineered algae for biofuels: a key role for ecologists. *Bioscience*, No 62, (8) pp765-768.
- Snow, A A, Culley, T M, Campbell, L G, Sweeney, P M, Hegde, S G and Ellstrand, N C (2010) Long-term persistence of crop alleles in weedy populations of wild radish (*Raphanus raphanistrum*). *New Phytologist*, No 186, (2) pp537-548.
- Snow, A A, Andow, D A, Gepts, P, Hallerman, E M, Power, A, Tiedje, J M and Wolfenbarger, L L (2005) Genetically engineered organisms and the environment: current status and recommendations. *Ecological Applications*, No 15, (2) pp377-404.
- Soland-Reckeweg, G, Heckel, G, Neumann, P, Fluri, P and Excoffier, L (2009) Gene flow in admixed populations and implications for the conservation of the Western honeybee, *Apis mellifera*. *Journal of Insect Conservation*, No 13, (3) pp317-328.
- Soussana, J, Tallec, T and Blanfort, V (2010) Mitigating the greenhouse gas balance of ruminant production systems through carbon sequestration in grasslands. *Animal*, No 4, (3) pp334-350.
- Sparovek, G, Berndes, G, Egeskog, A, de Freitas, F L M, Gustafsson, S and Hansson, J (2007) Sugarcane ethanol production in Brazil: an expansion model sensitive to socioeconomic and environmental concerns. *Biofuels, Bioproducts and Biorefining*, No 1, (4) pp270-282.
- Spivak, M and Gilliam, M (1998) Hygienic behaviour of honey bees and its application for control of brood diseases and *Varroa*. Part 1. Hygienic behaviour and resistance to American fouldbrood. *Bee World*, No 79, (3) pp124-134.
- Squire, G R, Breckling, B, Pfeilsetter, A D, Jorgensen, R B, Lecomte, J, Pivard, S, Reuter, H and Young, M W (2011) Status of feral oilseed rape in Europe: its minor role as a GM impurity and its potential as a reservoir of transgene persistence. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research International*, No 18, (1) pp111-115.
- Squire, G R, Brooks, D R, Bohan, D A, Champion, G T, Daniels, R E, Haughton, A J, Hawes, C, Heard, M S, Hill, M O, May, M J, Osborne, J L, Perry, J N, Roy, D B, Woiwod, I P and Firbank, L G (2003) On the rationale and interpretation of the Farm Scale Evaluations of genetically modified herbicide-tolerant crops. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B*, No 358, (1439) pp1779-1799.
- Sradnick, A, Murugan, R, Oltmanns, M, Raupp, J and Joergensen, R G (2013) Changes in functional diversity of the soil microbial community in a heterogeneous sandy soil after long-term fertilization with cattle manure and mineral fertilizer. *Applied Soil Ecology*, No 63, pp23-28.
- Stec, S (2010) Humanitarian limits to sovereignty: Common concern and common heritage approaches to natural resources and environment. *International Community Law Review*, No 12, (3) pp361-389.
- STEP (2013) STEP Status and Trends in European Pollinators. STEP Project at University of Reading http://www.step-project.net/
- Stevens, W E, Berberich, S A, Sheckell, P A, Wiltse, C C, Halsey, M E, Horak, M J and Dunn, D J (2004) Optimizing pollen confinement in maize grown for regulated products. *Crop Science*, No 44, (6) pp2146-2153.

- Stoate, C (2011) Biogeography of agricultural environments, in *The SAGE Handbook of Biogeography*, Sage Publications, UK.
- Stoate, C, Boatman, N D, Borralho, R J, Carvalho, C R, G.R., d S and Eden, P (2001) Ecological impacts of arable intensification in Europe. *Journal of Environmental Management*, No 63, (4) pp337-365.
- Stoate, C, Báldi, A, Beja, P, Boatman, N D, Herzon, I, van Doorn, A, de Snoo, G R, Rakosy, L and Ramwell, C (2009) Ecological impacts of early 21st century agricultural change in Europe A review. *Environmental Management*, No 91, (1) pp22-46.
- Strandberg, B, Pedersen, M B and Elmegaard, N (2005) Weed and arthropod populations in conventional and genetically modified herbicide tolerant fodder beet fields. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, No 105, (1-2) pp243-253.
- Sutcliffe, O L and Kay, Q O N (2000) Changes in the arable flora of central southern England since the 1960s. *Biological Conservation*, No 93, (1) pp1-8.
- Sutton, M A, Howard, C M, Erisman, J W, Billen, G, Bleeker, A, Grennfelt, P, van Grinsven, H and Grizzetti, B (eds) (2011) *The European Nitrogen Assessment Sources, Effects and Policy Perspectives.* Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- Taheripour, F, Hertel, T W, Tyner, W E, Beckman, J F and Birur, B K (2010) Biofuels and their byproducts: Global economic and environmental implications. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, No 34, (3) pp278-289.
- TEEB (ed) (2011) *The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity in National and International Policy Making. Edited by Patrick Ten Brink.* Earthscan, London and Washington.
- Temple, H J and Terry, A (2007) *The Status and Distribution of European Mammals*. Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg.
- Temple, H J and Cox, N A (2009a) *European Red List of Amphibians*. Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg.
- Temple, H J and Cox, N A (2009b) *European Red List of Reptiles*. Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg.
- Tepfer, M (2002) Risk assessment of virus-resistant transgenic plants. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*, No 40, pp467-491.
- Thole, H and Dietz-Pfeilstetter, A (2012) Molecular marker-based identification of oilseed rape volunteers with different secondary dormancy levels in oilseed rape fields. *European Journal of Agronomy*, No 43, pp194-200.
- Thompson, H M (2012) *Interaction between pesticides and other factors in effects on bees.* EFSA supporting publications 2012:EN-340, European Food Safety Authority, http://www.efsa.europa.eu/en/supporting/pub/340e.htm.
- Thompson, H M, Brown, M A, Ball, R F and Bew, M H (2002) First report of *Varroa destructor* resistance to pyrethroids in the UK. *Apidologie*, No 33, (4) pp357-366.
- Thompson, J R and Tepfer, M (2010) Chapter 2 Assessment of the benefits and risks for engineered virus resistance. *Advances in Virus Research*, No 76, pp33-56.
- Tiedje, J M, Colwell, R K, Grossman, Y L, Hodson, R E, Lenski, R E, Mack, R N and Regal, P J (1989) The planned introduction of Genetically Engineered Organisms: ecological considerations and recommendations. *Ecology*, No 70, (2) pp298-315.
- Treuren, R v, Coquin, P and Lohwasser, U (2012) Genetic resources collections of leafy vegetables (lettuce, spinach, chicory, artichoke, asparagus, lamb's lettuce, rhubarb and rocket salad): composition and gaps. *Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution*, No 59, (6) pp981-997.
- Trnka, M, Eitzinger, J, Semerádová, D, Hlavinka, P, Balek, J, Dubrovský, M, Kubu, G, Štepánek, P, Thaler, S, Možný, M and Žalud, Z (2011a) Expected changes in agroclimatic conditions in Central Europe. *Climatic Change*, No 108, (1-2) pp261-289.
- Trnka, M, Brázdil, R, Dubrovský, M, Semerádová, D, Štepánek, P, Dobrovolný, P, Možný, M, Eitzinger, J, Málek, J, Formayer, H, Balek, J and Žalud, Z (2011b) A 200-year climate record in
Central Europe: implications for agriculture. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, No 31, (4) pp631-641.

- Tscharntke, T, Klein, A-M, Kruess, A, Steffan-Dewenter, I and Thies, C (2005) Landscape perspectives on agricultural intensification and biodiversity ecosystem service management. *Ecology Letters*, No 8, (8) pp857-874.
- Tscharntke, T, Clough, Y, Wanger, T C, Jackson, L E, Motzke, I, Perfecto, I, Vandermeer, J and Whitbread, A (2012) Global food security, biodiversity conservation and the future of agricultural intensification. *Biological Conservation*, No 151, (1) pp53-59.
- Tucker, G M (1992) Effects of agricultural practices on field use by invertebrate-feeding birds in winter. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, No 29, pp779-790.
- Tucker, G M (2003) *Review of the Impacts of Heather and Grassland Burning in the Uplands on Soils, Hydrology and Biodiversity.* 550, English Nature, Peterborough.
- Tucker, G M and Evans, M (1997) *Habitats for Birds in Europe: a Conservation Strategy for the Wider Environment.* BirdLife International, Cambridge.
- Tucker, G M, Underwood, E, Farmer, A, Scalera, R, Dickie, I A, McConville, A J and van Vliet, W (2013) *Estimation of the financing needs to implement Target 2 of the EU Biodiversity Strategy*. Report to the European Commission. Institute for European Environmental Policy, London.
- Tuomisto, H L, Hodge, I D, Riordan, P and Macdonald, D W (2012) Does organic farming reduce environmental impacts? A meta-analysis of European research. *Journal of Environmental Management*, No 112, pp309-320.
- Turbé, A, De Toni, A, Benito, P, Lavelle, P, Lavelle, P, Ruiz, N, Van der Putten, W H, Labouze, E and Mudgal, S (2010) *Soil biodiversity: functions, threats and tools for policy makers*. [Contract 07.0307/2008/517444/ETU/B1], Report for European Commission (DG Environment), Bio Intelligence Service, IRD, and NIOO, Luxembourg.
- Turner, E C, Snaddon, J L, Fayle, T M and Foster, W A (2008) Oil palm research in context: identifying the need for biodiversity assessment. *PLoS ONE*, No 3, (2) e1572-doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0001572.
- Tylianakis, J M, Didham, R K, Bascompte, J and Wardle, D A (2008) Global change and species interactions in terrestrial ecosystems. *Ecology Letters*, No 11, (12) pp1351-1363.
- UK ACRE (2004) *Advice on the implications of the farm-scale evaluations of genetically modified herbicide tolerant crops.* Advisory Committee on Releases to the Environment, Defra, UK.
- UK ACRE (2005) *Advice on the implications of the farm-scale evaluations of genetically modified herbicide tolerant winter oilseed rape.* UK Advisory Committee on Releases to the Environment, Defra, UK.
- UNDESA (2011) *World Population Prospects: The 2010 Revision*. United Nations publication, ST/ESA/SER.A/306, UN Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division, New York.
- UNFCCC (2008) *Challenges and opportunities for mitigation in the agricultural sector*. Technical Paper FCCC/TP/2008/8 for the workshop within the fifth session of the Ad-Hoc Working Group on Long-Term Cooperative Action under the Convention in 2009, UN Framework Convention on Climate Change.
- Untergasser, A, Bijl, G J M, Liu, W, Bisseling, T, Schaart, J G and Geurts, R (2012) One-step *Agrobacterium* mediated transformation of eight genes essential for *Rhizobium* symbiotic signaling using the novel binary vector system pHUGE. *PLoS ONE*, No 7, (10) e47885-doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0047885.
- Ursúa, E, Serrano, D and Tella, J L (2005) Does land irrigation actually reduce foraging habitat for breeding lesser kestrels? The role of crop types. *Biological Conservation*, No 122, (4) pp643-648.
- van de Wouw, M, van Hintum, T, Kik, C, van Treuren, R and Visser, B (2010) Genetic diversity trends in twentieth century crop cultivars: a meta analysis. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, No 120, (6) pp1241-1252.

- van den Hurk, A (2011) The Seed Industry: Plant Breeding and the International Treaty on Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture, in C Frison, F Lopez, & J Esquinas-Alcazar (eds) *Plant Genetic Resources and Food Security: Stakeholder Perspectives on the International Treaty on Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture,* Routledge, Oxford, UK.
- van der Zee, R, Pisa, L, Andonov, S, Brodschneider, R, Charrière, J-D, Chlebo, R, Coffey, M F, Crailsheim, K, Dahle, B, Gajda, A, Gray, A, Drazic, M M, Higes, M, Kauko, L, Kence, A, Kence, M, Kezic, N, Kiprijanovska, H, Kralj, J, Kristiansen, P, Hernandez, R M, Mutinelli, F, Nguyen, B K, Otten, C, Özkirim, A, Pernal, S F, Peterson, M, Ramsay, G, Santrac, V, Soroker, V, Topolska, G, Uzunov, A, Vejsnaes, F, Wei, S and Wilkins, S (2012) Managed honey bee colony losses in Canada, China, Europe, Israel and Turkey, for the winters of 2008-9 and 2009-10. *Journal of Apicultural Research*, No 51, (1) pp100-114.
- van Dijk, T C, van Staalduinen, M A and van der Sluijs, J P (2013) Macro-invertebrate decline in surface water polluted with imidacloprid. *PLoS ONE*, No 8, (5) e62374. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0062374.
- Van Gelder, W M J, Vinke, J H and Scheffer, J J C (1988) Steroidal glycoalkaloids in tubers and leaves of *Solanum* species used in potato breeding. *Euphytica*, No 39, (3S) pp147-158.
- van Heerwaarden, J, Del Vecchyo, D O, Alvarez-Buylla, E R and Bellon, M R (2012) New genes in traditional seed systems: diffusion, detectability and persistence of transgenes in a maize metapopulation. *PLoS ONE*, No 7, (10) e46123.
- van Swaay, C A M, van Strien, A J, Harpke, A, Fontaine, B, Stefanescu, C, Roy, D, Maes, D, Kühn, I, Õunap, E, Regan, E, Švitra, G, Heliölä, J, Settele, J, Warren, M S, Plattner, M, Kuussaari, M, Cornish, M, Garcia Pereira, P, Leopold, P, Feldmann, R, Jullard, R, Verovnik, R, Popov, S, Brereton, T, Gmelig Meyling, A and Collins, S (2010a) *The European Butterfly Indicator for Grassland Species* 1990-2009. Report VS2010.010, De Vlinderstichting, Wageningen.
- van Swaay, C, Warren, M and Lois, G (2006) Biotope use and trends of European butterflies. *Journal of Insect Conservation*, No 10, (2) pp189-209.
- van Swaay, C, Cuttelod, A, Collins, S, Maes, D, Munguira, M L, Šašic, M, Settele, J, Vervrovnik, R, Verstrael, T, Warren, M, Wiemers, M and Wynhoff, I (2010b) *European Red List of Butterflies*. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.
- Veen, P, Jefferson, R, de Smidt, J and ven der Straaten (eds) (2009) *Grasslands in Europe of High Nature Value.* KNNV Publishing, Zeist, The Netherlands.
- Vellinga, Th V, de Haan, M H A, Schils, R L M, Evers, A and van den Pol-van Dasselaar, A (2011) Implementation of GHG mitigation on intensive dairy farms: Farmers' preferences and variation in cost effectiveness. *Livestock Science*, No 137, (1-3) pp185-195.
- Vepsäläinen, V (2010) Energy crop cultivations of reed canary grass An inferior breeding habitat for the skylark, a characteristic farmland bird species. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, No 34, (7) pp993-998.
- Vera, FWM (2000) Grazing Ecology and Forest History. CABI Publishing, Wallingford, UK.
- Verheijen, F G A, Jones, R J A, Rickson, R J and Smith, C J (2009) Tolerable versus actual soil erosion rates in Europe. *Earth-Science Reviews*, No 94, (1-4) pp23-38.
- Veteläinen, M, Negri, V, Maxted, N and (eds.) (2009) *European landraces: On-farm conservation management and use*. Biodiversity Technical Bulletin No.15, Biodiversity International, Rome, Italy.
- Vickery, J, Chamberlain, D, Evans, A, Ewing, S, Boatman, N D, Pietravalle, S, Norris, K and Butler, S (2008) *Predicting the impact of future agriculture change and uptake of Entry Level Stewardship on farmland birds*. Final report. BTO Research Report No.485, British Trust for Ornithology, Thetford, UK.
- Vickery, J A, Tallowin, J R, Feber, R E, Asteraki, E J, Atkinson, P W, Fuller, R J and Brown, V K (2001) The management of lowland neutral grasslands in Britain: effects of agricultural practices on birds and their food resources. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, No 38, (3) pp647-664.
- Villemant, C, Haxaire, J and Streito, J-C (2006) La découverte du Frelon asiatique *Vespa velutina* en France. *Insectes*, No 143, (4)

- Visser, B (2013) The moving scope of Annex 1: the list of crops covered under the multilateral system, in M Halewood, I López Noriega, & S Louafi (eds) *Crop Genetic Resources As a Global Commons. Challenges in International Law and Governance*, pp265-282. Routledge, Oxford, UK.
- Visser, B and Borring, J (2011) The European Regional Group: Europe's Role and Positions during the Negotiations and Early Implementation of the International Treaty on Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture, in C Frison, F Lopez, & J Esquinas-Alcazar (eds) *Plant Genetic Resources and Food Security: Stakeholder Perspectives on the International Treaty on Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture*, Routledge, Oxford, UK.
- Vries, J d and Wackernagel, W (2005) Microbial horizontal gene transfer and the DNA release from transgenic crop plants. *Plant and Soil*, No 266, (1-2) pp91-104.
- Wainwright, J D and Mercer, K (2009) The dilemma of decontamination: A Gramscian analysis of the Mexican transgenic maize dispute. *Geoforum*, No 40, (3) pp345-354.
- Walker, B, Holling, C S, Carpenter, S R and Kinzig, A (2004) Resilience, adaptability and transformability in social-ecological systems. *Ecology and Society*, No 9, (2) on line.
- Walker, K J, Critchley, C N R, Sherwood, A J, Large, R, Nuttall, P, Hulmes, S, Rose, R and Mountford, J O (2007) The conservation of arable plants on cereal field margins: An assessment of new agri-environment scheme options in England, UK. *Biological Conservation*, No 136, (2) pp260-270.
- WallisDeVries, M F and van Swaay, C (2009) Grasslands as habitats for butterflies in Europe, in P Veen, R Jefferson, J de Smidt, & J van der Straaten (eds) *Grasslands in Europe of High Nature Value*, pp27-34. KNNV Publishing, Zeist, The Netherlands.
- WallisDeVries, M F, Poschlod, P and Willems, J H (2002) Challenges for the conservation of calcareous grasslands in northwestern Europe: integrating the requirements of flora and fauna. *Biological Conservation*, No 104, (3) pp265-273.
- Wang, Z-Y and Brummer, E C (2012) Is genetic engineering ever going to take off in forage, turf and bioenergy crop breeding? *Annals of Botany*, No 110, (6) pp1317-1325.
- Warwick, S I, Beckie, H J and Hall, L (2009) Gene flow, invasiveness, and ecological impact of genetically modified crops. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, No 1168, pp72-99.
- Warwick, S I, Légère, A, Simard, M-J and James, T (2008) Do escaped transgenes persist in nature? The case of an herbicide resistance transgene in a weedy *Brassica rapa* population. *Molecular Ecology*, No 17, (5) pp1387-1395.
- Watrud, L S, King, G, Londo, J P, Colasanti, R, Smith, B M, Waschmann, R S and Henry Lee, S (2011) Changes in constructed *Brassica* communities treated with glyphosate drift. *Ecological Applications*, No 21, pp525-538.
- Wegier, A, Piñeyro-Nelson, A, Alarcón, J, Gálvez-Mariscal, A, Álvarez-Buylla, R and Piñero, D (2011) Recent long-distance transgene flow into wild populations conforms to historical patterns of gene flow in cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum*) at its centre of origin. *Molecular Ecology*, No 20, (19) pp4182-4194.
- Westhoek, H, Rood, T, van den Berg, M, Janse, J, Nijdam, D, Reudink, M and Stehfest, E (2011) *The Protein Puzzle: The consumption and production of meat, dairy and fish in the European Union*. PBL publication number: 500166001, PBL Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency.
- Whitehorn, P R, O'Connor, S, Wackers, F L and Goulson, D (2012) Neonicotinoid pesticide reduces bumble bee colony growth and queen production. *Science*, No 336, (6079) pp351-352.
- Whittingham, M J, Swetnam, R D, Wilson, J D, Chamberlain, D E and Freckleton, R P (2005) Habitat selection by yellowhammers *Emberiza citrinella* on lowland farmland at two spatial scales: implications for conservation management. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, No 42, (2) pp270-280.
- Whittingham, M J, Krebs, J R, Swetnam, R D, Vickery, J A, Wilson, J D and Freckleton, J P (2007) Should conservation strategies consider spatial generality? Farmland birds show regional not national patterns of habitat association. *Ecology Letters*, No 10, (1) pp25-35.

- Wilcove, D S and Koh, L P (2010) Addressing the threats to biodiversity from oil-palm agriculture. *Biodiversity Conservation*, No 19, (4) pp999-1007.
- Willenborg, C J and Van Acker, R C (2008) The biology and ecology of hexaploid wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) and its implications for trait confinement. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science*, No 88, (5) pp997-1013.
- Williams, I H (1994) The dependence of crop production within the European Union on pollination by honeybees. *Agricultural Zoology Reviews*, No 6, pp229-257.
- Wilson, J D, Evans, M G and Grice, P V (2009) *Bird Conservation and Agriculture*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- Winfree, R, Williams, N M, Dushoff, J and Kremen, C (2007) Native bees provide insurance against ongoing honey bee losses. *Ecology Letters*, No 10, (11) pp1105-1113.
- Winqvist, C, Bengtsson, J, Aavik, T, Berendse, F, Clement, L W, Eggers, S, Fischer, C, Flohre, A, Geiger, F, LIIRA, J, Pärt, T, Thies, C, Tscharntke, T, Weisser, W W and Bommarco, R (2011) Mixed effects of organic farming and landscape complexity on farmland biodiversity and biological control potential across Europe. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, No 48, (3) pp570-579.
- Wolfenbarger, L L, Naranjo, S E, Lundgren, J G, Bitzer, R J and Watrud, L S (2008) Bt crop effects on functional guilds of non-target arthropods: a meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE*, No 3, (5)
- Wolt, J D (2009) Advancing environmental risk assessment for transgenic biofeedstock crops. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, No 2, (27) doi:10.1186/1754-6834-2-27.
- World Bank (2011) Food Price Watch. February 2011.
- Worrall, F, Chapman, P, Holden, J, Evans, C, Artz, R, Smith, P and Grayson, R (2011) *Peatlands and Climate Change*. Scientific Review, IUCN UK Peatland Programme Commission of Inquiry on Peatlands, http://www.iucn-uk-peatlandprogramme.org/resources/178.
- Wriedt, G, Van Der Velde, M, Aloe, A and Bouraoui, F (2008) *Water requirements for irrigation in the European Union*. EUR 23453 EN, Joint Research Centre IES.
- Wunder, S, Kaphengst, T, Timeus, K and Berzins, K (2012) *Impact of EU bioenergy policy on developing countries*. Briefing Paper for European Parliament's Committee on Development, European Parliament, Brussels.
- Young, B G, Gibson, D J, Gage, K L, Matthews, J L, Jordan, D L, Owen, M D K, Shaw, D R, Weller, S C and Wilson, R G (2013) Agricultural weeds in glyphosate-resistant cropping systems in the United States. *Weed Science*, No 61, (1) pp85-97.
- Zak, M R, Cabido, M, Cáceres, D and Díaz, S (2008) What drives accelerated land cover change in central Argentina? Synergistic consequences of climatic, socioeconomic, and technological factors. *Environmental Management*, No 42, (2) pp181-189.
- Zakharov, A, Giersberg, M, Hosein, F, Melzer, M, Müntz, K and Saalbach, I (2004) Seed-specific promoters direct gene expression in non-seed tissue. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, No 55, (402) pp1463-1471.
- Zapiola, M L and Mallory-Smith, C A (2012) Crossing the divide: gene flow produces intergeneric hybrid in feral transgenic creeping bentgrass population. *Molecular Ecology*, No 21, (19) pp4672-4680.
- Zapiola, M L, Campbell, C K, Butler, M D and Mallory-Smith, C A (2007) Escape and establishment of transgenic glyphosate-resistant creeping bentgrass *Agrostis stolonifera* in Oregon, USA: a 4-year study. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, No 45, (2) pp486-494.
- Zechmeister, H G, Schmitzberger, I, Steurer, B, Peterseil, J and Wrbka, T (2003) The influence of land-use practices and economics on plant species richness in meadows. *Biological Conservation*, No 114, (2) pp165-177.
- Ziomek, J and Banaszek, A (2007) The common hamster, *Cricetus cricetus* in Poland: status and current range. *Folia Zoologica*, No 56, (3) pp235-242.
- Zuurbier, P and van de Vooren, J (2008) *Sugarcane Ethanol: Contributions to Climate Change Mitigation and the Environment.* Wageningen Academic Publishers, Wageningen, the Netherlands.

This document is the final report of the STOA study 'Technology options for feeding 10 billion people - Interactions between climate change & agriculture and between biodiversity & agriculture'.

Annexes, a 'study summary' and an 'options brief' related to this study are also available.

The STOA studies can be found at: <u>http://www.europarl.europa.eu/stoa/cms/studies</u> or requested from the STOA Secretariat: <u>STOA@ep.europa.eu</u>

or accessible via this QR code:



This is a publication of the Directorate for Impact Assessment and European Added Value Directorate General for Internal Policies, European Parliament



PE 513.514 DOI 10.2861/33183 CAT BA-03-13-491-EN-C ISBN 978-92-823-4735-5

